The Influence of Forest Structure on Sumatran Orangutan Nesting and Densities in the Lowland Dipterocarp Forests of North Sumatra

John Peter Duncan Abernethy

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Liverpool John Moores University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

October 2018

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
Abstract	6
Chapter 1: Literature Review	7
1.1 Orangutan biology	
1.1.1 Distribution and conservation status	7
1.1.2 Diet	9
1.1.3 Sexual dimorphism and male bimaturism	10
1.1.4 Social structure	10
1.2 Nesting ecology	
1.2.1 Nest construction	12
1.2.2 Nest function	12
1.2.3 Nest site selection	21
1.2.4 Nest reuse	23
1.3 Nest position selection	
1.4 Nests as tools for informing conservation and management strategies	
1.5 Threats – habitat loss, degradation, conflict and hunting	
1.5.1 Logging intensity and orang-utan densities	29
1.5.2 Hunting and the illegal pet trade	30
1.5.3 Vulnerability to extinction	31
1.5.4 Orangutans in Sumatra- Leuser Ecosystem and Batang Toru	32
1.6 Conclusions	
1.7 Thesis Aims and overview	
Chapter 2: Nest site selection in Sumatran orangutans (<i>Pongo abelii</i>) in the disturbed lowland dipterocarp forests of North Sumatra	36
2.1 Introduction	
2.1.1 Hypotheses:	41
2.2 Methodology	
2.2.1 Study Sites	42
2.2.2 Data collection	43
2.2.3 Vegetation survey	44
2.2.4 Nest transects	46
2.2.5 Data analysis	47
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Site differences in forest trees versus nest trees	49
2.3.2 Trees in the close vicinity of the nest (<5m)	57
2.3.3 Tree species	63

2.3.4 Multiple nest trees	65
2.4 Discussion	68
2.4.1 Site differences in forest structure	69
2.4.2 Site differences in nest trees	69
2.4.3 Nest site selection	70
2.4.4 Species use	74
2.4.5 Multiple nest trees	77
2.4.6 Implications	78
2.5 Conclusion	79
Chapter 3: The influence of forest structure on nest positioning of Sumatran orangu	tans (<i>Pongo abelii</i>) 82
3.1 Introduction	
3.1.1 Hypotheses	87
3.2 Methodology	88
3.2.1 Study Sites	88
3.2.2 Data collection	88
3.2.3 Nest transects	90
3.2.4 Data analysis	92
3.3 Results	94
3.3.1 Nest height	94
3.3.2 Nest position	98
3.4 Discussion	106
3.4.1 Nest height	106
3.4.2 Nest position	109
3.5 Conclusion	112
Chapter 4: The influence of forest structure on orangutan densities in the recovering	g forests of North
4.1 Introduction	114
4.1.1 Hypotheses:	
4.2 Methodology	118
4.2 1 Study Sites	
4.2.1 Data collection	120
Forest structure	121
A 2 3 Nest transects	122
4 2 4 Data analysis	172
4 3 Results	178
4.3.1 Orangutan densities	
4.3.2 Forest structure and nest densities	

4.3.3 PCA analysis of field sites and land units	.134
4.3.4 Modelling of the influence of forest structure parameters upon nest numbers	135
4.3.5 Influence of forest structure on nest site clustering in Sei Betung	.138
4.4 Discussion	
4.5 Conclusion	
Chapter 5: General Discussion and Conclusions	.152
5.1 The influence of forest structure on nest tree selection	
5.2 How forest structure influences nest height and nest position	
5.3 Influence of forest structure on nest densities	
5.4 Key findings and conclusions162	
5.5 Conservation Implications	
5.6 Future Research	
5.7 Final remarks	
References	.164
Appendix I Supplementary Materials for Chapter 3	197
Appendix II Supplementary Materials for Chapter 4	201

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the many people who have helped and supported me throughout this project and without whom I never would have completed it. Firstly, I want to give a huge thanks to my supervisory team for their support, guidance and valuable insights which have enabled me to finally put together this thesis. Thank you to Serge Wich for trusting me with this project, for being patient with me when I know I've been slow and far from the ideal student and thank you for giving me such an opportunity which has changed my life in so many ways and without your guidance I would never have gotten this thesis complete. Thank you to Nicola Koyama for your support, guidance and comments which helped me to set the format of this thesis and get all of my messy thoughts into a neat and ordered thesis. Thank you to Amanda Korstjens for your guidance, and giving me such a great introduction to Indonesia and helping me to develop my field research methods and plan, and helping me to get my permits, welcoming me to Medan and SOCP, all your guidance and help with designing transects and research ideas and for being the support I needed when times were tough.

A huge thanks has to go to the team at the Sumatran Orangutan Conservation Programme (SOCP), without your support and experience of your staff this project never would have happened. I can't forget the guys at camp who got me through each day, I wouldn't have any data to show without you and probably wouldn't have survived my first day without you! Thank you so much Supri, Irfan, Ben, Riki, Suprayudi and Logga. Life in Sikundur would never have been the same without you. I would also like to thank Panut and the team at OIC for allowing me to visit your field site in Sei Betung and for being so welcoming in such a short time.

Living in Sikundur would never have been the same or as fun without the people there and along with the field assistants from SOCP I also need to give huge thanks to the other students. Thank you James Askew, you were like the big brother at camp giving your wisdom about life at camp and life in Indonesia and I know without you my time wouldn't have been anywhere near as fun. I can't thank Rosanna Consiglio and Helen Slater enough! I don't know how I would have got through the first field season without you, you kept my spirits up when I was down and you are two of the strongest people I know with how you just got on with fieldwork no matter the weather or how tired you were. Thanks to Emma Hankinson and Christopher Marsh, my second field season definitely wouldn't have been as interesting without you!

Lastly, I want to say a huge thank you to my friends and family. Without the support of my friends and family I never would have been able to finish this endeavour, especially after the loss of my Grandad

within weeks of starting field work, your care and support got me through each day. Thank you so much to my parents for putting up with me the past four years as I know at times I've been far from the perfect son but you never stopped being there for me, even when you were struggling yourselves. Thank you to my Nan, I know half of what I say I'm doing goes over your head but just knowing your there helps and I wish Gang could have had the chance to see this finally finished. Finally thank you so much to my girlfriend; Yuchen for pushing me and giving me the motivation to finish this PhD. I know without you pushing me and encouraging me I would have probably given up long ago. Although there have been some incredible highs (waking up to Siamangs singing) there have been some really bad lows and I know at times I've been far from the easiest person to deal with, especially over the last couple of months so I just want to say again to you all, thank you!

Abstract

Prior studies on Bornean orangutans have suggested that orangutans were primarily selecting nest sites that provided more stable and sheltered platforms thereby offering greater comfort rather than selecting for nests which reduced the risk of predation by limiting access to ground predators (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013). The aims of this study were to answer three questions: why are nests built in a particular tree, why was the nest in that position and height within the tree and why build the nest in that part of the forest and not another? Nest and forest structure data were recorded from transects conducted at two sites in North Sumatra; Sikundur (a naturally recovered site) and Sei Betung (reforested site). Selection patterns for tree and forest structure variables showed no significant difference across sites when modelling nest trees against forest trees. Nest trees had properties that both increased both comfort through nest stability and shelter from adverse weather as well as attributes which reduced the threat from predators. However, a preference for trees with narrow trunks was also found, which would limit access to ground predators but also reduce stability, suggesting that predator avoidance may take precedent over comfort. A greater proportion of Position 2 and 3 nests were found in Sei Betung where tree height and connectivity are lower, further suggesting that predator avoidance has a greater influence than comfort or stability on Sumatran orangutan nest placement. The lower connectivity in Sei Betung was associated with increased rarity of tree-tied nests (Position 4) compared to Sikundur which went against our expected results based on those of Prasetyo et al. (2009). Over 60% of nest trees in Sei Betung held multiple nests, suggesting that there is significant pressure upon preferred nest sites in Sei Betung. Nest densities were most closely associated with variables linked with forest recovery such as higher canopy density, fewer gaps, increased rugosity and higher stem density. Nest densities were also associated with reduced distance to the edge of the forest, further research is needed to determine whether this is due to orangutans utilising neighbouring plantations. Our results show the need for protecting habitat not only for preferred food species but also nest trees.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

1.1 Orangutan biology

1.1.1 Distribution and conservation status

Orangutans, species belonging to the genus *Pongo* are the only non-human great apes (*Hominidae*) currently found in Asia (von Koenigswald 1982). though they once were found across South East Asia during the Pleistocene period their range is now restricted to the two islands of Borneo and Sumatra (von Koenigswald 1982; Jablonski et al. 2000; Bacon & Long 2001; Ibrahim et al. 2013). The genus is represented by three species which are split allopatrically with a single species found on Borneo; *P. pygmaeus* that is made up of three subspecies (*P. p. pygmaeus, P. p. morio* and *P. p. wurmbii*) (Ancrenaz et al. 2016) and two species on Sumatra; *P. abelii* and *P. tapanuliensis* (Nowak et al. 2017; Singleton et al. 2017; Nater et al. 2017) (see Fig 1 and Fig 2). The two Sumatran species are also split geographically with the Sumatran orangutan being found in the north of the island mostly within the Leuser Ecosystem and peat swamps of the west around Suaq Balimbing and the Tapanuli orangutan being restricted to south of Lake Toba in Batang Toru which is the southernmost range of orangutans on Sumatra, with the exception of the reintroduced individuals around Bukit Tigah Puluh National Park (Wich et al. 2003; Russon 2009; Kelle et al. 2014; Nowak et al. 2017).



Figure 1-1 Distributions of the three extant species of orangutan; P. abelii, P. tapanuliensis and P. pygmaeus from Wich & IUCN (2016a). The map also displays the locations of all major orangutan field research sites, reintroduction and rehabilitation sites in Sumatra and Borneo.



Figure 1-2 Orangutan species distrbutions in Sumatra for P. abelii and P tapanuliensis (left) and distributions of subspecies of P pygmaeus on Borneo (right) and the major field research sites and reintroduction and rehabilitation sites on both islands. Distributions from Wich & IUCN (2016b, 2016c).

At present, all three of the recognised species of orangutan are listed as critically endangered by the IUCN Red List (Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Nowak et al. 2017; Singleton et al. 2017).Orangutans are listed as such due to the multiple threats which they face from habitat loss and fragmentation for agriculture and timber extraction (Ancrenaz et al. 2015, 2016; Singleton et al. 2017), hunting for food and killing in retaliation for crop raiding and during land clearance (Davis et al. 2013; Meijaard et al. 2011; Wich et al. 2012; Abram et al. 2015), and capture of individuals for the illegal pet trade (Shepherd 2010; Freund et al. 2017).

1.1.2 Diet

Orangutans are generally frugivorous though their diet actually quite varied. The diet of orangutans consists primarily of fruit, leaves, flowers, bark and invertebrates (Morrogh-Bernard et al. 2009; Russon et al. 2009a), though there are also instances of meat eating with orangutans being observed consuming slow lorises (*Nycticebus coucang*) (Utami & Van Hooff 1997; Hardus et al. 2012b), gibbon (*Hylobates lar*) (Sugardjito & Nurhuda 1981), grey tree rats (*Lenothrix canus*) and birds eggs (Russon et al. 2009a). Current records have observations of orangutans feeding on a total of 1693 different species, this includes 1666 plant species (including fruit, leaves, bark and pith), 16 invertebrate species, 4 species of vertebrate and 7 foods belonging to the category other; honey, fungi, moss, urine, soil and water (Russon et al. 2009a).

1.1.3 Sexual dimorphism and male bimaturism

Orangutans unusually display both extreme sexual dimorphism in body size and bimaturism amongst males (Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009). Male orangutans grow considerably larger than females and also develop male secondary sexual characters (SSC's) which further differentiate them which consist of flanged cheeks and a throat sack which enable the male to produce long calls (Mackinnon 1974; Rijksen 1978; Galdikas 1983; Galdikas 1985a; Utami-Atmoko, Mitra-Setia, et al. 2009). These long calls can be used to advertise their presence, orient themselves to other orangutans spatially and potentially co-ordinate a network of loose associations between males and females within the area (Galdikas 1983; Galdikas 1985a; Askew & Morrogh-Bernard 2016). Mitra Setia & van Schaik (2007) further suggest that long calls also influence female attraction as adult females were significantly found to approach long calls, in particular those made by dominant males. Unusually, male orangutans exhibit bimaturism in the form of two physically distinctive morphs of fertile, sexually active adult males who differ significantly in appearance: flanged and unflanged, which also employ generally different reproductive strategies: call and wait versus go and search/sneak and rape (Harrison & Chivers 2007; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009a; Utami et al. 2002).

1.1.4 Social structure

Unlike all other species of great ape, orangutans are considered to be semi-solitary in terms of social structure, living in a fission-fusion system, with loose communities organised around a dominant flanged male (Mackinnon 1974; van Schaik 1999; Mitra-Setia et al. 2009) rather than the large, loosely organised fission-fusion groups of chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) and bonobos (*Pan pansicus*) (Kuroda 1979; Maryanski 1987; de Waal 1995; Surbeck et al. 2011) or the stable, cohesive heterosexual groups that Eastern (*Gorilla beringei*) and Western gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla*) live in (Maryanski 1987; Yamagiwa et al. 2003; Robbins et al. 2004). Individuals live in highly overlapping home ranges with orangutans occasionally aggregating in or near large fruit trees such as strangling figs (14 individuals were observed in one fig tree in Ketambe) (Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito et al. 1987; Mitra-Setia et al. 2009). These feeding aggregations during periods of high fruit abundance such as masting events may develop into travel bands in which the individuals travel together in a coordinated manner (Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009a; Utami et al. 1997; Sugardjito et al. 1987; Mitra-Setia et al. 2009; van Schaik 1999; Singleton & van Schaik 2002).

Female orangutans are more social than males and have been found to form distinct clusters and preferred associations with other females thought to be close relatives (Singleton & van Schaik 2002; Knott et al. 2008; Singleton et al. 2009). Female orangutans will regularly form associations with immature individuals of various age, most often their young but also unrelated, unflanged males and other females from the same cluster (Mitra-Setia et al. 2009). Along with associations with immature individuals, female orangutans will also form associations with preferred flanged males such as in consortships where they will travel together for a period ranging from days to months and will engage

in sexual behaviours. The consort pair are not mutually exclusive as other females, unflanged males and adolescents may also associate with the consort pair (Schürmann & van Hooff 1986; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009).

Compared to female orangutans, males are more solitary in nature. Non-dominant flanged males in particular avoid encounters with dominant flanged males and larger unflanged males in turn are avoided by females and smaller unflanged males alike (Mitra-Setia et al. 2009). Flanged males are highly aggressive to other adult males, in particular they will attack flanged males that are assessed as weaker than themselves (Galdikas 1985b; Mitani 1985; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009b). Compared to flanged male-flanged male interactions, flanged males are more tolerant of unflanged males but only from a distance and will chase unflanged males away when consorting with a female (Schürmann 1981; Utami & Setia 1995; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009b). Unflanged males associate with females with no offspring more often than flanged males, in part due to their greater mobility which allows for them to be able to maintain an association for longer compared to a flanged male (Wich et al. 2006; van Schaik et al. 2009; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009a). Along with associations with females, unflanged males do also succeed in siring offspring, though mainly with females who are not mate-guarded by flanged males or when opportunities arise (Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009a; Banes et al. 2015).

1.2 Nesting ecology

The three species of orangutans are the largest living extant arboreal mammalian species (Cant 1987a, 1987b), spending almost all of their lives in the canopy. The daily building of nests to sleep and rest is a behaviour shared between all great ape species (Hashimoto 1995; Hall et al. 1998; Blom et al. 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002; Kouakou et al. 2011; Samson & Hunt 2014; Serckx et al. 2016). Nest building is a complex behaviour which takes a number of years for a young orangutan to master through observing their mothers and practice (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Noordwijk et al. 2009).

Nest building is one of the essential skills which young orangutans and other great apes learn from their mothers, as although nest building in great apes does have an innate component it is not completely instinctive and only through exposure to nest building adults and learning from them that immatures are able to craft adequate nests (Videan 2006; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Immature orangutans share a nest with their mothers irrespective of their age for both night and day time rest period. As the mother builds the nest immatures have been observed at all study sites to be attentive and appear to be attempting to help by adding twigs, branches or leaves (van Noordwijk et al. 2009). Orangutan infants begin to practice nest building around 0.5 years of age, with 1-2 year olds frequently observed practicing nest building whilst their mother is stationary such as when feeding or resting (Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Noordwijk et al. 2009). By the age of 3 (and some younger), most young orangutans are able to build nests adequate enough for a brief nest even though

they will still spend the night sharing a nest with their mother, this shows that they acquire the sufficient skills for nest building long before independence and provides the young with a significant time to refine and master nest building techniques (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; van Noordwijk et al. 2009).

1.2.1 Nest construction

Once a suitable site has been chosen the orangutan will first being to construct the base or foundation of the nest by bending, pulling and breaking some larger branches inward toward the centre and then weaving and twisting these together to lock them into a basic nest structure which roughly forms a butterfly pattern of branch endings that are concentrated into two roughly opposite corners (Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Following this the orangutan will begin to add layers of smaller branches (normally those with many leaves) by bending, breaking and weaving them in place to create the layer known as a mattress or rim (Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Only chimpanzees of the other great ape species also add mattresses to their nests (Fruth & Hohmann 1996; Prasetyo et al. 2009). Leafy branches which are detached from the surrounding area are further placed on top of the base structure to form a lining. Finally, to finish building the basic nest, whilst standing on the nest the orangutan will braid branches and fold the tips of these branches to the centre of the nest and intertwine them with the mattress, which they continue until the nest has a strong structure (Prasetyo et al. 2009). Once the basic structure is complete the orangutan may add additional special features such as pillows made from small leafy twigs at one end or blankets made of loose leafy branches or add a roof made of a loose cover of braided branches which are woven together to make a solid, almost waterproof object (MacKinnon 1971; Russon et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Such additional features like pillows and roofs are widespread behaviours but usually restricted to either particular islands or subspecies (Russon et al. 2009b). The nests built by orangutans are considered to be the most complex, sturdiest and long lasting of all ape nests, not only because of the addition of features such as pillows, blankets, roofs or secondary bunk nests (Anderson 1984; Anderson 1998; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Russon et al. 2007; van Casteren et al. 2012; MacKinnon 1971; Groves & Pi 1985; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a)

1.2.2 Nest function

Nest building in primates has been hypothesised to have arisen due to the need for a comfortable sleeping platform as the bodies of apes are too large to comfortably sleep on a bare branch (Fruth & Hohmann 1996; Stewart et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012), a method for improving thermoregulation (Stewart 2011b; Samson & Hunt 2012; Fruth et al. 2018), avoiding biting

insects (Largo et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b; Samson et al. 2013) and offer a safe place to rest, away from potential predators (Anderson 1984, 1998; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013).

1.2.2.1. Improving sleep quality through comfort

A comfortable platform to sleep on allows for high-quality rest and sleep by reducing disturbances in the night (Fruth & Hohmann 1996; McGrew 2004; Stewart 2011; van Casteren et al. 2012). By building nests through the careful bending, weaving and braiding of branches and adding leaves to aid in cushioning, apes are able to create strong nests which can support their body weight and provide softer, more cushioned sleep sites (Goodall 1962; Van Lawick-Goodall 1968; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Prasetyo et al. 2010; Stewart et al. 2007). The use of nests has been suggested to allow for longer periods of uninterrupted sleep and promotes longer individual sleep stages which thereby leads to higher quality sleep (Fruth & Hohmann 1993; Stewart 2011b; Samson & Hunt 2014). In captive orangutans the production of more complicated nest designs was found to lead to higher-quality sleep and less gross-motor movements and increased overall sleep time (Samson & Shumaker 2013).

Along with offering a cushioned platform which reduces stress on tissues and pressure points to promote higher-quality sleep, nests also promote improved comfort and sleep quality by offering greater positional stability. Greater positional stability offers greater comfort as by building nests it reduces the chance of falling from branches which would be more likely should an ape with their larger body size in comparison to the surrounding supporting branches choose to rest on a branch rather than building a nest (Baldwin et al. 1981; Samson 2012; Samson & Hunt 2014). By building nests in more stable sites which are less likely to move or experience wind sway, apes are also able to increase both physical comfort as well as mental wellbeing by the reassurance that the nest won't fail in the night thereby allowing for more relaxed and higher quality sleep (Anderson 1998; Cheyne et al. 2013). Both chimpanzees and orangutans have been observed to build their nests in locations to reduce serious wind-sway (Goodall 1965; Reynolds 1965; Mackinnon 1974; HORR et al. 1977; Anderson 2000; Cheyne et al. 2013). Samson & Hunt (2012) noted that wind sway increased with nest height, therefore the danger of nest collapse increased with nest height. They also noted that at their field site in Toro-Semliki, chimpanzees tended to nest at a height three-quarters (0.74) the elevation of the total tree canopy, leaving a quarter of the canopy empty. Nests were found to be built at similar heights in Fongoli (0.76), but in Assirik nests are built much higher within the canopy (0.94) which Samson & Hunt (2012) suggest could be due to site differences in climate as well as the physical attributes of the different tree species used at each site. This suggests that there is a potentially a "maximum safe height" for nests within a tree that is determined by both a trees structural properties and site-specific conditions such as average wind speeds, rainfall and exposure.

Sleeping platforms or nests also offer improved comfort by providing protection from adverse weather conditions such as rain or strong winds (Goodall 1962; Anderson 1984; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Kano 1982; Cheyne et al. 2013). By using local microhabitat features such as overhead branches, leaves, nest height and the density of forest stands apes can try to minimise the effects of adverse weather conditions. More sheltered positions can offer greater protection from rain which has been observed in bonobos (Kano 1982; Anderson 2000), whereas chimpanzees in Assirik has been observed to build more open nests that were higher within the crown and with less overhead vegetation in the wet season reduce discomfort from dripping vegetation in the event of night-time rain and offer more expose to the morning sun to warm and dry (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson 2000). For this research comfort is defined by both the stability of the nest, reduction of wind sway and protection from adverse weather conditions.

1.2.2.2. Thermoregulation

The use of nests for rest and sleep has also been theorised to offer improved thermoregulation by providing insulation to reduce heat loss at night or avoiding higher humidity and temperatures (van Casteren et al. 2012; McGrew 2004; Stewart 2011; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Anderson 1984; Anderson 1998; Koops et al. 2012; Fruth & Hohmann 1993). Research by Samson & Hunt (2012) found that arboreal nests as opposed to terrestrial nests in Toro-Semliki in Uganda experienced greater temperatures, wind sway and heat stress but lower humidity levels. The thermoregulatory and insulation properties of the arboreal nests of chimpanzees were empirically tested by Stewart (2011), and found that arboreal nests did indeed offer reduced heat loss which in a savannah habitat with low overnight temperatures could be crucial to the survival of chimpanzees there. Koops et al. (2012) found that in the rainforest habitat of Seringbara, Republic of Guinea where overnight temperatures are higher that humidity avoidance appears to drive much of the nest selection within this site. Chimpanzees within Seringbara were found to nest at higher altitudes with lower humidity during the wet season and avoided lower altitudes when overall humidity was highest and avoided nesting at altitudes below 800m year-round due to the higher humidity. Furthermore, chimpanzees nested higher within the trees during the wet season than during the dry season as higher nests offer higher temperatures and lower humidity (Koops et al. 2012a; Samson & Hunt 2012). Chimpanzees and other apes may be choosing to avoid high humidity as in higher temperatures, high humidity reduces the efficiency of heat loss through evaporation and conversely in colder temperatures high humidity increases heat loss through convection (Bell & Greene 1984). Further to the use of nests for thermoregulation, western lowland gorillas (G. gorilla gorilla) have been observed sleeping on dry earth during dry periods and as conditions became wetter and colder were observed to build nests more regularly along with building more complex designs with changing climatic conditions and nests in trees more frequently with increased rainfall (Remis 1993; Tutin et al. 1995; Mehlman & Doran 2002). As both extremes of heat and cold would influence an individual's comfort and quality of sleep, I decided to include aspects of thermoregulation such as nest height and canopy closure above the nest as part of the overall sleep comfort hypothesis.

1.2.2.3. Vector avoidance

Nest have also been posited as a way of avoiding insect-borne pathogens by acting as physical barriers to insect vectors such as mosquitoes (Prasetyo et al. 2010; Stewart 2011; van Casteren et al. 2012; McGrew 2004; Nunn & Heymann 2005), certain tree species used for nesting could also have chemical properties which act as repellents to mosquitoes and other biting insects as well (Stewart 2011; Samson et al. 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014). By moving and building new nests daily, apes may be able to reduce the possibility of infestation by ectoparasites (Anderson 1998; Mackinnon 1974). Though little studied, there does appear to be some evidence for orangutans selecting nest trees with antimosquito properties (Largo et al. 2009) and carrying the leaves from plants with mosquito repellent properties to line their nests (Russon et al. 2007, 2009b; Kuze et al. 2011). Chimpanzees similarly have been found to preferentially build nests within trees belonging to the genus *Cynometra* which has natural mosquito repellent properties (Samson et al. 2013). Empirical testing by Stewart (2011b) found that by sleeping in an arboreal nest they experienced less bites than by sleeping on the ground, suggesting that the nest structure either acted as a physical barrier to the biting insects or dislodged them from the body.

1.2.2.4. Reducing the risk of predation

Great apes are considered to be at low risk of predation to large carnivores due to a combination of large body size (Zuberbühler & Jenny 2002), low densities (Hayward et al. 2006), predominant distribution in closed forest habitats (Lehmann et al. 2009; Stewart & Pruetz 2013) and in the case of African ape species living in groups offers greater protection from predators through increased vigilance and numbers (Schaik 1983). However, there are records of predation (though rare) occurring on all great ape species with leopards (*Panthera pardus*) being the predominant predators of African great apes (Fay et al. 1995; Pruetz et al. 2008; Boesch 1991; Anderson 1984) though lions and hyenas are also potential predators (Tsukahara 1993; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Orangutans due to their more solitary nature could potentially be at greater risk of predation but only realistically face predation threats from three species: large reticulated pythons (*Python reticulatus*), Sunda clouded leopards (*Neofelis diardi*) and Sumatran tigers (*Panthera tigris sumatrae*) (Mackinnon 1974; Rijksen & Rijksen-Graatsma 1975; Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito 1983; van Schaik & van Hooff 1996).

Such threats from predation though low, could have significant impacts upon apes and their populations due to their long life-histories, in particular their slow maturation to reproductive age and long inter-birth intervals due to the need for extended maternal care (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; Jones 2011; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). The long life history of apes and in particular orangutans makes them especially susceptible to the pressures of excessive mortality through predation and hunting due to the time required to replace lost members (Musick 1999). With predation offering such

risks to ape populations it would be expected that apes should also have evolved behavioural counterstrategies which has led to the low currently observed rates of predation (Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Such anti-predatory behaviours have been observed including alarm calls which chimpanzees have been observed vocalizing in response to leopards (Boesch 1991) and both Sumatran and Bornean orangutans in response to tigers and clouded leopards (Rijksen 1978; Lameira et al. 2013). Both chimpanzees and orangutans have also been observed to throw sticks and rocks at perceived threats such as leopards, lions, tigers and clouded leopards (Van Lawick-Goodall 1968; Rijksen 1978; Boesch 1991; Lameira et al. 2013; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). The building of nest is another such behaviour which limits the risk of predation (Stewart & Pruetz 2013).

Whilst nests offer apes improved comfort and more stable sleeping sites, one of the primary functions of animal construction behaviours is to provide defence from predators. This anti-predatory function of nests and other shelters can two forms; concealment and repulsion of attack once detected (Hansell 2005; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Nests potentially offer apes protection through crypsis, reducing the apes visibility to searching predators by presenting the leafy mass of the nest rather than the silhouette of large-bodied primate on a branch (Sugardjito 1983; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). The primary anti-predatory function that has been hypothesised for nest building in apes is that by nesting arboreally it makes the nest builder inaccessible to potential nocturnal predators whilst the individual is sleeping and vulnerable (Stewart & Pruetz 2013). The nesting of apes has been well studied and found that in many cases apes are highly selective of nest sites in regards to tree species, areas of landscapes and particular morphological or structural characteristics of trees (Tutin et al. 1995; Brownlow et al. 2001; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Hernandez-Aguilar 2009; Cheyne et al. 2013; Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Given the potential importance of reducing the risk of predation it should be expected that orangutans and other apes should take measures in selecting nest sites which improve the nest sites anti-predatory functions such as by either making access more difficult for a predator or facilitating easier escape for the nesting individual (Anderson 1984, 1998; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013).

Such anti-predation adaptations have been observed in the nests of chimpanzees such as nests having escape routes (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson et al. 1983), building the nest near to the forest edge or over streams or gulley's to increase the relative height of the nest (Van Lawick-Goodall 1968) and in savannah habitats building higher nests with less overhead vegetation and more clumped together as a group which could be seen as methods of reducing predations by nocturnal predators (Baldwin et al. 1981). Further to this, chimpanzees in Issa have been found to select trees that are both taller and larger and with higher first branch heights than other suitable trees in the vicinity which could be a method of reducing access to ground predators (Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

Pruetz et al. (2008) found that when comparing chimpanzee nest heights between two sites in Senegal, these were lower in Fongoli where most predatory species had been extirpated through hunting compared to Assirik which is part of Niokolo Koba National Park where hunting has been forbidden since the 1950's and so has a large population of predators. Pruetz et al. (2008) further noted that when comparing their data to earlier nest height data from Assirik in the 1970's, the nest heights had increased coinciding with the recovery of the populations of predators within the national park. Building upon this, when comparing chimpanzee nesting between Issa and Fongoli; where Issa had high densities of ground predators and were largely absent from Fongoli, Stewart & Pruetz (2013) found that not only were chimpanzees nesting in higher trees in Issa but also nesting in more peripheral positions within the crowns of trees. By nesting higher within trees and in more peripheral positions, the nest builders are able to reduce access to predators through distance but by being closer to the terminal ends of branches they also reduce the potential for predators to be able to reach them due to the branches being unable to support the weight of the predators. Stewart & Pruetz (2013) theorised that nest building could be a method of creating stable sleep sites in more terminal locations on branches that prior to nest construction could not support the weight of the nest building individual. Only by the weaving, folding and breaking of the branches to for the structure of a nest would the nest builder be able to safely rest in such a branch location.

Adaptations to reduce the risk of predation have also been recorded for orangutans, with juveniles and paired mothers with infants having been observed nesting further away from food trees, whilst for adult males and females without young it is more normal for them to sleep in the general vicinity of the last food tree they visited but it is rare for them to nest in the fruiting tree (Sugardjito 1983). Avoiding nesting in active fruiting trees, in particular those which the most recently fed in is one of the most frequently reported aspects of nest tree selection for orangutans (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 2000; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; van Casteren et al. 2012). This has both anti-predatory (Sugardjito 1983) and comfort driven functions as by avoiding nesting in active fruiting trees orangutan avoid disturbance throughout the night and rest periods by other orangutans as well as other frugivorous species such as macaques, gibbons, fruit bats (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 1998; Prasetyo et al. 2012) and biting insects such as ants (Whitten 1982b) which are attracted by the fruit. Avoiding nesting in active fruit trees and further from fruiting tress reduces the risk of predation as Sugardjito (1983) hypothesised that nocturnal predators such as clouded leopards, focus their arboreal search near to active fruit trees which are frequently visited by nocturnal frugivores (Sugardjito 1983; Prasetyo et al. 2009).

1.2.2.5. Ground nesting

The rarity of ground nesting in orangutans is likely an anti-predatory response along with being a method of ensuring comfortable, undisturbed, high quality sleep by avoiding high humidity, damp ground and rain dripping from overhead foliage. Ground nesting in orangutans is only known for large

flanged males in Borneo (Ashbury et al. 2015) and is completely unknown in Sumatra, this is most likely due to the presence of large ground predators in Sumatra which are absent from Borneo, in particular Sumatran tigers and Sumatran dhole (Mackinnon 1974; Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito 1983; Rijksen & Meijard 1999). The main predators in Borneo are also present in Sumatra, but both species are capable of climbing and are adept at arboreal hunting; the reticulated python and Sunda clouded leopard, therefore there may be less pressure to avoid ground nesting in Borneo as in Sumatra (Mackinnon 1974; Rijksen & Rijksen-Graatsma 1975; Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito 1983; Brodie & Giordano 2013; Ashbury et al. 2015; Hearn et al. 2015).

Though adult orangutans are generally larger than the preferred prey size of clouded leopards which tend to prefer prey no larger than themselves (11-25kg), they are well within the potential prey size of tigers, with research by Hayward et al. (2012) suggesting that the preferred prey size of tigers is 60-250kg, this would place flanged male orangutans at the lower scale of this at 80kg (Markham & Groves 1990). However, much of the data for Hayward et al's (2012) analysis came from tigers in India and Russia and given the smaller body size of Sumatran tigers (Nowell & Jackson 1996) it should be assumed that potentially they could target smaller prey so both male and female orangutans (80kg and 40kg respectively (Markham & Groves 1990)) should be potential prey for tigers in Sumatra. Given this extra and very real threat from a ground predator, it is unsurprising that ground nesting is unheard of in Sumatra compared to Borneo (Prasetyo et al. 2009) and therefore we should not expect to find any instances of ground nesting in this study. Though there are no records of orangutan deaths due to pythons they are potentially the only natural predator in Borneo which could kill an adult orangutan as pythons have been recorded killing and consuming an adult female sun bear in Borneo (Fredriksson 2005) and responsible for a number of fatal attacks on humans in Indonesia, Sarawak and the Philippines (Lang 2010; Headland & Greene 2011). The presence of pythons could potentially be why terrestrial behaviour is still uncommon in Borneo (Loken et al. 2013; Ashbury et al. 2015).

A number of studies have similarly found links between increased rarity in ground nesting and higher predator densities in chimpanzees (Stewart et al. 2011; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Further to this Stewart & Pruetz (2013) noted that there was a significant increase in the proportion of terrestrial nests built in Fongoli between in their study Stewart et al. (2011) compared to the earlier study by Pruetz et al. (2008). Not only were ground nests more common but average nest heights were also lower between the two studies, these two results suggest that in Fongoli the removal of predators has allowed chimpanzees to feel safer to build nests closer to the ground. Stewart & Pruetz (2013) however did note that the period that their studies had been conducted over had also been a period in which the chimpanzees had been exposed to a sudden increase in human contact, as the researchers were attempting to habituate the group. Furthermore, the detection and decay rates of ground nests versus arboreal nests at different height may also differ leading to variation in numbers found (Stewart &

Pruetz 2013). Other papers have also noted that chimpanzee ground-nesting generally occurs in places where predator numbers are low (Furuichi & Hashimoto 2000; Koops et al. 2007). However, this is not the case for all chimpanzee populations as in Bili in the Democratic Republic of the Congo 10.9% of all chimpanzee nests are ground nests even though there is a good population of leopards present as well (Hicks 2010; Koops et al. 2012b).

In the swamps of La Belgique in South-East Cameroon there is a positive selection for chimpanzees building ground nests to avoid human hunters as well as a lack of nesting trees and high densities of terrestrial herbaceous vegetation used for building ground nests (Tagg et al. 2013). Tagg et al. (2013) found that during the dry season when water levels were low, chimpanzees were moving into the swamp areas in La Belgique which gave them respite from hunting pressure as human hunters rarely entered the swamps and this also allowed the chimpanzees to feed upon preferred *Uapaca spp.* fruits. As the human hunters focused their hunts in the *terra firma* forests using guns to hunt arboreal primates, arboreal nesting would place chimpanzees in higher threat of the hunter's guns so ground nesting would help to make the individuals more inconspicuous and reduce this threat and may counterbalance the risks from predation and encounters with large herbivores like elephants or buffalo (Tutin et al. 1995; Hicks 2010; Tagg et al. 2013). Though in this instance the high rate of poaching led to an increase in ground nesting in two other studies in the Democratic Republic of Congo (Hicks 2010) and Cameroon (Last & Muh 2013) increased hunting, agriculture and human activity was found to lead to fewer ground nests.

Though there is strong evidence for arboreal nesting being a response to predation, there must be further reasons as to why apes build lower nests and more ground nests once the threat of predation is removed. One simple reason is that ground nests are both simpler, quicker and easier to construct and use less energy to produce than arboreal nests (Tagg et al. 2013). Ground nests in Fongoli are less complex and built with fewer steps and are often made of thin malleable materials when compared to arboreal nests, likely due to ground nests not requiring a supportive structure compared to arboreal nests (Stewart 2011a). Along with being less complex in design they are also less energetically demanding to produce, as there is less energy needed to stabilize the body whilst constructing the nest as there is for arboreal nests and there is no added energetic cost of ascending and descending trees to access the nest (Samson & Hunt 2012). Ground nests also offer safer, more stable nests and potentially longer periods of undisturbed sleep in areas with strong winds or during windy weather as arboreal nests experience both significantly greater wind sway, wind speeds and intensities of wind gusts than ground nests and as such there is less chance of nest failure or falling from the nest (Brownlow et al. 2001; Samson & Hunt 2012). As such, gorillas have been observed to abandon arboreal nests in favour of bare ground during dangerous storms as safety outweighed comfort and the threat from ground predators (Tutin et al. 1995). Lastly, ground nests were found to offer more stable temperatures and

less thermal stress than arboreal nests so should offer greater comfort and undisturbed sleep than arboreal nests (Samson & Hunt 2012).

Compared to other apes, gorillas appear to be the most flexible in terms of nesting pattern, with the incidence of ground nesting for western lowland gorillas (G. gorilla gorilla) varying greatly between sites from 7.36% of nests in Petit Loango, Gabon (Furuichi et al. 1997) to 96.2% of nests built in La Belgique in Cameroon (Willie et al. 2014). Not only do gorillas more regularly build ground nests than other ape species but sometimes sleep on the bare earth without constructing any form of night nest which is a behaviour not shared with any other ape species (Tutin & Fernandez 1985; Fay 1989; Remis 1993; Yamagiwa 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002). Two theories as to why gorillas so readily build ground nests compared to other ape species are both due to their larger body size compared to other apes. Firstly; the larger body size of gorillas may reduce the number of potential arboreal nest sites available due to a lack of trees able to support their weight, secondly their larger body size may both reduce the number of predatory species that can prey upon them but also reduce the chance of being predated on by those species which can tackle prey of their size (Yamagiwa 2001). In spite of their large body size, even mature male gorillas have been recorded building arboreal nests, though the majority of arboreal nests are built by juveniles and females (Yamagiwa 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002).

Variations in rates of ground nesting in gorillas have been purported to be due to factors associated with variations in both habitat and climate. The availability of nesting material such as terrestrial herbaceous vegetation (THV) and shrubs appears to be a good predictor of ground nesting numbers as in the montane forests of Virunga where THV are abundant 97.1% of all nests were ground nests whereas in the tropical forests of Petit Loango THV are very rare and ground nests only account for 7.3% of all gorilla nests in that site. Nest heights and increased rates of arboreal nesting in gorillas have also been found to be linked to the season with significantly more arboreal nests being built in Lopé to potentially avoid nesting on the damp ground (Williamson 1988) and in Bai Hokou similar tendencies were reported by Remis (1993) who suggested that increased feeding on arboreal fruits may be responsible for higher incidences of arboreal nesting during the wet season (Yamagiwa 2001). Though terrestrial nesting is far more common in gorillas and their large body size excludes them from predation by most predators, gorillas are still vulnerable to predation in particular immature individuals in particular leopards with a number of records of leopards predating upon or attacking both mountain and lowland gorillas (Schaller 1963; Tutin 1992; Fay et al. 1995). With such threats, arboreal nesting may be an anti-predatory response by gorillas in particular immature individuals whilst they are vulnerable. Yamagiwa (2001) found that the dominant silverback may also play a part in protecting the troop from both predators and outside males who could kill the immatures. They found that following the death of the lead male, both adults and immatures built significantly fewer ground

nests and following the joining of a new silverback to the group the immature individuals still produced few ground nests as they may have not trusted in the new male's protector ability as with the old males.

There is significant support for ground nesting and nesting lower in trees being a sex linked behaviour with male chimpanzees in Budongo, Uganda (Brownlow et al. 2001) nesting lower than females, along with male chimpanzees being found to produce the majority of ground nests in Nimba (Koops et al. 2007, 2012b). Male orangutans have also been observed to nest in lower more stable positions than females or juveniles in Kutai National Park (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009). As in other ape species, arboreal nests are most frequently built by female and immature gorillas, with mature silverbacks rarely producing arboreal nests and the predominant producers of ground nests (Yamagiwa 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002). Sexual dimorphism and the significantly larger size of mature males compared to female and immature apes plays a significant part in this as the number of potential arboreal nest sites is lower for males due to the greater support required from the nest trees as with greater body mass the chance of injury through nest failure greatly increases (Yamagiwa 2001; Koops et al. 2012b). However, though both orangutans and gorillas show significant levels of sexual dimorphism in terms of body mass, this is much less pronounced in chimpanzees and bonobos and so may not have as much of an effect upon nest site selection for either species (Richmond & Jungers 1995). Alternatively, the higher incidence of ground nesting in male chimpanzees and bonobos could have arisen due to mate guarding behaviours with males building ground nests beneath the arboreal nests of females in oestrus as has been observed in bonobos (Fruth & Hohmann 1993) and has been suggested for chimpanzees in Nimba (Koops et al. 2007). Later research by Koops et al. (2012b) however found no support for this theory as many of the pairs of elaborate ground nests and arboreal nests were either produced by the same male or maternally related males and suggested that mate guarding still may occur but that ground nesting may be as originally hypothesised a method of reducing risk of injury through nest failure.

1.2.3 Nest site selection

Nest tree selection is not random but highly selective in orangutans and other apes, with certain tree species and tree architecture used preferentially more than others (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Stanford & O'Malley 2008; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014). Nest site selection and nest position can be influenced by both comfort and predator avoidance with certain nest positions and nest sites lending them to provide either greater comfort and stability (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Stewart et al. 2007; van Casteren et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014) or camouflage and more difficulty of access to a potential predator and easier escape route for the nest builder (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 2000; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Orangutans in highly disturbed areas have been found to prefer nesting in the largest trees available and preferential nest trees have been found to have a high rate of reutilisation which could lead to

more frequent interactions and competition for ideal nest sites (Delgado & Van Schaik 2000; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a). Nest positions have been linked to ontogenetic difference with smaller, immature individuals nesting higher in the tree and using more precarious nest sites to reduce the risk of predation whilst larger adults build in lower more stable nest positions (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Prasetyo et al. 2012). There are also geographic and possibly cultural differences in the preference for utilising certain nest positions with orangutans in the highly disturbed peat swamps of Borneo highly favouring the tree-tied nest position; where the branches from more than one tree are used to form the nest platform (later referred as Position 4 nests), which are rarely used by other orangutan populations (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Malone & Strier 2011). This has been suggested to be either a product of cultural differences in orangutan nest preferences or a response to the lower density of large trees in the sites of Sabangau and Tuanan compared to other forest sites (Prasetyo et al. 2009).

Ancrenaz et al. (2004b) found Bornean orangutans were significantly preferring nesting in the largest available trees in Kinabatangan (KOCP) whilst Cheyne et al. (2013) found that though orangutans were preferring smaller trees than KOCP, orangutans were similarly nesting in the upper canopy at their site in Sabangau. Predator avoidance was ruled out as a factor in nest site selection for both studies due to the lack of large ground predators in Borneo (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013). Rather than predator avoidance both studies concluded that comfort and nest stability were responsible for the selection for nests in the upper canopy as larger, more stable trees that were less likely to fall or be susceptible to wind sway were selected (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013). In KOCP which is a degraded habitat tree fall is common due to abiotic factors such as wind so nesting in the tallest, largest trees could be a method of reducing the risk of tree fall and increase the opportunity for high quality, relaxed sleep as there is less need to be alert (Ancrenaz et al. 2004b). Cheyne et al's (2013) study further built on this conclusion of preferring the most stable nest site, though unlike in KOCP the orangutans in Sabangau were preferring to nest in smaller tree they still preferred to nest in the upper canopy but were positively selecting for trees with large trunk diameters and in particular those with features such as buttress or stilted roots and large basal areas which help to reduce sway (Nicoll & Ray 1996; Soethe et al. 2006; Cheyne et al. 2013).

Our field sites in Sikundur and Sei Betung offer a perfect opportunity to test these hypotheses. Both sites are located 10km apart and are classed as lowland dipterocarp forests, with the only difference being that Sikundur was selectively logged over 40 years ago and has been allowed to naturally recover (Knop et al. 2004; Priatna et al. 2006) whereas Sei Betung was previously an illegal oil palm plantation which was clear felled and since been replanted over the last 15 years (Kettle & Koh 2014; Wich et al. 2016b; Hartini et al. 2017). This difference in disturbance levels offers a perfect opportunity to test whether the availability of large trees does influence the proportions of position 4 nests built by controlling for cultural difference as both sites are so close it is possible for individuals to travel

between both sites. Furthermore, we are able to test wither disturbance levels or changes to forest structure influence nest site selection and test whether in more disturbed sites orangutans prefer to build nests in the tallest available trees or if they select the most stable trees as suggested by Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) and Cheyne et al. (2013). As tigers are confirmed to be in the area surrounding our field sites (Luskin et al. 2017), this therefore also allows us to test the anti-predator hypothesis as unlike in both studies by Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) and Cheyne et al. (2004a) and Cheyne et al. (2013).

1.2.4 Nest reuse

Nest reuse is relatively common in orangutans when compared to other ape species with published numbers for orangutans ranging between 3% in Danum Valley (Kanamori et al. 2017) to 31.9% in Birawa in East Kalimantan (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009) whereas for chimpanzees figures range between 6% (Stewart et al. 2011) and 13.8% (Plumptre & Reynolds 1997), for gorillas its rarer, between 2.8% (Sunderland-Groves et al. 2009) and 4.1% (Iwata & Ando 2007) and extremely rare in bonobos; 0.2% (Fruth & Hohmann 1996). This higher rate of nest reuse by orangutans has been posited to be due to resource limitations (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009) as orangutans build larger nests than chimpanzees (Groves & Sabater Pi 1985) and build nests higher than gorillas (Fruth & Hohmann 1996), thus the number of potential nest sites must be lower for orangutans, thereby requiring that nests are reused more frequently. The rate of reuse of nests and nest sites in orangutans appears highly variable with field site and in particular disturbance levels as more disturbed sites tend to have fewer potential nest sites. The loss of potential nest sites explains why sites such as Kinabatangan and Birawa have such high rates of reuse (14.6% and 31.9% respectively) (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009) when compared to sites with medium levels of disturbance such as Tanjung Putting and Gunung Palung National Park (9.51% and 12% respectively) (Johnson et al. 2005; Prasetyo et al. 2012) and less disturbed sites like Danum Valley and Ketambe (3% and 6.2% respectively) (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Kanamori et al. 2017).

1.3 Nest position selection

Nest position selection has been less studied in Sumatra, with Sugardjito's (1983) seminal study reporting that Sumatran orangutans prefer nesting higher in the canopy and within larger trees. Because of the presence of Sumatran tigers and dholes this may be an anti-predatory response as well as comfort and stability driven. Nest heights and nest tree heights do appear to be generally higher in Sumatra than Borneo for both day and night nests (Prasetyo et al. 2009). Studies by both Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) and Prasetyo et al. (2012) found that immature Bornean orangutans nest higher within the canopy than adults and tended to build smaller nests nearer to the ends of branches. Immature orangutans are more vulnerable to predation by arboreal predators such as pythons and clouded leopards due to their smaller size (Rijksen 1978; Wilting et al. 2006; Matsuda et al. 2008) therefore nesting higher in a tree and in more peripheral positions reduces the chances of both being seen or

attacked by these predators. Large adult orangutans are generally too large for either of these predatory species to normally be able to kill (Rijksen 1978; Wilting et al. 2006; Matsuda et al. 2008) so for adults comfort and stability is more important as the higher and more precarious branches used by the immatures are incapable of supporting the weight of a fully grown adult. Both Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) and Prasetyo et al. (2012) found that adults nested lower in the tree than juveniles, built larger nests and in more stable locations closer to the stem.

Building nests higher in the canopy also provides further benefits beyond predator avoidance, including possible increased comfort through a reduction in airborne parasite numbers (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b) though Koops et al. (2012b) were unable to find evidence for mosquito densities differing with height or altitude but this may have been due to limited sample sizes and may have been true for one site but not all field sites. Nests may offer mosquito repellent properties through the release of chemicals or aromas which deter mosquitoes via the breaking of branches and the chemical properties of the nest tree (Stewart 2011b), as orangutans have been observed nesting in trees with mosquito repellent properties (Largo et al. 2009) and carrying leaves and branches from such trees to line new nests (Kuze et al. 2011), so the anti-vector hypothesis cannot be discounted but may be less associated with nest position and more with nest site selection. Nesting higher within the tree has also been suggested to improve comfort through reduced humidity, however nesting very high within the canopy or above the level of the surrounding canopy presents a drawback of increased exposure to the wind and rain, with increased wind speeds and strength causing greater branch sway which would increase sleep disturbance and risk of branch failure (Samson & Hunt 2012). Nest height generally seems to be linked to the height of the nest tree and this may differ across sites due to differing forest structures and tree heights (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Badji et al. 2017).



Figure 1-3 Nest positions of orangutans as proposed in the University of Zurich Orangutan Network standardised field methods (University of Zurich 2015)

Generally there are five widely accepted nest positions utilised by orangutans including ground nests (position 0) (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Orangutan Network 2015). These five positions are based upon the

nests' height and placement within the crown in relation to the main stem. Position 1 nests are built lower in the crown and close or against the main stem. Position 2 nests are built towards the end of a horizontal branch and use side branches weaved together to form the platform. Position 3 nests are built towards the top of the crown, usually within a fork with no main stem overhead; only smaller branches and leaves. Position 4 nests also known as tree tied nests are those where more than one tree is used to build the nest, this can either from tying together the branches of trees or using the tops of smaller trees and locking these together to form a stable platform (Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Orangutan Network 2015).

The different nest positions may have arisen due to both the extreme sexual dimorphism shown in orangutans and changes in body size with age (Markham & Groves 1990), the tree architecture and its mechanical properties lending it to a certain nest position or the forest structure making certain tree types more or less common and increasing the likelihood of certain nest positions being used. Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) noted that young orangutans nested higher and in more peripheral positions whereas large flanged males nested lower in the canopy and closer to the stem. Flanged males may therefore be limited to only using more stable nest positions such as Position 1 and similar to chimpanzees only being able to utilize more peripheral nest positions in larger trees which possess the biomechanical strength to support their weight (Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Position 1 nests being the lowest to the ground and closest to the main stem would theoretically be the most stable of all nest positions but are also the most easily accessible to a predator, therefore it could be that large adults, in particular flanged males may prefer to build nests in this position due to their significantly larger body size and reduced susceptibility to predation (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 2000; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009). As Position 1 nests are built lower within the crown if predator avoidance responses are important, it should be expected that such nests be built in trees with higher first branch heights as this would both effectively increase the potential nest height but also offer a more difficult route to the nest to ground predators (Koops et al. 2012a).

Conversely, Position 2 and 3 nests are built within the periphery of the crown and offer much more difficult access to predators, so therefore are more likely to be built by females and younger individuals. By being at the end of a branch Position 2 nests have more limited access and approach routes (Stewart & Pruetz 2013) but if built within a well-connected tree or one that is close to its neighbours also offers an easier escape route (Anderson et al. 1983; Anderson 2000; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009). Being at the end of a branch though also presents a significant drawback in reduced stability and possible increased branch sway and to support the weight of an adult orangutan very large branches would be needed. Such large branches tend to be on larger trees and are a rare commodity as the production of horizontal branches is expensive due to gravity and needs to be thicker nearer to the trunk (Horn 1971; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). As significant

biomechanical strength is required in the branch to support the weight of an orangutan in more peripheral position such as Position 3 nests, it should be expected to find that such nests are built in significantly larger trees than other nest positions (Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). In more disturbed habitats where large trees have been removed it should be expected that position 3 nests are less common or that the few trees remaining which are large enough to support position 3 nests would experience significant reuse.

By being built within a fork Position 3 nests are significantly more stable than Position 2 nests but do not offer as easy an escape route (Samson & Hunt 2014). In open savannah areas with large numbers of predators chimpanzees have been observed nesting higher within the tree crowns and in many cases open crowns with little to no cover above them to reduce the directions from which a predator may access the nest or attack (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson 2000; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Badji et al. 2017). If this behaviour translates to orangutans then it should be expected to find more Position 3 nests in more open forests and in areas where predators are present, and thereby more frequently in Sumatra than Borneo, also given orangutans preference for nesting in the upper canopy this should be one of the most commonly used nest positions (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013).

In most forests Position 4 nests are rarely used by Sumatran orangutans with the other three positions generally being used in similar proportions despite differences in forest structure and habitat type such as in the two Sumatran sites of Ketambe (dryland forest) and Suaq Balimbing (peat swamp) (Prasetyo et al. 2009). However, orangutans at two peat swamp sites in Kalimantan (Sabangau and Tuanan) show significant preferences for building Position 4 nests and build these much more frequently than the other positions, in particular Position 3 nests. It has been theorised that this could be a product of the forest structure and a paucity of larger nest trees due to logging which has occurred at both sites or could be due to geographic and species differences or cultural differences in nest position preference (Prasetyo et al. 2009).

1.4 Nests as tools for informing conservation and management strategies The nests of orangutans provide a useful tool to gauge orangutan population densities and with the long-term monitoring of these nests assess the health of the population (van Schaik et al. 1995; Hashimoto 1995; Johnson et al. 2005; Cattau et al. 2015). The densities of nests can also provide information on habitat preference and on the impacts of anthropogenic disturbance such as hunting, logging (Hardus et al. 2012b; Marshall et al. 2006; Husson et al. 2009; Wich et al. 2012; Spehar & Rayadin 2017) or abiotic disturbance such as forest fire (Russon et al. 2015). Previous studies have shown that orangutans are able to cope with minor disturbance from humans such as low-intensity selective logging (Knop et al. 2004; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a, 2004b, 2010; Marshall et al. 2006; Husson et al. 2009), but orangutan densities are significantly lower in those habitats experiencing greater levels of disturbance from actions such as more intense logging, land clearance and planting of plantations; with these actions having already had sever impacts upon orangutan populations (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Felton et al. 2003; Husson et al. 2009; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Cattau et al. 2015; Russon et al. 2015; Voigt et al. 2018). Hunting has been found to have a huge influence upon orangutan numbers in the vicinity of settlements that hunt (Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012b). The use of reforestation sites by orangutans is less well understood (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2016b; Hartini et al. 2017) and understanding how the habitat preferences of orangutans differ across levels of disturbance or forest recovery will give invaluable information regarding the value of human led reforestation vs naturally recovered forests for orangutans populations and conservation.

Habitat loss and habitat change driven by the increasing width of human influence and exacerbated by climate change are major threats currently pushing orangutan populations closer to extinction (Mantyka-Pringle et al. 2015; Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Wich et al. 2016a; Singleton et al. 2017; Voigt et al. 2018). Understanding how habitat change affects orangutans and how they utilise this space is key to developing effective conservation and management plans to ensure their continued survival (Levin 1992). Due to the long period of time that orangutan nests are visible and the fact that orangutans build new nests daily, they are an extremely useful tool for studying orangutan populations and habitat preferences and the effects of anthropogenic disturbance such as hunting and logging (van Schaik et al. 1995; Russon et al. 2001; Buij et al. 2003; Morrogh-Bernard et al. 2003; Felton et al. 2003; Knop et al. 2004; Johnson et al. 2005; van Schaik et al. 2005; Mathewson et al. 2008; Spehar et al. 2010; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Wich et al. 2012b; Cattau et al. 2015). Given the continuing deforestation and increasing rate of human disturbance across the orangutan's range understanding how orangutans cope and utilise these changing habitats is crucial to their conservation (Wich et al. 2016; Voigt et al. 2018).

As more and more areas of pristine and undisturbed forest disappear from the orangutan's range and gradually their habitat becomes ever more influenced by people it is important to learn and understand more about orangutans and how they use the forest and how changes to the forest affect them. Orangutans have been found to travel through and forage in plantations but still rely upon natural forests for sleeping, resting and feeding as diets in less disturbed forests are likely to have higher nutrients quality compared to what is available in many plantations such as oil palm fruits and the cambium of *Acacia magnium* trees (Meijaard et al. 2010; Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a, 2011b; Wich et al. 2012a; Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Spehar & Rayadin 2017). Understanding how orangutans utilise recovered sites and reforestation site will help to provide further information for conservation managers for determining the value of disturbed lands surrounding protected areas as a potential to expand orangutan habitats to further promote conservation efforts.

1.5 Threats – habitat loss, degradation, conflict and hunting

Though the world may be home to a vast diversity of life, these species are not uniformly distributed across its surface, instead some regions are biodiversity hotspots holding significantly higher than average species densities and rates of endemism than others (Myers et al. 2000; Brooks et al. 2002). Four of the 25 global biodiversity hotspots are found in South East Asia: Sundaland, Wallacea, the Philippines and Indo-Burma, showing the importance and value of this region of the world to global biodiversity and role as a "true reservoir" of biodiversity (Myers et al. 2000; Evans 2016). Though South East Asia may be a reservoir for biodiversity, it is also one of the most threatened regions, currently experiencing the rapid loss of primary forest habitat through human disturbance and conversion for agriculture and timber and mineral extraction. This rapid habitat conversion is likely to result in 75% of forests lost and a 40% reduction in biodiversity in South East Asia by the year 2100 (Sodhi et al. 2010).

The principal causes for this rapid conversion of forest lands is the rapid increase in the human population over the past two centuries', and the ever-increasing global demand for food and products (Meyer & Turner II 1992; Laurance et al. 2014). The population of South East Asia in particular has seen extremely rapid population growth, with the regional population in 1800 totalling around 30 million, 80 million in 1900, 524 million by the year 2000 and currently at 660 million in 2019 (Jones 2013; Worldometers.info 2019). This rapid increase in human population has brought with it an increased pressure upon the environment through populations seeking resources in terms of space for urban areas, the expansion of agriculture for food and cash crops along with the extraction of resources such as coal, precious minerals and ore from the ground and timber from the forests (De Koninck & Dery 1997; Sodhi et al. 2004; Alvarez-Berríos & Mitchell Aide 2015; Drescher et al. 2016). This increase in deforestation, agriculture and resource exploitation is fuelled by the global demand for these products originating from these tropical lands such as the demand for tropical hardwoods in China (Kaplinsky et al. 2011), palm oil in China and India (Hansen et al. 2015), gold and other precious metals and gems driven by the constant annual rate of increase in international gold prices (Swenson et al. 2011; Alvarez-Berríos & Mitchell Aide 2015; Akpalu & Parks 2018) and the increasing global demand for meat and increased meat consumption (Machovina et al. 2015).

Of all the nations within South East Asia, Indonesia stands out both because of its high levels of biodiversity nationally but also because it is currently experiencing the second highest rate of deforestation amongst tropical countries behind Brazil (Hansen et al. 2008; Harris et al. 2012; Stibig et al. 2013; Abood et al. 2015). Since 1950, Indonesia has lost an estimated 68 Mha (million hectares) of its forest land to logging and conversion (Tsujino et al. 2016) with 0.82 Mha of forest lost per year in the decade between the year 2000 and 2010 which accounted for 56% of the total forest loss for South East Asia during this time (Stibig et al. 2013; Abood et al. 2015). The planting of monocultures of cash crops such as oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis*), rubber (*Hevea brasiliensis*), candlenut (*Aleurites moluccanus*)

and fast growing tree species such as *Acacia mangium* for pulp production along with mixed agroforestry operations have been principally responsible for the conversion of forest lands within Indonesia (Robertson & van Schaik 2001; Wich et al. 2011a; Voigt et al. 2018). Logging concessions and fibre plantations currently account for the largest forest loss in Indonesia with ~6.6 Mha of forest having been lost to fibre plantations (pulp and paper), logging concessions, oil palm plantations and coal mining in the decade between the year 2000 and 2010 (Abood et al. 2015). Along with the clearance of forests, the structure of the remaining forests is being altered through human actions, in particular by selective logging which presents further threats to the species that call these forests home, in particular arboreal species such as orangutans (Hall et al. 2003).

The loss of forests is particularly evident on the island of Sumatra where 70% of its forestands have already been converted through intensive forest clearance as of 2010 (Laumonier et al. 2010; Margono et al. 2012, 2014; Drescher et al. 2016). Much of the deforestation on Sumatra is associated with prior forest degradation (Margono et al. 2012, 2014) with the principal actions causing this degradation being agricultural incursions, timber extractions (Gaveau et al. 2014a; Linkie et al. 2014) and fires (Gaveau et al. 2014b; Sloan et al. 2017) with much of this being illegal.

The rapid rate of forest clearance and land conversion along with the rapidly growing human population on Sumatra has serious implications for orangutans (Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Singleton et al. 2017; Nowak et al. 2017; Wich et al. 2016). The rampant deforestation, logging and land clearance for industrialised plantations was found to be responsible for a loss of over 100,000 orangutans on Borneo between 1999 and 2015 which accounts for around 50% of the total population (Voigt et al. 2018). The orangutans in Sumatra face a similarly bleak future if current predictions for forest loss continue with 4500 individuals expected to be lost by 2030, a loss of 30% of the total orangutan population on Sumatra (Wich et al. 2016a).

1.5.1 Logging intensity and orang-utan densities

Areas with more recent or more intense logging have significantly lower orangutan densities than those where either the forest has had time to recover, where the logging and disturbance was less intense or that were left intact (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Felton et al. 2003; Knop et al. 2004; Husson et al. 2009; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Cattau et al. 2015; Russon et al. 2015). A few studies have found that in areas which have experienced low-intensity or selective logging, there is no significant difference in orangutan density from that of unlogged areas (Ancrenaz 2004; Ancrenaz et al. 2005; Marshall et al. 2006; Husson et al. 2009; Ancrenaz et al. 2010) and similarly in areas which have had a significant amount of time to recover since disturbance (>30 years) (Knop et al. 2004).

The reduction in orangutan numbers associated with medium to high intensity has been suggested to be due to a number of factors, the primary reason being due to the changes in forest structure. Those changes in forest structure found to most heavily influence orangutan numbers were the removal of large trees and important food species leading to lower fruit availability in these areas reducing their carrying capacity for orangutans (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Wich et al. 2004a; Husson et al. 2009; Hardus et al. 2012a). Fruit availability, in particular the density of fig trees and soft-pulp fruits is a strong predictor of orangutan densities (van Schaik et al. 1995; Buij et al. 2002; Wich et al. 2004b). If these important food trees are removed through human actions, it could lead to the collapse of the local orangutan population or the movement of orangutans away from these sites, to areas where the fruit are still present which could put excess pressure on the food stocks within that habitat.

Along with the clearance of forests, the structure of what forests remain is being further altered through human actions, in particular by selective logging which presents further threats to the species that call these forests home (Hall et al. 2003). Selective logging has been found to be associated with more homogenous forests with lowered species richness and a more simplified vertical structure (Norris et al. 2010). Though selective logging produces significantly less disruption to forest canopy and vegetation cover compared to conventional logging methods it still does cause some disruption to and small scale-fragmentation of the canopy (Pereira et al. 2002). The removal of larger emergent trees in particular leads to a reduction of continuous canopy and tree density which could possibly affect the availability of good nest sites as taller, larger trees were also preferentially selected for nests in Borneo (Ancrenaz et al. 2004; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013).

In some cases orangutans have been found to use secondary regrowth forests to a greater extent than any other mammalian species within the area (Gregory et al. 2012; Spehar & Rayadin 2017). Degraded forests such as those which have been selectively logged and those naturally regenerated after forest fires are also utilised by orangutans though their densities are lower in the more degraded areas (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Felton et al. 2003; Husson et al. 2009; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Cattau et al. 2015; Russon et al. 2015). Orangutans have been reported to utilise reforested areas replanted by humans, though similarly to in heavily logged areas, they show significant clustering of nests in small pockets of the site (Wich et al. 2016; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Ancrenaz et al. 2004b). Even heavily converted areas such as oil palm plantations, paper and pulp plantations and agroforestry areas have been found to be utilised by orangutans (Meijaard et al. 2010; Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a; Ancrenaz et al. 2015). An assessment by Meijaard et al. in 2010 found unexpectedly high orangutan densities within *Acacia* plantations (planted for paper and pulp) though the authors had concerns as to the longterm viability of these populations due to the lower food availability.

1.5.2 Hunting and the illegal pet trade

As the forest is opened up to logging and roads are cut through these forests, the opportunities for hunters to enter the forest and reach further into the forest also increases (Husson et al. 2009; Wich et al. 2011a). The hunting and capture of orangutans poses a huge threat to the long term survival of orangutan populations as hunting has been found to have a more serious negative impact upon orangutan populations than logging and habitat degradation alone (Marshall et al. 2006; Ancrenaz et al. 2004; Husson et al. 2009). Hunting has been found to be highly influential upon orangutan densities with orangutan numbers being significantly lower near to human settlements known to hunt orangutans than those that do not, likely due to the orangutans being removed from those forests and not actually avoiding them (Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012b). Orangutans are hunted for bushmeat, traditional medicine and for the exotic pet trade (Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012b; Davis et al. 2013; Nijman 2017). Hunting for food occurs most notably in regions where the population are majority non-Muslim in parts of North Sumatra and Borneo as for Muslims the consumption of the meat of primates is considered "haram" (Rijksen & Meijard 1999; Wich et al. 2011a, 2012b; Davis et al. 2013). The capture of orangutans, mainly infants for the pet trade occurs in two instances; as a byproduct of the killing of the mother from conflict-killing when found crop raiding in plantations and from hunting specifically for the pet trade where hunters deliberately target adult females who they kill in order to take the young for the pet trade regardless of whether they were crop-raiding or not (Nijman 2009; Campbell-Smith et al. 2010; Wich et al. 2011a; Freund et al. 2017).

Hunting for trade offers further threats to orangutans due to the number of individuals killed in order to capture one young individual for the pet trade, and then the further amount that die in transit to the customer which may be both within Indonesia or internationally such as Taiwan prior to 1980 and more recently Thailand (Nijman 2009; Nijman et al. 2017). The number of individuals that have died for one single individual to reach a bird market, rescue centre or zoo was termed as the "loss rate" (Nijman 2005, 2009). Conservative models by Nijman (2005), put this at 2 but more realistic models placed this at 4, other sources have suggested loss rates of 2-4 (Rijksen & Meijard 1999) and even up to 8-10 (Galdikas & Briggs 1999). However, it appears that Bornean orangutans are the species predominately traded rather than Sumatran orangutans and Bornean specimens even appear in Sumatran markets (Nijman 2009). Also there appears to be a shift in recent years away from the trade in apes in Indonesia and increase in the trade in lorises and smaller monkey species (Nijman et al. 2017). Therefore, the pet trade may be a more minor threat to orangutans in the wild when compared to the greater pressures of habitat loss and hunting.

1.5.3 Vulnerability to extinction

Orangutans have the longest inter-birth interval and latest weaning age of any great ape and receive the longest period of unshared proximity to their mother among the great apes (van Noordwijk et al. 2009; (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005). Their long interbirth interval is one of the primary factors which make orangutans so vulnerable to extinction (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; van Noordwijk et al. 2009; Jones 2011). Orangutans' slow life history mean they are highly susceptible to excessive mortality or harvest due to the time required to replace lost members (Musick 1999). Large mammal species in the tropics such as orangutans are particularly at risk of extinction (Fritz et al. 2009) due to the rapidly increasing human populations in the tropics (Jones 2013; Drescher et al. 2016) and the associated increasing rates of habitat loss within the tropics for agriculture, timber and mineral extraction to supply to ever increasing global demand for palm oil, timber and other resources (Sodhi et al. 2004, 2010; Marlier et al. 2015; Drescher et al. 2016; Hughes 2017). Land cover change is expected to have a huge impact on orangutan numbers with climate change and the expansion of agriculture as well as a number of large-scale infrastructure projects planned in sensitive areas (Struebig et al. 2015; Wich et al. 2016a). Orangutans also face added pressures of hunting (Owens & Bennett 2000; Fa et al. 2002; Isaac & Cowlishaw 2004; Collen et al. 2006; Fritz et al. 2009; Hughes 2017) and fruit shortages due to climate change increasing dry periods and the risk of wildfires (Mantyka-Pringle et al. 2015; Jantz et al. 2015; Loo et al. 2015; Hughes 2017; Sloan et al. 2017).

1.5.4 Orangutans in Sumatra- Leuser Ecosystem and Batang Toru

The majority of the orangutans on Sumatra, ~89% of the remaining population of Sumatran orangutans are to be found within the Leuser Ecosystem in North Sumatra and the remainder in adjacent areas to the south (Wich et al. 2011a, 2016a; Singleton et al. 2017). The separate population of Tapanuli orangutans are found in the Batang Toru region to the south of Lake Toba (Nowak et al. 2017; Nater et al. 2017). The Leuser Ecosystem is a globally significant conservation area, being of particular significance as it is the last remaining ecosystem on Earth where orangutans, tigers, elephants and rhinoceros co-occur naturally (Sloan et al. 2018a). Whilst a large portion of the Leuser Ecosystem falls within the boundaries of Gunung Leuser National Park and established as a National Strategic Area for ecological protection and is therefore protected under Indonesian national law this has still not prevented Leuser from experiencing forest loss, anthropogenic disturbance and exploitation of its resources both legally and illegally (Wich et al. 2011a; Sloan et al. 2018b). The Leuser Ecosystem is currently the subject of infrastructure development plans which are being contested between the regional and central governments (Tata et al. 2014).

Much of Leuser's current and future threats are becoming increasingly centred on infrastructure and the push for infrastructure development within the national park's boundaries. Part of Leuser Ecosystem is classed as a UNESCO World Heritage Site (WHS) as the Tropical Rainforest Heritage of Sumatra, but since 2011 this has been listed as a World Heritage Site in Danger due to "serious and specific" infrastructure threats (GOI 2018; Sloan et al. 2018). These threats include a number road building projects which have already had significant impacts upon Leuser by facilitating smallholder agricultural encroachment along these roads (Gaveau et al. 2009; Linkie et al. 2014) and a larger highway has been planned which would bisect the WHS but it has currently been stayed by the central government but a reapplication is pending by North Sumatra province (Sloan et al. 2018a). There are also currently plans for building a number of electricity generation plants, hydro-electric dams, geothermal power plants and electricity transmission lines within the Leuser Ecosystem (Sloan et al. 2018a). These numerous threats show how precarious the future prospects for Sumatran orangutans

may be as they are slowly pushed into smaller fragments of forest as more is lost to agricultural and infrastructural expansion.

Such infrastructure development projects and the associated habitat fragmentation and habitat loss are placing further pressures upon the already Critically Endangered populations of the newly discovered Tapanuli orangutan in Batang Toru (Nowak et al. 2017; Sloan et al. 2018b). A number of road building projects, the zoning of 14% of habitat for agriculture and eligibility for conversion and the proposed building of a hydroelectric dam could flood a further 8% of habitat all threaten to further fragment and reduce the little remaining habitat of the Tapanuli orangutan and draw them closer to extinction (Sloan et al. 2018b)

1.6 Conclusions

Given the number of threats facing Sumatran orangutans in particular the rapid loss and conversion of their forest habitats to plantations and agroforest landscapes, it is vital to gain as much information upon the species ecology as possible. Reforestation projects offer the opportunity to regain what was lost but the value of these projects to orangutans and how orangutans utilise such environments is little studied (Wich et al. 2016b), as such this project offers the potential to fill this significant gap in the literature by offering the first in-depth study of nest site selection and assessment of population densities linked to the recovery of the forest structure. The nests built by orangutans offer an invaluable method of assessing population densities and habitat use for a species that otherwise is relatively difficult to find (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Tagg et al. 2013). As orangutans build nests daily and spend significant proportions of their time resting within nests resting (Nowak & Singleton 2016), it is important to understand how changes to the forest structure and availability of nest trees influences nest site selection and nest reuse. Such information is vital to provide more targeted and informed conservation management strategies and developing land management strategies for national parks and conservation areas as to better promote the conservation of this species. As much of the previous research into orangutan nesting has been focused in Borneo, gaining further information upon Sumatran orangutan nesting and the potential differences in nesting habits could also provide further information to the evolution and development of the two species. Prior studies on orangutan nest site selection have discounted the predation avoidance hypothesis when those previous studies were conducted in Borneo where predation pressures are almost non-existent for adult orangutans besides from humans, whereas in Sumatra adult orangutans are potential prey for tigers (Sugardjito 1983; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013). This study offers the potential to truly test whether predation or comfort through improved quality of sleep has greater influence upon orangutan nesting in Sumatra. Furthermore, both studies by Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) or Cheyne et al. (2013) failed to consider nest positions which as Stewart & Pruetz (2013) noted that by comparing nest positions

within trees is it possible to control for other cross-site differences in other variables with may influence nest characteristics such as nest height. By investigating nest position as well as nest site selection we are able to truly test whether orangutans are building their nests as an anti-predatory response and not just knowing which trees are preferred.

1.7 Thesis Aims and overview

The overall aim of this study is to examine how forest structure influences Sumatran orangutan nest ecology by investigating nest site selection, nest position and orangutan densities in a naturally recovered forest and reforestation site. These different aspects were chosen to understand how forest structure influences nesting across three scales; the tree the nest is built in (nest tree), nest height and position within the nest tree and lastly the nest trees' position within the larger habitat, which will allow us to answer three basic questions: Why is the nest in this area? Why did the orangutan choose this particular tree? Why did the orangutan build the nest in that position and height?

Chapter 1 provides a review of the relevant literature beginning with a brief overview of orangutan biology, nesting ecology, nest site selection and nest positions and then cover the threats orangutans currently from habitat loss, degradation, conflict with humans and hunting. Through this literature review I will provide relevant background to ensure a contextual setting for each of the data chapters.

Chapter 2 focuses on nest tree selection and understanding why particular trees are chosen based on tree architecture. Aspects of tree architecture are then compared to those within a 5m radius of the nest tree and control trees to determine which properties are most important when selecting a nest tree.

Chapter 3 focuses on nest positions and how the architecture of the nest tree and surrounding trees influence the positioning of the nest within the crown. By sampling in a relatively intact site and highly disturbed site this allowed us to test whether a preference for building nests that utilise multiple trees for the frame (Position 4) is due to a paucity of large trees in the area or if it is a geographical/cultural difference between orangutan populations and species as was hypothesised by (Prasetyo et al. 2009). The confirmed presence of Sumatran tigers in our study area provided our study with the opportunity to test whether nest positions were driven by comfort or predator avoidance unlike the previous studies from Borneo by Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) and Cheyne et al. (2013).

Chapter 4's focus is upon the influence of forest structure on orangutan nests on a broader scale by investigating how forest structure influenced the distribution of nests throughout the sites. We examine which variables most influence orangutan densities in these lowland dipterocarp forests of Sumatra and whether these important variables were the same regardless of disturbance levels or not.

Chapter 5 summarises and integrates the information from each chapter to give an overview of orangutan nest ecology and the influence forest structure has on this. Lastly this study is placed in the

context of management, conservation and conflict implications in terms of the orangutan populations in the lowland forests of North Sumatra. Information gaps and areas which demand further research attention are also highlighted.
Chapter 2: Nest site selection in Sumatran orangutans (*Pongo abelii*) in the disturbed lowland dipterocarp forests of North

Sumatra

John P.D. Abernethy, Matt G. Nowak, Rio Ardi, Rosanna Consiglio, Helen D. Slater, Amanda H. Korstjens, Ross A. Hill, Serge A. Wich

Intended to be submitted to Journal of Behavioural Ecology or American Journal of Primatology

2.1 Introduction

Nest building is a behaviour shared by all great apes (Goodall 1962; Mackinnon 1974; Sugardjito 1983; Fruth & Hohmann 1993, 1996; Tutin et al. 1995; Prasetyo et al. 2009) with adults building new nests almost daily (van Casteren et al. 2012). A number functions for nest building have been hypothesised including; improving sleep quality through comfort, improved thermoregulation, biting insect avoidance and reducing the risk of predation (Anderson 1984, 1998).

One of the most important functions a nest offers is improved physical comfort whilst sleeping through the provision of a comfortable platform to sleep on and cushioning through the weaving of small branches and addition of soft leaves (Goodall 1962; Van Lawick-Goodall 1968; Stewart et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012). Secondly nests offer protection from adverse weather conditions such as rain and strong winds (Goodall 1962; Kano 1982; Anderson 1984; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Cheyne et al. 2013) as well as avoiding the wet and damp ground in wetter habitats or during rainy seasons (Remis 1993). Improving quality of sleep through comfort could be considered one of the primary functions of nest building as the provision of a comfortable platform to sleep on allows for higher quality rest and sleep by reducing disturbances in the night and reducing strain on the musculature (Fruth & Hohmann 1996; McGrew 2004; Stewart 2011b; van Casteren et al. 2012). Nests produced by orangutans are considered to be the most complicated in design of all ape nests, and related to comfort can include features such as pillows, blankets, roofs or a second bunk nest which improve comfort and protection in the case of bunk nests for young individuals (MacKinnon 1971; Anderson 1984, 1998; Russon et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Those nests with more complicated designs have been found to lead to better, more high quality sleep in orangutans (Samson & Shumaker 2013).

Sleeping in arboreal nests also potentially offer improved thermoregulation by aiding in the reduction of heat loss at night and avoiding higher day time temperatures and humidity (Anderson 1984, 1998; Fruth & Hohmann 1993; McGrew 2004; Stewart 2011b; Prasetyo et al. 2012; van Casteren et al. 2012; Koops et al. 2012a). However, research by Samson & Hunt (2012) found that compared to ground nests, arboreal nests actually experienced greater temperatures, wind sway and heat stress but experienced much lower humidity levels. Koops et al. (2012) found that nest site selection of chimpanzees in the rainforest habitat of Seringbara appeared to be primarily driven by humidity avoidance, with nests being built higher in the trees during the wet season as higher nests allowed for higher temperatures but lower humidity, reducing the threat of heat loss due to the rain. Avoiding higher humidity in rainforest environments would be more beneficial to an individuals comfort and health as high humidity reduces the efficiency of heat loss through evaporation and conversely in colder temperatures high humidity increases heat loss through convection (Bell & Greene 1984). As both extremes of heat and cold would influence an individual's comfort and quality of sleep, I decided to include aspects of thermoregulation such as nest height and canopy closure above the nest as part of the overall sleep comfort hypothesis.

Nests also offer protection from biting insects and disease vectors such as mosquitoes by acting as physical barriers to such vectors (McGrew 2004; Nunn & Heymann 2005; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b; van Casteren et al. 2012). Furthermore, certain tree species used for nesting could also have chemical properties which act as repellents to mosquitoes and other biting insects as well (Stewart 2011b; Samson et al. 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014). Both chimpanzees and orangutans have been observed to preferentially nest in trees known to have mosquito repellent properties (Largo et al. 2009; Samson et al. 2013). At some field sites orangutans have also been observed carrying leaves and branches from previous nests to line new nests, some of these may be branches from tree species which have mosquito repellent properties (Russon et al. 2007, 2009b; Kuze et al. 2011). Empirical testing by Stewart (2011) found that the researcher was bitten significantly less by mosquitoes and other biting insects when sleeping in an arboreal nest as opposed to sleeping on the ground. Koops et al. (2012) however in their research into the nesting habits of chimpanzees in Seringbara found no evidence to support the anti-vector hypothesis, however this is a single study and site differences in climate, predation pressures and human pressures have all been found at different sites to be significant predictors of nest site selection (Pruetz et al. 2008; Koops et al. 2012a; Last & Muh 2013; Tagg et al. 2013). However, such doubts and the difficulties that Koops et al. (2012) experienced in trapping mosquitoes as well as the lack of botanical knowledge to know whether any of the plant species at our field sites had mosquito repellent properties meant that I did not further investigate this hypothesis but I did not discount it's potential importance in nest site selection.

The other and probably most important function of nests along with improving comfort is reducing the threat of predation whilst the nest builder rests or sleeps, this works by both camouflaging the animal as it rests by shielding it from view and breaking up its silhouette with the leafy structure of a nest, secondly and most importantly, arboreal nesting reduces access for predators to approach the sleeping nest builder (Sugardjito 1983; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Nests produced by chimpanzees have been observed to have such anti-predatory adaptations such as having escape routes (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson et al. 1983), building the nest near to the forest edge or over

streams or gulley's to increase the relative height of the nest (Van Lawick-Goodall 1968) and in savannah habitats building higher nests with less overhead vegetation and more clumped together as a group which could be seen as methods of reducing the ability for nocturnal predators to approach or kill an individual unseen (Baldwin et al. 1981). Further to this, chimpanzees in Issa have been found to select trees that are both taller and larger and with higher first branch heights than other suitable trees in the vicinity thereby reducing access to ground predators (Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

Adult orangutans and other great apes have very few natural predators due to their large body size, but they are still at risk of predation from a small number of species including large pythons (*Python reticulatus*), Sunda clouded leopards (*Neofelis diardi*), Sumatran tigers (*Panthera tigris sumatrae*) (Mackinnon 1974; Sugardjito 1983; van Schaik & van Hooff 1996; Rijksen 1978) and for the African ape species leopards (*Panthera pardus*) (Boesch 1991; Fay et al. 1995; Stewart & Pruetz 2013) and lions (*Panthera leo*) (Tsukahara 1993) are the main potential predators. However low the potential risk of predation, the potential impact predation can have upon apes and their populations would warrant taking such precautions. Orangutans along with all other apes have long life-histories, in particular they are slow to mature and reach reproductive age and have long inter-birth intervals due to the need for extended maternal care (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; Jones 2011; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). This long life history of apes makes them particularly susceptible to the pressures of excessive mortality through predation and hunting due to the time required to replace lost members (Musick 1999). Therefore though the risk may be low, and building arboreal nests may expend more energy than building ground nests the effort may be worth reducing such a risk which could threaten a populations health.

Ground nesting is extremely rare in orangutans and is predominantly observed in large male orangutans and only for Bornean orangutans and is completely unheard of in Sumatra (Ashbury et al. 2015). This likely due to the greater number of ground predators in Sumatra where Sumatran tigers, dhole (*Cuon alpinus sumatrensis*) and clouded leopards are all still present, whereas clouded leopards are the only one of these three species found on Borneo (Brodie & Giordano 2013). Large adult orangutans are generally too large to be predated on by clouded leopards but juveniles are within the size category of their preferred prey. Clouded leopards have been recorded preying on proboscis monkeys (*Nasalis larvatus*) which are comparable in size to juvenile orangutans (Wilting et al. 2006; Matsuda et al. 2008). Adult orangutans however do fall into the preferred prey sizes for tigers (Hayward et al. 2012b), as such there is greater potential for predation in Sumatra with body size not offering protection as in Borneo which may explain why ground nesting is so rare in Sumatra.

The presence of large herbivores, in particular elephants may also contribute to the rarity of ground nests in Sumatra as well as Borneo. Western gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla*) in Gabon have been observed to

select nest sites which minimise disturbance by elephants (*Loxodonta cyclotis*) (Tutin et al. 1995; Anderson 1998). It could be posited that avoiding disturbance by elephants which are present in both Sabah (*Elephas maximus borneensis*) and Sumatra (*E. maximus sumatrensis*) could also play a part in nest site selection as the majority of reports of ground nesting in orangutans come from Kalimantan where Bornean elephants are absent as are the ground predators found in Sumatra (Choudhury et al. 2008; Ashbury et al. 2015).

Though the how (Goodall 1962; Fruth & Hohmann 1996; van Casteren et al. 2012) and why apes build nests (Anderson 1998; Stewart et al. 2007, 2011) is relatively well studied, the factors influencing the selection of nest sites is still relatively understudied especially when comparing previous research on orangutans against the African great apes (Prasetyo et al. 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012). Orangutan nest site selection is known to be selective as certain tree species have been observed to be more preferred than others with the most common tree species not always being the one used most often for nesting (Ancrenaz et al. 2004; Prasetyo et al. 2010; van Casteren et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). One of the most widely reported aspects of orangutan nest site selection is the avoidance of nesting in fruiting trees (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 2000; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; van Casteren et al. 2012). This has been linked to both predator avoidance (Sugardjito 1983) as well as avoiding disturbance from other orangutans as well as other frugivorous species such as macaques, binturong and fruit bats (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 1998; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Colon & Campos-Arceiz 2013) as well as biting insects such as ants (Whitten 1982).

In recent years there have been a number of studies which focused more upon nest site selection and how the structural properties of the tree may influence this. For example, van Casteren et al. (2012) investigated the mechanical design and architecture of nests and found that there was a certain amount of engineering ingenuity, technical knowledge and choice in the construction of nests as more compliant branches were used in the centre and stronger ones used in the edges which may help improve both comfort and safety. Cheyne et al (2015) investigated nest site selection in Sabangau and found that there was a selectivity for trees belonging to the Anacardiaceae and Elaeocarpaceae families. Their study also found that comfort and stability seemed to drive nest site selection more than predator avoidance with trees exhibiting properties that would provide greater stability being preferred. A significant preference for nesting in trees with buttress or stilted roots, larger than average DBH and large basal areas were found by Cheyne et al (2013). Orangutans in Sabangau were found to avoid nesting in extremely tall trees, but the height at which they built their nests was within the upper canopy (Cheyne et al. 2013). These properties help to reduce sway in the wind and provide greater nest stability (Nicoll & Ray 1996; Soethe et al. 2006). Another paper which examined nest site selection of orangutans was that by Ancrenaz et al. (2004) who studied nesting behaviours in a disturbed forest in Sabah, Malaysia. Ancrenaz et al. (2004) found that nest site selection was

influenced by the forest structure and composition with nests being built in the tallest trees available. Further to this, in the most disturbed areas, nest tree reuse or trees with multiple nests were found in greater frequencies than in less disturbed sites, nest tree reuse is highly variable between study sites though there does appear to be link between disturbance levels and increased nest site reuse (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Kanamori et al. 2017). Similar to these studies, in this study our aim is to understand what the principal drivers of nest site selection are for Sumatran orangutans and how these may be influenced by the structural properties of the trees within the site and how changes to forest structure may then alter nest site preferences.

Understanding how human disturbance influences forest and tree structure and nest site selection is crucial as currently Indonesia is experiencing the second highest rate of deforestation amongst tropical countries. Of all the regions within Indonesia, Sumatra in particular stands out as 70% of its forested area having now been converted into plantations and agricultural lands through intensive forest clearance as of 2010 and with some Sumatran provinces having lost nearly 50% of their forest cover between 2000 and 2012 (Margono et al. 2012; Supriatna et al. 2017). Forests are being cleared for conversion to agriculture and oil palm plantations as well as being affected by the extraction of valuable timbers through both clear felling and selective logging (Hall et al. 2003; Abood et al. 2015). Selective logging has been found to be associated with more homogenous forests with lowered species richness and a more simplified vertical structure (Norris et al. 2010). The removal of larger trees in particular leads to a reduction of continuous canopy and tree density which could possibly affect the availability of good nest sites as these taller, larger trees were found to be preferentially selected as nest sites in Borneo (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013).

Ancrenaz et al. (2004) found that an increase in disturbance and the removal of preferred nest trees increases selection pressure on the remaining potential nest trees and increases the probability that orangutans will need to reuse nest trees or build in trees which already contain nests. This in turn could lead to a change in the shape or structure of the crown through the bending, breaking and healing of branches, creation of forks and other deformities which could lead to an even greater rate of reutilisation due to the increase in these useful properties (Stewart et al. 2011). Ancrenaz et al. (2004) observed this in a highly disturbed forest in Sabah and noted an increase in the reutilisation of these altered trees by the same or different individuals which led to creation of "villages". The increased reuse of nest sites due to these changes in crown structure which allow for easier nest creation is a form of "niche construction" and has similarly been observed in chimpanzees (Stewart et al. 2011). This increase reutilisation of nest sites and formation of villages could lead to what is normally a semi-solitary species being forced to come into contact more frequently with other individuals (Delgado & Van Schaik 2000). Furthermore, in disturbed habitats these modified trees may be highly utilised by the orangutans there and the removal of these trees may have a much more significant impact upon the

orangutans through the reduction of potential nest sites when compared to selective logging in less disturbed sites. With the close proximity of our field sites but differing levels of disturbance we are able to test whether nest site reuse is influenced by disturbance levels and control for cultural and species differences in preference patterns.

As forests in Sumatra become increasingly degraded through logging the importance and need for understanding how orangutans cope with this habitat change becomes greater. Understanding and being able to quantify how changes to forest structure and composition can affect nest site selection can provide vital information for developing informed conservation strategies for orangutans. Currently much of the focus of habitat protection for great apes is focused upon the protection of important food species and generally disregards the importance of understanding the value of "quality" nest trees (Morgan & Sanz 2007). Therefore, being able to understand and quantify which trees are most important for nesting can provide information which can be implemented into conservation management plans and by land managers to protect these potentially useful nesting trees which will in turn further aid the conservation of these critically endangered apes.

A limitation of the previous papers which have investigated nest site selection is that nest trees have been compared to trees from random plots or transects across the forest which in many cases can include trees from parts of the forest where orangutans may not visit at all or are completely unlikely to use (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). Our aims are to investigate and determine what variables are most important in nest site selection by comparing the parameters for the nest tree against both the average forest trees as other papers have done, along with those trees within 5m of the nest tree which are of equal opportunity to be used as a nest tree, therefore providing a more appropriate comparison to understand nest site selection. As well as understanding general nest site selection our study investigated whether or how this differs with levels of human disturbance. Our field sites are a recovered forest and a recently reforested site on Sumatra (Indonesia) which will provide a comparison between both high and low levels of disturbance and allow us to better understand how orangutans cope with increased habitat fragmentation and forest loss in relation to nesting. As much of the previous studies into orangutan nesting have been conducted on Borneo, they have tended to conclude that comfort is what drives orangutan nest site selection as opposed to anti-predation, in this study we will also consider the properties of the nest trees and how these may link to both drivers.

2.1.1 Hypotheses:

• Given the different histories of each site, we expect to find significantly different forest structure with Sikundur having a higher proportion of tall trees with large DBH and large crowns.

- As the sites are expected to have significantly different forest structures, we expect the nest site selection patterns and nest trees to differ significantly between sites, with the reduced availability of potential nest sites influencing orangutan selection patterns.
- As tigers are known to be in the vicinity of our field sites (Luskin et al. 2017) we expect to find few if any ground nests at either field site.
- Furthermore, we expect to find nest sites selected that have properties that support the antipredator hypothesis, in particular a greater preference for nesting in taller trees and trees with higher first branch heights than what is otherwise available at each site.
- Following form this point, the expected outcome from the model averaging is to find that FBH and tree height are the most influential variables in the models for predicting nest site selection.
- As Sei Betung has been reforested rather than naturally recovered we expect there to be lower diversity of tree species and thereby orangutans utilising fewer nest tree species than in Sikundur. However, we expect orangutan to be less selective of nest tree species in Sei Betung due to the reduced availability of potential nest sites.
- Finally, as the number of potential nest sites in Sei Betung should be lower than in Sikundur, we expect to find a higher incidence of nest site reuse or multiple nests built in single trees in Sei Betung than Sikundur.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Study Sites

This study was conducted at two field sites; Sikundur also known as Sekundur (3°1'N, 98°02'E) and Resort Sei Betung (4°3'N, 98°07'E). Both sites lie in the east of Gunung Leuser National Park and the Leuser Ecosystem in the Langkat district of North Sumatra (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2008; Marshall et al. 2010; Hartini et al. 2017; Szantoi et al. 2017). Sikundur is an area of diverse mixed dipterocarp lowland forest that also possesses rich alluvial forest along the rivers, with part of it having been subjected to selective logging over 40 years ago (de Wilde & Duyfjes 1996; Knop et al. 2004; Priatna et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2008b). The research station in Sikundur is currently managed by the NGO SOCP (Sumatran Orangutan Conservation Programme) with field assistants conducting daily follows of orangutans for behavioural research. Sei Betung is a former illegal oil palm plantation that has been actively restored and reforested through the planting of 500,000 seedlings of 97 indigenous tree species across an area of 250 ha (Kettle et al. 2014). Sei Betung is managed by the NGO OIC (Orangutan Information Centre) who are leading the reforestation work at the site and are beginning to study the orangutans there. The two sites are approximately 9km apart but differ considerably with Sikundur still having stands of primary forest and selectively logged areas which have had over 30 years to recover (Knop et al. 2004; Priatna et al. 2006; Marshall et al. 2009) whilst Sei Betung is nearer to the start of its recovery with replanting first began in 2007 and the complete removal of oil palms from the site in 2012 (Kettle et al. 2014). Data collection was undertaken February-August 2015 and March-September 2016.

2.2.2 Data collection

Transects were used for sampling nests and vegetation in both Sikundur and Sei Betung, 30 500m transects were conducted in Sikundur and 9 1000m transects were used in Sei Betung. Transects in Sikundur were set out using a stratified random grid with the first point being placed randomly with transects being laid on a north-south bearing using the initial point as the southern end of the first transect. The transects were then arranged around this first one being spaced at 300m intervals to the east and west and separated by 150m to the north and south. Transects were placed to ensure that none were split by the Besitang river. The transects were also placed equally according to underlying land units identified by Laumonier, 1997 which were hills, plains and alluvial, with 10 transects being placed in each land unit (see Fig 3.1). These were characterised by slope, elevation and soil profile with the plains and alluvial areas having experienced greater levels of exploitation in the past due to their greater accessibility (Laumonier 1997; Consiglio 2015; Slater 2015). Due to the disturbance that cutting new transects would bring to the Sei Betung study site nine existing transects of 1km length were used, these were 150m apart to the east and west and ran parallel to each other on a north west-south east bearing. The distances set between each parallel transect and the length of the transects was designed to prevent an overlap of observations and with the intention of optimizing the trade-off between having a large number of independent samples and ensuring that transects were long enough to minimise the potential biases due to spatial heterogeneity from such things as the clumping of orangutan nests or variation in habitat and structure along the transect (Johnson et al. 2005). Transects were cut along these lines irrespective of topography or vegetation to ensure that they adhered to the

line-transect method assumption that all transects be placed randomly in respect to terrain and were able to cover a representative sample of both field sites (Buckland et al. 2001; Mathewson et al. 2008).



Figure 2-1. Locations of Sikundur and Sei Betung in North Sumatra. Both sites lie within the boundaries of Gunung Leuser National Park

2.2.3 Vegetation survey

Forest structure data were collected by the first author (John Abernethy), Rosanna Consiglio and Helen Slater together with field assistants from the partner NGO's (SOCP in Sikundur and OIC in Sei Betung). Data was collected across 30, 500m long transects in Sikundur and 9, 1000m long transects in Sei Betung. Forest structure transects were conducted once at each field site. Data were collected at 50m intervals along each transect using the point centre quarter method (PCQM) (Cannon & Leighton 1994; Ganzhorn et al. 1997; Ganzhorn 2002; Manduell et al. 2012). Each sampling point was split into four quadrants set at 90° to each other and perpendicular to the transect. For each point the nearest tree with a diameter at breast height (DBH) >10cm (measured at 1.3m above the ground) was sampled with the distance to the centre point being recorded for each quadrant. GPS points were collected at each sampling point with a Garmin GPSmap 60Cx to ensure that transects were following the correct predetermined paths and that nest transects followed this pathway accurately.

For each of the sampled trees the height of the crown was measured to the nearest 0.1m using a Nikon Forestry Pro rangefinder by aiming the laser at the highest possible leaf of the tree. Along with tree height, first branch height was also recorded by measuring to the base of where the first branch attached to the trunk using the rangefinder. These two measurements are used to obtain crown size and are also used to calculate the crown volume. Crown size was calculated using the formula:

$$Crown size (cs) = Tree height(TH) - First branch height(FBH)$$

The radius of the crown was measured in meters from the trunk of the tree to the edge of the crown to the North, East, South and West of the tree using a tape measure. These variables were recorded as the crown radius can be quite variable, therefore by recording from four sides this reduced any potential over or under estimation of crown area. Crown areas was then calculated using:

$$Crown \ area = \sum \frac{\pi N r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi S r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi W r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi E r^2}{4}$$

In this formula, Nr= North radius, Sr= South radius, Wr= West radius, Er= East radius

DBH was recorded for each tree using a tape measure and measured to the nearest centimetre. Crown shapes were classified as either spheroid, elongated spheroid, cone, upside-down cone, umbrella, bent over, broken or palms (Table 2.1)

Table 2-1 Definitions of crown shapes used in surveys adapted from Coder (2000) and Manduell et al. (2012)

CROWN SHAPE	DEFINITION
SPHEROID	Sphere shaped/ lollipop shape
ELONGATED SPHEROID	Crown with a height greater than its width and rounded ends
CONE	Cone shaped crown with a wide base that tapers to the top
UPSIDE-DOWN CONE	Crown which dove tails from the first branches, inverse of the cone (also known as inverse tripod)
UMBRELLA	Similar to spheroid or cone but lowest branches tips hang further down than the base of the branch
BENT-OVER	Tree with trunk or crown growing significantly in one direction, typified by lack of crown in one direction
BROKEN	Tree where the crown has broken off leaving either a splintered top or new growth if still alive
PALM	If the tree is a palm species there is no crown but series of large palm leaves

We were able to calculate the crown volumes more accurately than many previous studies by using the crown shapes and radii measurements. These were calculated using the following formulae:

Crown volume radii standardisation:

 $NSr(North-South radius) = \frac{Nr+Sr}{2}$

$$EWr(East - West radius) = \frac{Er+Wr}{2}$$

Hr (*Height radius*) = $\frac{h}{2}$

Cone and upside-down cone crown volume:

$$V = \sum \frac{\pi N S r^2 \frac{h}{3}}{2} + \frac{\pi E W r^2 \frac{h}{3}}{2}$$

Spheroid, elongated spheroid and bent over crowns:

$$V = \frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrHr$$

Umbrella shape crowns:

$$V = \frac{\frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrHr}{2}$$

Crown connectivity was measured visually by estimating the proportion of the crown in contact or enclosed by neighbouring crowns using a four point scale; 0-25%, 26-50%, 51-75% and 76-100%, the inverse of this gave the exposure of the crown (Whitten 1982; Manduell et al. 2011; Cheyne et al. 2013). In Sei Betung all tree species were identified to the lowest identifiable taxonomic level (genus and species) by an Indonesian botanist.

2.2.4 Nest transects

Nest transects were conducted on the same transects as the vegetation transects by the first author with a team of 1-2 well trained local field assistants from the partner NGO's. Nest transects were conducted in June 2015, April 2016 and August 2016 in Sikundur and late August/September 2016 in Sei Betung, transects were walked only once per sample period. The transects were walked at a pace of no more than 1km/h. When a nest was visually located, the perpendicular distance from the transect to the centre of the nest was measured using a tape measure as this is utilised along with age of nest and decay rate to estimate nest densities which was used in Chapter 5. Along with these distances the DBH, first bole height (FBH), height of tree, crown shape, connectivity, crown radius from the trunk to the edge of the crown for the north, south, east and west of the tree were recorded along with support availability using the same methodology as vegetation data. Nest height was recorded

using the Nikon Forestry Pro laser rangefinder to the nearest 0.2m with measurements taken from the base of the nest.

Nests were placed into age classes through consensus between the lead research and trained observers when uncertain, these classes were reflective of the decay rate. The classes were: 1- fresh leaves, still green; 2- mix of green and brown leaves; 3- all leaves turned brown and some holes forming; and 4- all leaves gone and nest falling apart (van Schaik et al. 1995; Hashimoto 1995; Russon et al. 2001; Felton et al. 2003; Johnson et al. 2005; Spehar et al. 2010). On subsequent transects any old nests which had been previously recorded were omitted, these were identified by the age of the nest and proximity to a GPS point for a prior nest. Nest position was also recorded following the standard methodology set out by the University of Zurich's Department of Anthropology (Orangutan Network 2015) and used in Prasetyo et al. 2012; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009. Position 1- at the base of the branch and close to the main stem; Position 2- at the end of a branch; Position 3- top of the tree crown; Position 4- using the branches of two different trees weaved together (there were no Position 0 which are nests that are found on the ground) (see Fig 1.3).

All nest tree species were identified by trained field assistants. As well as nest trees, all trees within a 5m radius of the nest tree were recorded. These were used to provide a control against the nest tree and to understand if the difference is just for the nest tree and the average forest or whether the nest tree also differed from the trees that were its direct neighbours. For each of these trees the distance to the nest tree, direction with a compass, DBH, first bole height, tree height, crown shape, connectivity and in 2016 field season the species was also recorded. Separate analysis was conducted to compare between nest trees that help single nests or multiple nests to determine why those trees may have contained more than one nest.

2.2.5 Data analysis

Unequal variance *t*-tests also known as Welch's t test, Satterwaite or Welch-Satterwaite tests were used to determine whether there was a significant statistical difference between the continuous structural variables for nest and non-nest trees for each site along with support availability. This test was used due to the non-normal distributions and unequal variances of the data and was recommended by Moser et al. (1989) and Ruxton (2006) as it performs similarly well to the Student's *t*-test, and the power of the unequal variance *t*-test is similar to the Student's even when variances are equal (Moser et al. 1989; Moser & Stevens 1992; Coombs et al. 1996; Ruxton 2006) but is much better at controlling for both Type I and Type II errors and when variances are unequal it outperforms the Mann-Whitney U test (in terms of controlling Type I errors) (Zimmerman & Zumbo 1993; Ruxton 2006).

Generalised linear models and generalised linear mixed effects models were run in R using the Ime4 (Bates et al. 2015), car (Fox & Weisberg 2011), lattice (Deepayan 2008) and Matrix (Bates & Maechler 2017) packages. These models were run to understand the relationships between nest and non-nest

trees, nest trees and trees within 5 metres of nest trees and between single and multiple nest trees. Generalised linear mixed effects models with binomial error structures were initially used to determine whether field site had any significant effect upon the overall model as a random effect by comparing against a simpler binomial generalised linear model and using the AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) scores and Likelihood-ratio ANOVA chi square tests to determine whether there was a significant difference between the two models and if the random effect had any significant effect upon the model as suggested by Bolker et al. (2009) and Kain et al. (2015).

All model iterations were run including an intercept only model using the dredge function of the MuMIn (Barton 2018) package in R, this package was also used for all model averaging calculations. The models were ranked by their AICc (corrected Akaike Information Criterion) scores which compensate for small sample sizes. A subset of these models was then extracted using the maximum delta Δ AICc values (which is the difference between the AICc of each model from the best performing model) that are <2. This threshold was used as models with AICc values <2 all have substantial support and perform equally well (Burnham et al. 2002; Burnham & Anderson 2004). From this subset of best performing models' parameter estimates were averaged and parameters were weighted by the proportion of models that the parameter was present in. These weights allow for the relative importance of each parameter to be assessed. Plots from the model averaging were produced using the following packages in R; ggplot2 (Wickham 2009), snakecase (Grosser 2018), plyr (Wickham 2011), sjlabelled (Lüdecke 2018a), sjPlot (Lüdecke 2018b) and sjmisc (Lüdecke 2018c).

Selectivity index

For tree height and DBH in categories, support availability, tree species and food tree, Jacobs D value was used as an index to determine if any of the categories were used preferentially or avoided. This index has been used in a number of previous studies to determine nest tree selection in Borneo (Cheyne et al. 2013), canopy selection (Cannon & Leighton 1994) and support use (Hunt et al. 1996; Warren 1997; Manduell et al. 2012). This index standardises the relationship between resource use and availability to numbers between 1 and -1. In this instance +1 is indicative of complete preference and -1 is a complete avoidance of it, 0 is neutral and suggests that the resource is used in direct relation to its relative abundance.

Jacobs D was calculated using:

Jacobs D =
$$\frac{r-p}{(r+p-2rp)}$$

r = relative use of a resource (number of nest trees in each data class) as a proportion

p = relative availability of a resource (number of trees for each class available in the habitat) as a proportion

2.3 Results

A total of 199 nests were recorded across both sites with 153 found in Sikundur and 45 in Sei Betung. In total 1200 trees were measured on vegetation transects in Sikundur and 720 in Sei Betung, 62 trees were recorded within 5m of nest trees in Sei Betung and 598 were recorded and measured in Sikundur. However, trees with broken crowns and palms were removed from the analysis as they were significant outliers due to both their rarity and unusual crown shapes which heavily skewed the results in regards to crown volumes and crown size.

2.3.1 Site differences in forest trees versus nest trees

When comparing between Sikundur and Sei Betung all forest structure variables were found to differ significantly with all variables except of crown area being found to be significantly larger in Sikundur than Sei Betung (Table 2.2). However, when comparing nest trees between sites significant differences were only found for tree height and FBH which were both again found to be larger in Sikundur than what was found in Sei Betung (Table 2.2). Comparisons between nest trees and average forest trees for each site showed significant differences for all variables except for first branch height (FBH) (Table 2.3). In all canopy structure variables except FBH nest trees were found to be significantly larger than nonnest trees, with FBH showing no significant difference but were higher for non-nest trees than nest trees (Table 2.3). See Figures S1-6 in Appendix I for boxplots further showing the differences between nest and non-nest trees at each site for each variable.

Table 2-2 Comparison between sites of tree structure characteristics for nest and average forest trees (non-nest trees) using Welch's t test

DBH= Diameter at Breast Height, FBH= First Branch Height

Tree type Variables		Mean		Vario	ance	Welch's t			
		Sei Betung	Sikundur	Sei Betung	Sikundur	t*	df	Р	
Nest		n= 45	n=153	n= 45	n=153				
	DBH (cm)	21.57±1.63	25.22±0.98	119.32	138.38	1.93	77	0.057	
	FBH (m)	4.33±0.28	9.8±0.33	3.52	15.29	12.96	155	<0.001	
	Tree height (m)	11.26±0.5	17.76±0.46	11.09	31.6	9.67	124	<0.001	
	Crown size (m)	6.93±0.42	7.96±0.38	7.58	21.37	1.86	123	0.065	
	Crown area (m²)	62.53±7.39	53.61±2.98	2511.24	1351.86	-1.11	59	0.272	
	Crown volume (m³)	219.21±51.03	263±25.14	68772.84	105557.1	0.93	88	0.355	
Non-nest		n-720	n-1200	n-720	n=1200				
trees	DBH (cm)	16 98+0 31	21 55+0 44	67 49	236.67	8 471	1896	<0.0001	
1,000	FBH (m)	4.1+0.12	9.48+0.15	10.45	26.65	28.058	1915	<0.0001*	
	Tree height (m)	9.21±0.16	14.9±0.19	18.24	41.31	22.966	1907	<0.0001	
	Crown size (m)	5.11±0.1	5.42±0.11	6.72	14.4	2.163	1887	0.0306	
	Crown area (m²)	36.35±1.22	36.7±1.47	1072.7	2607.37	0.180	1910	0.8568	
	Crown volume (m³)	94.81±7.54	152.76±14	40716.03	235283.19	3.628	1749	0.0003	

Table 2-3 Within site comparisons of tree structure characteristics of nest and non-nest trees for Sikundur and Sei Betung using Welch's t test (Satterwaite's t test)

Field site	Variables	Mea	ın	Variance		Welch's t				
		Nest	Non-nest		Nest	Non-nest		t Stat	df	Р
Sei Betung		n= 45	n=720		n= 45	n=720				
	DBH (cm)	21.57±1.63	16.98±0.31		119.32	67.49		2.77	47	0.008
	FBH (m)	4.33±0.28	4.1±0.12		3.52	10.45		0.75	62	0.458
	Tree height (m)	11.26±0.5	9.21±0.16		11.09	18.24		3.93	53	<0.001
	Crown size (m)	6.93±0.42	5.11±0.1		7.57	6.72		4.32	49	<0.001
	Crown area (m²)	62.53±7.39	36.35±1.22		2511.24	1072.7		3.46	46	0.001
	Crown volume (m³)	219.21±51.03	94.81±7.54		68772.84	40716.03		3.13	47	0.003
Sikundur		n= 153	n=1200		n= 153	n=1200				
	DBH (cm)	25.21±0.98	21.55±0.44		138.38	236.67		3.49	224	<0.001
	FBH (m)	9.8±0.33	9.48±0.15		15.29	26.65		0.92	226	0.357
	Tree height (m)	17.77±0.46	14.9±0.19		31.6	41.31		5.82	209	<0.001
	Crown size (m)	7.96±0.38	5.42±0.11		21.37	14.4		6.53	179	<0.001
	Crown area (m²)	53.61±2.98	36.7±1.47		1351.86	2607.37		5.1	234	<0.001
	Crown volume (m³)	263±25.14	152.76±14		105557.1	235283.19		3.7	248	<0.001

DBH= Diameter at Breast Height, FBH= First Branch Height

The random effect of field site was tested by using a generalised linear mixed effects model and a generalised linear model and then using a Likelihood-ratio ANOVA chi squared test to test whether the random effect of field site had a significant effect or not. Field site had no statistical significant impact upon the model; X²_{df1}=2.803, P=0.075. Furthermore, the differences in R²_{GLMM(m)} (marginal R²) and R²_{GLMM(c)} (condition R²) as described by Nakagawa & Schielzeth (2013) for the mixed effects model showed little difference suggesting that the majority of the variance was explained by the fixed effects in the model ($R^2_{GLMM(m)}$ = 0.133, $R^2_{GLMM(c)}$ = 0.15). Due to this lack of significance the random effect of field site was discarded and a simpler generalised linear model with a binomial distribution was used (Table 4.). FBH and crown volume were removed from the models due to multicollinearity with both having VIF scores >5. Using the dredge function of the MuMIn package all combinations of the remaining variables were tested as candida to determine which variables were most influential in differentiating nest trees from non-nest trees. None of the other 63 candidate models were found to be within 2 AIC units (Δ AICc <2) of the top performing model which was also the full model containing all of the fixed effects (AICc= 1233.1, \triangle AICc=0, w=0.406) (Table 2.5.). This result lends further evidence to what was found in the initial analysis that nest and non-nest trees differ significantly in both sites for most tree architecture variables. The null model performed significantly worse than the full model and was the second worst performing model overall with a Δ AICc score of 83.27 (Table 3.5.).

Table 2-4 Anova chi square test of full models to test the effect of field site as a random effect

Model	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Adj R ²	Chi	Chi	Pr
							sq	df	(>Chisq)
Tree~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Crown.area+Crown.shape	13	1233.1	1306.5	-	1207	0.0790	-	-	-
+Connectivity				603.48					
Tree~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Crown.area+Crown.shape	14	1231.8	1311	-	1203.8	0.1023	3.180	1	0.075
+Connectivity+(1 Field.site)				601.89					

Table 2-5 Top candidate models with Δ AICc <2 and null model for the comparison between nest trees and average forest trees

Model	Adj R ²	df	logLik	AICc	∆AICc	weight
Tree~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Crown.area+Crown.shape+Connectivity (Full	0.107	13	-603.485	1233.1	0	0.406
model)						
Null model	0	1	-657.203	1316.4	83.27	0

As only one candidate model was found to have an Δ AlCc score <2 model-averaging was unnecessary. Parameter estimates from the top performing model (Table 2.6.) lend further weight to the initial findings and show that of all the parameters, crown size has the greatest influence on the interaction and is the most important factor in nest site selection for Sumatran orangutans when comparing against average forest trees (β = 0.127, SE= 0.024, P=<0.001). Crown shape and DBH (β = -0.025, SE= 0.009, P=0.009) were also highly important having P values <0.01. Cone and upside-down cone shaped crowns were found to be the most significantly crown shapes in the model (C shaped crown: β =1.659, SE=0.557, P= 0.003, UC shaped crown: β =1.445, SE=0.55, P=0.009) whereas umbrella and elongated spheroid crowns were non-significant (P >0.05). These results also show that tree height and crown area may be less important in nest site selection in comparison to the other variables, in particular crown size though both tree height and crown area were still significant variables (P <0.05). Log likelihood and distributed chi square statistics suggest that the full model is reliable; chi= 107.44, 12df, P=<0.001. Trees with higher connectivity were also found to be more significant with trees in the

connectivity categories >50% both having P values <0.05 whilst connectivity 25-50% had P of 0.092

showing that these less connected trees are less significantly used.

Table 2-6 Parameter estimate and standard errors for the variables from the top performing model for comparing between nest and average forest trees.

Crown shape classes: C= cone shaped, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down Cone, UM=Umbrella

Parameters	Estimate	Std Error	Z value	Pr(> z)	2.5% CI	97.5% CI
Intercept	-5.462	0.679	-8.044	<0.001	-6.94	-4.246
DBH	-0.025	0.009	-2.632	0.009	-0.044	-0.007
Tree height	0.039	0.019	2.102	0.036	0.003	0.075
Crown area	0.005	0.002	2.502	0.012	0.001	0.009
Crown size	0.127	0.024	5.293	<0.001	0.08	0.175
Connectivity 25-50	0.777	0.461	1.686	0.092	-0.066	1.766
Connectivity 50-75	0.906	0.436	2.445	0.014	0.123	1.858
Connectivity 75-100	1.06	0.433	2.502	0.012	0.284	2.008
Crown shape C	1.659	0.557	2.979	0.003	0.673	2.911
Crown shape ES	1.044	0.581	1.798	0.072	-0.006	2.329
Crown shape S	1.272	0.53	2.398	0.016	0.354	2.485
Crown shape UC	1.445	0.55	2.627	0.009	0.477	2.688
Crown shape UM	0.846	0.65	1.302	0.193	-0.396	2.226



Figure 2-2 Forest plot of the log odds ratios for the parameter estimate of the top performing GLM indicating the difference between nest and non-nest trees. The red vertical line at 1 is the vertical intercept denoting no effect.

Significance levels: * = <0.05, **= <0.01, ***= <0.001

Crown shape categories: C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down Cone, UM= Umbrella

The forest plot of the estimates in Figure 2.2 shows that crown size is again the most significant variable, however it also reveals that DBH, cone shaped and upside-down cone shaped crowns are also highly significant predictors for predicting between nest and average forest trees with P values <0.01. Crown area, tree height, spheroid crowns and connectivity >50% were all found to also have significant effects on the log odds of whether a tree is a nest tree or average forest tree (P= <0.05) whilst connectivity scores <50%, elongated spheroid and umbrella shaped crowns all showed no significant effect.

The marginal effects in Figures 2.3B, 2.3C and 2.3D show that there is a positive relationship between size and the probability of being a nest tree for tree height, crown size and crown area. A positive relationship can also be seen in connectivity (Fig 2.3F.), with increasing connectivity there is a greater probability of it being a nest tree, though the increase between 50-75% connectivity and 75-100% connectivity is less significant suggesting that increasing connectivity over 75% has less effect than it does when connectivity is >50%. Figure 2.3E displays the increased likelihood of cone, spheroid and upside-down cone shaped crowns being nest trees and that bent-over trees have a significantly lower probability of being a nest tree than any other crown shape suggesting these may be avoided. DBH however in Fig 2.3A shows that there is a negative relationship between DBH and the probability of being a nest tree with smaller trees having a greater probability of being a nest tree than larger ones.

Increases in crown size and crown area have the greatest influence upon the probability of being a nest tree whilst the scale of influence of DBH is relatively small in comparison.



Figure 2-3 Predicted probabilities for DBH (A), Tree height (B), Crown size (C), Crown area (D), Crown shape (E) and Connectivity (F) for the best fitting model of nest tree against average forest tree with the lines denoting the predicted probability of a tree holding an orangutan nest/ The closer a line or point is to 100% the greater the probability of being a nest tree, the closer to 0% a greater probability of being a non-nest tree

Crown shape categories: BO= Bent-Over, C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down Cone, UM= Umbrella

Using Jacob's D value of selectivity, the use of a resource relative to its abundance can be measured and visualised. In Figure 2.4 the results of this are presented for Sikundur and Sei Betung. As predicted by the models an increasing rate of preference is observed for DBH, tree height, crown size and crown area. However, the Jacob's D values show that there is actually an avoidance of the extreme values i.e. saplings and emergent trees. Crown shape also follows the predictions of the model with cone and upside-down cone shaped crowns being most preferred and spheroid crowns being used in equal amounts to their availability as both are relatively abundant at each field site whilst bent-over crowns are highly avoided within Sei Betung (Jacob's D -0.65) and Sikundur (Jacob's D -0.55). Connectivity reflects the models for nests in Sikundur however in Sei Betung there is a greater preference for trees in the 25-50% category and a strong avoidance of those >75%. Nests in Sikundur follow the expected pattern with trees with connectivity <50% highly avoided and those with connectivity >50% preferred.



Figure 2-4 Jacob's D values of selectivity for DBH (A), Tree height (B), Crown size (C), Crown area (D), Crown shape (E), Connectivity (F) and the proportions of each size class for average forest trees in Sikundur and Sei Betung shown through the line graphs

Crown shape categories: BO= Bent-Over, C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upsidedown Cone, UM= Umbrella

2.3.2 Trees in the close vicinity of the nest (<5m)

As with the comparison of nest trees and average forest trees, nest trees were found to be significantly larger than those within 5m radius for all variables except for DBH in Sei Betung and FBH in both sites (Table 2.7). When comparing between sites as was noted in the previous section, nest trees in Sikundur have significantly higher FBH (first branch height) and tree heights than those in Sei Betung, whilst DBH and crown size were found to show no significant difference (Table 2.8). For trees within 5m radius of nest trees trees all variables except crown size were significantly larger in Sikundur than Sei Betung (Welch's t=-1.9, df=87, P=0.061).

Field site	Variables	M	eans		Variance		Welch's t		
		Nest	Within 5m	Nest	Within 5m	t Stat	df	Р	
Sei		n= 45	n=61	n= 45	n=61				
Betung	DBH (cm)	21.57±1.63	17.64±1.19	119.32	86.40	-1.95	89	0.055	
	FBH (m)	4.33±0.28	5.02±0.38	3.52	8.84	1.46	102	0.147	
	Tree height (m)	11.26±0.5	9.76±0.41	11.42	10.33	2.326	93	0.022	
	Crown size (m)	6.93±0.42	4.74±0.32	7.82	6.28	4.21	90	<0.001	
Sikundur		n= 153	n=598	n= 153	n=598				
	DBH (cm)	25.65±0.98	21.84±0.63	138.38	233.34	2.96	297	0.003	
	FBH (m)	9.8±0.33	9.82±0.2	15.29	23.63	-0.06	285	0.955	
	Tree height (m)	17.77±0.46	15.23±0.26	31.6	39.81	4.85	259	<0.001	
	Crown size (m)	7.96±0.38	5.41±0.15	21.37	12.71	6.37	201	<0.001	

Table 2-7 Comparison of nest trees and trees found within 5m radius of the nest tree using Welch's t test

Table 2-8 Comparison between sites for nest and non-nest trees found within a 5m radius of the nest trees (within 5m) using Welch's t test

Tree type	Variables	Means		Vario	Welch's t			
		Sei Betung	Sikundur	Sei Betung	Sikundur	t*	df	Р
Nest		n= 45	n=153	n= 45	n=153			
	DBH (cm)	21.57±1.63	25.22±0.98	119.32	138.38	1.93	77	0.057
	FBH (m)	4.33±0.28	9.8±0.33	3.52	15.29	12.96	155	<0.001
	Tree height (m)	11.26±0.5	17.77±0.46	11.09	31.6	9.67	124	<0.001
	Crown size (m)	6.93±0.42	7.96±0.38	7.58	21.37	1.87	123	0.065
Within 5m		n=61	n=598	n=61	n=598			
	DBH (cm)	17.64±1.19	21.84±0.63	86.4	233.34	3.13	97	0.002
	FBH (m)	5.02±0.38	9.82±0.2	8.84	23.63	11.18	96	<0.001
	Tree height (m)	9.76±0.41	15.23±0.26	10.33	39.81	11.26	115	<0.001
	Crown size (m)	4.74±0.32	5.41±0.15	6.28	12.71	-1.9	87	0.061

As with average forest trees the random effect of field site was assessed for trees within 5m of nest trees. Unlike with average forest trees, field site was found to be a significant factor using an ANOVA chi square test finding a result of; X^2_{dfi} = 118.52, P=<0.001 (Table 2.9.). These results support the initial analysis of the variables separately using Welch's t test which suggested that the sites differed highly. Due to its significance, field site was kept within the model and the following results are from the generalised linear mixed effects model using this random effect. FBH and crown volume were again removed from the models due to multicollinearity and vif scores >5. Two candidate models were identified based on Δ AlCc scores <2 (Table 2.10.). The best candidate model contained three fixed effects; crown shape, crown size and DBH and had a much greater weight than the other models; 0.503 compared to 0.195 which suggests that this model is likely to be the best at explaining the interaction as it accounts for 50.3% of the variance. The null model and full model were significantly outperformed by these candidate models and highlight the importance of the parameters within the best candidate models. Connectivity was not a part of any of the candidate models suggesting that this has little importance in nest site selection when comparing against trees within the immediate vicinity of the nest tree.

Table 2-9 Assessment of the importance of field site as a random effect in the modelling of the interaction between nest trees and trees within 5m of nest trees

Model	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Adj R²	Chi sq	Chi	Pr
								df	(>Chisq)
Tree~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Connectivity	12	839.71	896.68	-	815.71	0.1801	-	-	-
+Crown.shape				407.85					
Tree~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Connectivity+	13	723.19	784.9	-	679.19	0.3529	118.52	1	<0.001
Crown.shape+(1 Field.site)				348.59					

Table 2-10 Top candidate models based on PAICc scores <2 for nest trees vs trees within 5m of the nest tree

Model	Adj R ²	df	logLik	AICc	delta	weight
Tree~Crown.shape+Crown.size+DBH	0.3517	9	-349.036	716.3	0	0.503
Tree~Crown.shape+Crown.size+DBH+Tree.height	0.3519	10	-348.961	718.2	1.9	0.195
Full model	0.3529	13	-348.593	723.6	7.33	0.013
Null model	0.2452	2	-386.47	777	60.67	0

The model-averaged parameter estimates for the candidate models show that the parameters which have the greatest influence upon nest site selection are crown size (β =0.191, SE= 0.03, z value= 6.36 P= <0.001) and upside-down cone shaped crowns (β =1.843, SE= 0.69, z value= 2.67, P=0.008) (Table 2.11.). This suggests that there may be a selection for upside-down cone shaped trees and for those

with larger crown sizes. DBH was also highly significant as a variable (β =-0.017, SE= 0.01, z value= 1.98, P= 0.048) the β estimate for DBH suggests that the DBH for nest trees are smaller than those of the trees within 5m of them. When relative importance is considered, crown size, crown shape and DBH are the most important variables in differentiating between nest trees and those within 5m of them, whereas tree height is relatively unimportant with a value of 0.28 as it only appeared in the second-best performing model.

Table 2-11 Model averaged parameter estimates and relative importance for the top candidate models for nest tree vs tree within 5m

Parameters	Estimate	Std Error	Adj SE	Z value	Pr(> z)	RI	2.5% CI	97.5% Cl
Intercept	-2.712	4.822	4.829	0.562	0.574	-	-12.176	6.751
Crown size	0.191	0.030	0.030	6.363	<0.001	1	0.132	0.249
Tree height	0.003	0.014	0.014	0.195	0.845	0.28	-0.040	0.060
DBH	-0.017	0.008	0.008	1.978	0.048	1	-0.033	0.000
Crown shape C	1.241	0.653	0.653	1.899	0.058	1	-0.040	2.522
Crown shape ES	0.180	0.681	0.682	0.264	0.792		-1.156	1.517
Crown shape S	1.081	0.614	0.615	1.759	0.079		-0.124	2.287
Crown shape UC	1.842	0.689	0.690	2.669	0.008		0.489	3.194
Crown shape UM	0.482	0.812	0.813	0.593	0.553		-1.112	2.077

Crown shape classes: C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down Cone, UM= Umbrella



Figure 2-5 Forest plot of the odds ratios of parameters from the top 3 candidate models of the multi-model inference for the interaction between nest trees and non-nest trees found within 5m radius of the nest tree

Significance levels: * = <0.05, **= <0.01, ***= <0.001

Crown shape categories: C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upsidedown cone, UM= Umbrella

The forest plot of the odds ratios for the parameter estimates of the top candidate models (Fig 2.5.) further supports the previous results showing that crown size and upside-down cone shaped crowns have the greatest impact upon the models. Figures 2.6a, 2.6b and 2.6c show that similar to what was observed with average forest trees, increases in size of DBH, tree height and crown size led to increased probability of it being a nest tree. The marginal effects of crown shape in Figure 2.6d further display the significant preference for building nests within upside-down cone and cone shaped crowns and further shows how rarely bent-over crowns are used for nest sites.



Figure 2-6 Marginal effects plots of DBH (A), Tree height (B), Crown size (C) and Crown shape (D) for the model averaged parameters of the best candidate models determined through model averaging and PAICc scores <2 for the interaction of nest trees and those within 5m radius of the nest tree. The plots show the predicted probability of a tree holding an orangutan nest based upon each variable.

Crown shape categories: BO= Bent-over, C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upsidedown Cone, UM= Umbrella

The Jacob's D values of selectivity for nests compared to the trees within 5m (Fig 2.7.) show similar patterns of selectivity as was observed with average forest trees however, a greater level of selectivity can be observed. Tree height shows a normal bell curve shape in Sikundur with the highest preference still being above the mean whilst in Sei Betung preference is highly selective with only one size class showing a preference rather than avoidance which was trees in the 15-20m height range and showed a highly significant preference value of 0.83. Crown size displays a positive trend of increased preference associated with an increase in crown size and suggests that this is a particularly important variable for nest site selection. Bent-over and broken crowns as well as palms have all been found to be highly avoided as nest sites by orangutans. Upside-down cone shaped crowns were found to be significantly preferred as nest sites in Sikundur and showed a lower rate of preference in Sei Betung which is likely due to their greater availability at that site. Spheroid crowns were more highly preferred in Sei Betung

and similar to upside-down cones in Sei Betung show a lower rate of preference in Sikundur likely due to their greater availability at that site. Cone shaped crowns showed no significant levels of preference or avoidance in each site.



Figure 2-7 Jacob's D values for selectivity for the variables; DBH (A), Tree height (B), Crown size (C) and Crown shape (D) for nest trees in Sei Betung and Sikundur when compared against trees within 5m of the nest tree.

Crown shape categories: BO= Bent-over, C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down Cone, UM= Umbrella

2.3.3 Tree species

When comparing tree species within 5m radius of the nest tree between sites, 43 species were recorded in Sikundur and 21 species were found in Sei Betung. Orangutans were found to build nests in 44 tree species, all 44 of these species were found to house nests in Sikundur and a smaller subset of 14 species held nests in Sei Betung. Utilising the tree species information from the trees within 5m radius of each nest dataset, a high degree of selectivity was observed with certain species being both highly preferred and highly avoided in each site. Of greatest significance were the preferences for trees belonging to the genus *Nephelium*, the genus *Polyalthia* and *Shorea sp.* as they were some of the most frequently used for nest building and had significant positive Jacob's D scores (Fig 2.8). There are also a number of genera/species which were more common around nests but found to be highly avoided for nests building such as *Bridelia tomentosa, Callerya atropurpurea, Elaeocarpus sp., Eleais guinensis, Phyllanthus sp* and *Vitex pinnata* (Fig 2.8.).



Figure 2-8 Jacobs D values of selectivity for nest trees compared to trees found within 5m of nest trees for Sei Betung and Sikundur



Figure 2-9 Histogram of proportions of tree species used for nest trees in Sikundur and Sei Betung

When looking at the transect data for Sei Betung, the forest composition in Sei Betung was dominated by trees belonging to the *Euphorbiaceae* and *Phyllanthacieae* families which accounted for 38.8% and 20.2% of all trees recorded at the site. Across the 720 trees recorded across the vegetation transects in Sei Betung only 53 species belonging to 26 families were identified whereas 184 species were found in Sikundur from the 873 trees sampled through phenology plots conducted by SOCP field staff (Table 2.12.). The five most abundant species in Sei Betung accounted for 50.9% of all of the trees measured at the site though they only represented 9.4% of the tree diversity of the site. In comparison, the five most abundant in Sikundur accounted for 16.3% of the 874 trees recorded on the phenology plots, with these five species representing only 2.7% of the tree diversity of the site. (Fig 2.9.) This suggests that Sikundur is both a much more diverse forest in terms of species and a more heterogenous forest also in terms of tree diversity when compared to Sei Betung.

Table 2-12 Numbers of tree species recorded for each field site for overall forest diversity, trees within5m diameter of a nest tree and nest trees. *Data from phenology plots conducted by SOCP staff

Field Site		Number of species					
	Overall forest	Around nest	Nest tree				
Sei Betung	53	21	14				
Sikundur	184*	43	44				

2.3.4 Multiple nest trees

A significantly larger proportion of nest trees held multiple nests in Sei Betung compared to Sikundur, with only 11.1% of trees having multiple nests in Sikundur compared to 40% of trees in Sei Betung holding multiple nests. No significant structural differences were found between single nest trees and those that held multiple nests in Sikundur except for tree height which showed that trees holding multiple nests were significantly taller than single nest trees (Welch's t= -2.37, df=34, P=0.024). In Sei Betung multiple nest trees weren't significantly taller (Welch's t= -1.41, df=42, P=0.167) and showed no significance regarding DBH either (Welch's t= -1.63, df= 38, P= 0.112), however, all other variables were found to be significantly larger in multiple nest trees than single nest trees in Sei Betung (Table 2.13.) This lends further evidence for a selection preference for trees with larger crowns as was suggested in the previous models and also suggests that this may differ between sites.

Field Site	Variables	Means		Variance	Welch's t			
		Single nest	Multiple nest	Single nest	Multiple nest	t Stat	df	Р
Sei		n= 27	n=18	n= 27	n=18			
Betung	DBH (cm)	18.87	23.93	57.52	165.8	-1.63	38	0.112
	FBH (m)	4.9	3.83	3.83	2.87	1.93	40	0.060
	Tree height (m)	10.53	11.89	7.60	13.72	-1.41	42	0.167
	Crown size (m)	5.64	8.06	6.49	6.01	-3.24	42	0.002
	Crown area (m ²)	39.79	82.43	841.28	3187.48	-3.24	35	0.003
	Crown volume (m ³)	86.205	335.59	7646.95	94631.77	-3.80	27	<0.001
Sikundur		n= 136	n=17	n= 136	n=17			
	DBH (cm)	25.04	25.98	137.3	147.72	-0.38	39	0.710
	FBH (m)	9.57	10.84	12.1	29.14	-1.20	32	0.241
	Tree height (m)	17.17	20.44	26.39	47.60	-2.37	34	0.024
	Crown size (m)	7.60	9.6	16.08	43.09	-1.55	32	0.131
	Crown area (m ²)	54.53	49.55	1431.14	1016.83	0.72	46	0.475
	Crown volume (m ³)	263.59	260.36	119418.2	45799.19	0.06	63	0.950

Table 2-13 Descriptive statistics and Welch's t test for trees which held single nests and multiple nests in Sei Betung and Sikundur

The relationship between single and multiple use trees was tested using logistic linear regression. The effect of field site was first modelled and checked using a Likelihood-ratio ANOVA chi square test to test between a generalised linear mixed effects model with field site as a random effect against a simpler generalised linear model. No significant difference was found between these two models; X^{2}_{df1} =1.44, P=0.2296, therefore the simper generalised linear model with a binomial error structure was used for the further analysis (Table 2.14). FBH and crown volume were removed from the models due to multicollinearity and VIF scores >5. Two candidate models were identified with Δ AICc scores <2. None of these models contained tree height or crown shape as variables which suggests that these are not important in determining why certain trees have multiple nests. Connectivity and crown size were

found in all of the candidate models which suggests that the level of connectivity of the tree and size of its crown have significant influences upon nest tree reuse (Table 2.15).

Table 2-14 Results of anova chi square test to determine the importance of field site as a random effect on the linear regression of single nest trees vs multiple nest trees

Model	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Adj R^2	Chi sq	Chi df	Pr (>Chisq)
Multiple~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Connectivity+Crown.shape +Crown.area	13	204.66	247.41	- 89.332	178.66	0.3226	-	-	-
Multiple~Tree.height+DBH+Crown.size+Connectivity+Crown.shape +Crown.area+(1 Field.site)	14	205.22	251.26	- 88.611	177.22	0.3309	1.4435	1	0.2296

Table 2-15 Best candidate models for explaining the difference between single nest trees and multiple nest trees by Δ AICc scores <2

Model	Adj R^2	df	logLik	AICc	delta	weight
Multiple~Connectivity+Crown size	0.253	5	-95.201	200.7	0	0.165
Multiple~Connecitivity+Crown size+DBH	0.2596	6	-94.656	201.8	1.04	0.098
Multiple~Connecitivity+Crown area+Crown	0.2685	7	93.924	202.4	1.72	0.07
size+DBH						
Multiple~Connectivity+Crown area+Crown size	0.2545	6	-95.08	202.6	1.88	0.064
Full model	0.3226	13	-89.332	206.6	5.93	0.009
Null model	0	0	-114.006	230	29.32	0

Model averaging found that yet again crown size was the most important variable, it was also the only parameter estimate to have a highly significant value (β =0.088, SE= 0.043, P=0.04, RI= 1). Connectivity was also found to be highly influential with an RI of 1, though did not have a significant P value. DBH had a RI of 0.42 which suggests it may play a relatively important role in determining whether a tree had multiple nests whilst crown area was 0.34 which suggests it plays only a lesser part in explaining why certain trees have multiple nests. The parameter estimates show that multiple nest trees tend to be those with larger crown size and area but lower DBH and most frequently in trees with connectivity of 25-50% (Table 2.16).

Table 2-16 Model averaged parameters from the top candidate models of the interaction of single nes
trees and multiple nest trees

Parameters	Estimate	Std Error	Adj SE	Z value	Pr(> z)	RI	2.5% Cl	97.5% Cl
Intercept	-1.288	0.908	0.913	1.410	0.159	-	-3.078	0.502
Crown area	0.002	0.004	0.004	0.396	0.692	0.34	-0.006	0.015
Crown size	0.088	0.043	0.044	2.021	0.043	1	0.003	0.174
DBH	-0.010	0.018	0.018	0.566	0.572	0.42	-0.064	0.016
Connectivity 25-50%	1.456	0.930	0.936	1.557	0.1196	1	-0.377	3.290
Connectivity 50-75%	-0.318	0.894	0.899	0.354	0.723		-2.081	1.444
Connectivity 75-100%	-1.288	0.911	0.917	1.405	0.160		-3.085	0.508

The forest plot in Figure 2.10 shows that crown area, tree height and crown size have minimal effect on the odds ratio for the models whilst connectivity <25% best predicts trees holding multiple nests whilst connectivity levels of 25-50% and >75% are better at predicting that a tree is a single nest tree. The marginal effects plots in Figure 3.11 show that increases in crown area and crown size are positively associated with an increase in the probability of that tree holding multiple nests. Increases in DBH however are negatively correlated with the probability of holding multiple nests but are more positively associated with greater probability of having a single nest. Crowns with connectivity 25-50% are almost three times more likely to hold multiple nests than those with a connectivity of 50-75% and six times more likely than those with connectivity >75%. The marginal effects agree with the predicted probabilities and show a negative association between tree height and probability of holding multiple nests whilst crown size and crown area display the opposite.



Figure 2-10 Forest plot for the parameters of the best candidate models for testing single nest vs multiple nest trees



Figure 2-11 Marginal effects plots for the parameters of the best candidate models for the interaction between single nest trees and tree that hold multiple nests. The plots show the predicted probability of a tree holding an orangutan nest for each of the important variables; Tree height (A), Crown size (B), Crown area (C) and Connectivity (D)

2.4 Discussion

In this study we aimed to investigate whether tree structure had an influence upon nest site selection, and which structural variables had the greatest influence on this. To test this we compared nest trees against "average" forest trees which were measured on vegetation transect, similar to the studies by Ancrenaz et al. (2004) and Cheyne et al. (2013). However, we considered that the study of nest selection could be further strengthened by comparing nest trees directly to those within the immediate vicinity of the nest tree (<5m radius) as Mackinnon 1974 noted that orangutans frequently nested near to the last food tree visited. This enabled us to test nest site selection in relation to the other trees immediately available to the animal at the point of nest building and then determine if these differ and whether there are particular tree architecture factors that could explain how nest sites are selected.

2.4.1 Site differences in forest structure

We quantified the structural features of the arboreal environment that were likely to impact upon nest site selection in Sumatran orangutans. As expected the forest structure and composition of Sikundur and Sei Betung differed greatly given the amounts of disturbance each site has experienced and the recovery periods each has had (Rijksen & Meijard 1999; Knop et al. 2004; Kettle et al. 2014; Nowak & Singleton 2016; Wich et al. 2016b). Trees in Sikundur were found to be significantly larger than those in Sei Betung for all parameters except for crown area (Table 2.2). This similarity in crown area for trees which otherwise would be considered significantly smaller in Sei Betung is likely a product of the lower stem density in Sei Betung compared to that in Sikundur. The lower stem density would allow for greater space for the trees to spread out horizontally and reduce the need to compete for light vertically as is required in more dense forests such as Sikundur and allows for the trees in Sei Betung to more quickly shade out their competitors (Yoda 1974; Hartshorn 1978; Clark & Clark 1992; Alvarez-Buylla & Martinez-Ramos 1992; Ackerly 1996; Clark et al. 1996; Sterck & Bongers 2001). This is further evidenced by the significantly greater proportion of upside-down cone shaped trees found in Sei Betung compared to Sikundur as this crown shape with its wide and flat top is better adapted to capturing light at when the sun is at a greater solar elevation angle (>85°). Whereas, the higher proportions of elongated spheroid and spheroid crowns which predominate Sikundur are best adapted to capture light throughout the day and light when the sun is at its nadir (<45°) as is the case for elongated spheroid crowns and is indicative of a denser forest structure (Oker-Blom & Kellomäki 1982; Iwasa et al. 1984; Kuuluvainen & Pukkala 1987, 1989; Li & Strahler 1992). The greater crown sizes and higher proportions of crown shapes which have greater volumes is why although crown area is higher in Sei Betung, crown volume is still higher in Sikundur.

2.4.2 Site differences in nest trees

Counter to our second hypothesis, nest trees across both sites were found to be quite similar in terms of structural characteristics. Significant differences between were only found in relation to the height of nest trees and their FBH which is likely a product of the differing average tree heights in each site as was similarly found by Ghiglieri (1984) and Badji et al. (2017). This suggests that orangutans across both sites have similar selection criteria for nest trees and this is further supported by the lack of significant influence of the random effect of field site within the generalised mixed effects model when compared against the simpler generalised linear model. Analysis of nest trees versus those within 5m radius of the nest tree suggested that at this smaller scale there may be a difference in selection criteria between sites as the random effect of site was significant in this instance, however the results from the model were still found to be extremely similar to those from the average forest trees where

field site was not significant. Selectivity indices further showed similarities in the preferences across sites and a similar preference across both the average forest trees and those within 5m datasets.

2.4.3 Nest site selection

As expected no ground nests were recorded at either site, further supporting the theory that ground nesting is a behaviour exclusive to Borneo due to the absence of predators capable of predating upon adult orangutans; tigers (Hayward et al. 2012a; Ashbury et al. 2015). Preferred nest site characteristics and selection patterns however don't fully support either hypothesis of improved sleep quality and nest stability or predator avoidance being the principal driver for nest site selection. Six variables were identified by model averaging to be of importance for determining nest site selection for orangutans across both sites; tree height, crown size, crown area, crown shape, DBH and connectivity. Preferences for tree height lend weight to both arguments as orangutans in both sites were found to prefer building nests in larger than average trees, avoiding both small trees and extremely tall trees such as emergent trees. Smaller trees would be avoided as they would provide less support and stability in adverse weather but also offer less distance from the ground and thereby ground predators. Extremely tall trees alternatively, tend to be emergent trees and therefore above the level of the surrounding canopy. It is likely that nests built within these trees would be too exposed to the weather and would provide little comfort or protection from the elements. By being above the level of the surrounding canopy these tall trees would also offer less easy escape routes from the nest and also increases the number of barriers between the nest and ground predators helping to obscure the nest from view (Goodall 1962; Kano 1982; Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 1984; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Cheyne et al. 2013). These results support the conclusions of Ancrenaz et al. (2004) and Cheyne et al. (2013) that orangutans prefer nesting within larger trees and within the upper canopy but do suggest that there may be alternative interpretations for their results than what either study presented as nesting within the upper canopy. Nesting in tall trees also lends support to the thermoregulation hypothesis as Koops et al. (2012) found that chimpanzees during the wet season nested higher in the tree as lower humidity levels were found higher in the tree which may help both with improved heat regulation as well as comfort whilst sleeping.

Future research could look to determine whether nest heights in these taller trees are also within the upper canopy which would improve movement to and from the nest but also potential shelter from the elements which is one of the aspects tested in Chapter 3. What could also be tested is the amount of rain, wind and directly sunlight experienced when nesting above the height of the surrounding canopy, within the canopy and below to determine whether these factors could be of concern when determining nest placement. Chimpanzees are known to nest higher within trees to avoid high humidity in rainforest environments (Koops et al. 2012a) and in more open habitats they prefer to nest

at the tops of trees which both limits the amount of dripping from overhead vegetation following night time rain but also allows for greater exposure to the morning sun to warm themselves (Baldwin et al. 1981).

Against what was expected, first branch height was found to have no significant difference between nest and non-nest trees. As the height of the first branch is one of the primary determinants of how easy a tree is to access form the ground this does detract from the predator avoidance hypothesis, though it also doesn't offer any further support to the sleep quality and stability hypothesis (Goodall 1962; Koops et al. 2012a; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Of all variables, crown size was found to have the greatest influence upon nest site selection in the models. Orangutans at both sites were found to show a strong preference for nest sites in the largest found crown sizes at each site and strong avoidance of small crown sizes. These larger crowns offer a greater amount of potential nest material and potential nest sites due to their size and increased number of branches. The greater number of branches also offer potentially greater stability through a lower impact of wind sway and reduced chance of tree collapse due to dangerous harmonic sway as the dynamic sway of the branches help to dampen energy transfer from the wind down to the trunk and roots, thereby reducing the chances of the tree falling or breaking (James et al. 2006). This lends significant support to the nest stability and sleep quality hypothesis as Ancrenaz et al. (2004) concluded that one of the primary reasons that orangutans were selecting extremely tall trees in Kinabatangan was to reduce the chance of tree failure due to the frequent windiness of their field site. Future research could look into the weather patterns at both Sikundur and Sei Betung with particular focus on wind speeds and storms and look to see if nest site selection changes with such weather. Female and juvenile gorillas have been observed to abandon arboreal nests in favour of ground nests during storms and heavy winds as safety outweighed the desire for comfort or threat from ground predators (Tutin et al. 1995). Orangutans, similarly may change their nesting patterns as the threat of nest failure increases and potentially outweighs the threat from ground predators.

Further results from the models and preference index on crown area and crown shape further lent support to both the predator avoidance and nest stability and sleep quality hypotheses. The results for crown area were very similar to those of tree height with orangutans preferring trees with crown areas larger than the mean but heavily avoiding the largest trees which would most likely be the emergent trees. Larger crown areas are suggestive of wider crowns which as with crown size would potentially have a larger number of branches which would both offer more nesting material and greater stability due to the dynamic sway of the branches (James et al. 2006; Cheyne et al. 2013). However, wider crowns also offer the potential for a greater diversity of nest positions to be built, in particular more peripheral nest positions such as Position 2 nests (see Fig 1.3) which are used as a predatory avoidance method. To have wider crowns, trees would also need stronger branches to support the weight of
these branches and it is these stronger, thicker branches that are required to support nests in more peripheral positions (Horn 1971; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

Focusing on crown shape, bent-over crowns were found to be highly avoided in both sites which is likely due to their inherent instability from their lop-sided shape. Cone shaped and upside-down cone shaped crowns were found to be highly preferred as nest sites. Previous research into the nesting behaviours of chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) has noted a similar preference for upside-down cone shaped crowns; with Samson & Hunt (2014) hypothesising that these are easiest crown shapes to form into a nest which would also maximise comfort and minimise energy expenditure (van Casteren et al. 2012). It is possible that the shape of upside-down shaped cones may also be better at supporting nests in more peripheral positions as the triangular shape could offer greater biomechanical strength and reduce the physical load of the nest compared to horizontally growing branches. This is an area which needs further investigation to determine if different crown shapes offer greater stability and ability to hold the weight of a nest.

Surprisingly, DBH was in both instances found to be negatively associated with the probability of holding a nest. This result may have arisen due to a number of nests being built within trees with DBH <10cm which in the non-nest data we did not measure. Also, when looking at the selectivity indices there is a large number of large size categories avoided whilst only the smallest size category of DBH was avoided. This result directly counters the conclusion of Cheyne et al. (2013) as it suggests that in Sikundur and Sei Betung taller trees with large crown sizes and crown areas but narrow diameters are preferred as opposed to the shorter trees with large diameters and large crown areas perferred in Sabangau. This is probably the strongest evidence for the predator avoidance hypothesis as narrow trunks would make the tree less stable but also make them more difficult to access for a predator due to the increased instability. Smaller trunk size would also make a predators silent approach more difficult as the smaller trunk is more liable to vibrate with movement and making noise through the movement of leaves (Anderson 1984, 2000; Fan & Jiang 2008; Teichroeb et al. 2012). Future research could look into how vibrations travel through the tree to the nest and whether such movements are detectable to a sleeping orangutan and whether certain tree sizes or species due to wood density and stiffness are better at conducting such vibrations.

Lastly, crown connectivity was found to be positively associated with the probability of being a nest tree. The Jacob's D scores for connectivity further supported this result with Sikundur showing a highly significant avoidance of areas with connectivity <50% and a small preference for areas with connectivity <50% which is the expected result as was found by Felton et al. (2003) and Cheyne et al. (2013). Nesting within more highly connected trees provides both greater cover and protection from wind and rain through the higher numbers of branches and leaves from neighbouring trees but also provides easier escape routes from the proximity to and overlap with connected trees (Anderson et al.

1983; Anderson 2000). These results also suggest that in Sikundur a reduction in crown connectivity through human actions such as selective logging could have a significant negative impact on orangutans through the reduction in the availability of suitable nesting sites.

However, the results from Sei Betung disagree with this conclusion. Conversely, they suggest that areas with the most connectivity are the most highly avoided and showed the only significant preference for areas with 25-50% connectivity. This result goes against what was expected and predicted from the GLM and suggests that though many of the other interactions were similar between both sites, for this variable they differ significantly. The preference for less connected trees in Sei Betung may be similarly due to facilitating escape routes as the forest is much more open in Sei Betung than Sikundur (see Chapter 4) and trees tend to be in small clusters where they maybe be connected locally but for an orangutan to flee further it must come to the ground. Therefore, it would be preferable in such an open habitat and particularly where tree heights are lower to have greater sight lines to give an earlier warning of a predator's approach and have an easier escape route down from the tree to flee. The incorporation of escape routes within nests has been observed in chimpanzee nesting and in open habitats chimpanzees have also been observed to nest higher in the tree with no overhead vegetation which also limits the possibility of attack from predators travelling from nearby trees which maybe further explain the preference for less connected trees in Sei Betung (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson 2000). Further analysis of nest positions is needed to determine whether less connected trees also have higher and more peripheral nests as in chimpanzees.

When drawing the results of these important tree characteristics six variable together there appears to be support for the predation avoidance, sleep quality and nest stability hypothesis as well as the thermoregulation hypothesis. However, the preference for narrower trunks does not fit with the stability hypothesis and is directly in opposition to the conclusion by Cheyne et al. (2013) suggesting that unlike in Borneo predation avoidance may be the primary driver for nest site selection. Nest stability and comfort though maybe act as a limiting factor to how far an orangutan may select antipredatory properties as safety from predators isn't useful if the nest itself is unsafe and liable to fail. There must be a balance between safety from predators and safety from falling (Tutin et al. 1995). There are limitations to how much can be inferred from these results and as Stewart & Pruetz (2013) state it is only possible to assess whether predation avoidance is influencing nesting by investigating nest positions whilst controlling for cross-site differences in nest characteristics such as nest height correlates with tree height. This is where Chapter 3 will build upon the results of this study and aim to provide an answer to this question.

2.4.4 Species use

Species composition also differed greatly between the two sites with 184 species recorded at Sikundur from a sample of 873 trees sampled in phenology plots conducted by SOCP staff as opposed to 53 species identified at Sei Betung from the 720 trees sampled during the vegetation transects for this study. 107 species were recorded in the primary forest of Sei Betung in a study conducted by Hartini et al. in 2017 which suggests that the reforested sections of Sei Betung has an extremely low species diversity which is mostly likely due to the trees there being replanted by humans as opposed to being naturally seeded (Kettle et al. 2014) and is as expected in our hypothesis.

As with previous studies (Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013), this study found that orangutans were selective of tree species when selecting nest sites. As expected, orangutans in Sikundur utilised a greater diversity of tree species for nesting than in Sei Betung. 44 species were utilised for nest building in Sikundur and 14 in Sei Betung, these account for only 23.9% and 26.4% of the total available tree species at each site respectively. Though a small difference, this shows that orangutans in Sie Betung are potentially more selective than in Sikundur, though this could be a product of the low diversity or differing growth patterns of the tree species planted in Sei Betung. The number of tree species used at each of our sites however, are lower than those in both Sabah (125 species) (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a) and Sabangau (52 species) (Cheyne et al. 2013). Orangutans in both our field sites sites showed a high degree of selectivity with the species *Shorea sp., Nephelium caspidatum, Eugenia sp., and Knema laterica* accounting for 41.39% of the total number of nests in Sikundur and in Sei Betung the four most used species; *Polyalthea sumatrana, Shorea sp., Endospermum diadenum and Macaranga gigantea* accounted for 54.76% of all nests.

The tree species preferred for nesting in Sikundur are large, slower growing species such as Shorea sp. whilst in Sei Betung the preference was for fast growing, pioneer species such as members of the genus Macaranga and Endospermum further supporting the conclusion that orangutan are selecting taller, larger trees to nest in which provide both added comfort and safety from predators (Slik et al. 2003; Okuda et al. 2003; Meijaard et al. 2005; Ancrenaz et al. 2010; Hardus et al. 2012a; Chin et al. 2013; Nguyen et al. 2014; Wich et al. 2016b). As well as being large and tall growing species there is also the potential that these tree species may also have a number of other preferential tree architecture properties such as branch strength, branch flexibility or chemical properties which deter biting insects and parasite (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Thorpe et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b; van Casteren et al. 2012; Samson et al. 2013). Future research could investigate the structural and chemical properties of these tree species to ascertain why they are so highly favoured as nest trees. Hernandez-Aguilar et al. (2013) also noted that when considering preference for tree species it is important to not only consider abundance but also understand more the tree's physical characteristics and growth patterns. Some tree species may be common but rarely used as nest sites as that tree species is an understory tree which doesn't grow tall enough to be selected often as a nest site (Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

Using such information, conservation managers could potentially identify tree species which may potentially be valuable nest sites and ensure that they are protected or that such species are planted in reforestation projects such as Sei Betung. Table 2-17 Economic value and human uses of the most preferred and utilised species for nesting by orangutans in Sikundur and Sei Betung (Wang et al. 2004; Fern 2019).

TREE SPECIES	SIKUND	UR	SEI BETU	JNG	ECONOMIC VALUE AND USES	
	Proportion %	Jacob's D	Proportion %	Jacob's D		
Aglaia tomentosa	0	0	2.3	1	Fruits are eaten and collected locally. Genus Aglaia only source of flavaglines compounds useful for medicine development, insecticides and potential as a cancer treatment Wood used in house building	
Artocarpus dadah	2.3	-0.1	4.6	0.49	Fruits eaten locally used as food and medicine. Commonly exploited for timber which is traded internationally.	
Calophyllum sp.	3.9	0.34	0	0	Harvested for timber which is used locally	
Endospermum diadenum	0.8	1	13.9	0.52	Commercial source of the timber "Sesendok", commonly harvested for local use and trade	
Knema sp.	10.2	0.22	0	0	Dependent on species, some harvested locally for wood, others harvested for oil and seeds for medicine	
Lithocarpus sp.	7	0.19	0	0	Dependent on species some harvested locally for wood, others are timber species that are traded	
Macaranga sp.	0	0	23.3	0.16	Harvested for wood locally and medicinal properties for treating diarrhoea. Also, <i>Macaranga sp.</i> are extremely useful for reforestation projects as pioneer species	
Neolamarckia cadamba	0	0	7	-0.34	The wood is used for plywood. Very frequently planted species due to religious beliefs in SE Asia. Is a pioneer species.	
Nephelium sp.	12.5	0.47	4.7	1	Fruit harvested and sometimes planted in local plantations and cultivated. Favoured for "wild taste" compared to domesticated rambutan	
Polyalthia sp.	2.3	0.42	18.6	0.74	Some harvesting for wood and pulp	
Quercus sp.	1.6	1	0	0	Timber species that is traded on a commercial basis under the name "Mempening". Leaves, seed, bark and galls of value to local medicines due to tannins.	
Shorea sp.	14.8	0.35	14	0.81	Timber species that is traded commercially with a number of Shorea species listed as endangered and critically endangers on the IUCN Red List. Traded under the name "Meranti".	
Streblus elongatus	2.3	-0.11	2.3	1	Harvested for local medicinal use	
Styrax benzoin	0.8	1	2.3	0.18	Gum from the bark is harvested as a food flavouring and traded internationally. Benzoin gum also has a number of medicinal properties. Also, benzoin is highly useful ingredient in cosmetics and a fixative in perfumes with high grades of benzoin being a prized fragrance note.	

The four most used tree families in Sikundur (Dipterocarpaceae, Myristacaceae, Myrtaceae and Sapindaceae) accounted for 52.4% of all nests whilst in Sei Betung the three most used families the Euphorbiaceae, Annonaceae and Dipterocarpaceae accounted for 69.03% of all nests which is a significantly higher amount of selectivity than what was found by either Ancrenaz et al. (2004), Cheyne et al. (2013) or Prasetyo et al. (2012). In fact, this level of selectivity is comparable to and greater than that of some of the African great apes (Kano 1982; Fruth & Hohmann 1993, 1996; Tutin et al. 1995; Hashimoto 1995; Brownlow et al. 2001). The high preferences for these species further provide a number of conservation implications as most of these species are of economic value to humans (see Table 16), leading to competition and conflict over these resources with humans, as well as the potential disappearance of preferred nest sites as these species are removed from the forest. Trees belonging to the genera Shorea, Macaranga and Endospermum are all valuable timber species (Ådjers et al. 1995; Okuda et al. 2003; Chin et al. 2013), Nephelium caspidatum produces a valuable fruit that is collected (Saw et al. 1991) and Macaranga gigantea and Polyalthea sumatrana both have medicinal properties which also gives them value to local communities (Table 2.17) (Eswani et al. 2010). Humans collecting from these species could disturb the orangutans or possibly attack them as they may perceive the orangutan as a threat to either themselves or to the valuable fruit and trees (Meijaard et al. 2011; Wich et al. 2011a; Davis et al. 2013).

Some of these tree species however also offer the potential to help promote the conservation of orangutans by protecting the habitats, in particular the trees due to their value to medicine and the discovery of new medicines and treatments for illnesses. Trees belonging to the genus Aglaia are the only known source of a group of around 50 compounds that bear a unique cyclopenta[b]tetrahydrobenzofuran skeleton. These compounds are more commonly known as rocaglate, rocaglamide derivatives or flavaglines, most of which have been found to have potent insecticidal properties, antifungal, antiviral, antibacterial and antihelminthic bioactivity. There is even the potential for new cancer treatments to come from these compounds as several have been found to exhibit pronounced cytotoxic activity against a range of human cancers (Wang et al. 2004; Li-Weber 2015; Fern 2019). By protecting the forests where these trees grow we also protect these potential sources for future medicines which can help to eliminate some of humanities worst illnesses.

2.4.5 Multiple nest trees

Of particular interest is the number of trees which held multiple nests in Sikundur and Sei Betung as Ancrenaz et al. in 2004 found increased numbers of trees with multiple nests was linked to the amount of disturbance a forest had experienced. Normally the reuse of nest trees or finding of multiple nests in the same tree is quite rare, 3% in Danum Valley (Kanamori et al. 2017), 14.6% in Sabah (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a) and 9.51% and 10.9% in Tuanan (Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012) and 5% in Suaq Balimbing in Sumatra (Singleton 2000). The proportion of trees in Sikundur with multiple nests was 11.1% which is similar to these previously published figures, whilst multiple nest trees accounted for 40% of all nest trees in Sei Betung which in unprecedented compared to what has been found in previous studies (Rijksen 1978; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2012).

When trees holding multiple nests were compared to single nest trees, those in Sei Betung were found to be significantly larger than single nest trees for crown size, crown area and crown volume whilst FBH was significantly lower in multiple nest trees and tree height and DBH showed no significant differences. In Sikundur tree height was the only variable found to be significantly different between single and multiple nest trees with multiple nest trees being significantly taller than single nest trees. Field site however, was found to have no significant effect upon the models. Crown size and connectivity were found to be the most influential variables based on their RI scores. Crown area and DBH however, were found to have much less significant influence upon models though they are still of importance to the interactions due to their presence within the top candidate models. Larger crown sizes as mentioned previously offer a greater number of potential nest sites and nesting material through an increase in the number of branches and is likely one of the primary reasons why these larger trees contain multiple nests.

Increases in both crown area and crown size showed positive associations with the probability of holding multiple nests. Conversely trees with larger DBH were found to have a lower probability of holding multiple nests and an increased probability of single nests. Again, as highlighted earlier, the trees with lower DBH but tall in height and large crowns may provide increased anti-predation benefits due to the greater difficulty a predator would face accessing nests in these trees stealthily (Anderson 1984, 2000; Fan & Jiang 2008; Teichroeb et al. 2012). At both sites trees with lower connectivity had much higher probability of large trees in areas with low connectivity. This result is likely due to a lower availability of large trees in areas with low connectivity so those few large trees that are present are significantly more likely to have multiple nests as the need for reuse arises and as Ancrenaz et al. (2004) noted, the more frequently a tree is reused for nests the more its structure is altered and becomes further preferable as a nest site. In areas with few potential nest sites, large trees with particularly large crowns would be valuable resources due to the potential number of nest sites. As such, these trees which are most frequently used and reused as nest sites should be protected as the loss of them cold severely lower the number of potential nest sites in such degraded and open areas and their loss could have negative effects upon the orangutan population.

2.4.6 Implications

The similarities in results for both datasets suggest that either conducting PCQM transects or measuring trees within 5m radius of the nest tree both produce similar results and that either could be

used as potential methodologies when studying nest site selection and that previous prior studies which only measured average forest trees show a good representation of nest site selection. Further research could look to compare between data collected from plots against transects to determine which provides a better representation of forest structure for the site.

The tree size classes which orangutans showed the highest preferences for made up an extremely small proportion of the trees within the forest at each site, suggesting that there is significant pressure upon these trees as nest trees and that their removal would increase the pressure on the remaining preferred nest trees and lead to an increase in the reuse of these nest trees and clustering of nest sites. This provides further evidence for the need to protect these larger trees due to their significant value as nest trees, not only for their value for travel and canopy connectivity (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Davies et al. 2017). It is unknown what effect such clustering of nests has upon the behaviour and health of orangutans as individuals potentially are forced into proximity than would normally be preferred for a species that is semi-solitary. Future research could look to take hair samples from nests in Sikundur and Sei Betung and look at cortisol levels to determine if the reduction in potential nest sites was increasing stress within the animals at this site.

The value of larger trees is particularly high in more open and degraded areas as nest site reuse and trees containing multiple nests were significantly more common in Sei Betung than Sikundur and at a higher incidence than has been reported in any prior study. Such a proportion of trees holding multiple nests shows that there is a high pressure upon preferred nest sites within such environments and that such trees much be protected. Looking at the tree species used, we saw that in Sei Betung, faster growing pioneer species were heavily favoured, likely because these are the first trees which grow to have a crown structure capable of supporting a nest. A focus should be on planting fast growing species such as those belonging to the genus *Macaranga* when conducting reforestation projects if one of the aims or goals of such a project is to encourage the recolonization of the site by orangutans. Orangutans also favoured a number of species which have significant economic value to humans and as such there is the potential of conflict over these resources (Table 16). Some tree species however have significant value to cosmetics and medicine and so these could offer potential backing for conservation or managed agroforestry projects where the sap, gum and resin from those trees are collected without removing trees or disturbing orangutans.

2.5 Conclusion

Other studies have concluded that orangutans prefer the largest available trees (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013) and our results agree with this to a point. Our findings suggest that orangutans do prefer to nest in larger, taller trees but they avoid extremely tall trees, whereas they prefer trees with the largest crowns in terms of size and area and this result of previous studies of preferring the largest trees is likely to be a function of orangutans selecting for trees with the largest crown and crown area. Larger, wider crowns are likely to hold a greater number of branches and this both provides a greater amount of building material for nesting but also provide greater protection from the wind, rain and overhead sun through the presence of a denser canopy. Trees with larger numbers of branches are able to reduce dangerous harmonic sway through the dynamic sway of the branches which also helps to dampen energy transfer from the wind down to the trunk and roots, thereby reducing the chances of the tree falling or breaking (James et al. 2006). Therefore, this supports the hypothesis that orangutans select nest sites based on comfort and stability rather than predator avoidance. Orangutans were also found to prefer nesting within crowns considered more stable and easier to build nests in further lending support to the idea that nest site selection in driven by safety and comfort (van Casteren et al. 2012; Samson & Hunt 2014). However, our study also found evidence for orangutans potentially selecting nest sites which have properties which reduce their risk from predation. In less disturbed forests with fewer gaps and higher connectivity orangutans selectively build nests in trees with greater connectivity that provide an increased number of escape routes. In more open and disturbed habitats orangutans select for trees which are less well connected as these allow for easier access to the ground and greater sightlines of a potential predator's approach. Furthermore, we found evidence that there may be a selection for trees with smaller DBH in both sites which would reduce a predator's access to the nest and give warning to the nesting orangutan through the vibration of branches and rustle of leaves. Therefore, not only is nest site selection in the lowland dipterocarp forests of Sumatra driven by comfort and stability as in Borneo but predator avoidance also plays a major role in determining where an orangutan builds their nests.

The larger trees which orangutans have been found to have high preferences for, only represent a small proportion of the trees within the forest. This means the removal of these preferred nesting trees poses another threat to their survival which must be considered. Such large trees are disproportionately favoured by selective logging operations (Felton et al. 2003) and as such could create added pressures on orangutans beyond the loss of habitat and potential food species. As well as the removal of preferred nesting trees the removal of these trees is likely to create gaps which lower the connectivity of the trees in the area which our study has shown to be highly avoided by orangutans and when tree with lower connectivity were used, they had a significantly higher probability of multiple nests being built in that tree as other quality nest trees become harder to find. This will lead to an increase in competition for nest sites and could lead to increases in confrontations between individuals over nest sites. The increasing reuse of nest trees could also lead to a change in the tree's architecture as was noted by Ancrenaz et al. 2004 as the constant bending, breaking and healing of branches alters the shape of the tree into a more preferential one for nesting which then increases its rate of reuse and leads to the formation of "villages". The frequent reuse of such trees in disturbed and open habitats shows that the loss of such large and preferred nest trees could have a greater impact

upon orangutans within disturbed habitats as such trees represent a greater proportion of the overall potential nest sites than in more intact forests where orangutans have a greater choice of nest sites. Within such disturbed sites a focus should be placed on protecting large trees known to be frequently nested in and if such trees much be lost then they should be replaced with fast growing pioneers such as those belonging to the genus *Macaranga* which can provide alternative nest sites.

Future research could look into the characteristics of the tree species found to be nested in to identify species which would are most useful as nest sites through either large size, strong branches or fast growing. Another potential avenue of research would be to ascertain whether any of the preferred nest species have mosquito repellent properties which would allow us to then test the anti-vector hypothesis. The potential of this could also lead to the potential discovery of a new chemical for use in mosquito repellents should such a result be found. In Chapter 3 I will build upon the results of this study to provide a more definitive answer as to whether orangutans are selecting nest sites as a method of predator avoidance or comfort and stability or thermoregulation through my investigation of nest height and nest positions.

Chapter 3: The influence of forest structure on nest positioning of Sumatran orangutans (*Pongo abelii*)

3.1 Introduction

John P.D. Abernethy, Matt G Nowak, Rio Ardi, Ross A. Hall, Amanda H. Korstjens, Serge Wich Intending to submit to American Journal of Primatology

Orangutans are the largest extant arboreal mammalian species (Cant 1987b, 1987a), spending almost all of their lives in the canopy with adults building nests almost daily for sleep and rest (Mackinnon 1974; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Russon et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). Nest building is a behaviour that orangutans share with all other great apes (Hashimoto 1995; Hall et al. 1998; Blom et al. 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002; Kouakou et al. 2011; Samson & Hunt 2014; Serckx et al. 2016). Orangutan nests are considered to be the most sturdy, complex and elaborately designed and longest lasting nests of all those produced by apes (Groves & Sabater Pi 1985; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; van Casteren et al. 2012). They frequently include features such as pillows, blankets and roofs which increase comfort and secondary bunk nests for young individuals helping to give them further protection and comfort as well (MacKinnon 1971; Anderson 1984, 1998; Russon et al. 2007; Meijaard et al. 2011; van Casteren et al. 2012). There are a number of hypotheses suggested to be behind nest building in great apes, the primary ones are improved sleep quality through comfort and stability, improved thermoregulation, avoidance of biting insects and disease vectors and reducing the risk from predators.

Nests offer increased comfort and sleep quality by providing a comfortable platform to sleep in and cushioning through the weaving of small branches and the addition of soft leaves (Goodall 1962; Van Lawick-Goodall 1968; Stewart et al. 2007; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012). Nests also improve comfort through protection from adverse weather conditions such as rain and strong winds (Goodall 1962; Kano 1982; Anderson 1984; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). Being able to relax and rest safely without concern of nest failure due to nest instability allows for improved and longer sleep periods which is why factors that improve nest stability and strength are considered in the comfort and sleep quality hypothesis. Orangutans and other apes are able to increase the safety and stability of their nests by selecting nest sites within taller trees with wider trunks (Ancrenaz et al. 2004; Cheyne et al. 2013). They can also improve nest safety and stability by building their nests in more stable positions closer to the trunk and lower within the crown where wind speeds are lower and the weight of an orangutan produces less strain on the branch (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Samson & Hunt 2012; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Male chimpanzees and orangutan have been reported to nest lower in trees and closer to trunk of trees (Brownlow et al. 2001; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009) and in the case of

gorillas the silverback males produce significantly more ground nests than either females or immature individuals (Yamagiwa 2001; Mehlman & Doran 2002). This is most likely a product apes being sexually dimorphic with males being significantly larger than females and are therefore limited in nest sites due to their increased weight and need for extra strength and stability (Richmond & Jungers 1995).

Sleeping in nests can help to improve thermoregulation by aiding in the reduction of heat loss at night and experiencing lower humidity (Anderson 1984; Fruth & Hohmann 1993; Stewart 2011b). Chimpanzees have been observed to nest higher within trees during the wet season as higher altitudes have lower humidity (Koops et al. 2012a). Avoiding high humidity has benefits for thermoregulation as high humidity in high temperatures reduces the efficiency of heat loss through sweating and evaporation whilst in cooler temperatures high humidity and increase heat loss through convection (Bell & Greene 1984). Arboreal nest also help the nest builder to avoid the wet and damp ground in wetter habitats or during rainy seasons (Remis 1993). Stewart (2011) reported less heat loss during the night when sleeping in an arboreal nest compared to sleeping on the bare ground.

The building of nests has also been posited as a method of avoiding insect-borne pathogens by acting as a physical barrier to vectors such as mosquitoes as well as the use of certain tree species for nesting which contain chemicals which act as repellents to mosquitoes and other biting insects (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b; van Casteren et al. 2012; Samson et al. 2013). Orangutans and chimpanzees have been observed to preferentially select nest sites in tree species known to have mosquito repellent properties (Largo et al. 2009). Furthermore, orangutans have been observed carrying branches and leaves from prior nest sites and trees that have mosquito repellent properties (Russon et al. 2007; Kuze et al. 2011). The daily movement and building of fresh night nests has also been posited as a method of reducing the possibility of infestation by ectoparasites (Mackinnon 1974; Anderson 1998). Empirical testing by Stewart (2011) found that the research was bitten less by mosquitoes and other biting insects when sleeping in arboreal nests as opposed to sleeping on the ground.

Nest building has also been suggested as a way to reduce the risk of predation by removing the risk from ground based predators and camouflaging the animal while they rest (Sugardjito 1983; Anderson 1984, 1998; Fruth & Hohmann 1993; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013). Adult orangutans and other great apes have very few natural predators due to their large body size, but they are still at risk of predation from a small number of species including large pythons (*Python reticulatus*), Sunda clouded leopards (*Neofelis diardi*) and Sumatran tigers (*Panthera tigris sumatrae*) (Mackinnon 1974; Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito 1983; van Schaik & van Hooff 1996). The presence of tigers in Sumatra is the most widely accepted theory as to why ground nesting is almost completely unheard of in Sumatra compared to Borneo, as compared to the predators in Borneo, tigers are more than capable of preying upon orangutans with adult orangutans being in the lower part of the preferred prey size of tigers (60-250kg) (Markham & Groves 1990; Hayward et al. 2012a; Ashbury et al. 2015). With the presence of tigers in Sumatra, it should also be expected that orangutans should be altering their nest sites to reduce the threat from nocturnal predators.

Stewart & Pruetz (2013) in their study stated that studying nest positions is the only way to control for cross-site differences in correlate such as nest height and tree height. This is why in this Chapter we are building on the findings of Chapter 2 which found that there was some support for the predation avoidance hypothesis over comfort and nest stability and thermoregulation. Both Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) and Prasetyo et al. (2012) found that young orangutans built their nests higher in the canopy and in more peripheral positions whilst adults and in particular flanged males built their nests lower in the crown in more stable positions closer to the trunk. This was suggested to be both an adaptation for comfort and stability as well as an anti-predatory adaptation (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009) as large adult orangutans are generally too large to be predated on by clouded leopards but because of their extra weight are more susceptible to nest failure should they build a nest in a more peripheral position. Whereas juvenile orangutans are more susceptible to predation as they fall within the preferred prey size category and clouded leopards have been recorded predating on proboscis monkeys (Nasalis *larvatus*) which are comparable in size to juvenile orangutans (Wilting et al. 2006; Matsuda et al. 2008) and clouded leopards have been reported to have predated on rehabilitant orangutans in Sumatra (Rijksen 1978). Chimpanzees similarly have been observed to build nests higher in areas with greater predator pressures (Baldwin et al. 1981; Pruetz et al. 2008) as building nests higher in the canopy may increase the difficulty for a predator to reach them and provide more time for the ape to escape during attack even from a predatory species adept at climbing (Koops et al. 2012). Nesting in more peripheral positions however requires that either body size and weight are lower or that the individual builds the nests in a larger tree with greater biomechanical strength that can support their weight (Horn 1971; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Therefore, the structural characteristics of the tree could have a significant influence upon nest positioning.

Nest height is generally considered to be linked to the height of the tree that the nest was built within and mean nest heights vary across field sites due to the differing forest structures and canopy heights (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Badji et al. 2017). However, the height of the nest within the crown can differ depending upon a number of factors. In their studies from Borneo both Ancrenaz et al. (2004) and Cheyne et al. (2013) found that nests were more frequently built in the upper crown of the trees they were built in, however Cheyne et al. (2013) concluded that nest site selection was not due to predator avoidance in their study but as preference for safer and more stable nest sites as extremely tall trees were not selected for in their study. Nesting higher in the canopy has also been suggested to offer improved comfort by reduced risk from airborne parasites such as mosquitoes (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart 2011b) however this was not supported by Koops et al. (2012a) with mosquito densities not differing with height or nest densities, though this may have been due to site differences and study design. As Koops et al. (2012a) had significant difficulties in capturing mosquitoes and other vectors and we lacked the equipment and expertise for identifying such species we did not further pursue this hypothesis. Nest height has also been suggested to offer improved comfort through lower humidity which would aid in thermoregulation (Koops et al. 2012a; Samson & Hunt 2012). However higher nests also have the drawback of experiencing increased wind speeds which can cause sway increasing sleep disturbance (Samson & Hunt 2012) and in high winds potentially force the nest builder to abandon the nest in favour of a lower nest or even ground nesting (Tutin et al. 1995). This could suggest that nesting above the canopy should be avoided due to this increased exposure. However, chimpanzees in Assirik have been observed to preferentially build their nests in open positions at the top of tree crowns as this helps to reduce dripping from overhead vegetation from overnight rain and also gives them access to the early morning sun to help warm and dry their bodies (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson 2000). Increased nest height also offer the simplest method of reducing the risk of predation by both reducing access to the nest through the increased distance from the ground and reducing the possibility of being seen by a predator (Sugardjito 1983; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Stewart & Pruetz 2013).

Whilst differences in the proportional use of nest positions could be due to differences in body size and sex this still does not provide an explanation for all nest positions and why some nests are built at the top of the main stem (Position 3) and others at the ends of branches (Position 2) as both offer protection from predators. Therefore, there must be another explanatory reason for why certain positions are chosen over others other than anti-predation. It has been suggested that the different nest positions could also be product of the architecture of the tree that the nest is built within (Prasetyo et al. 2009) and that along with predator avoidance a nest must also be safe and stable as was found in the previous chapter in regards to nest site selection (Cheyne et al. 2013). One of the aims of this study is to understand which forest structure parameters influence nest position and to test whether these important parameters differ with site and differing forest structures.

Though the majority of nest positions and nest height can be linked to either environmental or sex and body size differences, there are some nest positions which have been suggested to differ due to cultural differences and forest structure differences. Position 4 nests (Fig 1.3) also known as tree tied nests are those where more than one tree is used for building the frame of the nest, this can either be through the tying together of branches or using the tops of smaller trees and bending and locking them together to form a stable platform (Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Orangutan Network 2015). In most forests Position 4 nests are rarely found whilst the other three nest positions are the most common and are use in relatively similar proportions despite differences in canopy structures and frequencies of types of tree architecture such as dryland forest of Ketambe and swamp forest of Suaq Balimbing (both of which are in Sumatra) (Prasetyo et al. 2009). However, Position 4 nests are the most common nest positions in the peat swamps of Central Kalimantan at Sabangau and Tuanan (Prasetyo et al. 2010). It

has been suggested that this may be due to the paucity of suitable larger nest trees at these field sites due to logging though it could also be due to differences in geography and populations with a preference for this nest position due to cultural preferences (Prasetyo et al. 2010). There is the potential that Position 4 nests could have arisen through mate guarding behaviour with males building nests below those of females in oestrus as suggested for chimpanzees in Nimba by Koops et al. (2007). However this theory was later contested by genetic analysis from the same field site which found that the majority of these lower nests were either built by the same individual or other maternally related males (Koops et al. 2012b). Though mate guarding is a behaviour known in orangutans with flanged males travelling in a consortship with a female in oestrus where they will travel together and nest in each other's vicinity (Schürmann & van Hooff 1986; Utami-Atmoko et al. 2009a). Due to the difficulty in conducting genetic analysis to determine the sex of the nest builders and the doubt surrounding the mate guarding hypothesis we have not further considered it in our study. Our research sites however offer the perfect opportunity to test the cultural difference and forest structure hypotheses as our field sites are within close proximity to each other and similar lowland forest however, they differ in disturbance levels as Sikundur was selectively logged 40 years ago (Knop et al. 2004; Priatna et al. 2006) and has since been allowed to naturally recover whereas Sei Betung was an illegal palm oil plantation that was cleared and replanted with native species over the last 15 years (Kettle & Koh 2014; Kettle et al. 2014). As such, we will be able to ascertain whether a paucity of large trees influences the building of these nests or if it is a local preference to Bornean orangutans in Tuanan and Sabangau.

These two field sites also offer us the invaluable opportunity to investigate how orangutan nesting is influenced by disturbance and how orangutans adapt to more open environments. This is of particular importance as currently Indonesia is experiencing the second highest rate of deforestation amongst all tropical countries and Sumatra stands out with 70% of its forested area having been converted through intensive forest clearance as of 2010 (Margono et al. 2012, 2014). Some provinces on Sumatra have lost nearly 50% of their forest cover between 2000 and 2012 (Margono et al. 2012; Supriatna et al. 2017). These forests are being cleared for conversion to agriculture and oil palm plantations as well as the extraction of valuable timbers through both clear felling and selective logging (Hall et al. 2003). Selective logging has been found to be result in more homogenous forests with lowered species richness and a more simplified vertical structure (Norris et al. 2010). The removal of larger emergent trees in particular leads to a reduction of continuous canopy and tree density which could possibly affect the availability of good nest sites as taller, larger trees were also preferentially selected for nests in Borneo (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). Reforestation efforts have been suggested as a method for reducing the impact of forest clearance and to restore previously lost forest lands (Parrotta et al. 1997b; Parrotta & Knowles 1999; Goosem & Tucker 2013; Kettle et al. 2014; Kettle & Koh 2014). However, these restorations take time to recover to pre-disturbance forest

structure (Kanowski et al. 2003, 2005, 2006; Catterall et al. 2004; Erskine et al. 2005), during this recovery period it is unknown how orangutans utilise these restoration forests and in particular how their nesting behaviours adapt to these new and changing forest structures.

3.1.1 Hypotheses

- Given the confirmed presence of Sumatran tigers, clouded leopards at Sikundur and Sumatran elephants at both sites, few if any ground nests are expected to be found at either of our field sites.
- Regarding nest height, should thermoregulation be the most important factor we should expect to observe nests built in tall trees with nest heights above the height of the surrounding canopy. Should nest stability and safety be the most important we would expect to find the nests built lower in the canopy where branches are thicker and wind speeds are lower (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Samson & Hunt 2012; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). If predation avoidance is the principal driver, we would expect to see nests built high within the crown but within the level of the canopy as this would allow for easier escape from the nest.
- Nest heights should differ between the sites due to the differing mean tree heights of those forests as found in the previous chapter, though we expect the pattern for determining nest height to be similar across both sites.
- As Sikundur and Sei Betung have vastly different forest structures we would expect to see different proportions of each nest position used at each site. As trees are larger in Sikundur we expect to find a higher proportion of peripheral nest position on later branches (Position 2) used whilst in Sei Betung we expect to find more positions built against the main stem (Position 1 and 3).
- Should predation avoidance be a primary driver for nest placement in Sikundur and Sei Betung
 we would expect to find higher proportions of peripheral nest positions built at both sites;
 Position and Position 3 nests. If nest stability and sleep quality is the principal driver, we would
 expect to find more Position 1 nests at both sites where the nest is built against the main stem.
- With Sei Betung being a more open site and having a lower density of large trees we expect to find a higher proportion of tree tied nests (Position 4) in Sei Betung than Sikundur.
- As Position 2 nests require greater biomechanical strength to support them we should find that these are built in significantly larger trees than any other nest position whilst Position 4 nests should be built in the smallest trees.
- Both nest height and position are expected to be closely linked to tree architecture parameters and that is nest height and position are not determined randomly, tree height is also expected to be one of the most important factors in determining height and position as previous studies

into chimpanzee nesting have found nest height to be closely linked to the tree height (Badji et al. 2017).

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Study Sites

The fieldwork for this study was completed at two geographically close but structurally distinct field sites within the eastern borders of Gunung Leuser National Park and the larger Leuser Ecosystem of North Sumatra. These are Sikundur (also known as Sekundur in some papers) (3°1'N, 98°02'E) and Resort Sei Betung (4°3'N, 98°07'E) which are approximately 9km apart with Sei Betung 9km to the north of Sikundur (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2008; Marshall et al. 2010; Hartini et al. 2017; Szantoi et al. 2017). Sikundur experienced varying levels of selective logging until the late 1970's with some sporadic logging into the 1980's (Knop et al. 2004; Nowak & Singleton 2016), since then it has been allowed to recover naturally and is now classified as an area of diverse mixed dipterocarp lowland forest that also possesses rich alluvial forest along the rivers (de Wilde & Duyfjes 1996; Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2008b). Unlike Sikundur, Sei Betung was almost completely clear felled and stands upon a former illegal oil palm plantation that has been actively restored and reforested through the planting of 500,00 seedlings of 97 indigenous tree species by the NGO OIC (Orangutan Information Centre) (Kettle et al. 2014). Replanting commenced in 2008 with different parts of the site replanted up until 2013 with the west of the site being less thoroughly replanted due to the stands of logged forest which remained there (Wich et al. 2016b). Though the two sites are close geographically they differ drastically in terms of human disturbance and the method and stage of regeneration which provides an invaluable opportunity to compare orangutan nesting behaviours between these two sites. The surveys were undertaken February-August 2015 and March-September 2016.

3.2.2 Data collection

Both nest and vegetation data were sampled using transects. In Sikundur these were 30 500m long transects and in Sei Betung 9 1km long transects. Transects in Sikundur were distributed using a stratified random grid where the first point was placed randomly and then the transects were plotted from this point on North-South bearings with each transect being separated by 300m to the East and West and 150m to the North and South from the next transect. All transects were placed to ensure that none were split by the Besitang river. Due to the disturbance that cutting new transects would bring to the Sei Betung study site, nine pre-existing transects of 1km length were used, these were 150m apart to the east and west and ran parallel to each other on a north-west south-east bearing (Fig

4.2.). The length and placement of the transects was designed to prevent an overlap of observations and with the intention of optimizing the trade-off between having a large number of independent samples and ensuring that transects were long enough to minimise the potential biases due to spatial heterogeneity from such things as the clumping of orangutan nests or variation in habitat and structure along the transect (Johnson et al. 2005). Transects were cut along these lines irrespective of topography or vegetation to ensure that they adhered to the line-transect method assumption that all transects be placed randomly in respect to terrain and were able to cover a representative sample of both field sites (Buckland et al. 2001; Mathewson et al. 2008). All transects were walked and used by the lead author with deviations from the transect due to obstacles kept as small a deviation as possible.



Figure 3-1 Locations of Sikundur and Sei Betung in North Sumatra. Both sites lie within Gunung Leuser National Park but are close to the edge and experience frequent encroachment and disturbance from local villagers

3.2.3 Nest transects

Nest transects were conducted in teams which consisted of the author and 1-2 well trained local field assistants from SOCP in Sikundur and OIC in Sei Betung. Transects were walked at a slow pace of no more than 1km/h to ensure the greatest opportunity for nest detection. Upon detection, the perpendicular distance from the transect to the nest (measured directly beneath it) was recorded in metres along with bearing to the transect in degrees. Nest heights were recorded using a Nikon ProForestry laser rangefinder to ensure accuracy, with the measurement being taken to the base of the nest and measured to the nearest 0.2m.

For every nest tree a number of tree architecture variables were measured and recorded which included; tree height, first bole height (FBH), diameter at breast height (DBH), crown radius to the north, south, east and west, crown shape and connectivity. Tree height was measured using the laser rangefinder and again measured to the nearest 0.1m, tree height was determined by measuring the highest visible leaf on the tree. FBH was measured at the point that the lowest bough or branch joined the main stem or trunk of the tree using either the laser rangefinder or if low enough a tape measure was used. Using tree height and FBH the crown size was calculated using the formula:

Crown size (cs) = Tree height(TH) - First branch height(FBH)

Using nest height and tree height we were able to calculated the amount of overhead canopy above the nest:

DBH was measured using a tape measure at chest height (1.4m) around the trunk of the tree to the nearest centimetre. The radius of the crown was measured in meters from the trunk of the tree to the edge of the crown to the North, East, South and West, these were recorded as the crown radius can be quite variable so this should eliminate any potential over or under estimates. Using these crown radius measurements, the crown area was calculated using:

$$Crown \ area = \sum \frac{\pi N r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi S r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi W r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi E r^2}{4}$$

Nr= North radius

Sr= South radius

Wr= West radius

Er= East radius

Crown shapes were classified as either spheroid, elongated spheroid, cone, upside-down cone, umbrella, bent over, broken or palms (Table 4.1).

Using the crown shapes along with the crown radii and crown size measurements we are then able to calculate the crown volume:

Crown volume:

 $NSr(North-South radius) = \frac{Nr+Sr}{2}$

EWr (East – West radius) = $\frac{Er+Wr}{2}$

CSr (Crown Size radius) = $\frac{CS}{2}$

Cone and upside-down cone crown volume:

$$V = \sum \frac{\pi N S r^2 \frac{CS}{3}}{2} + \frac{\pi E W r^2 \frac{CS}{3}}{2}$$

Spheroid, elongated spheroid and bent over crowns:

$$V = \frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrCSr$$

Umbrella shape crowns:

$$V = \frac{\frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrCSr}{2}$$

Table 3-1 Definitions of crown shapes adapted from (Coder 2000; Manduell et al. 2012)

CROWN SHAPE	DEFINITION
SPHEROID	Sphere shaped/ lollipop shape
ELONGATED SPHEROID	Crown with a height greater than its width and rounded ends
CONE	Cone shaped crown with a wide base that tapers to the top
UPSIDE-DOWN CONE	Crown which dove tails from the first branches, inverse of the cone (also known as inverse tripod)
UMBRELLA	Similar to spheroid or cone but lowest branches tips hang further down than the base of the branch
BENT-OVER	Tree with trunk or crown growing significantly in one direction, typified by lack of crown in one direction

BROKEN	Tree where the crown has broken off leaving either a splintered top or new growth if still alive
PALM	If the tree is a palm species there is no crown but series of large palm leaves

Crown connectivity was estimated visually by estimating the proportion of the crown in contact or enclosed by neighbouring crowns using a four point scale; 0-25%, 26-50%, 51-75% and 76-100%, the inverse of this gives the exposure of the crown (Whitten 1982; Manduell et al. 2011; Cheyne et al. 2013).

Observed nests were placed into age classes by the lead author and if there were uncertainties a consensus would be reached with the trained field assistants; these classes were reflective of the decay rate. The classes were; 1- fresh leaves, still green; 2- mix of green and brown leaves; 3- all leaves turned brown and some holes forming; 4- all leaves gone and nest falling apart (van Schaik et al. 1995; Hashimoto 1995; Russon et al. 2001; Felton et al. 2003; Johnson et al. 2005; Spehar et al. 2010). Nest position was recorded following the standard methodology set out by the University of Zurich's Department of Anthropology (Orangutan Network 2015) and used in Prasetyo et al. 2012; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009. These positions are defined as follows; Position 1- at the base of the branch and close to the main stem; Position 2- at the end of a branch; Position 3- top of the tree crown; Position 4- using the branches of two different trees weaved together (there were no Position 0 recorded at either site; Position 0 are nests that are found on the ground) (Fig 1.3).

All nest trees species were identified by trained field assistants. All trees within a 5m radius of the nest tree were recorded as these were used to provide a control against the nest tree to determine whether nests were built within the surrounding canopy or above or below it. For each of these trees the distance to the nest tree, direction with a compass, DBH, first bole height, tree height, crown shape, connectivity and species were recorded. All nests were recorded with GPS points using a Garmin GPSmap 60Cx.

3.2.4 Data analysis

A generalised log linear model with a Gamma distribution was ran using R (R Core Team 2017) and the Ime4 (Bates et al. 2015), Matrix (Bates & Maechler 2017) and car (Fox & Weisberg 2011) packages to understand the relationship between nest height and the structure of the nest tree and the height of the canopy surrounding the nest trees. All model iterations were run including an intercept only model using the dredge function of the MuMIn package (Barton 2018). The models were ranked by their AICc (corrected Akaike Information Criterion) scores which compensates for small sample sizes. A subset of these models was then extracted using the maximum delta ∆AICc values (which is the difference between the AICc of each model from the best performing model) that are <2. This threshold was used as models with AICc values <2 all have substantial support and perform equally well (Burnham et al. 2002; Burnham & Anderson 2004). From this subset of best performing models' parameter estimates were averaged and parameters were weighted by the proportion of models that the parameter was present in. These weights allow for the relative importance of each parameter to be assessed and understand which of the tree structure characteristics have the greatest influence upon nest height. The graphical outputs of these models were produced using the sjlabelled (Lüdecke 2018a), sjPlot (Lüdecke 2018b), sjmisc (Lüdecke 2018c), dplyr (Wickham et al. 2017) ggplot2 (Wickham 2009), texreg (Leifeld 2013) and snakecase (Grosser 2018) packages.

To investigate nest position, a PCA (Principal Component Analysis) was used to determine which variables were important in determining nest position and simplify the model if any variables were not significant or not present in any of the best principal components (Hotelling 1933). To select the most important principal components, two criteria were considered; the Kaiser contribution criterion (Yeomans & Golder 1982) and the interpretability criterion of Hatcher and Stepanski (Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014), in addition to the percent of variance that each of the principal components explained. Using the Kaiser criterion an important principal component should explain at least one original variable and have a corresponding eigenvalue >1. The interpretability criterion however, states that an important principal component is a linear combination of original variables which all represent the same latent concept (Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014). Following what Echeverry-Galvis et al. (2014) suggested, an original variable was determined to be influential or important if its weight in the principal component was >0.3. An original variable is defined as a variable that only appears once and is included in the first instance that it has a weight >0.3. The PCA biplot allows for the effects of each of the variables that influences each of the nest positions to be visualised and determined. PCA analysis was performed using the ggbiplot (Vu 2011) and factoextra packages (Kassambara & Mundt 2017). Following this a multinomial logistic regression was run for nest position against the tree architecture variables and tree height and FBH of the surrounding canopy as this allowed for the differences between each nest position to be compared against a reference sample which was selected as position 1 nests. This analysis was ran using the nnet (Venables & Ripley 2002) and AICcmodavg (Mazerolle 2017) packages. As with nest height all model iterations were ran and the best performing models were selected based upon AICc scores <2. The models were model averaged and the parameters were weighted by the proportion of models which they were present in to give relative importance (RI) scores to determine their influence on the model using the MuMIn package in R (Barton 2018). The figures for this were produced using the ggplot2 (Wickham 2009), snakecase (Grosser 2018), plyr

(Wickham 2011), sjlabelled (Lüdecke 2018a), sjPlot (Lüdecke 2018b) and sjmisc (Lüdecke 2018c) packages.

3.3 Results

A total of 199 nests were found and recorded across both sites with 153 found in Sikundur and 45 in Sei Betung. 1200 trees were measured on vegetation transects in Sikundur and 720 in Sei Betung, 62 trees were recorded within 5m of nest trees in Sei Betung and 598 were recorded and measured in Sikundur. However, trees with broken crowns and palms were removed from the comparisons as they were significant outlier's and heavily affected the interactions as no nests were recorded in either crown shape and both were extremely rare and heavily skewed analyses for crown volume, crown size and crown area.

3.3.1 Nest height

Nest heights were found to differ significantly between Sikundur and Sei Betung (Welch's t_{113} = -9.63, P= <0.001) with mean nest height significantly higher in Sikundur (14.53m±4.71m) than Sei Betung (8.85m±3.02m). Crown volume, surrounding FBH and FBH of nest tree were all removed from the analysis due to overdispersion with all having VIF scores >4 suggesting multicollinearity. When field site was tested as a random effect within a mixed effects model, no significant effect was found upon the model with no significant difference found in AIC scores when using a Likelihood-ratio test (X²_{df1}=1.961, P=0.161). Therefore, the simpler generalised linear model was used for the further analysis. Model selection presented 8 candidate models with Δ AICc scores <2 (Table 4.2). From these candidate models four variables were found to be present in every model therefore having relative importance's (RI's) of 1. These highly important variables were connectivity, crown shape, overhead canopy and the nest tree height. Crown area was also a highly important variable with a RI of 0.64 whereas the surrounding tree height only had an RI of 0.44 whilst crown size and DBH both had RI's <0.3.

Model	Adj R^2	df	logLik	AICc	delta	weight
Nest height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height	0.9522	12	-295.37	616.43	0	0.17
Nest height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown area+Surrounding tree height	0.9534	14	-293.101	616.5	0.06	0.17
Nest height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown area	0.9528	13	-294.27	616.52	0.09	0.16
Nest height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+ Surrounding tree height	0.9526	13	-294.55	617.07	0.64	0.12
Nest Height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown area+Crown size	0.953	14	-293.75	617.79	1.36	0.09
Nest Height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown area+Crown size+Surrounding tree height	0.9536	15	-292.67	617.97	1.54	0.08
Nest Height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+ Crown area+Surrounding tree height+DBH	0.9535	15	-292.76	618.17	1.73	0.07
Nest Height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown area+DBH	0.9529	14	-293.95	618.2	1.76	0.07
Nest height~Connectivity+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+Crown size	0.9523	13	-295.23	618.43	2.00	0.06
Nest height~Connectivty+Crown shape+Overhead canopy+Tree height+ Crown area+Crown size+Surrounding tree height+DBH (Full model)	0.9539	19	-292.302	619.6	3.18	0.028
Null model	0	2	-591.533	1187.1	570.7	0

Table 3-2 Top performing models of nest height based on Δ AICc scores <2 and the full model containing all variables and null model

Table 3-3 Model averaged parameters of the top performing models for nest height determined by Δ AlCc scores <2

Parameters	Estimate	Std Error	Adj SE	Z value	Pr(> z)	RI	2.5% Cl	97.5% CI
Intercept	1.259	0.061	0.061	20.522	<0.001	-	1.138	1.379
Connectivity 25-50%	0.07	0.038	0.038	2.058	0.039	1	0.004	0.153
Connectivity 50-75%	0.125	0.036	0.037	3.433	<0.001		0.0538	0.197
Connectivity 75-100%	0.122	0.036	0.036	3.383	<0.001		0.0514	0.193
Crown shape C	0.176	0.047	0.048	3.699	<0.001	1	0.083	0.269
Crown shape ES	0.115	0.048	0.049	2.367	0.018		0.02	0.210
Crown shape S	0.182	0.045	0.046	3.975	<0.001		0.092	0.271
Crown shape UC	0.124	0.047	0.047	2.635	0.008		0.032	0.216
Crown shape UM	0.108	0.055	0.055	1.972	0.049		0.0007	0.216
Overhead canopy	-0.072	0.003	0.003	23.238	<0.001	1	-0.078	-0.066
Tree height	0.073	0.002	0.002	41.911	<0.001	1	0.069	0.076
Crown area	0.0002	0.0002	0.0002	0.939	0.348	0.64	< 0.001	0.0007
Surrounding tree height	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.654	0.513	0.44	-0.0008	0.006
Crown size	-0.0004	0.0015	0.002	0.327	0.744	0.23	-0.007	0.0028
DBH	-0.0001	0.0004	0.0004	0.246	0.806	0.14	-0.002	0.001



30

υм

15

Figure 3-2 Marginal effects plots of the most influential variables found through multi-model inference and how they influence Sumatran orangutan nest height A- Tree height, B- Overhead canopy, C- DBH, D- Crown area, E- Connectivity, F-Crown shape, G-Surrounding tree height, H-Crown size *Crown shape classes: BO= Bent-over, C= Cone, ES= Elongated Spheroid, S= Spheroid, UC= Upside-down cone, UM= Umbrella

The marginal effects plots in Fig 3.3 displays that nest height is strongly positively associated with tree height and show strong negative association with overhead canopy suggesting that nests are generally built in the upper canopy. Nest height is also observed to be negatively associated with both DBH and crown size, suggesting that nests are built higher in trees with smaller crowns and lower DBH. Crown area was positively associated with nest height suggesting that nests are built higher in wider crowns. A weaker positive relationship between surrounding tree height and nest height was also found. Increasing connectivity is strongly associated with increasing nest height with nests in trees with connectivity >50%. Nests were built highest in spheroid and cone shaped trees with bent-over trees having significantly lower nest heights than any other crown shape. From slope and effects of each parameter it is evident that changes in tree height, overhead canopy connectivity and crown shape have the greatest influence upon nest height.

Further in-depth comparisons of the effect of connectivity upon nest heights when compared to surrounding trees further agrees with what was identified by the marginal effects of the model revealing that for nest trees with connectivity >25% and <75% nest heights are found within the upper canopy and close to the mean height of the surrounding trees with no significant differences detected (25-50% Nest height vs Surrounding tree height t $_{58}$ = -0.47, P= 0.64, 50-75% Nest height vs Surrounding tree height t $_{139}$ = -0.14, P= 0.89). Whereas in trees with connectivity <25% and >75% nest heights were found to be significantly lower than the surrounding tree heights (<25% Nest height vs Surrounding tree height t $_7$ = -2.63, P= 0.03, >75% Nest height vs Surrounding tree height t $_{164}$ = -2.24, P= 0.03) and in the case of <25% connectivity the nests were also lower than the surrounding FBH as well (see Supplementary materials Fig.S8).

Crown shapes also agree further with what was found in the model and marginal effects of Fig 3.4. Nests built in elongated spheroid and umbrella shaped crowns were all found to be significantly lower than the height of surrounding trees (ES $t_{31} = -2.36$, P= 0.02, UM $t_{11} = -3.68$, P= 0.004). Nests within bent over crowns were close to being significantly different and were much lower than the surrounding tree heights but due to the small sample size significance was not found (BO $t_{4} = -2.66$, P=0.056) (see Supplementary materials Fig S8.). There was no significant difference between the height of nests built within cone, spheroid and upside-down cone shape crowns and the surrounding tree heights (C t_{52} = - 1.01, P= 0.32, S t_{212} = -0.15, P= 0.88, UM t_{62} = -1.29, P= 0.2), suggesting that these are built within the upper canopy and are also within the upper canopy of the nest trees (see Supplementary materials Fig S8.). Higher proportions of nests within cone shaped crowns were found in trees with connectivity <25% than any for trees with any other level of connectivity. Spheroid crowns were found in roughly similar proportions no matter the connectivity (see Supplementary materials Fig. S9).

3.3.2 Nest position

No position 0 nests were recorded at either site, whilst position 4 nests were the rarest of those found accounting for 8.6% of all nests with the other three positions used in roughly equal proportions in Sikundur (Fig. 3.5). In Sei Betung position 4 nests were even rarer than in Sikundur, contributing only 2.22% of all nests built at the site. Position 1 nests were also far less common in Sei Betung than Sikundur, decreasing from 31.4% of nests in Sikundur to only 20% of nests in Sei Betung. Conversely Position 2 and Position 3 nests were far more common in Sei Betung contributing 37.8% and 40% respectively compared to 28.1% and 30.1% in Sikundur. Therefore, we can see that site differences have produced differences in the proportions of nest positions used. Further observation of the distributions of the parameters in Figure 4.6 further display the differences between the nest positions. Position 4 nests are both built lower and in smaller trees than all other nest positions which are relatively similar in terms of nest and tree height. Position 2 nests have the largest DBH and largest crowns in terms of area, volume and size of all the nest positions, whilst Positions 1 and 3 are very similar in respect to these parameters whilst Position 4 are again the smallest. The overhead canopy and canopy below measurements provide information about both a nests positions within a crown but also the size of crown. Position 4 nests have the smallest numbers for both as they are built in the smallest crowns and conversely Position 2 have the highest amount of canopy above and second highest amount of canopy below due to these nests being built around the mid-point of trees with very large crowns. Position 1 nests as expected were found to be built lower in the crown and Position 3 nests in the upper crown with very little overhead canopy. All positions appear to have similar surrounding tree heights though so surrounding crown height may not have much of an impact upon nest position.



Figure 3-3 Proportion of each nest position in Sikundur and Sei Betung



Figure 3-4 Boxplots of the differences between nest positions with nest data pooled from both Sikundur and Sei Betung: A- Nest height, B- Tree height, C- DBH, D- Crown area, E- Crown volume, F- Crown size, G- Overhead canopy, H- Canopy below nest and I- Surrounding tree height

To better understand, quantify and visualise how these differences in tree architecture differentiate nest positions a PCA analysis was run and the PCA will help us to identify variables with high overlap which can then be removed to assist later modelling. The scree plot in Figure 4.7 shows a marked decrease in the variance between the top principal components. Using Kaiser's criterion and the interpretability criterion both agreed that from the ten principal components only the first three were of significant interest. This was determined due to the first three PC's being the only components to have eigenvalues >1 (PC1- 4.84, PC2- 1.99, PC3- 1.14) fulfilling the requirements of the Kaiser criterion and these PC's were the only ones to contain unique variables with loadings >0.3 as all other PC's contained variables which were already significant in one of the first three PC's. This analysis suggests that all variables play some determinant role in nest position as none were excluded from the important principal components.

Component	Variable	Coefficient
1	Crown volume	-0.407
	Tree height	-0.397
	Crown size	-0.379
	DBH	-0.365
	Nest height	-0.357
	Crown area	-0.322
2	Surrounding Tree Height	0.634
	Surrounding Tree FBH	0.632
3	Overhead canopy	0.811
	Canopy below	-0.359

Table 3-4 Selected observed variables and corresponding coefficients based on interpretability and Kaiser criterion for PCA analyses Sumatran orangutan nest position

The first PC accounted for 48.39% of the total variance, PC2 accounted for 19.86% and PC3 accounted for 11.42%, therefore in total these three principal components accounted for 79.67% of the total variance. In the biplot of the interaction of PC1 and PC2 (Fig 3.6) crown size and crown volume were found to show considerable overlap as did tree height, nest height and overhead canopy and surrounding tree height and surround FBH suggesting that in the interaction between these principal components they have similar influence. Due to this significant overlap and VIF scores from analysis in previous chapters suggesting overdispersion, nest height, crown volume and surrounding FBH were removed from the analysis and a further biplot was produced (Fig 3.7). The removal of these variables reduced the number of important principal components from 3 to 2 with overhead canopy moving into PC1 and surrounding tree height being the sole parameter in PC2. The new simplified important principal components of PC1 and PC2 accounted for a combined 69% of the total variance which is a small improvement on the previous analysis. The biplot in Figure 8 shows the resulting biplot from this reduction in parameters. Little has changed between this and the more complex biplot in Fig 3.8 showing that the removal of the overlapping variables has had little influence upon the analysis.



Figure 3-5 Scree plot of PCA of nest position showing corresponding variance of components. The cut off for the Kaiser criterion variance is 1 so three principal components are of significant interest in this analysis



Figure 3-6 PCA biplot of the interaction of PC1 and PC2 for nest positions. Crown size and crown volume show considerable overlap as do Tree height, Nest height and Overhead canopy suggesting that in the interaction between these principal components they have similar influence.



Figure 3-7 PCA biplot of the interaction of PC1 and PC2 for nest positions for the simplified data set following the removal of overlapping variables from initial analysis as can be seen in Fig S5.

The biplot in Figure 3.7 shows that Position 4 nests are built in trees surrounded by taller canopies compared to Position 2 and 3 which generally have lower surrounding canopies and are in built in significantly smaller trees and smaller crowns than all other nest positions. Figure 3.7 also suggests that Position 4 nests are built lower in the canopy of the tree that they were built in as position 4 nests are more positively linked with increased overhead canopy and conversely a lower amount of canopy below them. This is also true for Position 1 nests which is expected as these are built at the base of the branch near to the trunk and lower in the tree by definition. Position 2 nests have the largest crowns, DBH and crown area as was previously evidenced in Figure 3.7, whilst Position 3 nests are least associated with overhead canopy as to be expected by their definition of being built at the top of the main stem.

Following the PCA analysis a multinomial logistic regression was run to determine which parameters were the most influential upon nest positions, it also allowed us to test whether crown shape or connectivity were influential as they had been found to for nest height. The multinomial logistic regression presented two candidate models with Δ AICc scores <2 out of 256 potential models. Both of these candidate models contained crown area and overhead canopy, with the top performing model also containing the added effect of crown size. Model averaging showed that crown area and overhead canopy are the two most important variables when determining nest position with both having RI's of 1 and crown size having an RI of 0.52. DBH, tree height, connectivity, crown shape and surrounding tree height were all found to have no significant influence on determining nest position. Position 1 nests were used as the reference group for the model with all other positions tested against this reference group. The model averaged parameter estimates show that when differentiating between Position 1 and Position 2 the most significant variable is crown area with a P value <0.001. By observing both the parameter estimates in Table 3.7 and the log odds in Figure 3.8, it is evident that the trees which Position 2 nests are built in have significantly greater crown area and greater crown size than those position 1 nests are built in. Position 2 nests however, also have less overhead canopy than Position 1 nests and are therefore built higher within the crown than Position 1 nests. Position 3 nest trees also have greater crown area and crown size than position 1 nests but have significantly less overhead canopy which suggests as expected that position 3 nests are built higher in the canopy than Position 1 nests. Position 4 nests display the opposite of this trend having significantly smaller crown areas and crown sizes than the trees that nest Position 1 are built in but have significantly more canopy overhead suggesting that in these smaller trees, nests are built lower down in the canopy than those nest positions in trees with deeper and wider crowns.

Table 3-5 Top performing models for nest position using a multinomial logistic regression with candidate models identified by Δ AICc scores <2, as can be seen by the extremely low weight and high Δ AICc scores the full model and null model both performed poorly

Model	df	logLik	AICc	∆AICc	weight
Nest position~Crown area+Overhead canopy+Crown size	12	- 217.72	461.13	0	0.32
Nest position~Crown area+Overhead canopy	9	- 221.17	461.29	0.16	0.29
Nest position~Crown area+Overhead canopy+Crown size+DBH+Tree height +Surrounding tree height+Crown shape+Connectivty(Full model)	51	- 196.01	509.25	48.12	<0.001
Null model	3	- 256.63	519.38	58.25	<0.001

Table 3-6 Model averaged parameter estimates of the top performing models of the multinomial logistic regression of nest position. Crown area and overhead canopy were the most influential parameters in determining nest position.

Nest	Parameters	Estimate	Std Error	Z value	Pr(> z)	RI	2.5% CI	97.5% Cl
position								
2	Intercept	-0.885	0.446	1.986	0.047	-	-1.758	-0.011
2	Crown area	0.021	0.006	3.435	<0.001	1	0.009	0.033
2	Crown size	0.028	0.056	0.506	0.613	0.52	-0.079	0.188
2	Overhead canopy	-0.131	0.096	1.363	0.173	1	-0.319	0.057
3	Intercept	0.649	0.505	1.286	0.199	-	-0.34	1.639
3	Crown area	0.013	0.007	1.785	0.074	1	-0.001	0.026
3	Crown size	0.084	0.098	0.861	0.389	0.52	0.012	0.31
3	Overhead canopy	-0.687	0.16	4.297	<0.001	1	-1.001	-0.374
4	Intercept	0.553	0.659	0.84	0.401	-	-0.738	1.844
4	Crown area	-0.044	0.02	0.22	0.026	1	-0.083	-0.005
4	Crown size	-0.065	0.119	0.55	0.582	0.52	-0.399	0.148
4	Overhead canopy	0.033	0.161	0.204	0.838	1	-0.283	0.349



Figure 3-8 Forest plot of the log odds of the variables from the top performing models and how they differ for each nest position compared against position 1

3.4 Discussion

In this study we set out to further understand how when building a nest, nest height and nest position are influenced by the structural characteristics of the nest tree and how this may differ with changes in forest structure. Our aims were also to understand what may have been the principal driver determining selection for nest height and nest positions whether it be improved nest stability and comfort, thermoregulation or predator avoidance.

3.4.1 Nest height

No ground nests (Position 0) nests were found at either field site as had been expected. Tigers have been recorded in the vicinity of our field sites (Luskin et al. 2017) and camera traps within Sikundur recorded both tigers and clouded leopards so we know that there is a potential predation pressure in Sikundur and possibly Seprasetyo(Prasetyo et al. 2009; Badji et al. 2017)i Betung (Abernethy et al. 2016). Elephants and their signs were encountered a number of times at both Sikundur and Sei Betung as well as images of them on camera traps, so there is also the potential that the presence of elephants may also influence nest patterns in orangutans as has been observed with gorillas (Tutin et al. 1995; Anderson 1998).

Site differences were found with nests heights, supporting our hypotheses. As expected, nests in Sikundur being built significantly higher than those in Sei Betung. Differences in nest height were expected as nest height is known to be correlated with tree height (Prasetyo et al. 2009; Badji et al. 2017) and in Chapter 2 we showed that the forest structure differed significantly between both sites, with Sikundur having significantly taller mean tree height. When modelling the effect of the tree architecture variables field site was found to have no significant effect upon the interaction, as such suggesting that the variables which influence nest height carry across sites and differences in forest structure. Tree height, overhead canopy, crown shape and connectivity were the variables found to have the greatest influence upon nest height being present in all top performing models and RI values of 1. Model averaging also suggested that crown size, crown area, DBH and the height of the surrounding trees were also influential upon determining nest height. The results of these models also suggest that the determination of nest height is more complex than has previously been suggested (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Cheyne et al. 2013; Badji et al. 2017). Rather than being simply a function of tree height as has been suggested in previous literature (Badji et al. 2017).

The models showed a strong association between nest height and tree height however we also see that surrounding tree height also increases with nest height and when looking at both Figures S8 and S9 we find no instance in which nests are built above the level of the surrounding canopy though nests are built in significantly taller trees than the average. By avoiding nesting in extremely tall trees as noted in Chapter 2 and not nesting above the canopy this could be seen as rejecting the thermoregulation hypothesis, however nesting within the upper canopy would still provide a reduction in humidity (Koops et al. 2012a; Samson & Hunt 2012). By nesting within the height of the surrounding canopy though nests are offered greater protection from wind and rain as well as from strong sunlight which could offer a more comfortable nest site and with reduced wind sway also a safer and more stable nest site. Nesting lower in the canopy would have offered greater stability and reduction in wind sway though (Samson & Hunt 2012), therefore nesting within the upper canopy must be an anti-predatory response. Nesting within the upper canopy potentially offers a "goldilocks height" whereby the nest is not too high that it is exposed to strong winds which may dislodge the nest, but it is not to low that it experiences higher humidity and offers easy access to ground predators. Nesting within the upper canopy also offer a greater potential to escape from the nest should a predator discover its location as by nesting within the canopy the nest has close access to other branches and trees and escape routes (Baldwin et al. 1981; Anderson et al. 1983).

Unsurprisingly, nest height was also found to be strongly linked with increased crown connectivity. Nests built in trees with low connectivity were found to both built below the height of surrounding trees but also in much smaller trees. This could be a method of reducing the impact of the wind and rain which would be significantly more intense due to the lack of surrounding trees to act as windbreaks. However, this could also be a product of availability as trees which are less connected may be in more open areas and as such have less ned to compete for light and thus less need to grow tall compared to growing a wider crown to maximise light capture (Yoda 1974; Hartshorn 1978; Clark & Clark 1992; Ackerly 1996; Sterck & Bongers 2001). Conversely, within more connected trees, nests were found to be built higher in the crown of the nest tree. This could be due to trees with higher connectivity scores being found in denser stands of forest and as such the surrounding trees provide added shelter by acting as windbreaks as well as providing further shade and protection from rain. The reduction in the impact of the wind through the shelter provided by the surrounding trees reduces branch sway and the chance of branch failure which is one of the major dangers of nesting higher within the tree, the removal of this risk allows for nests to be built higher within the crown and in positions further from predators (Peltola 1996; Moore & Maguire 2004; Samson & Hunt 2012)

Unlike chimpanzees in the open habitat of Assirik, nests in Sei Betung were not built on the top of the crown with no overhead branches (Baldwin et al. 1981; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013; Hunt & Mcgrew 2014). Instead, orangutan nests in Sei Betung as in Sikundur tended to be built within the upper canopy as this still provides the nest with shade and protection from wind, rain and overhead sunlight whilst still raising the nest high from the ground and potential predators (Anderson 1984, 1998; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013). Knowing that orangutans in both open habitats such as Sei Betung and closed habitats such as Sikundur suggests that the use of drones to survey orangutan densities at both sites is a viable option. An assessment of such methods has been conducted at Sei Betung by Wich et al. (2016) who found that the drone was able to find all but one of the nests identified on through
ground transects. However Wich et al. (2016) had reservations the use of drones as they produced lower estimates per transect due to the higher number of transects that they completed and as such would have a serious effect upon density estimates. There was also concern about the initial purchasing cost of drone equipment, training required to use one and the methods for identifying nests from the still photos from the drone, though an early pilot by Chen et al. (2014) showed promising results of a user friendly method for identifying orangutan nests from such drone data. Should the technology improve and become cheaper then there is the potential for it to be extremely useful in surveying orangutan densities within habitats such as Sikundur and Sei Betung.

Crown shape plays a significant part in determining nest height. Nests built within upside-down cone shaped crowns along with cone and spheroid shaped crowns were all found to be built within the upper canopy of the nest trees and near to the top of the surrounding tree heights (Fig S9). These are all relatively stable crown shapes with their wide crown areas and in the case of upside-down cone crowns are shapes which have been noted as being both relatively easy to form into a nest but also produce particularly stable and safe nests due to their concave shapes (van Casteren et al. 2012; Samson & Hunt 2014). In Chapter 2 we found that the crown shapes were also highly preferred as nest sites and it is likely that some structural aspect which allows nests to also be built high within these trees is why they are preferred. Nests within bent-over crowns were found to be much lower than the surrounding canopy which is likely due to small size of these trees and with the inherent instability of the bent-over shape it is safer to nest lower to avoid the effects of wind and the danger of nesting within the weaker upper branches. Similarly, bent-over trees were also highly avoided as nest sites in Chapter 2 as such, the smaller size and lower nests further suggests that such trees are not preferred or "quality" nest sites.

A similar trend was found for elongated spheroid crowns with nests being built low within the crowns of nest trees. The reasoning behind nesting low within trees with crowns of this shape can potentially be down to two reasons based around the openness of the forest. In more closed sites such as Sikundur where tree densities are high, crowns tend to be narrower due to the decrease in growing space. However, because of the decrease in light availability, the trunks also tend to be longer and first branch height higher in more dense forest stands to increase photosynthetic efficiency and limit wasted energy by avoiding growing foliage that does not receive light (Iwasa et al. 1984; Jung et al. 2011). As such, trees in such dense environments should have higher first branch heights which is a favourable property for predation avoidance and would be particularly beneficial to large males who require more stable positions lower in the crown and closer to the main stem as it would improve their safety from potential predators (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Prasetyo et al. 2012; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013). Nests in umbrella shaped cones were found to have the least overhead canopy suggesting that nests in these trees tend to be built in the upper crown. Unusually, 42.9% of all nests built in umbrella shaped cones were position 4 nests using another tree and position 3 were the second most common for umbrella crowns accounting for 28.6% of nests in these trees and position 1 and 2 both accounting for 14.3% of nests. It could be suggested that crowns of this shape are relatively weak as evidenced by the shape of the branches which are bent downwards creating the umbrella shape, along with the frequent use of either the main stem or support from another tree for building a nest within these trees. Nest are built within umbrella shaped crowns only in areas with connectivity >50% and tend to be built in the lower canopy which is likely a way of reducing the risk of building nests within these trees by reducing the impact of wind and rain (Samson & Hunt 2012).

The results from this study show that the pattern for nest height selection is similar across both and that nest height is a product of the interaction between the trees structural properties, an orangutan's desire for a nest furthest from potential ground predators but limited by the need for a safe and stable nest by avoiding strong winds and rain. Though there is this preference for nesting higher which would aid in predator avoidance, in areas where forest height and in turn nest heights are lower and the forest is more open so connectivity for escape routes are lower, nest height may not be enough to deter a predator. Though tigers terrestrial and do not climb often as adults they can still climb in search of prey (Gonyea & Ashworth 1975; Bhattarai & Kindlmann 2012) and lower nest heights in Sei Betung may not be enough to deter a tiger compared to the significantly higher nests of Sikundur, thus, other adaptations such as nest position must be used as well to reduce the risk from predators (Anderson 2000; Pruetz et al. 2008; Stewart & Pruetz 2013).

3.4.2 Nest position

The proportions of each nest positions used differed across sites. Orangutans used all positions expect Position 4 nests in relatively equal proportions whereas more peripheral nest positions of Position 2 and Position 3 were more frequently built in Sei Betung. As the lower tree heights and lack of connectivity in Sei Betung may offer nest sites that provide less protection from predators and as such orangutans have been required to nest in more peripheral positions to provide that added protection from predators. Stewart & Pruetz (2013) noted that by building nests apes are able to create a safe place to rest where otherwise they would not be able to stand safely. Without the construction of the nest a single branch would not be able to support the weight of a sleeping ape but the collective strength of the branches formed into the nest offers the necessary strength and support and allows an ape to rest safely in a peripheral position out of the reach of predators. The results in Sei Betung appear to give evidence to this hypothesis. These results point to predator avoidance being the primary driver for nest site selection in Sei Betung as with its more open forest structure, wind would have a greater impact upon nests and in particular those in more peripheral positions (Flesch & Wilson 1999; James et al. 2006). Orangutans in Sei Betung are at greater risk of nest failure and potentially lower sleep quality due to wind sway due to their nest position preferences, given such risk there must be some advantage to outweigh the risk and the only advantage available is predator avoidance (Samson & Hunt 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

The forest in Sikundur has greater closure than in Sei Betung and higher tree height and first branch heights so trees are generally harder for predators to climb than in Sei Betung. This is potentially one of the reasons as to why there is little difference in the use of nest positions in Sikundur. However, when the nest heights of each position are observed (Fig 3.6B), it is apparent that all except for position 4 nests are built at roughly similar heights. This matches with the earlier result of the "Goldilocks height" in that there is a preferred for nests within the canopy and that the orangutans are tailoring their nests to match this height with the tree structure they are given. When comparing between the three 3 most used nest position in Sikundur using the PCA analysis and multinomial model it becomes apparent how each nest position is suited to the tees structural properties to allow it to fit within the "Goldilocks range" to maximise distance from predators, nest stability and avoiding strong winds and rain.

Both the PCA analysis and multi-model inference found that Position 4 nests were the most distinct nest position, differing greatly from all other nest positions by being built much lower and in the smallest trees whereas the other three positions showed greater similarities and overlap in structure of the tree that they were built in. Position 1 and 3 nests showed the greatest similarities with Position 3 nests differing by being built in trees with larger crown sizes and larger crown area as well as having significantly less overhead canopy which is expected by the definition of each nest and their position within the crown. The largest trees were associated with Position 2 nests, with Position 2 nests being built in trees with the largest crown areas, crown size, crown volume and DBH, but not the tallest. Trees with larger crown areas and DBH have been found to have greater stability and a reduction of sway in the wind (Nicoll & Ray 1996; Soethe et al. 2006; Cheyne et al. 2013). Trees with larger crown areas and crown sizes are also likely also have a higher number of branches which has also been found to reduce harmonic sway (James et al. 2006). This increased number of branches and in particular thick branches would also provide a greater amount of building material for the nest which would allow for more complicated and stable nests to be built such as those built at the ends of branches and at the top of the crown (Horn 1971; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012, 2013; Samson & Shumaker 2013; Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014). This suggests that although Position 2 nests are more precarious due to their position, similarly to chimpanzees minimise the risk of building these positions by only building them in the largest crowns which are most likely to have thick enough branches capable of supporting the weight of a nesting orangutan (Horn 1971; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013).

Position 1 nests were built in the tallest trees with relatively small DBHs' which is as expected as nesting higher within these trees would be problematic due to the reduced stability because of their tall, thin shape therefore the position of the nest within the crown would have to be lower (Nicoll & Ray 1996; Soethe et al. 2006; Cheyne et al. 2013). By being built in shorter trees, Position 3 nests are able to be built at the top of the main stem of the nest tree but still be within the upper canopy of the surrounding canopy. Both Position 1 and Position 3 nests tend to be built in trees with relatively small DBHs' and similarly sized crowns in terms of size, volume and area. It is possible that by nesting in trees with smaller trunks orangutans are increasing the difficulty for a potential predator to climb and reach the nest unnoticed. Smaller trunks is more liable to vibrate with the movement causing branches to shake and leaves to rustle which would warn a nesting orangutan of a predator attempting to reach the nest (Anderson 1984, 2000; Fan & Jiang 2008; Teichroeb et al. 2012). Unlike in the study by (Cheyne et al. 2013) which concluded that nest height and nest site selection was only driven by comfort, both Sumatran tigers and Sunda clouded leopards are have being recorded in the area of where our study was conducted (Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito 1983; Luskin et al. 2017). Both species and were recorded on camera traps in Sikundur in 2015 (Abernethy et al. 2016) confirming the presence of potential predation pressures on orangutans at these field sites. Sumatran elephants (E. maximus sumatrensis) were also recorded at our sites on both camera traps as well as being encountered by the lead author. Gorillas in Lopé, Gabon are known to avoid ground nesting in areas where elephants occur and build their arboreal nests higher to avoid disturbance by elephants (Tutin et al. 1995), there is potential that orangutans could exhibit similar behaviour. Future research is required to understand the interactions between orangutans and elephants. The presence of these species however, along with the significant numbers of human hunters recorded on the camera traps and large number of snare traps in Sei Betung which were personally observed suggest that there is a high risk associated with ground nesting or nesting lower in these sites, especially when compared to Cheyne et al's (2013) study in Sabangau or Ashbury et al's (2015) in Tuanan. Orangutans are known to exhibit predatory response behaviours(Rijksen 1978; Lameira et al. 2013) and orangutans in Borneo still produce alarm calls at a model of a tiger even though tigers have been potentially extinct on the island since the Late Pleistocene or Early Holocene (10,000-12,000 years ago) (Piper et al. 2007; Lameira et al. 2013), therefore orangutans must also exhibit other anti-predatory behaviours if such a response is so ingrained in the species behaviour.

Countering the hypothesis that greater proportions of Position 4 nests are built in more heavily disturbed forests (Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012), Position 4 nests were far more common in Sikundur than Sei Betung; contributing 10.5% and 2.2% of nests at each site respectively. Furthermore, no Position 4 nests were built in a tree with connectivity <50% suggesting that because these nests are so low in height that adequate escape routes from this nest position are a necessity. The smaller proportion of Position 4 nests in Sei Betung further supports the predator avoidance hypothesis as this nest position

is built lowest to the ground and in the smallest trees so would provide the least protection from ground predators of all nest position other than ground nesting. Rather than being a product of a paucity of large trees, it appears more likely that as Prasetyo et al. (2009) alternately hypothesised that increased use of Position 4 nests is due to differences between species or cultures as only populations in Central Kalimantan have been found to show a preference for building nests through tree tying. However, another potential theory as to the building of Position 4 nests is the associated with stem density and the availability of small trees in close vicinity to each other. Sikundur unlike Sei Betung has a relatively closed structure and so there is a higher density of stems which could be used to build a nest with whilst in Sei Betung with its more open habitat there may be too few neighbouring trees to safely build such nests. The forests in Tuanan and Sabangau though disturbed likely have a more closed secondary forest structure as opposed to the open habitat in Sei Betung, thereby facilitating the building of such nests (Husson et al. 2009; Prasetyo et al. 2009).

Though differences in forest structure and predation avoidance may provide an explanation for the differences in proportions of nest positions used at each site there is also the potential that it could be due to sex and age preferences in nest positions. Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) and Prasetyo et al. (2012) found that there appeared to be age and sex differences in the nest positions used due to the differences in body size, with younger individuals preferring to nest in more peripheral and unstable positions whilst large adults nested closer to the main stem. It is possible that these differences in nest positions could tell us about the population demographics in a site as generally flanged males would ordinarily be restricted to Position 1 nests but potentially in a site such as Sei Betung where Positions due to a dearth in taller trees for building Position 1 nests in. This could be a potential avenue for future research using genetic methods with hair samples taken from these nests we could potentially identify whether these nest positions do represent the demographics of a population. If so, this could provide an easy and quick method of assessing population health through estimates of breeding males, females and young that could be used for strategic conservation plans.

3.5 Conclusion

The findings of our study show that the parameters that determine nest height and nest position in Sumatran orangutans is far more complicated than previous studies have suggested and is not merely a function of the height of the nest tree. Instead, nest height and nest position are determined by using the trees architecture to achieve a nest in a "Goldilocks range" that maximises the nests safety from predators using height and position in conjunction with the trees architecture to ensure the nest is both safe from predators, stable and protected from strong winds or rain. Orangutans appear to prefer nesting within the upper canopy as this both limits access to ground predators, offers potential easy escape routes through the connecting canopy and also increases comfort and stability by sheltering the nest from the wind and rain. In Sikundur where the forest is denser and trees are taller all nest positions except Position 4 were used in roughly equal proportion whereas in Sei Betung, where tree heights are lower and easier for predators to access a significantly greater proportion of peripheral positions (Position 2 and Position 3) were used. This suggests that predator avoidance may have a significant influence upon nest heights and nest positions of orangutans in the lowland dipterocarp forests of Sumatra though this needs further testing with sites in Sumatra where tigers may be absent.

Observations by Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) and Prasetyo et al. (2012) suggest that there is a body size and sex basis to nest positions and potentially the proportions of nest positions could reflect population demographics as large flanged males are required to nest in more stable positions near to the main stem due to their large body size. Potentially this could mean that in Sei Betung there is either a lower proportion of males in the site due to the lack of suitable nest trees or that these large flanged males are having to alter their nesting behaviours and utilise more unstable positions which could put them at greater risk of nest failure in strong winds. Further study of the nest position preferences of individuals through nest to nest follows or genetic analysis is required to understand the relationship between body size, sex, nest position and forest structure. Though there is the potential that nests could provide a quick method of assessing a populations demographics should this theory be proved true.

The increased rarity of Position 4 nests in Sei Betung; an area which has experienced severe human disturbance and has a very open forest structure refutes what has been previously published that this nest position is used most often in disturbed forests with few large trees. Instead, our study suggests that this may be a geographic difference and that it is a cultural preference of the orangutans in Central Kalimantan or could be a product of the open habitat in Sei Betung that there are few trees close enough to produce Postion 4 nests whilst the studies in Borneo may have been conducted in more dense secondary forest where nesting material is more readily available.

Given the use of more peripheral positions in Sei Betung and the high rate of reuse of nests in Sei Betung found in Chapter 2 this reaffirms the need to protect larger trees and preferred nest sites within site open and disturbed site. As orangutans are prioritising more peripheral and potential unstable nest positions to reduce their risk from predation, they are more susceptible to nest failure or falling from the nest in strong winds. The removal of large trees and preferred nest trees could force orangutans in Sei Betung to utilise smaller trees which are even less capable of supporting their weight and offer less protection from predators. This could create more stress for the orangutans and affect their health as well as creating more risks with the potential for injury or death which could lead to orangutans dispersing from such areas in search of better forest but also potentially into neighbouring plantations.

Chapter 4: The influence of forest structure on orangutan densities in the recovering forests of North Sumatra

John P.D. Abernethy, Matt G Nowak, Rosanna Consiglio, Helen D Slater, Ross A Hall, Amanda H Korstjens, Serge A. Wich

Intending to submit to either Journal of Applied Ecology, Conservation Biology or American Journal of Primatology

4.1 Introduction

Habitat loss and habitat change driven by climate change and the spread of human influence are threats currently facing species globally and are exacerbating the threats of extinction to those species (Mantyka-Pringle et al. 2015). Understanding how habitat change may affect a species and how they utilise this space is key to developing effective conservation and management plans to ensure the continued survival of these species (Levin 1992). Orangutans are one of the many faunal species threatened with extinction due to habitat loss and landcover change as the forests in Sumatra and Borneo are cleared for agriculture, mining and timber extraction (Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Singleton et al. 2017; Voigt et al. 2018; Wich et al. 2016). With the decreasing proportion of pristine and undisturbed forests, orangutans and other forest species are needing to use and adapt to living in more disturbed habitats (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Felton et al. 2003; Knop et al. 2004; Ancrenaz et al. 2010; Mohamad et al. 2015). Reforestation and enrichment projects offer the potential to help disturbed and logged forests to recover to similar levels of structural diversity and complexity in a shorter time period than through natural recovery alone (Ådjers et al. 1995; Parrotta et al. 1997a; Vallauri et al. 2002; Kanowski et al. 2003, 2005, 2006; Catterall et al. 2004; Fagan et al. 2016). This decreased recovery time for forests could potentially be a valuable tool for orangutan conservation by working to slow or even reverse habitat loss in key forest areas (Meyfroidt & Lambin 2011; Kettle et al. 2014; Wills et al. 2017), though the use and value of these reforestation sites to orangutans are still poorly studied (Wich et al. 2016b).

Orangutans are the only great ape found in Asia, formerly they were found across South East Asia during the Pleistocene period but are now restricted to the two islands of Sumatra and Borneo (von Koenigswald 1982; Jablonski et al. 2000; Bacon & The Long 2001; Ibrahim et al. 2013). Three species are currently recognised with a single species on Borneo (*P. pygmaeus*) which is split into three recognised subspecies (Warren et al. 2001) and two species on Sumatra. On Sumatra there is the Sumatran orangutan (*P. abelii*) found to the north and the Tapanuli orangutan (*P. tapanuliensis*) restricted to the south of Lake Toba in Batang Toru, the southernmost range of orangutans in Sumatra (Nowak et al. 2017; Nater et al. 2017). All three species of orangutan are currently listed as critically endangered on the IUCN Red List (Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Nowak et al. 2017; Singleton et al. 2017) with

habitat loss, habitat degradation, and hunting being the primary reasons for their decline in numbers (Ancrenaz et al. 2016; Nowak et al. 2017; Singleton et al. 2017).

Habitat loss has been driven by the rapid conversion of forest land for agricultural purposes in particular the planting of oil palm plantations, rubber plantations, candlenut plantations and mixed agroforestry (Wich et al. 2011; Robertson & van Schaik 2001; Voigt et al. 2018). Both protected and non-protected areas are experiencing forest loss, with areas at elevation below 500m above sea level experiencing the most rapid levels of forest loss. Selective logging is less destructive than clear felling and conversion to plantations, but it still has a negative impact upon orangutan densities on Sumatra (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Hardus et al. 2012a), but to a lesser extent on Borneo (Felton et al. 2003; Husson et al. 2009; Ancrenaz et al. 2010).

Although forest loss is still prevalent throughout the tropics, some countries have now transitioned from net deforestation to net reforestation (Meyfroidt & Lambin 2011; Wills et al. 2017). However, in many cases reforestation in former rainforest landscapes has taken the form of planted monocultures of fast-growing timber species, pulp and paper acacia plantations and oil palm plantations which lack the diversity of the rainforest which they replace (Lugo 1997; Lamb et al. 2001, 2005; Kanowski et al. 2003). Therefore caution is needed when defining forest land as not all forest has the same quality for biodiversity (Lugo 1997). As a consequence, mixed-species plantations are being established to meet both conservation and socio-economic needs (Harrison et al. 2000; Kanowski et al. 2003; Nguyen et al. 2014; Wills et al. 2017). Other projects have used planting of a diverse mix of native tree and shrub species to attempt ecological restorations of rainforests on cleared land along with revitalising degraded forest areas (Kanowski et al. 2006; Goosem & Tucker 2013; Lamb 1998; Parrotta & Knowles 1999; Parrotta et al. 1997a; Kettle et al. 2014; Parrotta et al. 1997b). Along with active reforestation there are many areas that through neglect, abandonment or through the active assistance of landholders have been able to revert to secondary forest naturally, this method offers potentially the cheapest in terms of financial and labour, and the most passive form of reforestation (Brown & Lugo 1990; Kanowski et al. 2003; Lugo & Helmer 2004; Wills et al. 2017).

The method of reforestation has a significant impact upon the area's value to conservation through its ability to approximate the original forest structure and biodiversity pre-clearance (Vallauri et al. 2002; Kanowski et al. 2003). The rate of colonisation and the floral and faunal diversity of the area are significantly influenced by the method of reforestation with monocultures offering little for native species to feed on or use and have generally low recruitment levels of species diversity as opposed to mixed plantations and logged areas (Stuebing & Gasis 1989; Lamb 1998; Kanowski et al. 2005, 2006; Beehler et al. 2008; Wills et al. 2017). Given time older, mature timber plantations (>50 years in age) have been found to develop similar forest structure to pre-clearance forests and host a significant diversity of species though still lower than pre-disturbance levels (Kanowski et al. 2003, 2005, 2006;

Catterall et al. 2004; Erskine et al. 2005). Through the extensive replanting of native tree and shrub species, ecological restorations host similar levels of diversity and canopy closer as old plantations but within a significantly shorter time scale (~-10-20 years) due to the large number of native species that are initially planted (Kanowski et al. 2003, 2005, 2006; Catterall et al. 2004). Similarly, assisted natural regeneration methods such as enrichment planting help forests to develop greater levels of diversity and structural complexity within a shorter period than by natural regeneration alone (Ådjers et al. 1995; Shono et al. 2007). Ecological restoration and assisted natural regeneration methods offer a significant tool in the recovery and restoration of the world's forests and forest species, though the increased cost and effort involved in implementing ecological restorations currently prohibits their wider use (Erskine et al. 2005)

Reforestation and forest restoration projects do have benefits for reptiles, birds, mammals and various invertebrate groups (Stuebing & Gasis 1989; Lamb 1998; Catterall et al. 2004; Kanowski et al. 2005, 2006; Beehler et al. 2008; Castillo et al. 2018). Plantations, in particular old plantations, are used by prosimian species in Madagascar and serve as both an extension to the habitat of lemurs as well as a buffer from human disturbance (Ganzhorn 1987). Ecological restorations have also to be successfully aided the conservation efforts of other primates and is the focus of other conservation plans for promoting primate species recovery through the restoration and linking of isolated forest habitats (Manjaribe et al. 2013; Allgas et al. 2017; Li et al. 2017; Chapman 2018). Primate species are particularly important to the regeneration of these forest through their role as seed dispersers, helping to accelerate regeneration and the recolonization of areas by native plant species (Parrotta et al. 1997b; Shono et al. 2007; Manjaribe et al. 2013; Tarszisz et al. 2018).

Forests which have experience low level disturbance are utilised by orangutans and are of conservation significance with orangutans being found in areas which have been selectively logged along with areas naturally regenerated after fires, though frequently at lower densities in disturbed areas than undisturbed areas (Rao & van Schaik 1997; Felton et al. 2003; Husson et al. 2009; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Cattau et al. 2015; Russon et al. 2015). Areas which had low levels of disturbance or have had significant time to recover have been found to host similar densities of orangutans to those which are undisturbed (Knop et al. 2004; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a, 2010; Marshall et al. 2006). Secondary regrowth forests are utilised by orangutans, and in some cases orangutans use to a greater extent than other mammalian species within the area (Gregory et al. 2012; Spehar & Rayadin 2017). Orangutans are known to highly utilise plantations including oil palm plantations (Ancrenaz et al. 2015), paper and pulp plantations (Meijaard et al. 2010) and agroforestry areas used for fruit production (Campbell-Smith et al. 2011b). Orangutans have been reported to utilize reforested areas and display significant clustering of nests, where nests are found in high densities in small pockets of sites rather than being evenly distributed throughout the site, this clustering is similarly found in heavily logged forests (Wich et al.

2016; Prasetyo & Sugardjito 2011; Ancrenaz et al. 2004). Davies et al. (2017) observed than in disturbed forests orangutans were selective of which areas of forest they used and travelled through and that this was linked to forest structure. Their results found that orangutans preferred forests with increased canopy closure, taller trees, uniform height and generally moved away from gaps and towards emergent trees.

A number of variables have been suggested and found to be useful in predicting or explaining orangutan nest densities. Both Marshall et al. (2006) and Wich et al. (2012) found that hunting has a significant effect on orangutan densities, orangutans are also killed in retaliation for crop raiding and damaging economically valuable trees and plants in plantations as well as being hunted for food and the pet trade (Meijaard et al. 2011; Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a, 2011b, 2012; Davis et al. 2013; Freund et al. 2017). As a consequence orangutan densities tend to be lower nearer to human settlements known to hunt orangutans likely as a result of the hunting by these settlements (Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012b). Hunting orangutans for food is generally unheard of the North Sumatra outside of Batang Toru due to the Islamic religious beliefs of the locals that the meat of primates is "haram". However, this does not discount potential poaching for the pet trade (Rijksen & Meijard 1999). Yet the pet trade in orangutans disproportionately affects Bornean orangutans, with Borneoan orangutans even appearing in Sumatran wildlife markets (Nijman 2009), therefore hunting pressures on orangutans in Sikundur and Sei Betung can generally considered low if any.

The availability of fruit such as figs and soft-pulp fruits are strong predictors of orangutan densities (van Schaik et al. 1995; Buij et al. 2002; Wich et al. 2004a) though this is not the case in all field sites in particular Sikundur where this study took place (Knop et al. 2004). Knop et al. (2004) in their study found that there was no correlation between orangutan densities and fruit availability in Sikundur. However, these results were disputed by Kanamori et al. (2017) as they noted that the survey period of 1 year may have been too short to detect any correlation due to the supra-annual nature of mast events. A such the research period could have missed any periods of peak fruit availability or the spatial differences in fruit availability may not have differed enough to cause the long-distance movement of orangutans (Kanamori et al. 2017).

As the rates of human disturbance across orangutan habitats are expected to continue (Wich et al. 2016; Voigt et al. 2018), it remains necessary to understand how changes to forest structure influence orangutan densities. As the extent of undisturbed, pristine habitat declines the importance of logged forests, secondary regrowth forest and restoration forests as habitats for orangutans will increase. Therefore, it is important that we understand how orangutan densities are affected by changes to the forest structure through logging or replanting so that conservation and habitat management plans can be better informed upon these impacts. In Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 of this thesis we showed the high degree of selectivity displayed by orangutans in relation to forest structure in determining nest site

selection, nest position and nest height. In this study, we will investigate whether orangutan densities differ between a naturally regenerated selectively logged site which has regenerated over 40 years and a site where intensive reforestation efforts began 15 years ago and are still ongoing. Following this, we will investigate which forest structure variables influence nest densities in both sites and whether the influential forest structure parameters differ between the sites to determine why orangutan densities may differ between the sites. We will also measure the distance from the edge of the forest closest to plantations to determine whether the proximity to human disturbance influences orangutan nest densities and whether this has a greater influence than forest structure.

4.1.1 Hypotheses:

- As Chapters 2 and 3 have already shown, we expect to find significant differences between the forest structure of Sikundur and Se Betung. Based on the results from Chapters 2 and 3, Sikundur should have greater tree heights, higher canopy density, canopy closure, higher ratio of large tree and more heterogenous tree heights that are more evenly spread throughout the forest. Sei Betung should have more, larger gaps, smaller trees that are more homogenous in height that is representative of their similar age. Generally less disturbed areas should have greater canopy densities or canopy closure, more disperse gaps so therefore a lower Morosita index and intact places would have a greater ratio of large trees to small ones and a higher proportion of small trees could be a sign of natural regrowth (Mohamed et al. 2013).
- Orangutan densities are expected to be higher in Sikundur than Sei Betung. As Sei Betung is
 more disturbed, nests should appear to be clustered in small pockets of the site whilst those in
 Sikundur should be more evenly spread throughout the site.
- As alluvial soils have higher productivity, there should be higher orangutan densities found in the alluvial landunit compared to the hills or plains.
- Orangutan densities should remain similar between the survey periods as orangutan densities in Sikundur are not supposed to be linked to fruit availability.
- As prior studies have found that orangutan densities are negatively associated with human disturbance, we expect to find that orangutan densities are negatively associated with distance to the forest edge.

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Study Sites

Field research for this study was conducted at two field sites found within the eastern border of the Gunung Leuser National Park in Langkat District of North Sumatra; Sikundur also known as Sekundur in some papers (3°1'N, 98°02'E) and Resort Sei Betung (4°3'N, 98°07'E) ((Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al.

2008b; Marshall et al. 2009; Hartini et al. 2017; Szantoi et al. 2017). The Sikundur research site is found in an area of diverse mixed dipterocarp lowland forest that also possesses rich alluvial forest along the rivers, with part of it having been subjected to selective logging 40 years ago (de Wilde & Duyfjes 1996; Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2008b). Sei Betung is approximately 9km north of Sikundur on the site of a former illegal oil palm plantation that has been actively reforested through the planting of 500,000 seedlings of 97 indigenous tree species by the NGO OIC (Orangutan Information Centre) (Kettle et al. 2014). Though the two sites are relatively close geographically, they differ considerably in terms of forest structure and the levels of anthropogenic disturbance that they have experienced as Sikundur has stands of primary forest and selectively logged areas which have had over 30 years to recover (Knop et al. 2004; Priatna et al. 2006; Marshall et al. 2009); whilst Sei Betung is just at the start of recovery with some areas replanted in 2007 and the most recent in 2013 and areas of secondary forest which was less intensively replanted to the west of the site (Kettle et al. 2014; Wich et al. 2016b). Data collection was undertaken from February-August 2015 and March-September 2016.



Figure 4-1 Locations of Sikundur and Sei Betung field sites in North Sumatra

4.2.2 Data collection

Transects were used in both sites for sampling nests and forest structure parameters. In Sikundur 30 transects, 500m in length were set out using a stratified random grid with the first point being placed randomly and the first transect measured 500m north from this point. All other transects were arranged around initial transect on north-south bearings and spaced 150m apart to the north and south and 300m to the east and west. The transects were placed to ensure that none were split by the Besitang river or that any crossed outside of the boundaries of the site. Underlying land units identified by Laumonier in 1997 (alluvial, hills, plains) were used to equally split the transects across the site with 10 transects being placed within each land unit. The land units were categorised by slope, elevation and soil profile, with the plains and alluvial areas having experienced greater levels of exploitation in the past due to their greater accessibility (Laumonier 1997; Consiglio 2015; Slater 2015). The three land units are defined as follows; Alluvial, characterised by low-lying land located next to rivers with finetextured, poorly drained soils; Plains, typically consists of flat to undulating land at low elevations with porous, acidic soils; and Hills, as suggested by the name are found at higher elevations (100-500m), and are comprised of fine-medium textured, leached soils with low organic content (Laumonier 1997; Slater 2015). Existing transects were used in Sei Betung to eliminate the disturbance that cutting new transects would have produced. 9 transects 1km in length were used which were spaced 150m apart running parallel on north-west south-east bearings. For later analysis these transects were split in half to provide better comparisons with Sikundur. As Sei Betung is a smaller site and we were limited to using pre-cut transects there, we did not consider any differences in land unit or soil type in Sei Betung. Furthermore, the differences in planting age across Sei Betung are more likely to influence the data than the underlying soil types within Sei Betung.

The interval between parallel transects and length of transects was designed to prevent any overlap of observations and with the intention of optimizing the trade-off between having both a large number of independent samples and ensuring that transects were long enough to minimise the potential biases due to spatial heterogeneity from such things as the clumping of orangutan nests or variation in habitat and structure along the transect (Johnson et al. 2005). The transects were cut along lines irrespective of topography or vegetation to ensure that they adhered to the line-transect method assumption that all transects be placed randomly in respect to terrain and were able to cover a representative sample of both field sites (Buckland et al. 2001; Mathewson et al. 2008). All transects were walked and used by the lead author with deviations from the transect due to obstacles kept as small a deviation as possible.

Forest structure

Forest structure data such as tree height, DBH, crown radii to the North, South, East and West, crown shape and canopy photographs for later analysis were collected by the lead author, R. Consiglio and H. Slater together with field assistants from SOCP in both Sikundur and in Sei Betung data was collected by the lead author and field assistants from OIC. The point centre quarter method (PCQM) was used for surveying forest structure data at 50m intervals as this method also allowed for calculations of stem density to be produced for each transect (Cottam & Curtis 1956; Cannon & Leighton 1994; Ganzhorn et al. 2003; Manduell et al. 2012). Transect for collecting forest structure data were conducted only once at each site, in 2015 in Sikundur and 2016 in Sei Betung. Each sampling point was split into four quadrants set at 90° to each other and perpendicular to the transect. For each point the nearest tree with a diameter at breast height (DBH) >10cm (measured at 1.3m above the ground) was sampled with the distance to the centre point being recorded for each quadrant to the nearest 0.1m. GPS points were collected at each sampling point with a Garmin GPSmap 60Cx to ensure that transects were following the correct predetermined paths and that nest transects followed this pathway accurately.

A Nikon forestry Pro laser range finder was used to measure the height of the crown of each tree sampled to the nearest 0.1m, with the height of the tree being measured at the highest visible leaf. First bole height (FBH) was also measured by measuring to the base of where the first branch attached to the trunk, these measurements are used to obtain crown size and are also used to calculate crown volume. The radius of the crown was measured in meters from the trunk of the tree to the edge of the crown to the North, East, South and West, these were recorded as the crown radius can be quite variable so this should eliminate any potential over or under estimates. Diameter at breast height (DBH) was recorded for each tree using a tape measure at a height of 1.3m and measured to the nearest centimetre. Crown shapes were classified as either spheroid, elongated spheroid, cone, upsidedown cone, umbrella, bent over, broken or palms (definitions in Table 4.1). Crown connectivity was estimated visually by estimating the proportion of the crown in contact or enclosed by neighbouring crowns using a four point scale; 0-25%, 26-50%, 51-75% and 76-100%, the inverse of this gives the exposure of the crown (Whitten 1982; Manduell et al. 2011; Cheyne et al. 2013). Table 4-1 Definitions of crown shapes adapted from Coder 2000 and Manduell et al. 2011

CROWN SHAPE	DEFINITION
SPHEROID	Sphere shaped/ lollipop shape
ELONGATED SPHEROID	Crown with a height greater than its width and rounded ends
CONE	Cone shaped crown with a wide base that tapers to the top
UPSIDE-DOWN CONE	Crown which dove tails from the first branches, inverse of the cone (also known as inverse tripod)
UMBRELLA	Similar to spheroid or cone but lowest branches tips hang further down than the base of the branch
BENT-OVER	Tree with trunk or crown growing significantly in one direction, typified by lack of crown in one direction
BROKEN	Tree where the crown has broken off leaving either a splintered top or new growth if still alive
PALM	If the tree is a palm species there is no crown but series of large palm leaves

Measures of canopy density and Morosita index (an index for the dispersion of gaps) were obtained through canopy photography and processing with the CanopyDigi software (Goodenough & Goodenough 2012; Williams et al. 2013). Photographs were taken in each quadrant of the PCQM, at 45° angles to the transect, and 5m from the centre point of the PCQM to avoid overlap and maximise coverage. Photographs were taken using a Nikon D7200 DSLR with a Nikkor 18-55mm lens set to 35mm with the focus set to infinity. A tripod was used to take all photographs with the camera set facing straight up using a digital angle gauge to ensure that it was level on the x and y axis. The height of the camera was set at 1.3m or at the full extent of the tripod if on uneven ground. Photographs were processed in the CanopyDigi software using the methodology stated by (Goodenough & Goodenough 2012).

4.2.3 Nest transects

Nest transects were conducted on the same transects as the vegetation transects by JA and a team of 1-2 well trained local field assistants from SOCP in Sikundur and OIC in Sei Betung. Nest transects in Sikundur were completed in May 2015, April 2016 and August 2016 and in Sei Betung in August 2016. The transects were walked at a pace of no more than 1km/h. When located, the perpendicular distance from the transect to the centre of the nest was measured using a tape measure to the nearest 0.1m along with the direction as this is utilised along with age of nest and decay rate. Along with these distances the DBH, first bole height, height of tree, crown shape, connectivity, crown radius from the trunk to the edge of the crown for the north, south, east and west of the tree were recorded along with support availability using the same methodology as vegetation data. Nest height was recorded using the Nikon forestry Pro laser rangefinder to ensure accuracy.

Observed nests were placed into age classes by trained observers, these classes were reflective of the decay rate. The classes were; 1- fresh leaves, still green; 2- mix of green and brown leaves; 3- all leaves turned brown and some holes forming; 4- all leaves gone and nest falling apart (van Schaik et al. 1995; Hashimoto 1995; Russon et al. 2001; Felton et al. 2003; Johnson et al. 2005; Spehar et al. 2010).

4.2.4 Data analysis

Covariates

For each transect the ratio of large trees (DBH >40cm) to small trees (DBH <20cm) (rDBH) was determined as this can be used along with canopy density and Morosita index as a measure of disturbance that an area has experienced (Mohamed et al. 2013). Stem density of trees was determined using the methodology stated in Mitchell (2010) and Manduell et al. (2012) whereby 1 is divided by the square of the mean of all distances (measured in meters) (\bar{r}).This is calculated using the following formulae:

$$\bar{r} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{4} Rij}{4n}$$

Absolute density $\overline{\lambda}$, is then calculated via:

$$\bar{\lambda} = \frac{1}{\overline{\bar{r}^2}}$$

This is then multiplied by 10,000 to convert the results from m² to ha². A correction factor for missing quadrants where no tree was recorded within a quadrant was used as detailed in Warde & Petranka (1981) which relies on identifying the proportion of vacant quarters and identifying the correction factor within correction factor table in Warde & Petranka (1981). The formula for calculating using the correction factors is as follows:

$$\bar{r}' = \frac{\sum_{m=1}^{4n-n_0} R_m}{4n - n_0}$$

Absolute density (corrected) $\bar{\lambda}_c$ is then calculated using:

$$\tilde{\lambda}_c = \frac{1}{(\overline{r'})^2} \cdot CF$$

Mean crown area, crown size and crown volumes were determined for each transect with areas with crown area being calculated using:

Crown area:

Crown area =
$$\sum \frac{\pi N r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi S r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi W r^2}{4} + \frac{\pi E r^2}{4}$$

Nr= North radius

Sr= South radius

Wr= West radius

Er= East radius

Crown size is calculated with:

Crown Size:

Crown size (CS) = Tree height – First branch height

Crown volume is calculated using the crown radii measurements, crown size and the crown shapes to give more accurate estimates of crown volume in m²:

Crown volume:

 $NSr(North-South radius) = \frac{Nr+Sr}{2}$

EWr (East – West radius) = $\frac{Er+Wr}{2}$

CSr (Crown Size radius) = $\frac{CS}{2}$

Cone and upside-down cone crown volume:

$$V = \sum \frac{\pi N S r^2 \frac{CS}{3}}{2} + \frac{\pi E W r^2 \frac{CS}{3}}{2}$$

Spheroid, elongated spheroid and bent over crowns:

$$V = \frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrCSr$$

Umbrella shape crowns:

 $V = \frac{\frac{4}{3}\pi NSrEWrCSr}{2}$

The distance to the edge of the forest was measured using satellite and aerial imagery from the ArcGIS world imagery basemap. The distance was measured from the mid-point of each transect to the closest edge of the forest irrespective of geographic barriers such as rivers as suggested by Wich et al. (2012) with the edge of the forest being considered to be where forest cover ends and either continuous open areas or plantations begin. The river was not considered as an edge as little to no hunting is expected within the site and the forest is readily accessible at both sites without the need of the river as Sei Betung is surrounded by plantations on three sides and Sikundur is surrounded by plantations to the East and West and has a number of old logging roads running through the site which provide access to locals on motorbikes as well as on foot. Our main consideration was on edges where humans had removed forest cover and that the forest bordered plantations or logged areas rather than the natural succession as found at river banks.

Rugosity (Tree height diversity) and evenness

Measures of tree height were used to the calculate estimates of the Shannon-Wiener index of diversity *H*′ and Pielou's evenness index *J*′. The Shannon-Wiener index (Shannon & E. 2001) has been used in a number of forestry papers (Kuuluvainen & Pukkala 1987, 1989; Kuuluvainen et al. 1996; Pretzsch 1997, 1998; Varga et al. 2005; Rouvinen & Kuuluvainen 2005) to assess the diversity of tree heights within a stand and used for a number of purposes such as assessing a forest stand's quality for wildlife, monitoring the changes in tree size diversity over time, assessing the impact different silvicultural treatment have on stand structure and defining the appropriate silvicultural treatments for different stands (Lexerød & Eid 2006; Ozdemir et al. 2008). The index depends on a selected size class width (Staudhammer & LeMay 2001), for this we followed what was used in Kuuluvainen et al. 1996 using size class widths of 2m (eg. 0-2m, 2-4m...etc). The Shannon-Wiener index is calculated using the following formula:

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \ln(p_i)$$

For this formula *p_i* refers to the proportion of trees in each height class *i* and *N* refers to the number of height classes. Pielou's *J*' also known as Shannon's evenness index or Shannon's equitability is frequently used along with the Shannon-Wiener diversity index to determine how evenly species are distributed throughout a site and like the diversity index can also be applied to tree height (Rennolls & Laumonier 2000; Vieira et al. 2004; Lexerød & Eid 2006; Ozdemir et al. 2008; Lindner 2011; Symonds & Moussalli 2011; Little et al. 2016). It is calculated using the formula:

$$J' = \frac{H'}{H_{max}}$$

Where H_{max} is found by finding the natural log of the total number of size classes;

$$H_{max} = lnS$$

Orangutan densities

Orangutan densities were calculated using the methodology set out in van Schaik et al. (1995) and improved upon by Buij et al. (2003) using the line transect method. Orangutan densities are calculated using the formula:

$$d = N/(L \times 2w \times p \times r \times t)$$

In this formula d = orangutan density (individual/km²), N = number of nests observed along the transect, L = the length of transect covered in km, w = estimated strip width (ESW) of habitat actually covered (km), p= proportion of nest builders in the population, r= rate of which nests are produced (nests per day per individual) and lastly t= the decay rate for the nest or the time which it is visible (in days). Values for p and r were obtained from previous studies which state that there is little variation for these across sites in Sumatra where these variables have been measured which are p=0.9 and r=1.7 (van Schaik et al. 1995; Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2004a). The value for t for Sikundur was take from Wich et al. 2004 (t=231.3 days) and for Sei Betung the rate of decay for logged areas in Sikundur was used from Knop et al. 2004 (t= 248 days). Estimated strip width (w) was calculated using the perpendicular distances of the nests to the transects. Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests were used to compare the distribution of perpendicular distances of nests for each land unit in Sikundur as well as testing between Sikundur and Sei Betung. No significant differences were found between the land units in Sikundur, therefore the perpendicular distances of all transects in Sikundur were pooled together which increases accuracy (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2004a). The perpendicular distances for Sikundur and Sei Betung were found to be highly different so the ESW was calculated separately for each site. The ESW was found using the software package Distance 7.1, which is described in detail in Buckland et al. (2001), (2010). Perpendicular distance data were truncated at 5% of the largest values to minimise the influence of outliers and the most extreme values. Different models were tested which include; half-normal with cosine, hermite and simple polynomial expansions, uniform with cosine, hermite and simple polynomial expansions and hazard rate with cosine, hermite and simple polynomial expansions and the best fitting model with the lowest AIC value was used.

To compare between the Shannon-Wiener indices for the different field sites and land units within Sikundur the Hutcheson t-test was used. This test was developed to compare the diversity of two community samples using the Shannon-Wiener index (Hutcheson 1970; Gardener 2017). It is calculated using the formula:

$$t = \frac{H_a - H_b}{\sqrt{S_{H_a}^2 + S_{H_b}^2}}$$

H refers to the Shannon index for each site, with $_{a}$ and $_{b}$ referring to each site or land unit being compared. The bottom half of the formula refers to the variance for each sample. The variance of the Shannon index is calculated using:

$$S_{H}^{2} = \frac{\sum p.(\ln p)^{2} - (\sum p.\ln p)^{2}}{N} + \frac{S - 1}{2N^{2}}$$

In this formula *S* refers to the number of size classes and *N* is the number of individuals, in this instance the number of trees recorded and *p* is the proportion that each size class contributes to the total. The final variable needed to test between Shannon indices is the degrees of freedom which is calculated using:

$$df = \frac{(S_{H_a}^2 + S_{H_b}^2)^2}{(\frac{(S_{H_a}^2)^2}{N_a} + \frac{(S_{H_b}^2)^2}{N_b})}$$

For this, the variance and the total abundance (number of trees) are needed (Gardener 2017).

Statistical analysis

The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compared forest structure attributes between Sikundur and Sei Betung, whilst the Kruskall Wallis test with Dunn's post hoc test was used to test the differences in forest structure variables between the three land units in Sikundur. These calculations were made in R (R Core Team 2017) using the PMCMR (Pohlert 2014) package.

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was used to investigates the differences in forest structure between the two sites as well as the different land units in Sikundur. The PCA was also used to help determine which variables were correlated and test whether any variables were non-significant and could be removed from further testing (Hotelling 1933). Selection of the most important principal components was performed using percent of variance that each principal component explained along with using two criteria; the Kaiser contribution criterion (Yeomans & Golder 1982) and the interpretability criterion of Hatcher & Stepanski (Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014).The Kaiser criterion states that an important principal component should explain at least one original variable and have a corresponding eigenvalue of >1 (Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014). The interpretability criterion however, states that an important principal component is a linear combination of original variables which all represent the same latent concept (Yeomans & Golder 1982; Al-Hassan & Al-Kassab 2009; Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014). In this study we followed what was suggested by (Echeverry-Galvis et al. (2014) where an original variable was determined to be influential or important if it's weight in the principal component was >0.3, an original variable is defined as a variable that only appears once and is included in the first instance that it has a weight >0.3. Using a PCA biplot allows for the differences and similarities between the field sites and land units and the effect each variable has on these to be visualised. PCA analysis was performed using the ggbiplot (Vu 2011) and factoextra packages (Kassambara & Mundt 2017).

A negative binomial regression was run using R following the PCA analysis to investigate the relationship between nest numbers/ orangutan densities and forest structure variables to determine which have the greatest influence upon nest densities. Nest numbers were used as they are highly correlated with nest densities and orangutan densities but does not require the other variables to be rescaled for comparison. Using the dredge function of the MuMIn package in R (Barton 2018) all model iterations including an intercept only model was run. The models were ranked by their AICc (corrected Akaike Information Criterion) scores which compensate for small sample sizes. Using the maximum delta Δ AICc (the difference between the AICc of each model from the best performing model), a subset of models can be extracted with Δ AICc values <2. Values <2 is used as a threshold as models with Δ AICc values <2 all have substantial support and can be considered to perform equally well (Burnham et al. 2002; Burnham & Anderson 2004). From this subset of models, the parameter estimates were averaged and parameters weighted by the proportion of models that the parameter was present in, these weights allow for the relative importance of each parameter to be determined. Model averaging and the graphical output of this were produced using the MuMIn (Barton 2018), ggplot2 (Wickham 2009), snakecase (Grosser 2018), plyr (Wickham 2011), sjlabelled (Lüdecke 2018a), sjPlot (Lüdecke 2018b) and sjmisc (Lüdecke 2018c) packages.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Orangutan densities

In this section, we provide estimates for orangutan densities in Sei Betung and Sikundur and further break the data down to determine whether orangutan densities differed across land units in Sikundur. The best model found for calculating estimated strip width for Sikundur nests in 2015 was a Half normal model with cosine adjustments (AICc= 585.24, p=0.7), ESW was estimated to be 13.34m, 95% CI (10.99-16.19). For Sei Betung, a negative exponential model with cosine adjustments was found to best fit the data (AICc= 296.31, p= 0.7) with an ESW of 23.79m, 95% CI (15.41-36.74). As expected Sikundur was found to hold a significantly higher orangutan density compared to Sei Betung (Table 4.2). Within Sikundur, comparing orangutan densities across land units for 2015; no significant difference was found between alluvial, plains and hills (Table 4.3).

Half normal models with cosine adjustments were also found to be the best performing models for Sikundur nest surveys in April 2016 (AICc= 115.59, P= 0.76) and August 2016 (AICc= 86.16, P= 0.94), producing ESW's of 13.37m, 95% CI (8.23-21.74) for April 2016 and 18.75m, 95% CI (11.17-31.47) in August 2016. Orangutan densities subsequently were found to be significantly lower in Sikundur between 2015 than those in 2016 (2015 vs April 2016 t_{36df} =5.45, P= <0.001, 2015 vs August 2016 t_{32df} =6.81, P= <0.001), with 0.18 ind/km² ±0.04 found in April 2016 and 0.07 ind/km² ±0.02 in August 2016 which was found again to be significantly lower between seasons in 2016 (t_{45df} =2.3, P=0.03. Nests in Sei Betung showed high levels of clustering with 82.2% of all nests recorded in Sei Betung found on only 2 transects, OIC4A and OIC4B (Fig 4.2). Nests in Sikundur were far more evenly spread with only two transects found to hold no nests across the three sampling periods (Fig 4.3). As with 2015, no significant differences were observed in orangutan densities between land units in either April 2016 or August 2016 (see Table 4.2).



Figure 4-2 Map of transects and nests recorded in Sei Betung. Areas to the north and east of the field site are oil palm plantations whilst to the south is intact forest which connects the site to Sikundur. Nests in Sei Betung show significant clustering on one transect.



Figure 4-3 Map of transects and nest locations in Sikundur across three sample periods: May 2015, March 2015 and July 2016. The transects were evenly distributed across three land units; Alluvial, Plains and Hills as defined by (Laumonier 1997).

4.3.2 Forest structure and nest densities

4.3.2.1. Sikundur versus Sei Betung

The forest structure differed significantly between Sei Betung and Sikundur for all variables except crown size and crown area (p= >0.05) (Table 4.2). Trees in Sikundur were found to be significantly larger than those in Sei Betung in terms of, tree height and crown volume. The canopy structure differs significantly between both sites with Sikundur having significantly higher canopy density more dispersed gaps due to a lower Morosita index. Tree heights were found to be significantly more heterogenous in Sikundur using the Shannon-Wiener diversity index H' (Hutchesons $t_{1671.02df}$ = 105.24, p= <0.001). Though tree heights were more heterogenous in Sikundur they were more evenly distributed throughout the site with Sikundur having a significantly higher mean for Pielou's J' index of evenness. The composition of the forest also differed significantly between both sites with the ratio of large to small trees being significantly higher in Sikundur and Sikundur also having a significantly higher stem density of trees with DBH >10cm. The average distance of the transect from the edge of the forest also differs significantly between both sites with the average distance in Sikundur being 1.7km whilst in Sei Betung the mean is only 0.55km.

	Sikundur	Sei Betung	U	р
DBH (cm)	21.55±0.61	16.98±0.64	79	<0.001
Tree height (m)	14.9±0.29	9.21±0.45	4	<0.001
Crown size (m)	5.42±0.16	5.11±0.14	225.5	0.348
Crown area (m²)	36.7±2.35	36.35±1.91	283	0.792
Crown volume (m³)	152.76±20.37	94.81±7.81	146	0.008
Canopy density (%)	90.63±0.43	67.01±3.47	1	<0.001
Morosita index	1.1±0.003	1.71±0.29	525	<0.001
rDBH	0.15±0.02	0.04±0.01	75.5	<0.001
Shannon-Wiener H'	2.18±0.03	1.68±0.05	25	<0.001
Evenness J'	0.88±0.01	0.86±0.01	155	0.014
Stem density (stems per ha)	630±36.18	404.99±41.97	98	<0.001
Distance to edge of forest (m)	1698.03±115.23	553.89±79.84	33	<0.001
Nest density (nest per km ²)	9.33±1.22	5.97±3.48	104	<0.001
Orangutan density (OU per km²)	0.79±0.1	0.28±0.17	85	<0.001

Table 4-2 Comparison of mean (SE) forest structure, canopy variables and nest densities between Sikundur and Sei Betung using Mann-Whitney U test

4.3.2.2. Sikundur land units

The land units in Sikundur were defined by Laumonier (1997) based on their soil profile, slope and elevation. Little statistical differences were found between the underlying land units of Sikundur in terms of forest structure, canopy structure or forest composition (Table 4.3). The DBH of trees in each land unit was found to differ significantly (H= 13.54, df=2, p= 0.001) with trees in the Alluvial land unit having the largest mean DBH (22.99±1.85cm) and differing significantly from those in both the Plains (p= <0.05) and Hills land units (p= <0.001). Crown size and crown volume were also found to differ significantly between land units (crown size H= 13.86, p= <0.001, crown volume H= 11, p= 0.004), in both instances significant differences were found between the Alluvial land unit and the Plains and Hills land units whereas no significant different was detected between Hills and Plains (p= >0.05). Crown sizes were largest in the Alluvial land unit whilst crown volumes were larger in the Plains land unit. A slight difference was found for canopy density (H= 6.24, p= 0.04) with only alluvial and hills

being found to have a significant difference (p= <0.05) with canopy densities being greater in the hills land unit. The distance to the edge of the forest for the transects in each land unit was the only other variable which differed significantly between the three land units (H= 33, p= 0.002) with transects in the Plains land unit being significantly further from the forest edge than those in the (p= <0.001).

Variable	Alluvial (1)	Hills (2)	Plains (3)	Kruskal-Wallis test		llis test	Dunn test		
	Mean	Mean	Mean	Н	df	р	1 vs 2	1 vs 3	2 vs 3
DBH (cm)	22.99±0.99	20.48±0.88	21.17±1.21	13.544	2	0.001	***	*	ns
Tree height (m)	15.17±0.38	14.84±0.46	14.7±0.65	1.467	2	0.48	ns	ns	ns
Crown size (m)	5.9±0.32	5.17±0.21	5.2±0.26	13.864	2	<0.001	**	***	ns
Crown area (m²)	37.04±2.41	36.85±2.33	36.2±6.51	3.247	2	0.197	ns	ns	ns
Crown volume (m³)	147.72±14.45	141.8±19.23	168.77±58.19	10.995	2	0.004	*	***	ns
Canopy density (%)	90.34±0.58	90.65±0.97	90.89±0.69	6.239	2	0.044	*	ns	ns
Morosita index	1.02±0.003	1.02 ± 0.01	1.02±0.004	0.421	2	0.81	ns	ns	ns
rDBH	0.19±0.04	0.12±0.03	0.12±0.03	2.849	2	0.241	ns	ns	ns
Shannon-Wiener H'	2.24±0.04	2.22±0.04	2.08±0.05	0.241	2	0.089	ns	ns	ns
Evenness J'	0.91±0.01	0.89±0.01	0.89±0.01	2.403	2	0.301	ns	ns	ns
Stem density (stems per ha)	609.62±28.87	678.83±89.55	601.55±58.32	98	2	0.879	ns	ns	ns
Distance to edge of forest (m)	1638±242.38	2205±70.67	1251.1±116.03	33	2	0.002	ns	ns	***
Nest density (nest per km²)	3.1±2.28	3.6±1.72	4.5±2.33	1.825	2	0.402	ns	ns	ns
Orangutan density 2015 (OU per km²)	0.66±0.19	0.76±0.15	0.95±0.2	85	2	0.402	ns	ns	ns
OU density April 2016 (OU per km²)	0.118±0.08	0.177±0.06	0.217±0.07	2.1478	2	0.342	ns	ns	ns
OU density Jul 2016 (OU per km²)	0.086±0.04	0.03±0.02	0.09±0.04	1.367	2	0.505	ns	ns	ns

Table 4-3 Comparison of forest structure variables across the three land units in Sikundur using the Kruskal-Wallis test and the Dunn's post hoc test with means and standard errors presented

Dunn test df= 1, ns= not significant, * = P < 0.05, **= P < 0.01 ***= P < 0.001

When comparing between the age classes of the nests in each sampling season the age distribution is found to be significantly different between the three sampling seasons X^2_{6df} = 19.4, P= 0.004. Surveys in 2015 show a considerably higher proportion of older nests with twice as many category 4 nests as was recorded in April 2016 and significantly fewer newer nests in 2015 compared either seasons in 2016 (Fig. S16). With the long decay rate in Sikundur of ~231.3-248 days (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2004a) it is likely that a number of these nests were built during mid-2014.

4.3.3 PCA analysis of field sites and land units

Principal component analysis were run for the forest structure variables and the data points were grouped by site and land unit to determine how each differs based upon their forest structure. The first three principal components of forest structure were found to be of interest using the Kaiser criterion as these were the only principle components to have eigenvalues >1 (PC1- 6.19, PC- 2.35, PC3- 1.45) (Fig 4.2). In addition, each of these variables contains only original variables with loadings exceeding 0.3. Each principal component also fits to the interpretability criterion whereby each important principal component represents a linear combination of original variables representing the same latent concept (Table 4.4) (Echeverry-Galvis et al. 2014). PC1 can be categorised as focused on tree size (DBH and height). PC2 is more focused on the canopy in regards to its depth, density and the distribution of gaps. PC3 could be considered as the level of disturbance by the distance from the edge of the forest and the evenness of tree sizes across the site.

There is no overlap in forest structure properties between Sei Betung and Sikundur whereas the land units in Sikundur display considerable overlap which further evidences the previous conclusion upon the similarity of the three land units (Fig 4.3). The Plains data is closest to that of Sei Betung in terms of forest structure, as can be seen by the proximity of the ellipses in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4-4 Scree plot of principal components of forest structure in Sikundur and Sei Betung, the eigenvalues show that only the first three principal components are of interest as their values are >1.



Table 4-4 Selected observed variables and corresponding coefficients based on interpretability and Kaiser criterion for PCA analyses of Sumatran orangutan nest densities in Sikundur and Sei Betung



Figure 4-5 Biplot of the first and second principal components of the PCA analysis for forest structure variables across Sei Betung and the three soil type land units in Sikundur.

4.3.4 Modelling of the influence of forest structure parameters upon nest numbers Following the PCA analysis, models were run to determine which forest structure parameters were most influential in determining nest numbers. Tree height, DBH and crown volume were removed from the models due to VIF scores >5 suggesting multicollinearity along with the PCA biplot suggesting the high level of collinearity between rDBH and DBH, and tree height with the rugosity (Shannon-Weiner H' for diversity of tree heights). The effect of field site was tested as a random effect in a generalized linear mixed effect model (GLMM) against a generalised linear model (GLM), however it was found to have no effect upon the model with both being considered identical by using a Likelihood ratio ANOVA chi square test (X²=0, df=1, p= 1) with both having identical log likelihoods and deviance, and the simpler model also had both lower AIC and BIC values (GLM AIC= 251.89, BIC= 272.47, GLMM AIC= 253.89, BIC= 276.34). Therefore, the simpler GLM was used for further analysis. The negative binomial regression found 11 candidate models with AICc scores <2, which included the null model, these candidate models are presented in Table 4.5. From these models, 5 variables were found to be recurrent and of importance to determining nest densities in Sikundur and Sei Betung, these variables are canopy density, Morosita index, rugosity (Shannon-Wiener H' tree height diversity), stem density and distance to the edge of forest (Table 4.6).

Table 4-5 Top candidate models (AICc <2) of the forest structure variables which influence nest densitie	S
of Sumatran orangutans in Sikundur and Sei Betung	

Model	Adj R ²	df	logLik	AICc	∆AIC	weight
Total nests~Canopy Density+Distance to edge	0.121	4	-117.329	243.6	0	0.031
Total nests~Morosita index	0.069	3	-118.72	244	0.4	0.025
Total nests~Distance to edge+Morosita index+Shannon	0.158	5	-116.315	244.1	0.47	0.024
Wiener						
Total nests~Distance to edge+Shannon Wiener	0.107	4	-117.712	244.4	0.77	0.021
Total nests~Distance to edge+Morosita index	0.104	4	-117.799	244.5	0.94	0.019
Total nests~Canopy Density	0.054	3	-119.092	244.7	1.14	0.018
Total nests~Distance to edge+Shannon Wiener+Stem	0.142	5	-116.753	244.9	1.34	0.016
density						
Total nests~Canopy density+Distance to edge+Shannon	0.141	5	-116.806	245	1.45	0.015
Wiener						
Null model	0	2	-120.413	245.1	1.5	0.015
Total nests~Shannon Wiener	0.042	3	-119.396	245.3	1.75	0.013
Total nests~Canopy density~Distance to edge+Stem density	0.131	5	-117.062	245.6	1.96	0.012
Full model	0.205	11	-114.943	259.2	15.63	0

Model averaging found that of these five important variables, distance from the forest edge was the most important variable with a RI (relative importance) score of 0.66, which was found to be negatively associated with nest densities. The other variables were found to be positively associated with nest densities with higher Shannon-Wiener values, increased canopy and stem densities and lower Morosita index values all being associated with increasing nest densities (Fig 5.4). Of these, stem density was of the least importance, whilst canopy density and Morosita index had similar RI values and the Shannon-Wiener index was the second most important.

Table 4-6 Model averaged parameters from the top performing models (Δ AIC <2) of the multi-model inference of the influence of forest structure parameters on orangutan densities in Sikundur and Sei Betung

Variables	Estimate	Std Error	Adj SE	z value	Ρ	RI	2.5% CI	97.5% Cl
Intercept	-0.373	2.22	2.238	0.167	0.868		-4.76	4.014
Canopy Density	0.013	0.021	0.021	0.611	0.542	0.36	-0.004	0.074
Distance to edge	-0.373	0.369	0.373	1	0.317	0.66	-1.192	0.067
Morosita index	-0.282	0.491	0.495	0.569	0.569	0.33	-1.843	0.143
Shannon-Wiener H'	0.711	1.003	1.011	0.703	0.482	0.43	-0.102	3.424
Stem density	0.0001	0.0005	0.0005	0.273	0.785	0.13	-0.001	0.003



Figure 4-6 Marginal effects plots of canopy density, Morosita index, Shannon-Wiener H', distance to the edge of forest and stem density upon predicted orangutan nest densities. A- Canopy density (%), B- Morosita index, C-Rugosity (Shannon Wiener H' diversity of tree heights), D- Distance to forest edge (km), E- Stem density (stems per/ha)

4.3.5 Influence of forest structure on nest site clustering in Sei Betung

Due to the significant clustering of nests in Sei Betung, a PCA analysis was run to determine whether

the transects with nests present differed significantly in terms of forest structure from transects where

nests were absent. The analysis was run using all variables and the five important variables from the earlier GLM for determining nest site selection; canopy density, Morosita index, stem density, rugosity and distance to forest edge. Both offered similar results, with a large number of variables overlapping in the more complex analysis, thus the simpler analysis based on the model results was used and is reported below. Based on the Kaiser and interpretability criteria only the first two principal components were found to be of importance with only the first two principal components having eigenvalues >1 (Fig 4.5) and both components containing each of the variables with coefficients >0.3 (Table 4.6).



Figure 4-7 Scree plot of principal components for the interaction of forest structure on the presence and absence of nests

Table 4-7 Table 5.6 Variables and their loading for the important principal components for the PCA of forest structure on the presence and absence of nests on transects in Sei Betung

Component	Variable	Coefficient
PC1	Canopy density	-0.597
	Morosita index	0.573
	Stem density	-0.507
PC2	Rugosity (Shannon Wiener H' tree height)	0.838
	Distance to forest edge	0.492

Based on the results of the PCA in Figure 5.6 it is evident that there is significant overlap in the forest structure properties of transects where nests are present and those where no nests were found. The only visible difference is in the absence of transects with extreme values for nest transects, with the majority of nest transects being in the centre of the interaction having more "average" values.



Figure 4-8 PCA biplot of the influence of important forest structure variable upon the presence or absence of nests on transects in Sei Betung

4.4 Discussion

Forest structure in Sikundur and Sei Betung were found to be significantly different for all structural variables except crown size and crown area echoing the results of Chapter 2. Forests in Sikundur exhibited higher canopy density, fewer and smaller gaps, more heterogenous and evenly distributed tree heights as well as taller trees and a higher ratio of trees with large trunks. The similarity in crown size and crown area for trees which otherwise would be considered significantly smaller in Sei Betung is likely a product of the lower stem density in Sei Betung compared to that in Sikundur. The lower stem density would allow for greater space for the trees to spread out horizontally and reduce the need to compete for light vertically as is required in more dense forests such as Sikundur and allows for the trees in Sei Betung to more quickly shade out their competitors (Yoda 1974; Hartshorn 1978; Clark

& Clark 1992; Alvarez-Buylla & Martinez-Ramos 1992; Ackerly 1996; Clark et al. 1996; Sterck & Bongers 2001)

As was expected, orangutan densities were found to be significantly lower (65% lower) in the restoration forest in Sei Betung in comparison to the naturally recovered forest of Sikundur. The significantly lower orangutan density in Sei Betung is likely due to the significant differences in forest structure between the two sites. Distance to forest edge and therefore human influence was found to differ significantly between sites with nests in Sei Betung built considerable closer to the forest edge than Sikundur. However, the models found that increased distance from the forest edge was negatively associated with nest densities. Therefore, should distance from forest edge have been the most influential variable in differentiating Sikundur from Sei Betung in terms of nest densities then we would have expected to find higher nest densities in Sei Betung than Sikundur. As the opposite was found then we must conclude that it is the differences in forest structure which have led to the differences in nest densities.

The forest structure results showed that Sikundur had a more closed structure with more large trees and fewer gaps whilst Sei Betung has significantly more large gaps and is much more homogenous in terms of tree heights. Indicating that the forest condition in Sei Betung has yet to recover to a level which could be compared to the recovering selectively logged forest of Sikundur and that these changes in forest structure directly influence the orangutan densities in the field site. These results further support what was found by Felton et al. 2003 that when a forest has experienced considerable human disturbance orangutan densities decline along with the forests condition, however the disparity in orangutan densities between Sikundur and Sei Betung was much larger than what was found by Felton et al. (2003) who observed a drop of 21% between their field sites in Gunung Palung National Park and a nearby site that had been selectively hand logged. The difference in disturbance levels between Felton et al's (2003) study and ours may be why the decrease in orangutan densities is more pronounced in our study. Felton et al. (2003) reported that the logging had occurred two years prior to their study and that loggers had extracted on average 7 trees/ha with a range of 0-30 trees/ha. Sei Betung however was previously an illegal oil palm plantation that was cleared and replanted over the last 15 years. Observing the difference in stem densities between Sei Betung and Sikundur (Table 4.2) we see that Sei Betung has considerably fewer than Sikundur (404.99 stems/ha versus 630 stems/ha) so the effect on orangutan densities should be higher as was observed.

Nests in Sei Betung showed considerable clustering with 82.2% of all nests in Sei Betung found on two adjacent transects. These clusters of nests corroborate what was found by Wich et al. 2016 with the greatest concentrations of nests found in the same area of the site; to the west and near to the primary forest to the south which had never been previously cleared (Hartini et al. 2017). This area has

experienced less severe degradation and as such had only received enrichment planting (~400 seedlings per ha) compared to the other areas of the site which had been more thoroughly replanted (~1100+ seedlings per ha). Initially, the clustering of nests was thought to be due to a higher density of preferred nesting trees on these transects which would have followed the results from Chapter 2 and Ancrenaz et al. 2004 with "high quality" nest trees holding multiple nests suggesting potential reuse of these preferred nesting trees. However, PCA analysis of the transects in Sei Betung showed that in terms of forest structure, transects where nests were present did not differ significantly from those transects where nests were absent. The only transects where extreme scores for forest structure variables were found were also those found to have no nests. Thereby suggesting that although forest structure may explain why some forest areas are avoided for nesting it does not help to explain why some areas are preferred over others when forest structure appears similar. Therefore, another factor which we did not measure must be drawing orangutans to those transects and not others.

This could potentially be the presence or greater densities of preferred food species on those transects which are not found elsewhere within Sei Betung or in as great densities. The transect with the greatest nest density in Sei Betung (OIC4A) runs through the region of the site where Wich et al. (2016) also found the highest densities of orangutans in their study. This region of Sei Betung is the less disturbed area referred to as secondary forest which received only enrichment planting (~400 seedlings per/Ha) rather than the completely clear felled sections which were more densely replanted (~1100 seedlings per/Ha) (Wich et al. 2016). There is the potential that due to the complete removal of the forest in the other parts of Sei Betung that certain species are missing or may be slower growing so are not available to orangutans for nesting or food as they would be in the less disturbed areas where they may not have been removed during the initial logging and clearance. Further testing is needed to assess whether the presence or absence of particular tree species could influence orangutan densities, in other forests orangutan densities are known to be highly influenced by the densities of soft-pulp fruits (Djojosudharmo & van Schaik 1992) and figs which provide an important fall back food for orangutans but are known to be found in particularly low densities in Sikundur and Sei Betung (Wich et al. 2004a). The densities of figs and fleshy fruits weren't surveyed as initially as prior research by Knop et al. (2004) on orangutan densities in Sikundur had found no correlation between orangutan densities and fruit availability. However, since the field research was completed Kanamori et al. (2017) have published their study where they discounted Knop et al's (2004) results due to the short period that their study was conducted over (1 year) as this could miss potential peak fruit periods of masting species as well as not detect the movement of orangutans into the area. Not surveying for fruit availability was a significant oversight and in future research should be an essential parameter to record.

In contrast to Sei Betung, no significant differences were observed between the three land units in Sikundur and nests were found to be generally well spread throughout the transects. Though no significant difference was detected between land units for any of the sampling periods, the Alluvial transects were found to have a mean orangutan density 30.53% lower than that of the Plains in 2015 and similarly for both samples in 2016. This difference in orangutan densities is larger than what was reported by Felton et al. 2003 between their logged and unlogged sites. The lack of any significant difference in orangutan densities between land units could be due to the similarities between the land units in terms of forest structure or potentially due to sampling size being too small in regards to the number of nests per land unit and transect which could be masking the difference between the land units. Both Cannon & Leighton (1994) and DeWalt & Chave (2004) found that within sites, soil types had little influence upon forest structure. The lack of significant difference in orangutan densities between the land units and lower nest density in the Alluvial land unit contrasts with the results of Vogel et al. (2015). Their study found that between the two geographically close peat swamp sites of Tuanan and Sabangau, orangutan densities were twice as high in Tuanan than Sabangau. Vogel et al. (2015) theorised that this difference was due to differences in soil nutrients influencing fruit productivity of the sites. In the more nutrient rich Tuanan, higher fruit productivity would lead to orangutan diets being of more nutritional quality, thereby allowing for greater orangutan densities than in the nutritionally deficient Sabangau. Tuanan had higher soil nutrient as it is in a seasonally rheotrophic area with shallower peat and having a more alluvial flooding regime whilst Sabangau is in an ombrotrophic bog which receives limited nutrient input from rain only (Vogel et al. 2015). There is also the potential that their results could be due to potential differences in forest structure as the higher levels of soil nutrients in Tuanan may also allow for higher densities of large trees which would be preferred for nest sites (Paoli et al. 2008). Our results suggest that the differences in forest structure and productivity for soil types in Sikundur are markedly less than was observed between Tuanan and Sabangau by Vogel et al. (2015) which is potentially why no significant difference was found in orangutan densities between the land units in Sikundur.

The orangutan densities differed significantly between sampling seasons with significantly more orangutans found in 2015 than in either April or August 2016. These significant differences in orangutan densities could be linked to the seasonal changes in fruit availability and the rainy seasons. Buij et al. 2002 found that orangutan densities closely followed fruit availability in the Sumatran field site of Ketambe, with orangutans being observed feeding on fruiting fig trees in a group of up to 9 individuals (Rijksen 1978; Sugardjito et al. 1987; Utami et al. 1997). A mast which happened in mid-2014 (Nowak & Singleton 2016) potentially could be the cause for the significantly higher densities of older nests recorded in early 2015. Surveys in 2015 show a considerably higher proportion of older nests than either survey in 2016, with twice as many category 4 nests recorded in 2015 than April 2016. With the long decay rate in Sikundur of ~231.3-248 days (Knop et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2004a)
there is the potential for these nests to have been built during this mast period (Nowak & Singleton 2016). Following the masting event, the fruit availability dropped and this is most likely why the orangutan densities also dropped so significantly (Fig 4.9).



Figure 4-9 The average monthly percent of liana/tree stems with fruit for Sikundur from June 2013- December 2015, including the mean, +1 and +2 standard deviations from the mean. This shows a potential mast event occurred in mid-2014 which may be responsible for the higher density of old nests found in early 2015. Taken from Nowak & Singleton (2016).

This seasonality of fruit availability likely explains why the orangutan densities for Sikundur also differ significantly across the three sampling periods as well as from prior studies in Sikundur; Wich et al. 2004 gave an estimate of 1.04 ind/km² whilst Knop et al. 2004 gave estimates of 0.21 ind/km² for the primary forest and 0.3 ind/km² for the logged forest where our surveys took place which also show significant variation. Given the timescale between the studies and the fluctuations in fruit availability, it is likely that it is not seasonal changes but supra-annual fluctuations in fruit availability from periodic events suggest masting events which are influencing the variability in orangutan densities and therefore nest densities in Sikundur. Generally, Sumatran forests are considered to offer higher fruit production levels than those in Borneo, with strangler figs being of particular importance to orangutans in Sumatra as they offer a stable food source due to their year round fruiting unlike other seasonal and masting fruits (Windsor et al. 1989; Sugardjito et al. 1987; Wich et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2011). However, Sikundur differs from other Sumatran sites as it has one of the lowest fruiting scores and lowest densities of strangler figs of any Sumatran site (Wich et al. 2004a; Nowak & Singleton 2015, 2016). Sikundur's fruiting score is most comparable to that of Bornean field sites and is considerably lower than the published range of the Sumatran sites of Ketambe and Suag Balimbing (Wich et al. 2004; Wich et al. 2011; Nowak & Singleton 2016). This extremely low average fruit availability outside

of masting events is likely the reason for the lower density estimates for the site and why when masting events do occur that the population density increases so significantly as orangutans move into the area from areas where fruit availability may be lower to make the most of the high fruit availability (Buij et al. 2002; Kanamori et al. 2017).

Kanamori et al (2017) found that in Danum Valley in Borneo found that orangutans with wide and overlapping ranges gathered into these smaller core areas during periods of high fruit availability so that they could make the most of the localised high fruit availability. Similarly, in Ketambe in Sumatra Buij et al. (2002) found evidence supporting the seasonal movement of orangutans as they commuted between areas following the fruit peak as in Ketambe the seasonal fruit availability changed with altitude. Buij et al. (2002) found that periods of peak fruit availability differed with altitude and that increases in orangutan densities were highly correlated with those periods of peak fruit availability. Their surveys were conducted in areas that included altitudes of 250-500m, 500-1000m and 1000-1500m. Within the space of 20km travelling south-west from Sikundur the elevation increases from 50m to 1200m as there is a large mountain range to the west of Sikundur. This variation in altitude and therefore differences in peak fruit periods could explain from where the increased densities of orangutans have come from. A future research project could investigate the orangutan densities in these areas to the west of Sikundur and whether they also show different periods of peak fruit availability.

A study by Singleton & Van Schaik (2001) found that in the Sumatran peat swamp of Suaq Balimbing, minimum home range size for females was estimated at ~850ha and utilised a core area of ~500ha and occasionally made excursions to peripheral areas in search of favoured fruit and the longest recorded excursion coincided with a mast event. Fruit availability is generally more consistent and masting species are less common within peat swamps compared to forests and as such there is less pressure for orangutans to expend as much energy searching for fruit (Appanah 1993; Wich & Van Schaik 2000; Singleton & Van Schaik 2001; Marshall et al. 2009; Wich et al. 2011b) to find food, so there is the potential that the home ranges of orangutans in the lowland forests of Sikundur and Sei Betung are significantly larger than those in Sei Betung. This could be an interesting topic for future research.

Other events such as floods (Kanamori et al. 2017) and logging (MacKinnon 1971; Mackinnon 1974) have also been found to cause temporary increases in orangutan densities as orangutans move away from the disturbance to less disturbed forests. However, no such events occurred during the field research period of this study. Our results appear to further support the conclusions of Kanamori et al. (2017) and Buij et al. (2002) that in areas with generally low fruit availability such as dipterocarp forests, during periods of high fruit availability, such as during a mast event, orangutans from neighbouring areas and those with overlapping ranges will congregate into this smaller area to make

the most of the increased fruit availability and then disperse once fruit availability drops which would give the more typical lower densities. These results suggest that within these lowland disturbed forests orangutan densities are likely to fluctuate significantly with supra-annual fluctuations in fruit availability and that to give reliable estimates of orangutan densities survey must either be conducted over larger areas to record those individuals moving through the peripheral areas. Alternatively, surveys could be conducted over a longer period of time to determine the size of the "resident" population whose home range is Sikundur and Sei compared to the "transient" or "visitor" population who are individuals from neighbouring areas who have followed the fruiting peak.

Multi-model inference indicated that the variables which most influence orangutan densities do not differ between Sikundur and Sei Betung and that the important biotic variables are the same, irrespective of the level of disturbance a site has experienced, similar to what was found in the previous chapters of this thesis. Nest and orangutan densities were most influenced by reduced distance to the edge of the forest This result was the opposite of what was expected with distance found to be negatively correlated with orangutan densities. This result is also in direct opposition to what was found by Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012, though the distances from the edge of the forest they used were much greater than in our study. A possible explanation for why orangutans are using areas near to the forest edge more could be potentially be due to the edge effect, lack of hunting and the compression effect if habitat loss was more recent.

Through the opening up of the forest, edges provide an opportunity for new growth and for pioneer species to grow which are otherwise generally absent from the forest interior (Laurance et al. 2006, 2009; Broadbent et al. 2008; Berry et al. 2008; Goosem & Tucker 2013; Nguyen et al. 2014). Vegetation densities (Lovejoy et al. 1986; Williams-Linera 1990) and fruit production/availability are also found to be higher in forest edges (Restrepo et al. 1999) and the basal areas of trees within the edges are also larger than those of similar age in the interior (Williams-Linera 1990) with basal area being linked to greater nest stability (Cheyne et al. 2013). These factors suggest that these edges of the forest could provide both good food sources and safe, stable nesting sites for orangutans. Edges also potentially offer greater potential for thermoregulation as their more open habitat would allow for more wind and breezes that could help cool the animal. However, this increased wind could also lead to lower nest stability and potential for nest failure in strong winds. Our results in Chapter 2 and 3 found that orangutans appeared to take measures that minimised the impact of wind on the nest so that nest comfort and safety could be maximised. Further research is needed to identify the tree species occurring in these edge areas as well as observe orangutan behaviour within these areas to determine if they do have higher productivity and that as such orangutans are feeding more within these edge habitats.

Though hunting is known to influence orangutan densities and habitat selection for Bornean orangutans (Marshall et al. 2006) and Tapanuli orangutans in Batang Toru in Sumatra (Wich et al. 2012b), it is less understood for the Sumatran orangutans within the Leuser Ecosystem. It has been suggested though that due to the Islamic religious beliefs within this area hunting for orangutans may occur less with hunting for food very unlikely to occur. In contrast to in Batang Toru where hunting and consuming orangutans and other forest species has been a part of the culture for a long time (Rijksen & Meijard 1999; Davis et al. 2013). This lower level of hunting could be a reason why orangutans in this area do not avoid areas closer to the forest edges within these two sites that closely border plantations and agroforestry areas. In areas where active logging is occurring orangutan densities have been found to decline sharply, whilst in neighbouring areas which are less disturbed the densities increase as orangutans move to these areas (Husson et al. 2009). However, such behaviour has only been recorded in Borneo and in studies from Suaq and Ketambe in Sumatra orangutans; females in particular, appear to have more stable and fixed home ranges. Furthermore, no large scale logging was recorded in Sikundur in 2015 or just prior to the study, only small scale disturbances but is unlikely to significantly impacted orangutan densities across the site (Nowak & Singleton 2015). Though hunting may be lower there is still a significant potential for killings due to fear or in retribution for crop raiding as Sikundur and Sei Betung are both surrounded by oil palm plantations and fruit gardens planted by local villagers (Fig 4.20) (Meijaard et al. 2011; Campbell-Smith et al. 2012; Davis et al. 2013).

The forest edges also offer easier access to the nearby plantations and could also provide a reason for why the edges of the forest are so preferred as both Sikundur and Sei Betung are found on a "peninsula" of forest surrounded by a sea of oil palm plantations and local people's "gardens" where they grow fruits such as oranges and jackfruit (Rijksen & Meijard 1999). Given Sikundur's extremely low fruiting score outside of mast events ad extremely low density of strangler figs which are usually a fallback food for orangutans in other Sumatran sites (Sugardjito et al. 1987; Wich et al. 2004a), it could be assumed that orangutans within Sikundur and Sei Betung (by virtue of its close proximity to Sikundur and lower forest condition) are be utilising another food source as a fallback food during periods of low fruit production. This could potentially lead to orang-utans raiding the nearby plantations and fruit "gardens" as these offer a potential fall-back food, this would explain their preference for nest sites near to the forest edges but also presents a potential source of conflict with local villages due to the loss of economically important crops and fear of the animals (Freund et al. 2017; Wich et al. 2011). It is unknown how frequently if at all crop raiding occurs in the plantations surrounding Sikundur and Sei Betung. Crop raiding by orangutans is a serious issue that does occur at other sites in Sumatra such at Batu Serangan (Wich et al. 2011a; Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a, 2012) as well as on Borneo (Meijaard et al. 2011; Spehar & Rayadin 2017; Freund et al. 2017) where this already leads to significant numbers of orangutans being killed in retribution for damaging economically valuable crops (Wich et al. 2011a; Freund et al. 2017). Further research could both survey the plantations for possible orangutan use and

visit local villages and plantations and conduct surveys with villagers to assess how often raiding may occur and how much of a threat orangutan are perceived as to their crops and therefore locals' attitudes to orangutans and killing them. Should orangutans be found to be frequently entering and raiding plantations and fruit gardens then this is a potentially significant source of conflict and measures would need to be taken to minimise conflict such as through education or use of deterrents.



Figure 4-10 Map taken from Nowak & Singleton (2016) showing forest loss in the Sei Beutng area of Gunung Leuser National Park (TNGL) betweeen 2000-2014. Sikundur is in the south of the map and Sei Betung in the north.

The other variables which were found to be of importance for predicting nest densities reflected the forest structure and the quality of the forest and its level of recovery, these were canopy density, Morosita index, stem density and the Shannon-Wiener diversity index of tree heights. The models suggest that orangutans prefer habitats with greater canopy closure with fewer, more dispersed gaps and greater stem densities which would both allow for easier travel through the forest but also greater choice of nest sites (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; Manduell et al. 2011, 2012; Cheyne et al. 2013). A more heterogenous forest in terms of tree heights is both likely to be older and healthier as regrowth forest will tend to be of similar heights as it was cleared at the same time rather than the mixed ages you find in an intact forest where natural tree fall provides the opportunity for new trees to take their place and creating a natural heterogeneity of heights (Kaufmann et al. 2000; Okuda et al. 2003). The results from Sei Betung display such a trend, having a significantly lower rugosity (Shannon-Wiener H' tree height diversity) score when compared to Sikundur. Areas with a greater diversity of tree heights are also going to have a higher number of larger trees which are preferred for nesting by orangutans which again is what we found between Sikundur and Sei Betung (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Cheyne et al. 2013).

4.5 Conclusion

The results of this study have found that orangutan densities are significantly lower in reforestation areas compared to old naturally recovered selectively logged forests. The underlying soil type was found to have little impact upon the above ground forest structure and the orangutan densities within these land units. However, orangutan densities fluctuated significantly with season and year and appear to correlate with fluctuations fruit availability in Sikundur reported in (Nowak & Singleton 2016). Prior research by Buij et al. (2002) found that orangutans in Ketambe were travelling between sites following the peak fruit availability which changed timing with altitude. As there is a large mountain range within 20km of Sikundur there is potential that a similar altitudinal gradient of seasonal fruit availability exists there. Such changes in the timing of peak fruit could lead to similar seasonal movements of orangutans into Sikundur. This suggests that either surveys over wider areas or longer survey periods over a number of years are required in these forests to get accurate population estimates due to highly variable population densities due to seasonal movements. Distance to the edge of the forest was negatively correlated with orangutan densities which could be a product of increased fruit productivity due to the edge effect, lower hunting pressures in the area due to local religious beliefs and the proximity to oil palm and fruit plantations. The quality of the forest structure also had a significant influence on nest densities with areas with more heterogenous tree heights, denser canopies, fewer and more disperse gaps and higher stem densities preferred.

Given the increasing rate at which the world's forests are being lost and in particular in North Sumatra, which could lose >25% of its forest cover by 2030, leading to a possible to a loss of 25% of the Sumatran orangutan population it is vitally important to both protect what forests remain but also to try to increase forest lands within North Sumatra. Reforestation efforts and natural forest regeneration both play an important part in this and have been found to offer useful habitat to orangutans. The enrichment of less degraded areas surrounding intact forests provides the best method for both increasing orangutan habitat in both a cost-effective method as opposed to full replanting and quicker than natural regrowth to obtain similar forest structure properties. Further research is necessary to understand whether orangutans are using the nearby plantations and if so, how this is perceived by locals.

Chapter 5: General Discussion and Conclusions

This thesis adds to a growing body of work regarding orangutan nest ecology with the novelty of the direct comparison between sites which have experienced different levels of disturbance and the first in-depth research into orangutan nest ecology within the lowland dipterocarp forests of Sumatra and in an actively reforested site. This study also utilised novel methods such as canopy photography to quantify tree architecture and forest structure to determine what influences nest densities such as canopy quality and gap frequency through the use of canopy photographic methods to quantify canopy density and Morosita index (Goodenough & Goodenough 2012; Williams et al. 2013). The comparison between sites and differences in disturbance levels has allowed us to understand how trends in nest site selection, nest positions and nest densities are influenced by forest disturbance levels and selection preferences change with disturbance. The results provide support for the selectivity of orangutan nest site selection and nest building and further support the hypotheses that predator avoidance is the principal drivers for nest site selection and that nest stability, safety and protection from wind and rain are limiting factors that prevent nests being built in unsuitable branches. The patterns of selection for nest sites and responses to tree architecture determining nest height and position were found to be similar across sites and across levels of disturbance, but that the lower densities of quality nest sites and the increased openness in Sei Betung have led to nests being more clustered at that site. Furthermore, a significantly higher proportion of trees holding multiple nests than has been previously mentioned anywhere in the literature was also found in Sei Betung, suggesting that there is a significant pressure on quality nest trees in these more disturbed forests. The data for nest densities however appear to suggest that nest densities are not only influenced by the availability of preferred nest trees and the forest structure, but that other factors beyond forest structure may be significantly influencing the clustering of nest sites in Sei Betung such as fruit availability, edge effects and the opportunity of feeding in plantations. Further research is needed to truly determine what these other factors are and how they influence nest densities. Future research into the demographics behind nest positions and nest site selection could help to both build on prior research suggesting a link between age, body size and nest positions and if found to be true, nest positions could provide researchers and land managers with a simple way of determining the populations demographics. However, this study does conclusively show that forest structure significantly influences nest site selection, nest height, position and nest densities in Sumatran orangutans.

5.1 The influence of forest structure on nest tree selection

The research chapters of this thesis sought to test a number of hypotheses. In the first research chapter; Chapter 3, the principal aims were to investigate the influence forest structure has upon nest tree selection in particular tree architecture and tree species and whether the patterns of selection were shared across sites with having experienced differing levels of human disturbance. Nest site selection and preferences were found not to differ significantly across sites showing that regardless of disturbance levels the important tree architecture factors remain the same. Methods used in this chapter were chosen as they offered a direct test of nest site selection by comparing nest tree selection with both trees within the immediate vicinity of the nest tree (5m radius) along with trees randomly sampled throughout each site to provide a test of selection ratios (use/availability) as was noted in Prasetyo et al. (2009) to be a concern with previous studies. Those studies which did test selection ratios Cheyne et al. (2013) & Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) both utilised vegetation data from phenology plots to test against nest trees, these plots were set in a limited number of areas and could potentially mispresent what the true availability of tree species and architecture types may be available within the forest. By using transects and also measuring the trees within the immediate vicinity of the nest tree we are able to give a true value of the availability of each tree type within the environment and what was available to the orangutan when it decided to rest and build a nest.

The differences in the comparisons between nests and non-nest trees and nests and those within 5m radius were very similar and model averaging for both showed the significant influence crown size and crown shape have upon nest site selection. For both sites, orangutans showed significant preferences for larger than average trees in terms of crown size, tree height and crown area and significant preferences for cone and upside down-cone shaped crowns, whilst significantly avoiding extremely large trees and those with bent-over crown and elongated-spheroid crown shapes. This preference for "larger than average" trees but avoidance of extremely large trees lends weight to Cheyne et al's (2013) findings that orangutans prefer to nest within the upper canopy but avoid more exposed positions that extremely large trees would provide and that more stable trees are preferred for nest sites. This both contrasts with both the findings of Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) that within disturbed sites that orangutans select for the tallest trees available but also those of Prasetyo et al. (2012) where orangutans were nesting in quite small trees compared to the surrounding ones. This could be due to site differences such as average wind speeds and predation pressures as Ancrenaz et al. (2004) stated that the preference for extremely large trees in their site is likely a response to disturbance and frequent tree fall in heavy winds. Similarly, orangutans in Prasetyo et al. (2012) study may be in a site with either frequent strong wind or rain, thus by nesting in smaller trees below the canopy they are able to find more shelter from overhead canopy. For our site however, model averaging found that DBH was negatively associated with the probability of a tree holding a nest. Such an association suggests that although the majority of tree architecture parameters orangutans select for are

associated with stability, predator avoidance is likely the primary driver for nest site selection, however further testing is required to prove this. A potential avenue of study could use a model similar to that in the study by Lameira et al. (2013) but rather than investigating alarm calls we record changes in nest site selection as a response to the placement of predator models in a site.

Unexpectedly, a large proportion of nest trees in Sei Betung were found to contain multiple nests, analysis of the data found that the number of multiple nest trees was significantly higher in Sei Betung (40%) than Sikundur (11.1%) and indeed much higher than has been reported from any other field site (Singleton 2000; Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2009, 2012; Kanamori et al. 2017). Furthermore, the trees holding multiple nests in Sikundur were found to be significantly taller than single nest trees and in Sei Betung these multiple-nest trees had significantly larger crowns than those of single nest trees in terms of volume, size and area. Modelling found that there was a significant link between trees holding multiple nests and lower crown connectivity as well as larger crown size, DBH and crown area. This link between multiple nests, low connectivity and tree structure attributes which are associated with increased stability suggest that in these more open habitats, preferred nest trees that are large and strong are rare and as such reuse is required do to the limited number of potential nest sites compared to forests such as Sikundur. When these results are paired with those from Chapter 4 that trees with larger crown areas are preferred for Position 2 nests there does appear to be more support for the predator avoidance hypothesis. Position 2 nests are one of the most difficult for predators to access due to the limited pathways to the nests (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Stewart & Pruetz 2013) and by being nearer to the end of the branch vibrations from the movement of the predator are likely to be more noticeable and give the nesting individual more time to escape (Anderson 1984, 2000; Fan & Jiang 2008; Teichroeb et al. 2012). Furthermore, when comparing the proportions of nest positions used in single nest and multiple nest trees a greater proportion of nests in multiple nest trees were found to be built in Position 2- on the end of branches. These results further support the hypothesis that predator avoidance is the primary driver of nest site selection for orangutans in Sei Betung, with selection for trees with greater stabilising properties allowing for higher and safer nest positions to be built.

These results also further support the findings of Ancrenaz et al. (2004a) that in more disturbed or open areas where large trees are sparser, orangutans will reuse those few large tree significantly more than in areas where large trees are common, suggesting that this lack of ideal nesting sites places an added pressure upon orangutans to find good, stable nest trees and that there may be competition over these ideal nest trees. Prior studies have found that although orangutans travel through and forage in plantations and heavily disturbed areas, they still rely upon more natural forests for sleeping, resting and feeding (Spehar & Rayadin 2017). This reliance on more natural forests may be due to a lack of quality nest sites, this lack of quality nest sites could constrain the recolonization of orangutans in this area and movement to new areas and lead to the clustering of orangutans in areas where preferred nest sites are available. Nests were found to be clustered significantly more in Sei Betung than Sikundur which suggests that not only are there few ideal nest sites within Sei Betung as evidenced by the high incidence of multiple nests trees but also the clustering shows that these nest trees are poorly spread through the forest. Therefore, there is a need for further replanting to encourage the wider use of the site by orangutans. To promote the recolonization of sites by orangutans there should be a focus on planting of preferred nest tree species which have the preferred architecture for nest building along with planting more preferred food species and filling in gaps with fast growing trees to ensure high canopy densities to facilitate easier movement through the site. These planting focuses could also be used in habitat corridors to better facilitate the movement of orangutans between habitat areas and avoid the need for travelling through plantations. Our results showed that orangutan highly utilised pioneer species in Sei Betung as nest sites so a focus should be placed on planting these species when conducting reforestation projects. We also identified a number of other species that orangutans' favour as nest sites which have significant value as timber but also have high potential value for medicine and drug discovery (Wang et al. 2004; Fern 2019). Such beneficial uses could offer a way to support the conservation of orangutans and their habitats for the gathering of such valuable forest products.

5.2 How forest structure influences nest height and nest position

In chapter 4, we sought to understand how forest structure and tree architecture influenced nest height and nest position to determine whether these could be linked most strongly to either the nest stability and comfort hypothesis, improved thermoregulation or predator avoidance. Forest condition had also been hypothesised as having an influence upon nest position with Prasetyo et al. (2009) suggesting that an increased preference for tree tied (position 4) nests in Tuanan and Sabangau could be a result of the significant disturbance both of these sites have previously experienced or that it could be due to species or geographic differences. The two sites of Sei Betung and Sikundur offered the perfect opportunity to test the disturbance hypothesis as a leading driver for a greater proportion of tree tied nests.

The results of this chapter further supported the hypothesis that predator avoidance was the principal driver of nest height and nest positions with forest structure and stability and comfort being constraining factors which limited the potential height and placements of nests. Nests were found to be built within the upper canopy, following the findings of Cheyne et al. (2013). However, in less connected areas nest heights and the height of the nest trees were lower than the surrounding canopy. This is most likely a likely a response to the increased exposure of the nest to side winds and rain due to the more open forest structure, future research could assess the effect crown shape and

openness has upon wind speed, wind sway and rain experienced within a nest. Nest heights were found to be significantly influenced by tree height as expected and greater crown area which is likely due to the increased stability the greater crown area provides (Nicoll & Ray 1996; Soethe et al. 2006). Crown size, however, is negatively associated with nest height; however, this could be due to the relative position of the nest within the crown. Trees with deep crowns also tend to be tall, by nesting lower within the crown of these tall trees the orangutans could be trying to keep the nest within the level of the upper canopy of the surrounding trees rather than the more exposed position at the top of the crown of these large trees with deep crowns. Crown shape was found to have a significant influence upon nest height with nests being built higher within more structurally stable crown shapes such as spheroid and cone shaped crowns whilst nests in bent-over trees were significantly lower than all others, most likely due to their inherent instability. Further research could assess the structural properties of crown shapes both in the strength of branches as well as the amount the tree sways in the wind. These results suggest that stability and comfort may be a constraining factor upon nest height with nests being selectively built within the upper canopy which increases the distance from ground predators and more layers of foliage to obscure the nest from predators (Sugardjito 1983) but not nesting above the surrounding canopy layer so as not to be exposed to wind, rain and sunlight.

Nest position unlike nest height can provide a clearer insight into whether anti-predation is a driver of nest position selection and by comparing between the two sites with varying levels of human disturbance. Should comfort and stability have been the principle driver of the selection of nest positions and nest height, a greater proportion of the highly stable Position 1 nests built against the main stem should be found. However, in Sikundur, Position 1, 2 and 3 nests were found to be built in roughly similar proportions with a range of 3.3% dividing them, whilst in Sei Betung Position 2 and Position 3 nests were found twice as often as Position 1 nests. This preference for more precarious nest positions in Sei Betung where mean tree heights, canopy density and connectivity are all lower further suggests that predator avoidance is driving the selection for nest sites in Sei Betung and is responsible for why Position 1 nests are not as common as would be expected if comfort was the main driver instead. Position 4 nests were also significantly rarer in Sei Betung than Sikundur accounting for only 2.2% of all nests in Sei Betung whereas in Sikundur they accounted for 10.5% of all nests which is a greater proportion than has been recorded at any other Sumatran field site or Kinabatangan in Borneo (Prasetyo et al. 2009). Potentially the availability of the smaller, more flexible trees needed to build Position 4 nests is lower in sites such as Ketambe and Kinabatangan due to the higher average tree heights in those sites when compared to Sikundur (Ancrenaz et al. 2004a; Prasetyo et al. 2009; Manduell et al. 2012). The relative rarity of Position 4 nests in Sei Betung compared to Sikundur also provides evidence against the hypothesis that this nest position has arisen due to a paucity of large tree and instead lends further weight to the argument that this is likely due to species differences

between Bornean and Sumatran orangutans and geographic differences between the populations (Prasetyo et al. 2009).

Using PCA analysis, the differences in tree architecture between the four nest positions was visualised and found that Position 4 nests were the most distinct of all nest positions, whilst the other three nest positions were more similar to each other. The principal variables found to most significantly influence nest position through model averaging were crown size, crown area and overhead canopy. Position 4 nests were as expected built in the smallest trees and had the lowest nest heights so would offer the least benefits in terms of predator avoidance and stability, though smaller more flexible trees are needed to be able to build this nest position. Conversely, Position 2 nests were found to be built in the largest trees, in particular those with very large crowns in terms of size, area and volume. These larger crowns both provide added stability to the tree by the larger number of branches helping to reduce harmonic sway (James et al. 2006) but also providing greater supply of building materials for nest sites and the greater likelihood of the large branches needed to nest further from the main stem (Horn 1971; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; van Casteren et al. 2012, 2013; Samson & Shumaker 2013; Stewart & Pruetz 2013; Hernandez-Aguilar et al. 2013; Samson & Hunt 2014). Position 3 nests were as expected found to have the least overhead canopy, but were built within shorter trees which meant that although they were at the top of the crown they still remained in the upper level of the surrounding canopy, thereby ensuring potential escape routes and cover from overhead canopy. Though Position 1 nests appear to be the position offering the least protection from predators by being built against the main stem and lower in the crown, they were still built at a similar height as Position 2 and Position 3 nests. Position 1 nests were found to be built in the tallest trees and by having a higher first branch height access by predators is limited, thereby ensuring that the nest does provide some anti-predatory adaptation. When combined with the results from Chapter 3 it appears that nest site selection is driven by predator avoidance with orangutans preferentially selecting trees which will allow them to build the highest and safest nest but being constrained by comfort and stability which prevents nesting above the canopy or building nests in positions unsuited to the tree architecture.

Research by by Rayadin & Saitoh (2009) found that that immature and female orangutans tended to nest in more precarious positions such as Position 2 and Position 3 nests whilst large males nested lower in the tree in more stable positions. Smaller, immature orangutans are more susceptible to predation (Rijksen 1978b; Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Kanamori et al. 2012) so would need to use more precarious nest positions to reduce the increased predation risk. Large flanged males however are extremely unlikely to be predated upon (Rayadin & Saitoh 2009; Mohamad et al. 2015) but due to their large body size require more stable nest positions, thus Position 1 nests are most likely to be built by these larger individuals. It could be suggested due to this separation in nesting habitat that studies into nest positions could potentially provide information about the demographics of the population and be used when developing new conservation strategies for populations. Further research from behavioural follows and observing nest building would be needed to determine whether this is true. It does pose the possibility that in Sei Betung that either there is a smaller proportion of males in this site or that they are being forced to nest in more precarious nest positions due to the dearth in tall trees preferred for Position 1 nests. The presence of tigers in Sikundur provides further support for the conclusion that a preference for higher nests may be a form of predator avoidance and that due to the paucity of tall trees in Sei Betung those individuals which normally build Position 1 nests must then build nests in more precarious positions to protect themselves from possible predation. Building in these more precarious positions however makes the nest itself less safe as it is more likely to experience sway due to the increased weight in the wind and potential failure during strong winds or a storm. The need for larger animals to use more precarious nest positions or suitable nest trees within more heavily disturbed areas could both lead to fewer large males being present in these habitats as they move towards less disturbed areas. Spehar & Rayadin (2017) found that though orangutans were travelling and feeding in plantations they were nesting more frequently within the patches of natural forest suggesting that the lack of quality nest trees was influencing the ability of orangutans to survive fully within that disturbed habitat.

The building of Position 4 nests is most likely linked to forest structure and a response to a paucity of large trees in a habitat where large ground predators are absent. Position 4 nests are the most commonly built nest position in both Tuanan and Sabangau where mean tree heights are very low, as in Sei Betung. However, though both sites are highly disturbed and have low average tree heights the canopy closure and connectivity are most likely significantly higher in Tuanan and Sabangau compared to Sei Betung, as Sei Betung was previous clear felled in many parts and still has numerous large, open areas (Husson et al. 2009; Marshall et al. 2009; Prasetyo et al. 2009). As Position 4 nests require at least 2 trees in close proximity to bend and weave either the tops or branches together to form the nest, the opportunities to build such a nest are lower in a more open site such as Sei Betung. Therefore, we would add that Position 4 nests are built in sites where there is a paucity of large trees but where stem densities and connectivity scores are high.

5.3 Influence of forest structure on nest densities

In chapter 5 we sought to understand how Sikundur and Sei Betung differed in terms of forest structure and how those differences in forest structure influenced orangutan densities. Sikundur and Sei Betung were found to differ in almost every measure except crown size and crown area which is likely due to the greater light availability in Sei Betung because of its more open structure allowing for trees to grow wider as they make the most of the available light and shade out potential competition (Yoda 1974; Hartshorn 1978; Alvarez-Buylla & Martinez-Ramos 1992; Ackerly 1996; Clark et al. 1996; Clark & Clark 2000; Sterck & Bongers 2001). The forest in Sikundur was significantly taller, denser, with fewer and smaller gaps, and more rugose than that in Sei Betung, as such the orangutan densities in Sikundur were also far higher than Sei Betung. Along with higher orangutan densities, the orangutan nests were more dispersed in Sikundur as opposed to Sei Betung where 82.2% of all nests were found on 2 adjacent transects, reflecting what was also found by Wich et al. (2016) in Sei Betung. This significant clustering lends further weight to the observations of Ancrenaz et al. (2004b) and those of our study in Chapter 3 in that in severely disturbed areas or those in which preferred nesting trees are rare then orangutans will tend to both reuse preferred nest trees to a greater extent and cluster within and around these preferred nest trees forming "villages". This places a greater pressure upon these trees and could lead to competition for nest sites and an increase in negative social interactions (Delgado & Van Schaik 2000).

When Sikundur was broken down into land units based upon its underlying soil types as defined by Laumonier et al. (2010), the differences in forest structure were less significant, though the Alluvial landunit was the most distinct, showing a greater number of significant differences between it and the other two land units than was found comparing the Plains versus the Hills. Though the no significant differences in orangutan densities were found between the land units in Sikundur, the differences were still visibly large, with the Alluvial land unit having the lowest orangutan density whilst the highest densities were to be found in the Plains. This was possibly due to either the differences in human disturbance rates within each land unit due to accessibility, differing forest structure and rates fruit productivity in each; due to both past selective logging levels and the underlying soil type (van Schaik & Mirmanto 1985; Johns 1988; Clark & Clark 2000; DeWalt & Chave 2004; Paoli et al. 2006; Paoli & Curran 2007). The Alluvial land unit was typified by lower stem density, canopy density and rugosity than the other land units which is likely due to either increased levels of past disturbance or as van Schaik & Mirmanto (1985) found that there are lower biomass levels in alluvial soils and shorter lifespans for trees suggesting a greater rate of turnover which could lead to more frequent gap formation and fewer large trees preferred for nesting. These results however only suggest that these areas are not preferred for nesting but may still be used for foraging, further study from follow data is needed to determine whether these areas are less utilised than others.

Our analysis found that the most significant predictors of orangutan densities were canopy density, Morosita index, canopy rugosity/diversity of tree heights, stem density and distance to the edge of the forest. Orangutan densities were found to be associated with areas with greater canopy densities, stem densities and canopy rugosity and lower Morosita indices and somewhat surprisingly, were positively associated with reduced distance from the edge of the forest. These variables are more positively associated with forest health and recovery levels and facilitate greater ease of movement for orangutans to travel through the canopy (van Noordwijk & van Schaik 2005; Manduell et al. 2011, 2012; Davies et al. 2017) and well as providing a greater proportion of preferred nest sites based on the results in chapters 3 and 4 as well as the studies by Cheyne et al. (2013) and Ancrenaz et al. (2004b). A recent study by Davies et al. (2017) found that orangutan travel paths were influenced by forest structure and that orangutans were more likely to move in the direction of increased canopy closure, tall trees and more uniform heights whilst avoiding gaps and moving towards large emergent. Those results suggest a preference for areas where forest structure provides easier pathways and does agree with our study in the preference for more closed canopies and avoidance of gaps, however, our study has found that for nesting, more rugose tree heights are preferred and emergent trees were highly avoided as nest trees. As orangutans must travel to and from nests and there is a need for ease of access via arboreal routes. Generally, more homogenous tree heights are a sign of prior disturbance as trees would have been removed at a similar time and so grow at similar rates, however homogenous tree heights also offer a more direct path and less need to expend energy ascending and descending to travel laterally. Yet, we see orangutans in our study preferring to nest in areas with greater tree height heterogeneity as these differences in tree height are what allows for the orangutans to nest within the upper canopy but not needing to always nest at the tops of crowns or in less stable, peripheral positions. When combining these results, it suggests that although some areas may not be preferable for nesting, they still may be used for travel and foraging, a future research project could try to combine these aspects to determine which parts of the forest are most heavily utilised for nesting and foraging and which are least used or of least value to orangutans to better inform management decisions.

These important variables were used in a PCA analysis to visualise the differences between the transects in Sei Betung where nests were present and those without in an attempt to understand what may be the cause of the significant clustering of the nests there. However, the PCA analysis found that both completely overlapped and that no particular variable most defined those nests other than a lack of extreme values. The age and previous disturbance levels across Sei Betung were suggested to be a potential explanatory factor as prior research by Wich et al. (2016) also found significant clustering of nests in the same locations which unlike much of the site had only received enrichment planting as it was not completely clear felled unlike the rest of the site.

The significant preference for nesting nearer to the forest edge suggests a number of points, firstly: as a number of villages border both sites it suggests that hunting is less of an issue or pressure upon orangutans within these sites as previous research has shown orangutan densities to be lower near to settlements know to hunt orangutans (Marshall et al. 2006; Wich et al. 2012b). Secondly, this preference for areas near to the edge of the forest could suggest and that these areas are more productive or hold trees with more preferable architecture for nesting due to the actions of selective logging and relative younger age of the trees in these edges. It is also possible that by being near to the edge of the forest the orangutans have greater access to and are able to forage within the nearby plantations and fruit garden planted by local villages, supplementing their diet with these more consistent food sources when fruit availability is low (Rijksen & Meijard 1999; Ancrenaz et al. 2015). Normally strangler figs are a common fall-back food for orangutans during periods of low fruit availability (Wich et al. 2004a), but Sikundur and Sei Betung have extremely low densities of figs, so another food source must be used during these periods presenting the possibility of a need for crop raiding (Sugardjito et al. 1987; Wich et al. 2004a). If crop raiding is occurring and is a primary driver in the preference for nesting nearer to the forest edge then this could lead to a conservation dilemma as crop-foraging is significant source of conflict between orangutans and local villages in other parts of Sumatra and Borneo, where already significant numbers of orangutans are killed in retribution for crop damage or perceived threat (Meijaard et al. 2011; Wich et al. 2011a; Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a, 2012; Spehar & Rayadin 2017; Freund et al. 2017). However, whilst orangutans have been found to range and nest within oil palm plantations and feed upon the mature fruits (Campbell-Smith et al. 2010, 2012; Ancrenaz et al. 2015), oil plantations are not a preferred habitat though due to the difficulty of travelling within the plantations and low diversity of food outside of oil palm fruits. When the fruit of oil palms are not ripe or in low abundance these plantations may form more of a barrier to orangutan movement rather than a new feeding opportunity (Campbell-Smith et al. 2011a). Further research is needed to understand to incidences of crop-raiding within the nearby plantations and to determine whether the orangutans are utilising the oil palm or only fruit plantations.

Orangutan densities in Sikundur were found to differ significantly between sampling seasons in 2015 and 2016. The differences in population densities and nest ages showed a correlation with a prior mast event in mid-2014 (Nowak & Singleton 2016) following which the population densities decreased. A similar pattern of increasing orangutan densities with high fruit periods and masting events has been recorded in Borneo in the Danum Valley as orangutans with wide and overlapping ranges gathered into this smaller area to make the most of the high fruit availability during those periods (Kanamori et al. 2017). Prior research in Sikundur by Knop et al. (2004) found no significant correlation between fruit availability and orangutan densities. However, Kanamori et al. (2017) suggest that it is possible that the research period of Knop et al. (2004) may have been to short to detect any significant correlation or that they may not have experienced any periods of major fluctuations in fruit availability or mast period during their study. Another previous study in Sumatra by Buij et al. (2002) however did detect a positive correlation between fruit availability and orangutan densities. In their study they found that orangutans were commuting between three areas following the fruit peak as the seasonal fruit availability in their study site in Ketambe changed with altitude. Our results further support the conclusion made by Kanamori et al. (2017) that in areas of low fruit availability such as dipterocarp forests orangutans will seek the fruit and when there is a large peak of supra-annual fruit availability in an area or neighbourhood then orangutans will commute to and congregate within this area. Other events such as a floods (Kanamori et al. 2017) and logging (MacKinnon 1971; Mackinnon 1974) have

also been found to cause temporary increases in orangutan densities as orangutans travel away from the disturbance, however no such disturbances were known to have occurred during the field research of this study. These significant fluctuations in orangutan densities associated with supra-annual fruit availability and disturbances presents another consideration when estimating orangutan densities for an area and suggests that longer periods of study are needed within dipterocarp forests to accurately estimate orangutan densities. Furthermore, when estimating the size of area necessary for the conservation of orangutans within these habitats the large scale movements of orangutans following these peak fruiting event must be considered as this travel is needed to ensure adequate food supply throughout the year; especially during the periods of low fruit which follow these peaks (Kanamori et al. 2017).

5.4 Key findings and conclusions

The key findings of this study provide further insight into orangutan nesting and show how complex a behaviour nest building is and that not only are orangutans highly selective upon nest trees but they are also adept at utilising a tree's structure to provide a safe, stable and comfortable nest. The use of nest positions and nest heights are in a fine balance between forest structure, nest site availability, the need for stable and safe nest sites and predator avoidance. If one changes or is removed it alters the balance such as the removal of taller trees and creation of gaps in areas with tigers either forces larger animals to leave the area or utilise more precarious nest positions and reuse the fewer preferred nest sites more frequently. Conservation and land managers must consider this when allowing for selective logging to occur within a site to further minimise the impact on orangutans and when reforesting a site potentially focusing on creating areas of denser forest first should be a priority over less densely replanting a larger area. Areas which have been illegally logged or selectively logged could be supplementary planted, as in the western side of Sei Betung, using native species and prioritising pioneer species such as those belonging to the genus Macaranga which are able to offer useful nest sites within a short period of years (Fern 2019). Companies planning selective logging must try to minimise the damage caused to the canopy when felling trees (Pereira et al. 2002; Okuda et al. 2003) and try to minimise creation of large gaps which would make travel harder (Davies et al. 2017). Following extraction, roads which are no longer used should be closed or controlled with carriers at major access points to prevent the influx of poachers and illegal loggers into the area (Morgan & Sanz 2007).

Within these reforested and disturbed sites orangutans have been found to cluster within smaller areas which must hold either preferred forest structure for nesting and travel or may hold an important food source. In the recovered site of Sikundur orangutan densities were found to fluctuate in correlation with the supra-annual peaks of fruit availability during periods such as mast events. These fluctuations in orangutan numbers suggests that both longer periods of time are needed to accurately assess the population densities of dipterocarp forests such as Sikundur but also that larger areas may need to be protected when developing conservation strategies for these populations due to their large ranging throughout these habitats in search of fruit peaks. The preference for nesting nearer to the edge of the forest in both Sikundur and Sei Betung may also suggest that orangutans at these sites are ranging into and foraging within the neighbouring plantations and that in periods where fruit availability is low within the forest these crops may provide an important fall-back food source due to the low densities of figs which are the normal fall-back food for orangutans (Wich et al. 2004a). Determining whether orangutans are ranging into and crop-raiding within plantations and locals fruit "gardens" is important in order to mitigate and reduce any potential conflicts arising from these behaviours and to ensure that the local farmers do not resort to retaliatory killings in response to losses from crop-raiding orangutans (Campbell-Smith et al. 2010, 2012; Meijaard et al. 2011; Davis et al. 2013).

5.5 Conservation Implications

The results from this study suggest that there is still much to learn about orangutans and how forest structure influences their behaviour and ecology and their responses to changes in forest structure whether anthropogenic or natural in origin. Our results suggest that further emphasis must be placed on retaining patches of relatively undisturbed forest structure by limiting the removal of large trees from habitats and limiting the size of gaps created by selective logging but less focus is needed to be placed on preserving very tall emergent for the conservation of orangutans as they are less useful for nesting but still have uses to other species, in particular gibbons who favour them as their sleep sites (Anderson 2000). Where reforestation action is ongoing and planned to further support orangutan conservation the focus should be on the planting of preferred nest species, fruiting species and pioneer species. Planting should also be focused on ensuring areas are more densely planted to ensure a quicker return of a dense canopy and fewer gaps rather than sparse planting over a larger area which has less use for orangutans both for nesting and for travel (Davies et al. 2017). Similarly, when planning corridors, a focus must be placed on ensuring the presence of suitable nest trees as well as retaining good canopy connectivity to better facilitate travel through the corridor. When planning the conservation of spaces for orangutans within dipterocarp forests a longer period must be used to assess the population density as the densities are liable to fluctuate with the supra-annual changes in fruit peaks and mast events. Follows are required to understand the wider area used by the population as well as the core area most used by the orangutans within this area. Orangutans may be ranging into neighbouring plantations, assessing the frequency of crop-raiding events, the extent of damage caused and developing mitigation plans for locals affected by these losses is vital to ensure conflict is kept to a minimum and retaliatory killing are avoided.

5.6 Future Research

A number of avenues of potential further research were mentioned within the discussion which are surmised here. Preferences for certain tree species were noted within both sites, however data for the availability of these species were unavailable for Sikundur. It would be of interest to obtain these and test whether certain tree species were used more frequently than available but also assess whether orangutan nests are more frequently built in areas of greater diversity or higher concentrations of particular fruit species. The nest tree species were known and a number of these were species known to be food species but whether these were fruiting or not was not recorded and was an oversight as this would be useful in helping to understand why some of these species were preferred as nest sites over others. Building upon this, testing the mosquito repellent properties of proffered nest trees would also be valuable not only to understanding this aspect of nesting but also potentially discovering a new source of natural insect repellents. A future research project could look into the health and cortisol levels of orangutans in Sikundur and Sei Betung by taking hair samples from nests. This could help us to understand whether the need for frequent nest reuse and in suboptimal nest tees has an effect upon the health of the animals. Furthermore, the hair samples could also be used for identifying the sex of the nest builder to test the hypothesis that nest positions have a sex and age basis and could be used as a simple proxy for population demographics.

In relation to nest height and nest position further research at other sites is required to determine whether the absence of large trees is responsible for the increased proportion of precarious nest positions in Sei Betung compared to Sikundur. Future studies could be conducted at other sites which are undisturbed and those which have been heavily logged as opposed to reforested as they may show different forest structures and could provide information to how forest structure changes after the removal of trees as opposed to being replanted. Data from orangutan follows where the individuals age class and sex are known could help to shed light into how sex and body size differences reflect nest position. These data could also allow us to know whether nest positions represent the demographic makeup of the population and could be used to quickly assess the population health and demographics. Testing using a model of a tiger or tiger scat within field sites could be used to determine whether orangutans alter their nest site selection and positions if a predator is known to be in the area. This would require only recording fresh nests following the placement of the model.

A long-term monitoring of orangutan densities and the building of new nests along with the fluctuations in fruit availability could help to both determine the size of the orangutan population within the core area and the larger transient population which follow the fruit peaks from neighbouring areas. Further long-term research would also allow us to determine whether orangutan densities in Sikundur are truly influenced by fruit availability by also conducting surveys further out

from Sikundur. Surveys to the west along the altitudinal gradient could allow us to test whether there is such a seasonal change in fruit availability occurring and whether this is responsible for the changes in orangutan densities. Further understanding of the tree species present in the areas where orangutans cluster and observations of behaviour in those areas could help us to understand what leads orangutans to nest in such high densities within those areas. Surveys of the surrounding plantations for nests and orangutans and surveys of local farmers and plantation workers on the frequency of crop raiding events would allow conservation agencies to assess the threat conflict and retaliatory killings pose to orangutans in these populations and develop mitigation plans to ensure their conservation.

5.7 Final remarks

Our study has helped to further display the complex nature and behaviours of orangutans and that nest site selection, nest height and nest position are all part of a complex balance of comfort, stability and predator avoidance in relation to the forest structure and tree architecture. Changes in forest structure can have profound impacts upon orangutan densities with orangutans clustering within the areas of preferred nest sites and fluctuations in fruit availability leading to the movements of orangutans into and out of the site.

Like the drivers of orangutan nest site selection, positions and height, conservation is also a balance of protecting habitats and species but also supporting locals and governments to be able to coexist with biodiversity and sustainably use their lands whilst preventing the overexploitation of these lands and the species that call them home. There is still much to learn about orangutans but the more we learn the better we will be able understand how our actions may affect them and develop better conservation management strategies that will allow us to coexist and live together for future generations.

References

- Abernethy JPD, Askew JA, Pezara L, Nowak MG. 2016. Species composition and habitat use in a disturbed Sumatran rainforest: The effect of an increase in human activity. Page Conservation Asia Joint Meeting of the Society of Conservation Biology Asia secition and Association for Tropical Biology and Conservation Asia-Paciific Chapter.
- Abood SA, Lee JSH, Burivalova Z, Garcia-Ulloa J, Koh LP. 2015. Relative Contributions of the Logging, Fiber, Oil Palm, and Mining Industries to Forest Loss in Indonesia. Conservation Letters **8**:58–67. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/conl.12103 (accessed April 3, 2018).
- Ackerly DD. 1996. Canopy Structure and Dynamics: Integration of Growth Processes in Tropical Pioneer Trees. Pages 619–658 Tropical Forest Plant Ecophysiology. Springer US, Boston, MA. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4613-1163-8_21 (accessed February 12, 2018).
- Ådjers G, Hadengganan S, Kuusipalo J, Nuryanto K, Vesa L. 1995. Enrichment planting of dipterocarps in logged-over secondary forests: effect of width, direction and maintenance method of planting line on selected Shorea species. Forest Ecology and Management **73**:259–270. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/037811279403488I (accessed June 13, 2018).
- Akpalu W, Parks PJ. 2018. Natural resource use conflict: gold mining in tropical rainforest in Ghana. Environment and Development Economics **12**:55–72. Cambridge University Press. Available from https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X0600338X (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Al-Hassan YM, Al-Kassab MM. 2009. A Monte Carlo Comparison between Ridge and Principal Components Regression Methods. Applied Mathematical Sciences 3:2085–2098. Available from http://www.m-hikari.com/ams/ams-password-2009/ams-password41-44-2009/alhassanAMS41-44-2009.pdf (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Allgas N, Shanee S, Shanee N, Chambers J, Tello-Alvarado JC, Keeley K, Pinasco K. 2017. Natural reestablishment of a population of a critically endangered primate in a secondary forest: the San Martin titi monkey (Plecturocebus oenanthe) at the Pucunucho Private Conservation Area, Peru. Primates 58:335–342. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-016-0581-8 (accessed June 1, 2018).

Alvarez-Berríos NL, Mitchell Aide T. 2015. Global demand for gold is another threat for tropical forests. Environmental Research Letters **10**:014006. IOP Publishing. Available from http://stacks.iop.org/1748-9326/10/i=1/a=014006?key=crossref.6ccc347f82912ddd78f8fb396c95da22 (accessed October 21, 2018).

- Alvarez-Buylla ER, Martinez-Ramos M. 1992. Demography and Allometry of Cecropia Obtusifolia, a Neotropical Pioneer Tree - An Evaluation of the Climax-Pioneer Paradigm for Tropical Rain Forests. The Journal of Ecology 80:275. British Ecological Society. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2261011?origin=crossref (accessed February 12, 2018).
- Ancrenaz M, Ambu L, Sunjoto I, Ahmad E, Manokaran K, Meijaard E, Lackman I. 2010. Recent Surveys in the Forests of Ulu Segama Malua, Sabah, Malaysia, Show That Orang-utans (P. p. morio) Can Be Maintained in Slightly Logged Forests. PLoS ONE 5:e11510. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011510 (accessed June 26, 2018).
- Ancrenaz M, Calaque R, Lackman-ancrenaz I. 2004a. Orangutan Nesting Behavior in Disturbed Forest of Sabah, Malaysia: Implications for Nest Census. International Journal of Primatology **25**:983– 1000. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from

http://link.springer.com/10.1023/B:IJOP.0000043347.84757.9a (accessed January 31, 2018).

- Ancrenaz M, Gimenez O, Ambu L, Ancrenaz K, Andau P, Goossens B, Payne J, Sawang A, Tuuga A, Lackman-Ancrenaz I. 2005. Aerial Surveys Give New Estimates for Orangutans in Sabah, Malaysia.
 PLoS Biology 3:e3. Available from http://biology.plosjournals.org/perlserv/?request=getdocument&doi=10.1371/journal.pbio.0030003.
- Ancrenaz M, Goossens B, Gimenez O, Sawang A, Lackman-Ancrenaz I. 2004b. Determination of ape distribution and population size using ground and aerial surveys: a case study with orang-utans in lower Kinabatangan, Sabah, Malaysia. Animal Conservation 7:375–385. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1017/S136794300400157X (accessed September 6, 2018).
- Ancrenaz M, Gumal M, Marshall AJ, Meijard E, Wich SA, Husson S, IUCN. 2016. Pongo pygmaeus. Page The IUCN Red List of Threatened SpeciesVersion 20. IUCN Global Species Programme Red List Unit. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Ancrenaz M, Oram F, Ambu L, Lackman I, Ahmad E, Elahan H, Kler H, Abram NK, Meijaard E. 2015. Of Pongo, palms and perceptions: a multidisciplinary assessment of Bornean orang-utans Pongo pygmaeus in an oil palm context. Oryx **49**:465–472. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0030605313001270 (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Anderson JR. 1984. Ethology and Ecology of Sleep in Monkeys and Apes. Pages 165–229. Available from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0065345408603022 (accessed July 6, 2017).
- Anderson JR. 1998. Sleep, sleeping sites, and sleep-related activities: Awakening to their significance. American Journal of Primatology **46**:63–75.
- Anderson JR. 2000. Sleep-related behavioural adaptations in free-ranging anthropoid primates. Sleep Medicine Reviews **4**:355–373.
- Anderson JR, Williamson EA, Carter J. 1983. Chimpanzees of Sapo Forest, Liberia: Density, nests, tools and meat-eating. Primates **24**:594–601. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02381692 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Appanah S. 1993. Mass flowering of dipterocarp forests in the aseasonal tropics. Journal of Biosciences **18**:457–474. Springer India. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02703079 (accessed July 1, 2018).
- Ashbury AM, Posa MRC, Dunkel LP, Spillmann B, Utami Atmoko SS, van Schaik CP, van Noordwijk MA. 2015. Why do orangutans leave the trees? Terrestrial behavior among wild Bornean orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii) at Tuanan, Central Kalimantan. American journal of primatology **1229**:1216–1229.
- Askew JA, Morrogh-Bernard HC. 2016. Acoustic Characteristics of Long Calls Produced by Male Orang-Utans (Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii): Advertising Individual Identity, Context, and Travel Direction. Folia primatologica; international journal of primatology **87**:305–319. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27931024 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Bacon A-M, Long VT. 2001. The first discovery of a complete skeleton of a fossil orang-utan in a cave of the Hoa Binh Province, Vietnam. Journal of Human Evolution 41:227–241. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248401904968 (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Badji L, Ndiaye PI, Lindshield SM, Ba CT, Pruetz JD. 2017. Savanna chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes verus) nesting ecology at Bagnomba (Kedougou, Senegal). Primates 59:1–7. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-017-0647-2 (accessed April 13, 2018).
- Baldwin PJ, Pí JS, McGrew WC, Tutin CEG, Baldwin] A J, McGrew WC, Tutin CEG. 1981. Comparisons of nests made by different populations of chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Primates **22**:474–486.

Springer-Verlag. Available from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2FBF02381239.pdf (accessed January 31, 2018).

- Banes GL, Galdikas BMF, Vigilant L. 2015. Male orang-utan bimaturism and reproductive success at Camp Leakey in Tanjung Puting National Park, Indonesia. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 69:1785–1794. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00265-015-1991-0 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Barton K. 2018. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. Available from https://cran.rproject.org/package=MuMIn.
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software **67**:1–48.
- Bates Do, Maechler M. 2017. Matrix: Sparse and Dense Matrix Classes and Methods. Available from https://cran.r-project.org/package=Matrix.
- Beehler BM, Raju KSRK, Ali S. 2008. Avian use of man-disturbed forest habitats in the Eastern Ghats, India. Ibis **129**:197–211. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1987.tb03201.x (accessed June 2, 2018).
- Bell PA, Greene TC. 1984. Thermal stress: Physiological, comfort, performance and social effects of hot and cold environments. Pages 75–104 in G. W. Evans, editor. Environmental Stress. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=_TI4AAAAIAAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA75&dq=Bell,+P.+ A.,+%26+Greene,+T.+C.+(1982).+Thermal+stress:+Physiological,+comfort,+performance,+and+so cial+effects+of+hot+and+cold+environments.+In+G.+W.+Evans+(Ed.),+Environmental+s (accessed February 27, 2019).
- Berry NJ, Phillips OL, Ong RC, Hamer KC. 2008. Impacts of selective logging on tree diversity across a rainforest landscape: the importance of spatial scale. Landscape Ecology 23:915–929. Springer Netherlands. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10980-008-9248-1 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Bhattarai BP, Kindlmann P. 2012. Interactions between Bengal tiger (Panthera tigris) and leopard (Panthera pardus): implications for their conservation. Biodiversity and Conservation 21:2075–2094. Springer Netherlands. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10531-012-0298-y (accessed October 15, 2018).
- Blom A, Almasi A, Heitkonig IMA, Kpanou J-B, Prins HHT. 2001. A survey of the apes in the Dzanga-Ndoki National Park, Central African Republic: a comparison between the census and survey methods of estimating the gorilla (Gorilla gorilla gorilla) and chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes) nest group density. African Journal of Ecology **39**:98–105. Blackwell Science Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.0141-6707.2000.00280.x (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Boesch C. 1991. The Effects of Leopard Predation of Grouping Patterns in Forest Chimpanzees. Behaviour **117**:220–242. Brill. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/4534940 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Bolker BM, Brooks ME, Clark CJ, Geange SW, Poulsen JR, Stevens MHH, White J-SS. 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 24:127–135. Elsevier Current Trends. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169534709000196 (accessed October 16, 2018).

Broadbent EN, Asner GP, Keller M, Knapp DE, Oliveira PJC, Silva JN. 2008. Forest fragmentation and edge effects from deforestation and selective logging in the Brazilian Amazon. Biological Conservation 141:1745–1757. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320708001377 (accessed February 5, 2018).

- Brodie JF, Giordano A. 2013. Lack of trophic release with large mammal predators and prey in Borneo. Biological Conservation 163:58–67. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320713000050 (accessed June 12, 2018).
- Brooks TM et al. 2002. Habitat Loss and Extinction in the Hotspots of Biodiversity. Conservation Biology **16**:909–923. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00530.x (accessed August 20, 2018).
- Brown S, Lugo AE. 1990. Tropical secondary forests. Journal of Tropical Ecology **6**:1–32. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0266467400003989 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Brownlow ARR, Plumptre AJJ, Reynolds V, Ward R, Ward AR. 2001. Sources of variation in the nesting behavior of chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) in the Budongo forest, Uganda. American Journal of Primatology **55**:49–55. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/ajp.1038 (accessed February 15, 2018).
- Buckland ST, Anderson DR, Burnham KP, Laake JL, Borchers DL, Thomas L. 2001. Introduction to Distance Sampling: Estimating Abundance of Biological Populations. Oxford University Press. Available from http://www.ruwpa.st-and.ac.uk/distance.book/intro.html.
- Buckland ST, Plumptre AJ, Thomas L, Rexstad E a. 2010. Design and Analysis of Line Transect Surveys for Primates. International Journal of Primatology **31**:833–847. Available from http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10764-010-9431-5.
- Buij R, Singleton I, Krakauer E, Schaik CP Van. 2003. Rapid assessment of orangutan density. Biological Conservation **114**:103–113.
- Buij R, Wich SA, Lubis AH, Sterck EHM. 2002. Seasonal movements in the Sumatran orangutan (Pongo pygmaeus abelii) and consequences for conservation. Biological Conservation **107**:83–87.
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2004. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC ad BIC in Model Selection. Sociological Methods & Research **33**:261–304. Sage PublicationsSage CA: Thousand Oaks, CA. Available from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0049124104268644 (accessed March 20, 2018).

Burnham KP, Anderson DR, Burnham KP. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference : a practical information-theoretic approach. Springer. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=fT1lu-h6EoC&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=burnham+anderson+model+selection+model+averaging&ots=tfvl22ZIq8 &sig=2-sPPsLC6bSHnyCXvhnLCXvUVfg#v=onepage&q=burnham anderson model selection model averaging&f=false (accessed March 20, 2018).

- Campbell-Smith G, Campbell-Smith M, Singleton I, Linkie M. 2011a. Apes in Space: Saving an Imperilled Orangutan Population in Sumatra. PLoS ONE **6**:e17210. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017210 (accessed May 16, 2018).
- Campbell-Smith G, Campbell-Smith M, Singleton I, Linkie M. 2011b. Raiders of the Lost Bark: Orangutan Foraging Strategies in a Degraded Landscape. PLoS ONE **6**:e20962. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020962 (accessed June 28, 2018).
- Campbell-Smith G, Sembiring R, Linkie M. 2012. Evaluating the effectiveness of human-orangutan conflict mitigation strategies in Sumatra. Journal of Applied Ecology **49**:367–375. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02109.x (accessed June 3, 2018).

Campbell-Smith G, Simanjorang HVP, Leader-Williams N, Linkie M. 2010. Local attitudes and

perceptions toward crop-raiding by orangutans (Pongo abelii) and other nonhuman primates in northern Sumatra, Indonesia. American Journal of Primatology **72**:866–876. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20822 (accessed June 28, 2018).

- Cannon CH, Leighton M. 1994. Comparative locomotor ecology of gibbons and macaques: selection of canopy elements for crossing gaps. American journal of physical anthropology **93**:505–524.
- Cant JGH. 1987a. Positional Behavior of Female Bornean Orangutans. American Journal of Primatology **90**:71–90.
- Cant JGH. 1987b. Effects of sexual dimorphism in body size on feeding postural behavior of Sumatran orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus). American Journal of Physical Anthropology **74**:143–148. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.1330740202.
- Castillo PR, Marian L, Marian F, Günter S, Espinosa CI, Maraun M, Scheu S. 2018. Response of oribatid mites to reforestation of degraded tropical montane pastureland. European Journal of Soil Biology **84**:35–41. Available from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1164556316301832 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Cattau ME, Husson S, Cheyne SM. 2015. Population status of the Bornean orang-utan Pongo pygmaeus in a vanishing forest in Indonesia: the former Mega Rice Project. Oryx **49**:473–480. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S003060531300104X (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Catterall CP, Kanowski J, Wardell-Johnson GW, Proctor H, Reis T, Harrison D, Tucker NIJ. 2004. Quantifying the biodiversity values of reforestation: perspectives, design issues and outcomes in Australian rainforest landscapes. Pages 359–393 in D. Lunney, editor. Conservation of Australia's Forest Fauna2nd Edition. Royal Zoological Society of New South Wales, Sydney. Available from http://hdl.handle.net/10072/431 (accessed June 2, 2018).
- Chapman CA. 2018. A road for a promising future for China's primates: The potential for restoration. Zoological Research 动物学研究 **39**:244–248. Available from http://www.zoores.ac.cn/EN/10.24272/j.issn.2095-8137.2018.032 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Chen Y, Shioi H, Antonio C, Montesinos F, Koh LP, Wich S, Krause A, Ch K, Zürich E. 2014. Active Detection via Adaptive Submodularity. Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Machine Learning **32**. Available from http://proceedings.mlr.press/v32/chena14-supp.pdf (accessed March 17, 2019).
- Cheyne SM, Rowland D, Höing A, Husson SJ. 2013. How Orangutans Choose Where To Sleep : Comparison of Nest-Site Variables. Asian Primates Journal **3**:13–17.
- Chin KL, H'ng PS, Chai EW, Tey BT, Chin MJ, Paridah MT, Luqman AC, Maminski M. 2013. Fuel Characteristics of Solid Biofuel Derived from Oil Palm Biomass and Fast Growing Timber Species in Malaysia. BioEnergy Research 6:75–82. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12155-012-9232-0 (accessed June 13, 2018).
- Choudhury A et al. 2008. Elephas maximus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/7140/0 (accessed September 19, 2018).
- Clark DA, Clark DB. 1992. Life History Diversity of Canopy and Emergent Trees in a Neotropical Rain Forest. Ecological Monographs **62**:315–344. Ecological Society of America. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.2307/2937114 (accessed February 12, 2018).
- Clark DB, Clark DA, Rich PM, Weiss S, Oberbauer SF. 1996. Landscape-scale evaluation of understory light and canopy structures: methods and application in a neotropical lowland rain forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **26**:747–757. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada . Available from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/x26-084 (accessed February 12, 2018).

Coder KD. 2000. Crown Shape Factors & Volumes. Tree Biomechanics Series:0-4.

- Collen B, Bykova E, Ling S, Milner-Gulland EJ, Purvis A. 2006. Extinction Risk: A Comparative Analysis of Central Asian Vertebrates. Biodiversity & Conservation 15:1859–1871. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10531-005-4303-6 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Colon CP, Campos-Arceiz A. 2013. The Impact of Gut Passage by Binturongs (Arctictus Binturong) on Seed Germination. The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology **61**:417–421. Available from http://academicworks.cuny.edu/kb_pubs (accessed October 10, 2018).
- Consiglio RA. 2015. Group density estimates for lar gibbons (Hylobates lar) and siamangs (Symphalangus syndactylus) and a quantitative analysis of the vegetative characteristics of the Sikundur Field Site. University of Bournemouth.
- Coombs WT, Algina J, Oltman DO. 1996. Univariate and Multivariate Omnibus Hypothesis Tests Selected to Control Type I Error Rates When Population Variances Are Not Necessarily Equal. Review of Educational Research **66**:137–179. Sage PublicationsSage CA: Thousand Oaks, CA. Available from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/00346543066002137 (accessed January 21, 2018).
- Cottam G, Curtis JT. 1956. The Use of Distance Measures in Phytosociological Sampling. Ecology **37**:451–460. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.2307/1930167.
- Davies AB, Ancrenaz M, Oram F, Asner GP. 2017. Canopy structure drives orangutan habitat selection in disturbed Bornean forests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **114**:8307–8312. National Academy of Sciences. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28720703 (accessed January 30, 2018).
- Davis JT, Mengersen K, Abram NK, Ancrenaz M, Wells JA, Meijaard E. 2013. It's Not Just Conflict That Motivates Killing of Orangutans. PLoS ONE **8**:e75373. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075373.
- De Koninck R, Dery S. 1997. Agricultural Expansion as a Tool of Population Redistribution in Southeast Asia. Journal ofSoutheast Asian Studies **28**:1–26. Available from https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022463400015150 (accessed July 21, 2018).
- de Waal FBM. 1995. Bonobo Sex and Society. Scientific American **272**:82–88. Available from https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/24980375.pdf (accessed September 13, 2018).
- de Wilde W, Duyfjes BEE. 1996. Vegetation, floristic and plant biogeography in Gunung Leuser National Park. Leuser: a Sumatran sanctuary. Yayasan Bina Sains Hayati Indonesia, Jakarta Indonesia.
- Deepayan S. 2008. Lattice: Multivariate Data Visualization with R. Springer New York, New York. Available from http://Imdvr.r-forge.r-project.org.
- Delgado RA, Van Schaik CP. 2000. The behavioral ecology and conservation of the orangutan (Pongo pygmaeus): A tale of two islands. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 9:201–218. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/1520-6505%282000%299%3A5%3C201%3A%3AAID-EVAN2%3E3.3.CO%3B2-P (accessed February 5, 2018).
- DeWalt SJ, Chave J. 2004. Structure and Biomass of Four Lowland Neotropical Forests1. BIOTROPICA **36**:7. Available from http://www.bioone.org/perlserv/?request=get-abstract&doi=10.1646%2F02115 (accessed June 5, 2018).
- Djojosudharmo, van Schaik C. 1992. Why are orang utans so rare in the highlands? Altitudinal changes in a Sumatran forest. Tropical biodiversity **1**.

Drescher J et al. 2016. Ecological and socio-economic functions across tropical land use systems after

rainforest conversion. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences **371**:20150275. The Royal Society. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27114577 (accessed July 18, 2018).

- Echeverry-Galvis MA, Peterson JK, Sulo-Caceres R. 2014. The Social Nestwork: Tree Structure Determines Nest Placement in Kenyan Weaverbird Colonies. PLoS ONE **9**:e88761. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088761 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Erskine PD, Lamb D, Bristow M (Eds. . 2005. Reforestation in the Tropics and Subtropics of Australia Using Rainforest Tree Species. Canberra. Available from https://espace.curtin.edu.au/bitstream/handle/20.500.11937/29294/135418_135418.pdf?seque nce=2&isAllowed=y (accessed June 2, 2018).
- Eswani N, Abd Kudus K, Nazre M, Awang Noor AG, Ali M. 2010. Medicinal Plant Diversity and Vegetation Analysis of Logged over Hill Forest of Tekai Tembeling Forest Reserve, Jerantut, Pahang. Journal of Agricultural Science **2**:189. Available from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/jas/article/view/7293 (accessed June 13, 2018).
- Evans LJ. 2016. Assessing the Impacts of Habitat Fragmentation and Subsequent Anthropogenic Expansion on the Behavioural, Nesting and Population Ecology of the Estuarine Crocodile:1–166.
- Fa JE, Peres CA, Meeuwig J. 2002. Bushmeat Exploitation in Tropical Forests: an Intercontinental Comparison. Conservation Biology **16**:232–237. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00275.x (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Fagan ME, DeFries RS, Sesnie SE, Arroyo-Mora JP, Chazdon RL. 2016. Targeted reforestation could reverse declines in connectivity for understory birds in a tropical habitat corridor. Ecological Applications **26**:1456–1474. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1890/14-2188 (accessed February 6, 2018).
- Fan P-F, Jiang X-L. 2008. Sleeping sites, sleeping trees, and sleep-related behaviors of black crested gibbons (Nomascus concolor jingdongensis) at Mt. Wuliang, Central Yunnan, China. American Journal of Primatology **70**:153–160. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20470 (accessed October 12, 2018).
- Fay JM. 1989. Partial completion of a census of the western lowland gorilla (Gorilla g. gorilla (Savage and Wyman)) in southwestern Central African Republic. Mammalia 53:203–216. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin / New York. Available from https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/mamm.1989.53.issue-2/mamm.1989.53.2.203/mamm.1989.53.2.203.xml (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Fay JM, Carroll R, KerbisPeterhans JC, Harris D. 1995. Leopard attack on and consumption of gorillas in the Central African Republic. Journal of Human Evolution 29:93–99. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248485710482?via%3Dihub (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Felton AAM, Engstro LM, Felton AAM, Knott CD, Engström LM, Felton AAM, Knott CD. 2003. Orangutan population density, forest structure and fruit availability in hand-logged and unlogged peat swamp forests in West Kalimantan, Indonesia. Biological Conservation **114**:91–101. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320703000132 (accessed August 31, 2017).
- Fern K. 2019. Tropical Plants Database. Available from %3Ctropical.theferns.info/viewtropical.php?id=Aglaia+tomentosa%3E (accessed March 16, 2019).
- Flesch TK, Wilson JD. 1999. Wind and remnant tree sway in forest cutblocks. II. Relating measured tree sway to wind statistics. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology **93**:243–258. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192398001130 (accessed April 23,

2018).

- Fox J, Weisberg S. 2011. An {R} Companion to Applied RegressionSecond Edi. Thousand Oaks, CA. Available from http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion.
- Fredriksson GM. 2005. Predation on sun bears by reticulated python in East kalimantan, Indonesian Borneo PREDATION ON SUN BEARS BY RETICULATED PYTHON IN EAST KALIMANTAN, INDONESIAN BORNEO. Page The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology. Available from http://dare.uva.nl (accessed October 13, 2018).
- Freund C, Rahman E, Knott C. 2017. Ten years of orangutan-related wildlife crime investigation in West Kalimantan, Indonesia. American Journal of Primatology **79**:22620. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22620 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Fritz SA, Bininda-Emonds ORP, Purvis A. 2009. Geographical variation in predictors of mammalian extinction risk: big is bad, but only in the tropics. Ecology Letters **12**:538–549. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01307.x (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Fruth B, Hohmann G. 1993. Ecological and Behavioral Aspects of Nest Building in Wild Bonobos (Pan paniscus). Ethology 94:113–126. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1993.tb00552.x (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Fruth B, Hohmann G. 1996. Nest Building Behaviour in the Great Apes: The Great Leap Forward? Page 328 in W. C. (William C. McGrew, L. F. (Linda F. Marchant, T. Nishida, and 西田利貞(1941-), editors. Great ape societies. Cambridge University Press. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=iGfjJ4lKb1lC&oi=fnd&pg=PA225&dq=fruth+and +hohman+1996&ots=6LZ9SJilK_&sig=u_P5y4t1Bt6oO95LL-NEGzjBeD0#v=onepage&q&f=false (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Fruth B, Tagg N, Stewart F. 2018. Sleep and nesting behavior in primates: A review. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **166**:499–509. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajpa.23373 (accessed December 5, 2018).
- Furuichi T, Hashimoto C. 2000. Ground Beds of Chimpanzees in the Kalinzu Forest, Uganda. Pan Africa News 7:26–28. Available from https://repository.kulib.kyotou.ac.jp/dspace/bitstream/2433/143552/1/PAN7(2)_26.pdf (accessed June 20, 2018).
- Furuichi T, Inagaki H, Angoue-Ovono S. 1997. Population Density of Chimpanzees and Gorillas in the Petit Loango Reserve, Gabon: Employing a New Method to Distinguish Between Nests of the Two Species. International Journal of Primatology 18:1029–1046. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1026356432486 (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Galdikas BMF. 1983. The orangutan long call and snag crashing at Tanjung Puting Reserve. Primates **24**:371–384. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02381982 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Galdikas BMF. 1985a. Subadult male orangutan sociality and reproductive behavior at Tanjung Puting. American Journal of Primatology 8:87–99. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.1350080202 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Galdikas BMF, Briggs N. 1999. Orangutan odyssey. Harry N. Abrams, New York. Available from http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US2000104036 (accessed October 22, 2018).
- Galdikas BMFBMF. 1985b. Adult Male Sociality and Reproductive Tactics among Orangutans at Tanjung Puting. Folia Primatologica **45**:9–24. Karger Publishers. Available from https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/156188 (accessed September 17, 2018).

- Ganzhorn JU. 1987. A possible role of plantations for primate conservation in Madagascar. American Journal of Primatology **12**:205–215. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.1350120208 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Ganzhorn JU. 2002. Distribution of a folivorous lemur in relation to seasonally varying food resources: Integrating quantitative and qualitative aspects of food characteristics. Oecologia **131**:427–435.
- Ganzhorn JU, Malcomber S, Andrianantoanina O, Goodman SM. 1997. Habitat Characteristics and Lemur Species Richness in Madagascar. Biotropica **29**:331–343. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1744-7429.1997.tb00434.x.
- Ganzhorn JU, Rakotondranary SJ, Ratovonamana YR. 2003. Habitat description and phenology. Field and Laboratory Methods in Primatology:51–68.
- Gardener M. 2017. Statistics for Ecologists Using R and Excel: Data Collection, Exploration, Analysis and Presentation2nd Editio. Pelagic Publishing, Exeter. Available from http://www.dataanalytics.org.uk/Publications/S4E2e Support/index.htm (accessed May 26, 2018).
- Gaveau DLA et al. 2014a. Major atmospheric emissions from peat fires in Southeast Asia during nondrought years: evidence from the 2013 Sumatran fires. Scientific Reports **4**:6112. Nature Publishing Group. Available from http://www.nature.com/articles/srep06112 (accessed August 28, 2018).
- Gaveau DLA et al. 2014b. Four Decades of Forest Persistence, Clearance and Logging on Borneo. PLoS ONE **9**:e101654. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101654 (accessed August 28, 2018).
- Gaveau DLA, Wich S, Epting J, Juhn D, Kanninen M, Leader-Williams N. 2009. The future of forests and orangutans (Pongo abelii) in Sumatra: predicting impacts of oil palm plantations, road construction, and mechanisms for reducing carbon emissions from deforestation. Environmental Research Letters **4**:034013. IOP Publishing. Available from http://stacks.iop.org/1748-9326/4/i=3/a=034013?key=crossref.fa5f66dec0568e5612ed84d71557cb31 (accessed February 5, 2018).

Ghiglieri MP. 1984. The chimpanzee's of Kiable Forest. Colombia University Press, New York, NY.

- Gonyea W, Ashworth R. 1975. The form and function of retractile claws in the felidae and other representative carnivorans. Journal of Morphology **145**:229–238. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/jmor.1051450208 (accessed October 15, 2018).
- Goodall J. 1965. Chimpanzees of the Gombe Stream Reserve. Pages 425–473 in I. DeVore, editor. Primate Behaviour: Field Studies of Monkeys and Apes. New York: Holt.
- Goodall JM. 1962. Nest Building Behaviour In The Free Ranging Chimpanzee. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences **102**:455–467. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1962.tb13652.x (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Goodenough AE, Goodenough AS. 2012. Development of a Rapid and Precise Method of Digital Image Analysis to Quantify Canopy Density and Structural Complexity. ISRN Ecology **2012**:1–11. Available from http://www.hindawi.com/journals/isrn/2012/619842/.
- Goosem S, Tucker NIJ. 2013. Repairing the Rainforest (second edition). Cairns. Available from http://www.rainforestation.ph/resources/pdf/publications/Goosem & Tucker_2012_Repairing the Rainforest.pdf (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Gregory SD, Brook BW, Goossens B, Ancrenaz M, Alfred R, Ambu LN, Fordham DA. 2012. Long-Term Field Data and Climate-Habitat Models Show That Orangutan Persistence Depends on Effective Forest Management and Greenhouse Gas Mitigation. PLoS ONE **7**:1–10. Available from http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article/file?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0043846&type=printable

(accessed August 31, 2017).

Grosser M. 2018. snakecase: Convert Strings into any Case.

- Groves CP, Sabater Pi J. 1985. From Ape's Nest to Human Fix-Point. Man **20**:22. Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2802220?origin=crossref (accessed April 3, 2018).
- Hall JS et al. 1998. Survey of Grauer's Gorillas (Gorilla gorilla graueri) and Eastern Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthi) in the Kahuzi-Biega National Park Lowland Sector and Adjacent Forest in Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo. International Journal of Primatology 19:207–235.
 Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1020375430965 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Hall JS, Harris DJ, Medjibe V, Ashton PMS. 2003. The effects of selective logging on forest structure and tree species composition in a Central African forest: implications for management of conservation areas. Forest Ecology and Management **183**:249–264. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112703001075 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Hansell MH (Michael H. 2005. Animal architecture. Oxford University Press, Oxford. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&Ir=&id=EikTDAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR11&dq=Hansell+ M.+2005.+Animal+architecture.+Oxford:+Oxford+Univer-+sity+Press&ots=tsFo4cAjxS&sig=4ZIP6k q-

LW7rpn2rTVeZvteASA#v=onepage&q=Hansell%2520M.%25202005.%2520Animal%2520architect ure.%252 (accessed March 4, 2019).

- Hansen MC et al. 2008. Humid tropical forest clearing from 2000 to 2005 quantified by using multitemporal and multiresolution remotely sensed data. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **105**:9439–9444. National Academy of Sciences. Available from http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0804042105 (accessed August 21, 2018).
- Hansen SB, Padfield R, Syayuti K, Evers S, Zakariah Z, Mastura S. 2015. Trends in global palm oil sustainability research. Journal of Cleaner Production **100**:140–149. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652615002723 (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Hardus ME, Lameira AR, Menken SBJ, Wich SA. 2012a. Effects of logging on orangutan behavior.
 Biological Conservation 146:177–187. Elsevier Ltd. Available from
 http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006320711004770 (accessed July 18, 2018).
- Hardus ME, Lameira AR, Zulfa A, Atmoko SSU, de Vries H, Wich SA. 2012b. Behavioral, Ecological, and Evolutionary Aspects of Meat-Eating by Sumatran Orangutans (Pongo abelii). International Journal of Primatology 33:287–304. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10764-011-9574-z (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Harris NL, Brown S, Hagen SC, Saatchi SS, Petrova S, Salas W, Hansen MC, Potapov P V., Lotsch A. 2012.
 Baseline Map of Carbon Emissions from Deforestation in Tropical Regions. Science 336:1573–1576. Available from http://science.sciencemag.org/http://science.sciencemag.org/ (accessed August 21, 2018).
- Harrison ME, Chivers DJ. 2007. The orang-utan mating system and the unflanged male: A product of increased food stress during the late Miocene and Pliocene? Journal of Human Evolution 52:275–293. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248406001795#bib177 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Harrison SR, Herbohn JL, Tisdell CA, Lamb D. 2000. Timber production and biodiversity tradeoffs in plantation forestry. Pages 65–76 in S. R. Harrison, J. L. Herbohn, and K. L. Herbohn, editors.

Sustainable Small-scale Forestry. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/43482678 (accessed June 1, 2018).

Hartini KS, Patana P, Oktaviani M, Oktavianti M. 2017. The Correlation of Tree Phenology with nest number of Orang Utan Sumatera (Pongo abelii) on Primary Forest, Resort Sei Betung, Gunung Leuser National Park. IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering **180**:012047. Available from http://stacks.iop.org/1742-

6596/755/i=1/a=011001?key=crossref.0cdd0e5fffab2dd74a68d0f9f4f1296b.

Hartshorn GS. 1978. Tree falls and tropical forest dynamics. Pages 26–48 in P. B. Tomlinson and M. H.
 Zimmerman, editors. Tropical Trees as Living Systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
 Available from

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Gary_Hartshorn/publication/304024713_Tree_falls_and_t ropical_forest_dynamics/links/5763e36c08ae421c447f4167/Tree-falls-and-tropical-forest-dynamics.pdf (accessed February 12, 2018).

- Hashimoto C. 1995. Population census of the chimpanzees in the Kalinzu Forest, Uganda: Comparison between methods with nest counts. Primates **36**:477–488. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02382870 (accessed July 8, 2017).
- Hayward MW, Henschel P, O'Brien J, Hofmeyr M, Balme G, Kerley GIH. 2006. Prey preferences of the leopard (*Panthera pardus*). Journal of Zoology **270**:298–313. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2006.00139.x (accessed March 4, 2019).
- Hayward MW, Jędrzejewski W, Jêdrzejewska B. 2012a. Prey preferences of the tiger Panthera tigris. Journal of Zoology **286**:221–231. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2011.00871.x (accessed March 7, 2019).
- Hayward MW, Jędrzejewski W, Jêdrzejewska B. 2012b. Prey preferences of the tiger Panthera tigris. Journal of Zoology **286**:221–231. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2011.00871.x (accessed March 12, 2019).
- Headland TN, Greene HW. 2011. Hunter-gatherers and other primates as prey, predators and competitors of snakes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108:1470–1474. National Academy of Sciences. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20460311 (accessed October 13, 2018).
- Hearn A, Ross J, Brodie J, Cheyne S, Haidir IA, Loken B, Mathai J, Wilting A, McCarthy J. 2015. Neofelis diardi. Page The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015. IUCN Global Species Programme Red List Unit. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/136603/0 (accessed September 11, 2018).
- Hernandez-Aguilar RA. 2009. Chimpanzee nest distribution and site reuse in a dry habitat: implications for early hominin ranging. Journal of Human Evolution **57**:350–364. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248409001316 (accessed June 20, 2018).
- Hernandez-Aguilar RA, Moore J, Stanford CB. 2013. Chimpanzee nesting patterns in savanna habitat: Environmental influences and preferences. American Journal of Primatology **75**:979–994. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22163 (accessed June 20, 2018).
- Hicks TC. 2010. A Chimpanzee Mega-Culture? Exploring behavioral continuity in Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii across northern DR Congo. University of Amsterdam. Available from www.bred.nl (accessed March 9, 2019).
- Horn HS. 1971. The adaptive geometry of trees,. Princeton University Press. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=Lo7dXOlsc3sC&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=Horn+HS.+ 1971.+The+adaptative+geometry+of+trees.+Princeton,+NJ:+Princeton+University+Press.&ots=xBj

iAillkK&sig=24_-JEIe_tVAU84VBgUMyh7Zk7w#v=onepage&q&f=false (accessed June 20, 2018).

- HORR, D., Horr DA. 1977. Orang-utan maturation: Growing up in a female world. Pages 289–321 in S. Chevalier-Skolnikoff and F. E. Poirier, editors. Primate Bio-Social Development: Biological, Social, and Ecological Determinants. Garland, New York. Available from https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10016066615/ (accessed February 4, 2018).
- Hotelling H. 1933. Analysis of a complex of statistical variables into principal components. Journal of Educational Psychology **24**:417–441. Available from http://content.apa.org/journals/edu/24/6/417 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Hughes AC. 2017. Understanding the drivers of Southeast Asian biodiversity loss. Ecosphere **8**:e01624. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ecs2.1624 (accessed August 30, 2018).
- Hunt KD, Cant JGH, Gebo DL, Rose MD, Walker SE, Youlatos D. 1996. Standardized descriptions of primate locomotor and postural modes. Primates **37**:363–387.
- Hunt KD, Mcgrew WC. 2014. Chimpanzees in the dry habitats at Assirik, Senegal, and at Semliki Wildlife Reserve, Uganda. Pages 35–51 in C. Boesch, G. Hohmann, and L. Marchant, editors. Behavioural Diversity in Chimpanzees and Bonobos. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265284844 (accessed June 23, 2018).
- Husson SJ et al. 2009. Orangutan distribution, density, abundance and impacts of disturbance. Pages 77–96 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami Atmoko, T. Mitra Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic Variation in Behavioral Ecology and Conservation. Oxford University Press, Oxford. Available from http://www.outrop.com/uploads/7/2/4/9/7249041/husson_09_ou_density_-__distribution_-_ous_compared.pdf (accessed June 26, 2018).
- Hutcheson K. 1970. A Test for Comparing Diversities Based on the Shannon Formula. Journal of Theoretical Biology 29:151–154. Available from https://ac.els-cdn.com/0022519370901244/1s2.0-0022519370901244-main.pdf?_tid=cfc3459e-20c7-4f9a-b9aa-249a62d34d09&acdnat=1525625918_418e17b5f8c7abc4b70c68becfc287b9 (accessed May 9, 2018).
- Ibrahim YK, Tshen LT, Westaway KE, Cranbrook E of, Humphrey L, Muhammad RF, Zhao J, Peng LC.
 2013. First discovery of Pleistocene orangutan (Pongo sp.) fossils in Peninsular Malaysia:
 Biogeographic and paleoenvironmental implications. Journal of Human Evolution 65:770–797.
 Academic Press. Available from
 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248413002042 (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Isaac NJB, Cowlishaw G. 2004. How species respond to multiple extinction threats. Proceedings. Biological sciences **271**:1135–41. The Royal Society. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15306363 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Iwasa Y, Cohen D, Leon JA. 1984. Tree Height and Crown Shape, as Results of Competitive Games. Journal of Theoretical Biology 112:279–297. Available from https://ac.elscdn.com/S0022519385802885/1-s2.0-S0022519385802885-main.pdf?_tid=2d91b206-10a7-11e8be0c-00000aab0f02&acdnat=1518517264_3eac198e04df9eff31dff832987de470 (accessed February 13, 2018).
- Iwata Y, Ando C. 2007. Bed and bed-site reuse by western lowland gorillas (Gorilla g. gorilla) in Moukalaba-Doudou National Park, Gabon. Primates 48:77–80. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-006-0003-4 (accessed January 11, 2019).
- Jablonski NG, Whitfort MJ, Roberts-Smith N, Qinqi X. 2000. The influence of life history and diet on the distribution of catarrhine primates during the Pleistocene in eastern Asia. Journal of Human Evolution **39**:131–157. Academic Press. Available from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248400904056 (accessed May 31, 2018).

- James KR, Haritos N, Ades PK. 2006. Mechanical stability of trees under dynamic loads. American Journal of Botany **93**:1522–1530. Botanical Society of America. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.3732/ajb.93.10.1522 (accessed February 15, 2018).
- Jantz SM, Barker B, Brooks TM, Chini LP, Huang Q, Moore RM, Noel J, Hurtt GC. 2015. Future habitat loss and extinctions driven by land-use change in biodiversity hotspots under four scenarios of climate-change mitigation. Conservation Biology **29**:1122–1131. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/cobi.12549 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Johnson AE, Knott CD, Pamungkas B, Pasaribu M, Marshall AJ. 2005. A survey of the orangutan (Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii) population in and around Gunung Palung National Park, West Kalimantan, Indonesia based on nest counts. Biological Conservation **121**:495–507. Available from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S000632070400237X.
- Jones GW. 2013. The Population of Southeast Asia. Asia Research Institute Working Paper Series. Available from www.nus.ari.edu.sg/pub/wps.htm. (accessed July 21, 2018).

Jones JH. 2011. Primates and the Evolution of Long, Slow Life Histories. Current Biology **21**:R708–R717. Cell Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960982211009298 (accessed September 8, 2018).

- Jung S-E, Kwak D-A, Park T, Lee W-K, Yoo S. 2011. Estimating Crown Variables of Individual Trees Using Airborne and Terrestrial Laser Scanners. Remote Sensing **3**:2346–2363. Available from http://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/3/11/2346/.
- Kain MP, Bolker BM, McCoy MW. 2015. A practical guide and power analysis for GLMMs: detecting among treatment variation in random effects. PeerJ **3**:e1226. PeerJ Inc. Available from https://peerj.com/articles/1226 (accessed October 16, 2018).
- Kanamori T, Kuze N, Bernard H, Malim TP, Kohshima S. 2017. Fluctuations of population density in Bornean orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus morio) related to fruit availability in the Danum Valley, Sabah, Malaysia: a 10-year record including two mast fruitings and three other peak fruitings. Primates 58:225–235. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-016-0584-5 (accessed May 30, 2018).
- Kano T. 1982. The use of leafy twigs for rain cover by the pygmy chimpanzees of Wamba. Primates
 23:453–457. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02381327
 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Kanowski J, Catterall C., Wardell-Johnson G., Proctor H, Reis T. 2003. Development of forest structure on cleared rainforest land in eastern Australia under different styles of reforestation. Forest Ecology and Management 183:265–280. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112703001099 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Kanowski J, Catterall CP, Wardell-Johnson GW. 2005. Consequences of broadscale timber plantations for biodiversity in cleared rainforest landscapes of tropical and subtropical Australia. Forest Ecology and Management 208:359–372. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112705000289 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Kanowski JJ, Reis TM, Catterall CP, Piper SD. 2006. Factors Affecting the Use of Reforested Sites by Reptiles in Cleared Rainforest Landscapes in Tropical and Subtropical Australia. Restoration Ecology 14:67–76. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2006.00106.x (accessed June 1, 2018).

Kaplinsky R, Terheggen A, Tijaja J. 2011. China as a Final Market: The Gabon Timber and Thai Cassava

Value Chains. World Development **39**:1177–1190. Pergamon. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X10002512 (accessed October 21, 2018).

- Kassambara A, Mundt F. 2017. factoextra: Extract and Visualise the Results of Multivariate Data Analysis. Available from https://cran.r-project.org/package=factoextra.
- Kaufmann MR, Regan CM, Brown PM. 2000. Heterogeneity in ponderosa pine/Douglas-fir forests: age and size structure in unlogged and logged landscapes of central Colorado. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30:698–711. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada . Available from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/x99-255 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Kelle D, Gärtner S, Pratje PH, Storch I. 2014. Reintroduced Sumatran orangutans (Pongo abelii): using major food tree species as indicators of habitat suitability. Folia primatologica; international journal of primatology 85:90–108. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24504132 (accessed July 11, 2018).
- Kettle CJ, Harrison R, Koh LP. 2014. Future Forests: Fantasy or Facade: A Synthesis. Pages 164–165 in C. J. Kettle and L. P. Koh, editors. Global forest fragmentation. CABI. Available from http://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/37881176/Garcia_Feintrenie_2014_Impact _of_fragmentation_GFF2014.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expires=1499428 001&Signature=zfgVhvFhKApzwTdZH2Lf5u%2B8w%2B4%3D&response-content-disposition=inline%3B f.
- Kettle CJ, Koh LP. 2014. Global forest fragmentation. CABI. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&Ir=lang_en&id=hFDNBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA158&d q=sei+betung&ots=mlbPeBRTKX&sig=9boadiQgkm28bWS5bhFoKRLCNEo#v=onepage&q=sei betung&f=false (accessed July 7, 2017).
- Knop E, Ward PI, Wich SA. 2004. A comparison of orang-utan density in a logged and unlogged forest on Sumatra. Biological Conservation **120**:183–188. Available from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006320704000631.
- Knott C, Beaudrot L, Snaith T, White S, Tschauner H, Planansky G. 2008. Female-Female Competition in Bornean Orangutans. International Journal of Primatology **29**:975–997. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10764-008-9278-1 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Koops K, Humle T, Sterck EHM, Matsuzawa T. 2007. Ground-nesting by the chimpanzees of the Nimba Mountains, Guinea: environmentally or socially determined? American Journal of Primatology 69:407–419. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20358 (accessed April 20, 2018).
- Koops K, McGrew WC, de Vries H, Matsuzawa T. 2012a. Nest-Building by Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes verus) at Seringbara, Nimba Mountains: Antipredation, Thermoregulation, and Antivector Hypotheses. International Journal of Primatology 33:356–380. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10764-012-9585-4 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Koops K, McGrew WC, Matsuzawa T, Knapp LA. 2012b. Terrestrial nest-building by wild chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes): Implications for the tree-to-ground sleep transition in early hominins. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **148**:351–361. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajpa.22056 (accessed April 20, 2018).
- Kouakou CY, Boesch C, Kuehl HS. 2011. Identifying hotspots of chimpanzee group activity from transect surveys in Taï National Park, Côte d'Ivoire. Journal of Tropical Ecology **27**:621–630. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0266467411000423 (accessed January 26, 2018).
- Kuroda S. 1979. Grouping of the pygmy chimpanzees. Primates **20**:161–183. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02373371 (accessed September 13, 2018).
- Kuuluvainen T, Penttinen A, Leinonen K, Nygren M. 1996. Statistical Opportunities for Comparing Stand Structural Heterogeneity in Managed and Primeval Forests: An Example from Boreal Spruce Forest in Southern Finland. Silva Fennica **30**:315–328. Available from https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/1975/9243/030-2-3_Kuuluvainen.pdf?sequence=3 (accessed May 9, 2018).
- Kuuluvainen T, Pukkala T. 1987. Effect of Crown Shape and Tree Distribution on the Spatial Distribution of Shade. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 40:215–231. Available from https://ac.elscdn.com/0168192387900608/1-s2.0-0168192387900608-main.pdf?_tid=d5d997c4-10a9-11e8b7aa-00000aacb361&acdnat=1518518406_880bacb227772ee48d3cd768095bcb82 (accessed February 13, 2018).
- Kuuluvainen T, Pukkala T. 1989. Simulation of within-tree and between-tree shading of direct radiation in a forest canopy: effect of crown shape and sun elevation. Ecological Modelling 49:89–100. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0304380089900458 (accessed February 13, 2018).
- Kuze N, Kawabata H, Yamazaki S, Kanamori T, Malim TP, Bernard H. 2011. A wild Borneo orangutan carries large numbers of branches on the neck for feeding and nest building in the Danum Valley Conservation Area. Primate Research 27:21–26. Available from https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/psj/27/1/27_27.007/_pdf/-char/en (accessed February 18, 2019).
- Lamb D. 1998. Large-scale Ecological Restoration of Degraded Tropical Forest Lands: The Potential Role of Timber Plantations. Restoration Ecology **6**:271–279. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1526-100X.1998.00632.x (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Lamb D, Erskine PD, Parrotta JA. 2005. Restoration of degraded tropical forest landscapes. Science (New York, N.Y.) **310**:1628–32. American Association for the Advancement of Science. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16339437 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Lamb D, Keenan R, Gould K. 2001. Historical background to plantation development in the tropics: a north Queensland case study. Pages 9–20 in S. R. Harrison and J. L. Herbohn, editors. Sustainable Farm Forestry in the Tropics. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=V68edCJ5CG4C&oi=fnd&pg=PA9&dq=Lamb,+D., +Keenan,+R.,+Gould,+K.,+2001.+Historical+background+to+plantation+development+in+the+trop ics:+a+north+Queensland+case+study.+In:+Harrison,+S.R.,+Herbohn,+J.L.+(Eds.),+Sus (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Lameira AR et al. 2013. Predator guild does not influence orangutan alarm call rates and combinations. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **67**:519–528. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00265-012-1471-8 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Lang D. 2010. The Reticulated Python (Broghammerus reticulatus) and man (Homo sapiens) eat each other: animals, enjoy your meal! Page Litteratura Serpentium. Available from https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/35269614/Publ_De_Lang_The_Reticulated _Python_and_man_eat_each_other._Ruud_de_Lang_2010.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYG Z2Y53UL3A&Expires=1539447382&Signature=QNAeZBfSc2kSt%2ByYrP2WGtqTTBU%3D&respons e-content-d (accessed October 13, 2018).
- Largo CL, Bastian ML, van Schaik CP. 2009. Mosquito avoidnace drives selection of nest tree species in Bornean orangutans. Folia Primatologica **80**:163–163.
- Last C, Muh B. 2013. Effects of Human Presence on Chimpanzee Nest Location in the Lebialem-Mone Forest Landscape, Southwest Region, Cameroon. Folia Primatologica **84**:51–63. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23406888 (accessed March 10, 2019).

Laumonier Y. 1997. The Vegetation and Physiography of Sumatra. Springer Netherlands. Available from

https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=YTPwCAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=laumoni er+vegetation&ots=IIjkkHt-ew&sig=IQOfHFHyiJm-zx9xRccZi0IX6RM#v=onepage&q=laumonier vegetation&f=false (accessed July 7, 2017).

- Laumonier Y, Uryu Y, Stüwe M, Budiman A, Setiabudi B, Hadian O. 2010. Eco-floristic sectors and deforestation threats in Sumatra: identifying new conservation area network priorities for ecosystem-based land use planning. Biodiversity and Conservation **19**:1153–1174. Springer Netherlands. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10531-010-9784-2 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Laurance WF, Goosem M, Laurance SGW. 2009. Impacts of roads and linear clearings on tropical forests. Trends in Ecology & Evolution **24**:659–669. Elsevier Current Trends. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169534709002067 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Laurance WF, Nascimento HEM, Laurance SG, Andrade AC, Fearnside PM, Ribeiro JEL, Capretz RL. 2006. Rain forest fragmentation and the proliferation of successional trees. Ecology **87**:469–482. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1890/05-0064 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Laurance WF, Sayer J, Cassman KG. 2014. Agricultural expansion and its impacts on tropical nature. Trends in Ecology & Evolution **29**:107–116. Elsevier Current Trends. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169534713002929 (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Lehmann J, Dunbar R, Lehmann J. 2009. Implications of body mass and predation for ape social system and biogeographical distribution. Oikos **118**:379–390. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16382.x (accessed March 4, 2019).
- Leifeld P. 2013. texreg: Conversion of Statistical Model Output in R to LaTeX and HTML Tables. Journal of Statistical Software **55**:1–24. Available from http://www.jstatsoft.org/v55/i08/.
- Levin SA. 1992. The Problem of Pattern and Scale in Ecology: The Robert H. MacArthur Award Lecture. Ecology **73**:1943–1967. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.2307/1941447 (accessed October 19, 2018).
- Lexerød NL, Eid T. 2006. An evaluation of different diameter diversity indices based on criteria related to forest management planning. Forest Ecology and Management **222**:17–28. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112705005979 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Li-Weber M. 2015. Molecular mechanisms and anti-cancer aspects of the medicinal phytochemicals rocaglamides (=flavaglines). International Journal of Cancer **137**:1791–1799. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ijc.29013 (accessed March 17, 2019).
- Li W, Clauzel C, Dai Y, Wu G, Giraudoux P, Li L. 2017. Improving landscape connectivity for the Yunnan snub-nosed monkey through cropland reforestation using graph theory. Journal for Nature Conservation **38**:46–55. Urban & Fischer. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1617138117301024 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Li X, Strahler AH. 1992. Geometric-optical bidirectional reflectance modeling of the discrete crown vegetation canopy: effect of crown shape and mutual shadowing. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing **30**:276–292. Available from http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/134078/ (accessed February 13, 2018).
- Lindner A. 2011. Small scale structure of forest stands in the Atlantic Rainforest Notes on understorey light fluctuation. Tropical Ecology **52**:139–150.
- Linkie M, Sloan S, Kasia R, Kiswayadi D, Azmi W. 2014. Breaking the Vicious Circle of Illegal Logging in Indonesia. Conservation Biology **28**:1023–1033. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from

http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/cobi.12255 (accessed August 28, 2018).

- Little AR, Nibbelink NP, Chamberlain MJ, Conner LM, Warren RJ. 2016. Eastern wild turkey nest site selection in two frequently burned pine savannas. Ecological Processes 5:4. SpringerOpen. Available from http://ecologicalprocesses.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s13717-016-0051-7 (accessed February 26, 2018).
- Loken B, Spehar S, Rayadin Y. 2013. Terrestriality in the bornean orangutan (*Pongo pygmaeus morio*) and implications for their ecology and conservation. American Journal of Primatology **75**:1129– 1138. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22174 (accessed September 11, 2018).
- Loo YY, Billa L, Singh A. 2015. Effect of climate change on seasonal monsoon in Asia and its impact on the variability of monsoon rainfall in Southeast Asia. Geoscience Frontiers **6**:817–823. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S167498711400036X (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Lovejoy TE et al. 1986. Edge and other effects of isolation on Amazon forest fragments. Pages 257–285 in M. E. Soul, editor. Conservation Biology. The science of scarcity and diversity. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/216850045 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Lüdecke D. 2018a. sjlabelled: Labelled Data Utility Functions. Available from https://cran.rproject.org/package=sjlabelled%3E.
- Lüdecke D. 2018b. Data Visualization for Statistics in Social Science_. Available from https://cran.rproject.org/package=sjPlot%3E.
- Lüdecke D. 2018c. sjmisc: Miscellaneous Data Management Tools. Available from https://cran.rproject.org/package=sjmisc%3E.
- Lugo AE. 1997. The apparent paradox of reestablishing species richness on degraded lands with tree monocultures. Forest Ecology and Management **99**:9–19. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112797001916 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Lugo AE, Helmer E. 2004. Emerging forests on abandoned land: Puerto Rico's new forests. Forest Ecology and Management **190**:145–161. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112703004596 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Luskin MS, Albert WR, Tobler MW. 2017. Sumatran tiger survival threatened by deforestation despite increasing densities in parks. Nature Communications **8**:1783. Nature Publishing Group. Available from http://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-017-01656-4 (accessed April 3, 2018).
- Machovina B, Feeley KJ, Ripple WJ. 2015. Biodiversity conservation: The key is reducing meat consumption. Science of The Total Environment **536**:419–431. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969715303697 (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Mackinnon J. 1974. The behaviour and ecology of wild orang-utans (Pongo pygmaeus). Animal Behaviour **22**:3–74. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347274800540 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- MacKinnon J. 1971. The Orang-utan in Sabah Today. Oryx **11**:141. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S003060530000973X (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Malone C, Strier KB. 2011. Orangutan Density and Nesting Preference in Central Kalimantan, Indonesian Borneo. University of Wisconsin, Madison. Available from http://www.outrop.com/uploads/7/2/4/9/7249041/malone_undergraduatehonorsthesis.pdf

(accessed April 23, 2018).

- Manduell KL, Harrison ME, Thorpe SKS. 2012. Forest Structure and Support Availability Influence Orangutan Locomotion in Sumatra and Borneo. American Journal of Primatology **74**:1128–1142. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22072.
- Manduell KL, Morrogh-Bernard HC, Thorpe SKS. 2011. Locomotor behavior of wild orangutans (pongo pygmaeus wurmbii) in disturbed peat swamp forest, Sabangau, Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **145**:348–359. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajpa.21495.
- Manjaribe C, Frasier CL, Rakouth B, Louis EE. 2013. Ecological Restoration and Reforestation of Fragmented Forests in Kianjavato, Madagascar. International Journal of Ecology **2013**:1–12. Hindawi. Available from http://www.hindawi.com/journals/ijecol/2013/726275/ (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Mantyka-Pringle CS, Visconti P, Di Marco M, Martin TG, Rondinini C, Rhodes JR. 2015. Climate change modifies risk of global biodiversity loss due to land-cover change. Biological Conservation 187:103–111. Elsevier. Available from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320715001615 (accessed September 17, 2018).

- Margono BA, Potapov P V., Turubanova S, Stolle F, Hansen MC. 2014. Primary forest cover loss in Indonesia over 2000–2012. Nature Climate Change **4**:730–735. Nature Publishing Group. Available from http://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2277 (accessed July 18, 2018).
- Margono BA, Turubanova S, Zhuravleva I, Potapov P, Tyukavina A, Baccini A, Goetz S, Hansen MC. 2012. Mapping and monitoring deforestation and forest degradation in Sumatra (Indonesia) using Landsat time series data sets from 1990 to 2010. Environmental Research Letters **7**:034010. IOP Publishing. Available from http://stacks.iop.org/1748-9326/7/i=3/a=034010?key=crossref.66357ddaeac100909ec5f9a708c4ab80 (accessed August 28, 2018).
- Markham R, Groves CP. 1990. Brief communication: Weights of wild orang utans. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **81**:1–3. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajpa.1330810102 (accessed March 12, 2019).
- Marlier ME, DeFries R, Pennington D, Nelson E, Ordway EM, Lewis J, Koplitz SN, Mickley LJ. 2015. Future fire emissions associated with projected land use change in Sumatra. Global Change Biology **21**:345–362. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/gcb.12691 (accessed July 18, 2018).
- Marshall AJ et al. 2009. The effects of forest phenology and floristics on populations of Bornean and Sumatran orangutans Are Sumatran forests better orangutan habitat than Bornean forests? Pages 97–117 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami Atmoko, T. M. Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation behavioral ecology and conservation. Oxford University Press, Oxford. Available from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5540/b7c59b620e21b58dfc87c61b85fcb39ddf26.pdf (accessed July 1, 2018).
- Marshall AJ, Nardiyono, Engström LM, Pamungkas B, Palapa J, Meijaard E, Stanley SA. 2006. The blowgun is mightier than the chainsaw in determining population density of Bornean orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus morio) in the forests of East Kalimantan. Biological Conservation **129**:566–578. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320705005203 (accessed May 16, 2018).
- Maryanski AR. 1987. African ape social structure: Is there strength in weak ties? Social Networks **9**:191–215. North-Holland. Available from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0378873387900207 (accessed September 13, 2018).

- Mathewson PD et al. 2008. Evaluating Orangutan Census Techniques Using Nest Decay Rates : Implications for Population Estimates. Ecological Applications **18**:208–221.
- Matsuda I, Tuuga A, Higashi S. 2008. Clouded leopard (Neofelis diardi) predation on proboscis monkeys (Nasalis larvatus) in Sabah, Malaysia. Primates **49**:227–231. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-008-0085-2 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Mazerolle MJ. 2017. AICcmodavg: Model selection and multimodel inference based on (Q)AIC(c). Available from https://cran.r-project.org/package=AICcmodavg.
- McGrew WC (William C. 2004. The cultured chimpanzee : reflections on cultural primatology. Cambridge University Press. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=bYQ9l41An3YC&oi=fnd&pg=PR9&dq=mcgrew+ 2004+primate&ots=K9XKh-GKNe&sig=tNGm-VN_KozMmW8rHWSkpr-Oll4#v=onepage&q=mcgrew 2004 primate&f=false (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Mehlman PT, Doran DM. 2002. Influencing Western Gorilla Nest Construction at Mondika Research Center. International Journal of Primatology 23:1257–1285. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1021126920753 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Meijaard E et al. 2005. Life after logging Reconciling wildlife conservation and production forestry in Indonesian Borneo. Jakarta, Indonesia. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Erik_Meijaard/publication/236661022_Meijaard_et_al_20 05_-_Life_after_logging_2nd_edition/links/00463518c2d419851b000000.pdf (accessed August 30, 2018).
- Meijaard E et al. 2011. Quantifying Killing of Orangutans and Human-Orangutan Conflict in Kalimantan, Indonesia. PLoS ONE **6**:e27491. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027491.
- Meijaard E, Albar G, Nardiyono, Rayadin Y, Ancrenaz M, Spehar S. 2010. Unexpected Ecological Resilience in Bornean Orangutans and Implications for Pulp and Paper Plantation Management. PLoS ONE **5**:e12813. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012813 (accessed June 28, 2018).
- Meyer WB, Turner II BL. 1992. Human population growth and global land-use/cover change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics **23**:39–61. Available from www.annualreviews.org (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Meyfroidt P, Lambin EF. 2011. Global Forest Transition: Prospects for an End to Deforestation. Annual Review of Environment and Resources **36**:343–371. Annual Reviews . Available from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev-environ-090710-143732 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Mitani JC. 1985. Mating behaviour of male orangutans in the Kutai Game Reserve, Indonesia. Animal Behaviour **33**:392–402. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347285800634 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Mitchell K. 2010. Quantitative Analysis by the Point-Centered Quarter Method:1–56. Hobart and William Smith Colleges. Available from http://faculty.wwu.edu/wallin/envr442/pdf_files/PCQM.pdf (accessed May 9, 2018).
- Mitra-Setia T, Delgado RA, Utami-Atmoko SS, Singleton I, van Schaik CP. 2009. Social organisation and male-female relationships. Pages 245–253 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra Setia, and C.
 P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioral ecology and conservation.

Oxford Biology, Oxford.

- Mitra Setia T, van Schaik CP. 2007. The response of adult orang-utans to flanged male long calls: inferences about their function. Folia primatologica; international journal of primatology 78:215– 26. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17495479 (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Mohamad SW, Rayan DM, Christopher WCT, Hamirul M, Mohamed A, Lau CF, Siwan ES. 2015. The first description of population density and habitat use of the mainland clouded leopard Neofelis nebulosa within a logged-primary forest in South East Asia. Population Ecology **57**:495–503. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10144-015-0494-1 (accessed October 13, 2018).
- Mohamed A, Sollmann R, Bernard H, Ambu LN, Lagan P, Mannan S, Hofer H, Wilting A. 2013. Density and habitat use of the leopard cat (Prionailurus bengalensis) in three commercial forest reserves in Sabah, Malaysian Borneo. American Society of Mammalogists. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23488599 (accessed May 20, 2018).
- Moore JR, Maguire DA. 2004. Natural sway frequencies and damping ratios of trees: concepts, review and synthesis of previous studies. Trees Structure and Function **18**:195–203. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00468-003-0295-6 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Morgan D, Sanz C. 2007. Best Practice Guidelines for Reducing the Impact of Commercial Logging on Great Apes in Western Equatorial Africa. Page 32pp. IUCN SSC Primate Specialist Group (PSG), Gland, Switzerland. Available from www.iucn.org/themes/ssc (accessed June 12, 2018).
- Morrogh-Bernard H, Husson S, Page S., Rieley J. 2003. Population status of the Bornean orang-utan (Pongo pygmaeus) in the Sebangau peat swamp forest, Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. Biological Conservation **110**:141–152. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320702001866 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Morrogh-Bernard HC et al. 2009. Orangutan activity budgets and diet- A comparison between species, populations and habitats. Orangutans: Geographic variation behavioral ecology and conservation:119–133.
- Moser BK, Stevens GR. 1992. Homogeneity of Variance in the Two-Sample Means Test. The American Statistician **46**:19–21. Available from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00031305.1992.10475839 (accessed January 21, 2018).
- Moser BK, Stevens GR, Watts CL. 1989. The two-sample t test versus satterthwaite's approximate f test. Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods **18**:3963–3975. Marcel Dekker, Inc. . Available from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03610928908830135 (accessed January 20, 2018).
- Musick JA. 1999. Ecology and Conservation of Long-Lived Marine Animals. American Fisheries Society Symposium **23**:1–10. Available from http://sciences.ucf.edu/biology/king/wpcontent/uploads/sites/106/2011/08/Musick_1999.pdf (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, da Fonseca GAB, Kent J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature **403**:853–858. Nature Publishing Group. Available from http://www.nature.com/articles/35002501 (accessed August 20, 2018).
- Nakagawa S, Schielzeth H. 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining *R*² from generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods in Ecology and Evolution **4**:133–142. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x (accessed February 27, 2018).
- Nater A et al. 2017. Morphometric, Behavioral, and Genomic Evidence for a New Orangutan Species.

Current biology : CB **27**:3487–3498.e10. Elsevier. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29103940 (accessed January 31, 2018).

- Nguyen H, Firn J, Lamb D, Herbohn J. 2014. Wood density: A tool to find complementary species for the design of mixed species plantations. Forest Ecology and Management **334**:106–113. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112714005118 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Nicoll BCC, Ray D. 1996. Adaptive growth of tree root systems in response to wind action and site conditions. Tree Physiology **16**:891–898. Oxford University Press. Available from https://academic.oup.com/treephys/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/treephys/16.11-12.891 (accessed February 4, 2018).
- Nijman V. 2005. In Full Swing. An assessment of trade in orang-utans and gibbons on Java and Bali, Indonesia. Petaling Jaya. Available from https://www.traffic.org/site/assets/files/3984/in_full_swing.pdf (accessed October 22, 2018).
- Nijman V. 2009. An assessment of trade in gibbon and orangutans in Sumatra, Indonesia. Petaling Jaya, Malaysia. Available from https://www.traffic.org/site/assets/files/3986/sumatran-gibbonsorangutans.pdf (accessed September 9, 2018).
- Nijman V. 2017. Orangutan trade, confiscations, and lack of prosecutions in Indonesia. American Journal of Primatology **79**:22652. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22652 (accessed May 30, 2018).
- Nijman V, Spaan D, Rode-Margono EJ, Wirdateti, Nekaris KAI. 2017. Changes in the primate trade in Indonesian wildlife markets over a 25-year period: Fewer apes and langurs, more macaques, and slow lorises. American Journal of Primatology **79**:e22517. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22517 (accessed October 22, 2018).
- Norris K, Asase A, Collen B, Gockowksi J, Mason J, Phalan B, Wade A. 2010. Biodiversity in a forest-agriculture mosaic The changing face of West African rainforests. Biological Conservation 143:2341–2350. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320709005400 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Nowak M., Rianti P, Wich S., Meijaard E, Fredriksson G. 2017. Pongo tapanuliensis. IUCN Global Species Programme Red List Unit. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-3.RLTS.T120588639A120588662.en (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Nowak M, Singleton I. 2015. Sikundur Monitoring Post Annual Report for 2014. Available from https://paneco.ch/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Sikundur-Update-2014.pdf (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Nowak M, Singleton I. 2016. Sikundur Monitoring Post Annual Report for 2015. Available from https://paneco.ch/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Sikundur-Annual-Report-2015.pdf (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Nowell K, Jackson P. 1996. Wild Cats: Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. Gland, Switzerland. Available from http://www.catsg.org/fileadmin/filesharing/4.Library/4.1._Cat_Library/cat-actionplan-infoform.pdf (accessed March 12, 2019).
- Nunn CL, Heymann EW. 2005. Malaria infection and host behavior: a comparative study of Neotropical primates. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **59**:30–37. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00265-005-0005-z (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Oker-Blom P, Kellomäki S. 1982. Theoretical computations on the role of crown shape in the absorption of light by forest trees. Mathematical Biosciences **59**:291–311. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0025556482900281 (accessed February 13,

2018).

- Okuda T, Suzuki M, Adachi N, Quah ES, Hussein NA, Manokaran N. 2003. Effect of selective logging on canopy and stand structure and tree species composition in a lowland dipterocarp forest in peninsular Malaysia. Forest Ecology and Management **175**:297–320. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112702001378 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Orangutan Network. 2015. Standardized field methods. Universität Zürich Department of Anthropology. Available from http://www.aim.uzh.ch/de/research/orangutannetwork/sfm.html#24 (accessed July 8, 2017).
- Owens IP, Bennett PM. 2000. Ecological basis of extinction risk in birds: habitat loss versus human persecution and introduced predators. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **97**:12144–8. National Academy of Sciences. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11005835 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Ozdemir I, Norton D, Ozkan U, Mert A, Senturk O. 2008. Estimation of Tree Size Diversity Using Object Oriented Texture Analysis and Aster Imagery. Sensors **8**:4709–4724. Molecular Diversity Preservation International. Available from http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/8/8/4709 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Paoli GD, Curran LM, Slik JWF. 2008. Soil nutrients affect spatial patterns of aboveground biomass and emergent tree density in southwestern Borneo. Oecologia **155**:287–299. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00442-007-0906-9 (accessed June 5, 2018).
- Parrotta JA, Knowles OH. 1999. Restoration of Tropical Moist Forests on Bauxite-Mined Lands in the Brazilian Amazon. Restoration Ecology **7**:103–116. Available from https://www.fs.fed.us/research/publications/misc/78137-1999-RestEcol-Parrotta-Knowles.pdf (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Parrotta JA, Knowles OH, Wunderle JM. 1997a. Development of floristic diversity in 10-year-old restoration forests on a bauxite mined site in Amazonia. Forest Ecology and Management 99:21–42. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112797001928 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Parrotta JA, Turnbull JW, Jones N. 1997b. Catalyzing native forest regeneration on degraded tropical lands. Forest Ecology and Management **99**:1–7. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112797001904 (accessed June 2, 2018).
- Peltola H. 1996. Swaying of trees in response to wind and thinning in a stand of Scots pine. Boundary-Layer Meteorology **77**:285–304. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF00123529 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Piper P, Earl of Cranbrook, Rabett RJ. 2007. Confirmation of the presence of the tiger Panthera tigris (L.) in Late Pleistocene and Holocene Borneo. Malayan Nature Journal **59**:257–267. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/284506355 (accessed March 17, 2019).
- Plumptre AJ, Reynolds V. 1997. Nesting Behavior of Chimpanzees: Implications for Censuses. International Journal of Primatology 18:475–485. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1026302920674 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Pohlert T. 2014. The Pairwise Multiple Comparison of Mean Ranks Package (PMCMR). R package. Available from https://cran.r-project.org/package=PMCMR (accessed May 25, 2018).
- Prasetyo D, Ancrenaz M, Morrogh-Bernard HC, Utami Atmoko SS, Wich SA, van Schaik CP. 2009. Nest Building in Orangutans. Pages 269–277 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioural ecology and conservation. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Prasetyo D, Sugardjito J. 2011. Nest density as determinants for habitat utilizations of Bornean

orangutan (Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii) in degraded forests of Gunung Palung National Park, West Kalimantan. Biodiversitas, Journal of Biological Diversity **12**:164–170. Available from https://smujo.id/biodiv/article/view/228/241 (accessed August 31, 2017).

- Prasetyo D, Utami SS, Suprijatna J, Suci Utami S, Suprijatna J, Kunci K, dan pola S. 2012. Nest Stuctures in Bornean Orangutan. Jurnal Biologi Indonesia **8**:217–227. Available from http://ejournal.biologi.lipi.go.id/index.php/jurnal_biologi_indonesia/article/viewFile/3042/2633 (accessed August 31, 2017).
- Pretzsch H. 1997. Analysis and modeling of spatial stand structures. Methodological considerations based on mixed beech-larch stands in Lower Saxony. Forest Ecology and Management 97:237–253. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112797000698 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Pretzsch H. 1998. Strucutral diversity as a result of silvicultural operations. LESNICTVI-FORESTRY **44**:429–439. Available from http://waldwachstum.wzw.tum.de/fileadmin/publications/457.pdf (accessed June 7, 2018).

Priatna D, Kartawinata K, Abdulhadi R. 2006. Recovery of a lowland dipterocarp forest twenty two years after selective logging at Sekundur, Gunung Leusuer National Park, North Sumatra, Indonesia. REINWARDATIA **12**:237–255. Available from http://scholar.googleusercontent.com/scholar?q=cache:b8JI6BZnDOMJ:scholar.google.com/+sek undur&hl=en&as_sdt=0,5 (accessed July 7, 2017).

- Pruetz JD, Fulton SJ, Marchant LF, McGrew WC, Schiel M, Waller M. 2008. Arboreal nesting as antipredator adaptation by savanna chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes verus) in southeastern Senegal. American Journal of Primatology **70**:393–401. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20508 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- R Core Team. 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available from https://www.r-project.org/.
- Rao M, van Schaik CP. 1997. The behavioural ecology of Sumatran orangutans in logged and unlogged forest. Tropical Biodiversity **4**:173–185. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286269970 (accessed February 7, 2018).
- Rayadin Y, Saitoh T. 2009. Individual variation in nest size and nest site features of the Bornean orangutans (*Pongo pygmaeus*). American Journal of Primatology **71**:393–399. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20666.
- Remis MJ. 1993. Nesting Behavior of Lowland Gorillas in the Dzanga-Sangha Reserve, Central African Republic: Implications for Population Estimates and Understandings of Group Dynamics. Tropics 2:245–255. 日本熱帯生態学会. Available from http://joi.jlc.jst.go.jp/JST.JSTAGE/tropics/2.245?from=CrossRef (accessed January 31, 2018).

Rennolls K, Laumonier Y. 2000. Species diversity structure analysis at two sites in the tropical rain forest of Sumatra. Journal of Tropical Ecology **16**:253–270. Available from https://www.cambridge.org/core/services/aop-cambridgecore/content/view/8089C01FD0BEE6914A4F44FD5656F11B/S0266467400001395a.pdf/species_d iversity_structure_analysis_at_two_sites_in_the_tropical_rain_forest_of_sumatra.pdf (accessed January 23, 2018).

Restrepo C, Gomez N, Heredia S. 1999. Anthropogenic edges, treefall gaps, and fruit-frugivore interactions in a Neotropical montane forest. Ecology **80**:668–685. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1890/0012-9658%281999%29080%5B0668%3AAETGAF%5D2.0.C0%3B2 (accessed June 7, 2018).

Reynolds V. 1965. Budongo: A forest and its Chimapnzees. Methuen, London.

- Richmond BG, Jungers WL. 1995. Size variation and sexual dimorphism in Australopithecus afarensis and living hominoids. Journal of Human Evolution **29**:229–245. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248485710585 (accessed March 12, 2019).
- Rijksen HD. 1978. A field study on Sumatran orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus abelii Lesson 1827) : ecology, behaviour and conservation. Veenman, Wageningen. Available from http://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/71969 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Rijksen HD, Meijard E. 1999. Our Vanishing Relative: The status of wild orang-utans at the close of the twentieth century. Wageningen.
- Rijksen HD, Rijksen-Graatsma AG. 1975. Orang Utan Rescue Work in North Sumatra. Oryx **13**:63. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0030605300013053 (accessed September 17, 2018).
- Robbins MM, Bermejo M, Cipolletta C, Magliocca F, Parnell RJ, Stokes E. 2004. Social structure and lifehistory patterns in western gorillas (Gorilla gorilla gorilla). American Journal of Primatology 64:145–159. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20069 (accessed September 13, 2018).
- Robertson JMY, van Schaik CP. 2001. Causal factors underlying the dramatic decline of the Sumatran orang-utan. Oryx **35**:26–38. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1365-3008.2001.00149.x (accessed February 7, 2018).
- Rouvinen S, Kuuluvainen T. 2005. Tree diameter distributions in natural and managed old Pinus sylvestris-dominated forests. Forest Ecology and Management **208**:45–61. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112704008254 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Russon AE et al. 2007. Orangutan leaf-carrying for nest-building: Toward unraveling cultural processes. Animal Cognition **10**:189–202. Springer-Verlag. Available from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs10071-006-0058-z.pdf (accessed August 31, 2017).
- Russon AE. 2009. Orangutan rehabilitation and reintroduction: Success, failures and role in conservation. Pages 327–350 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami Atmoko, T. M. Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic Variation in Behavioural Ecology and Conservation. Oxford University Press, Oxford. Available from http://www.yorku.ca/arusson/Papers/23-Wich-Russon-rehab-small.pdf (accessed July 11, 2018).
- Russon AE et al. 2009a. Geographic variation in orangutan diets. Pages 135–156 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioral ecology and conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.
- Russon AE, Erman A, Dennis R. 2001. The population and distribution of orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus pygmaeus) in and around the Danau Sentarum Wildlife Reserve, West Kalimantan, Indonesia. Biological Conservation **97**:21–28. Available from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320700000872.
- Russon AE, Kuncoro P, Ferisa A. 2015. Orangutan behavior in Kutai National Park after drought and fire damage: Adjustments to short- and long-term natural forest regeneration. American Journal of Primatology **1289**:n/a-n/a. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22480 (accessed February 6, 2018).
- Russon AE, van Schaik CP, Kuncoro P, Ferisa A, Handayani DP, van Noordwijk MA. 2009b. Innovation and intelligence in orangutans. Pages 279–298 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutan, Geographic variation in behavioural ecology and

conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.

- Ruxton GD. 2006. The unequal variance t-test is an underused alternative to Student's t-test and the Mann-Whitney U test. Behavioral Ecology **17**:688–690.
- Samson DR. 2012. The chimpanzee nest quantified: morphology and ecology of arboreal sleeping platforms within the dry habitat site of Toro-Semliki Wildlife Reserve, Uganda. Primates **53**:357– 364. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-012-0310-x (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Samson DR, Hunt KD. 2012. A Thermodynamic Comparison of Arboreal and Terrestrial Sleeping Sites for Dry-Habitat Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) at the Toro-Semliki Wildlife Reserve, Uganda. American Journal of Primatology **74**:811–818. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22031 (accessed April 21, 2018).
- Samson DR, Hunt KD. 2014. Chimpanzees preferentially select sleeping platform construction tree species with biomechanical properties that yield stable, firm, but compliant nests. PLoS ONE 9:e95361. Public Library of Science. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095361 (accessed April 20, 2018).
- Samson DR, Muehlenbein MP, Hunt KD. 2013. Do chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) exhibit sleep related behaviors that minimize exposure to parasitic arthropods? A preliminary report on the possible anti-vector function of chimpanzee sleeping platforms. Primates **54**:73–80. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-012-0329-z (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Samson DR, Shumaker RW. 2013. Documenting orang-utan sleep architecture: sleeping platform complexity increases sleep quality in captive Pongo. Behaviour **150**:845–861. Brill. Available from http://booksandjournals.brillonline.com/content/journals/10.1163/1568539x-00003082 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Saw LG, LaFrankie J V., Kochummen KM, Yap SK. 1991. Fruit trees in a Malaysian rain forest. Economic Botany 45:120–136. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02860057 (accessed June 13, 2018).
- Schaik CP Van. 1983. Why Are Diurnal Primates Living in Groups? Pages 120–144 Behaviour. Brill. Available from https://www.jstor.org/stable/4534297 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Schaller GB. 1963. The Mountain Gorilla: Ecology and Behaviour. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Schürmann CL. 1981. Courtship and Mating Behavior of Wild Orangutans in Sumatra. Pages 130–135. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. Available from http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/978-3-642-68254-4_18 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Schürmann CL, van Hooff JARAM. 1986. Reproductive strategies of the orang-utan: New data and a reconsideration of existing sociosexual models. International Journal of Primatology 7:265–287.
 Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02736392 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Serckx A, Huynen M-CC, Beudels-Jamar RC, Vimond M, Bogaert J, Kühl HS. 2016. Bonobo nest site selection and the importance of predictor scales in primate ecology. American Journal of Primatology 78:1326–1343. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22585 (accessed January 20, 2018).
- Shannon CE, E. C. 2001. A mathematical theory of communication. ACM SIGMOBILE Mobile Computing and Communications Review **5**:3. ACM. Available from http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=584091.584093 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Shono K, Cadaweng EA, Durst PB. 2007. Application of Assisted Natural Regeneration to Restore Degraded Tropical Forestlands. Restoration Ecology **15**:620–626. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111).

Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00274.x (accessed June 2, 2018).

- Singleton I. 2000. Ranging behaviour and seasonal movements of Sumatran orang-utans Pongo pygmaeus abelii in swamp forests. University of Kent, Canterbury. UK.
- Singleton I, Knott CD, Morrogh-Bernard HC, Wich SA, van Schaik CP. 2009. Ranging behaviour of orangutan females and social organization. Pages 205–213 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioral ecology and conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.
- Singleton I, van Schaik CP. 2002. The social organisation of a population of Sumatran orang-utans. Folia primatologica; international journal of primatology **73**:1–20. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12065937 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Singleton I, Van Schaik CP. 2001. Orangutan home range size and its determinants in a Sumatran swamp forest. International Journal of Primatology **22**:877–911.
- Singleton I, Wich S., Nowak M, Usher G, Utami-Atmoko S. 2017. Pongo abelii. IUCN Global Species Programme Red List Unit. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-3.RLTS.T121097935A115575085.en (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Slater H. 2015. Forest Structure and group density of Thomas' Langur monkey. University of Bournemouth.
- Slik JWF, Keßler PJA, van Welzen PC. 2003. Macaranga and Mallotus species (Euphorbiaceae) as indicators for disturbance in the mixed lowland dipterocarp forest of East Kalimantan (Indonesia). Ecological Indicators 2:311–324. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X02000572 (accessed October 12, 2018).
- Sloan S, Campbell MJ, Alamgir M, Collier-Baker E, Nowak MG, Usher G, Laurance WF. 2018a. Infrastructure development and contested forest governance threaten the Leuser Ecosystem, Indonesia. Land Use Policy **77**:298–309. Available from https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0264837717316885 (accessed August 26, 2018).
- Sloan S, Locatelli B, Wooster MJ, Gaveau DLA. 2017. Fire activity in Borneo driven by industrial land conversion and drought during El Niño periods, 1982–2010. Global Environmental Change 47:95– 109. Pergamon. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378016305416 (accessed August 28, 2018).
- Sloan S, Supriatna J, Campbell MJ, Alamgir M, Laurance WF. 2018b. Newly Discovered Orangutan Species Requires Urgent Habitat Protection. Current Biology 28:R1-3. Available from https://www.ecodebate.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/20180514-180514-sloan-et-al-2018-orangutan.pdf (accessed October 22, 2018).
- Sodhi NS, Koh LP, Brook BW, Ng PKL. 2004. Southeast Asian biodiversity: an impending disaster. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 19:654–660. Elsevier Current Trends. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169534704002666 (accessed August 20, 2018).
- Sodhi NS, Koh LP, Clements R, Wanger TC, Hill JK, Hamer KC, Clough Y, Posa MRC, Lee TM. 2010. Conserving Southeast Asian forest biodiversity in human-modified landscapes. Biological Conservation 143:2375–2384. Elsevier. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320709005370 (accessed February 5, 2018).
- Soethe N, Lehmann J, Engels C. 2006. Root morphology and anchorage of six native tree species from a tropical montane forest and an elfin forest in Ecuador. Plant and Soil **279**:173–185. Kluwer

Academic Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11104-005-1005-5 (accessed February 4, 2018).

- Spehar SN, Mathewson PD, Nuzuar, Wich SA, Marshall AJ, Kühl H, Nardiyono, Meijaard E, Kü H, Meijaard E. 2010. Estimating orangutan densities using the standing crop and marked nest count methods: Lessons learned for conservation. Biotropica 42:748–757. Available from http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/loi/btp. (accessed May 9, 2018).
- Spehar SN, Rayadin Y. 2017. Habitat use of Bornean Orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus morio) in an Industrial Forestry Plantation in East Kalimantan, Indonesia. International Journal of Primatology 38:358–384. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10764-017-9959-8 (accessed May 30, 2018).
- Stanford CB, O'Malley RC. 2008. Sleeping tree choice by Bwindi chimpanzees. American Journal of Primatology **70**:642–649. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20539 (accessed February 14, 2018).
- Staudhammer CL, LeMay VM. 2001. Introduction and evaluation of possible indices of stand structural diversity. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **31**:1105–1115. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada . Available from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/x01-033 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Sterck FJ, Bongers F. 2001. Crown development in tropical rain forest trees: patterns with tree height and light availability. Journal of Ecology **89**:1–13. Blackwell Science Ltd. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1365-2745.2001.00525.x (accessed February 8, 2018).
- Stewart FA. 2011a. The evolution of shelter: ecology and ethology of chimpanzee nest building. University of Cambridge. Available from https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/241033 (accessed March 10, 2019).
- Stewart FA. 2011b. Brief communication: Why sleep in a nest? empirical testing of the function of simple shelters made by wild chimpanzees. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 146:313–318. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajpa.21580 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Stewart FA, Piel AK, McGrew WC. 2011. Living archaeology: Artefacts of specific nest site fidelity in wild chimpanzees. Journal of Human Evolution 61:388–395. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248411001357 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Stewart FA, Pruetz JD. 2013. Do Chimpanzee Nests Serve an Anti-Predatory Function? American Journal of Primatology **75**:593–604. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.22138 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Stewart FA, Pruetz JD, Hansell MH. 2007. Do chimpanzees build comfortable nests? American Journal of Primatology **69**:930–939. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20432 (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Stibig H-J, Achard F, Carboni S, Raši R, Miettinen J. 2013. Change in tropical forest cover of Southeast Asia from 1990 to 2010. Biogeosciences Discussions **10**:12625–12653. Available from www.biogeosciences-discuss.net/10/12625/2013/ (accessed August 21, 2018).
- Struebig MJ, Fischer M, Gaveau DLA, Meijaard E, Wich SA, Gonner C, Sykes R, Wilting A, Kramer-Schadt
 S. 2015. Anticipated climate and land-cover changes reveal refuge areas for Borneo's orangutans. Global Change Biology 21:2891–2904.
- Stuebing RB, Gasis J. 1989. A survey of small mammals within a Sabah tree plantation in Malaysia. Journal of Tropical Ecology 5:203–214. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0266467400003485 (accessed June 2, 2018).

- Sugardjito J. 1983. Selecting nest-sites of sumatran organ-utans, Pongo pygmaeus abelii in the Gunung Leuser National Park, Indonesia. Primates **24**:467–474. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02381680 (accessed July 8, 2017).
- Sugardjito J, Nurhuda N. 1981. Meat-eating behaviour in wild orang utans,Pongo pygmaeus. Primates **22**:414–416. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02381583 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Sugardjito J, te Boekhorst IJA, van Hooff JARAM. 1987. Ecological constraints on the grouping of wild orang-utans (Pongo pygmaeus) in the Gunung Leuser National Park, Sumatra, Indonesia. International Journal of Primatology **8**:17–41. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02737112 (accessed June 6, 2018).
- Sunderland-Groves JL, Ekinde A, Mboh H. 2009. Nesting Behavior of Gorilla gorilla diehli at Kagwene Mountain, Cameroon: Implications for Assessing Group Size and Density. International Journal of Primatology 30:253–266. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10764-009-9340-7 (accessed January 11, 2019).
- Supriatna J, Dwiyahreni AA, Winarni N, Mariati S, Margules C. 2017. Deforestation of Primate Habitat on Sumatra and Adjacent Islands, Indonesia. Primate Conservation:71–82. Available from http://static1.1.sqspcdn.com/static/f/1200343/27795199/1515432645067/PC31_Supriatna_et_al _Deforestation_Sumatra.pdf?token=ZEPoWUGOxIzIE5SbZLm3sk69d7k%3D (accessed April 3, 2018).
- Surbeck M, Mundry R, Hohmann G. 2011. Mothers matter! Maternal support, dominance status and mating success in male bonobos (Pan paniscus). Proceedings. Biological sciences **278**:590–8. The Royal Society. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20810444 (accessed September 13, 2018).
- Swenson JJ, Carter CE, Domec J-C, Delgado CI. 2011. Gold Mining in the Peruvian Amazon: Global Prices, Deforestation, and Mercury Imports. PLoS ONE **6**:e18875. Public Library of Science. Available from https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018875 (accessed October 21, 2018).
- Symonds MRE, Moussalli A. 2011. A brief guide to model selection, multimodel inference and model averaging in behavioural ecology using Akaike's information criterion. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **65**:13–21. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00265-010-1037-6 (accessed March 22, 2018).
- Szantoi Z, Smith SE, Strona G, Koh LP, Wich SA. 2017. Mapping orangutan habitat and agricultural areas using Landsat OLI imagery augmented with unmanned aircraft system aerial photography. International Journal of Remote Sensing 38:2231–2245. Taylor & Francis. Available from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/01431161.2017.1280638 (accessed February 6, 2018).
- Tagg N, Willie J, Petre C-A, Haggis O. 2013. Ground night nesting in chimpanzees: new insights from central chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes troglodytes) in South-East Cameroon. Folia primatologica; international journal of primatology 84:362–83. Karger Publishers. Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23988519 (accessed January 10, 2019).
- Tarszisz E, Tomlinson S, Harrison ME, Morrogh-Bernard HC, Munn AJ. 2018. Gardeners of the forest: effects of seed handling and ingestion by orangutans on germination success of peat forest plants. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society **123**:125–134. Oxford University Press. Available from https://academic.oup.com/biolinnean/article/123/1/125/4641842 (accessed May 30, 2018).
- Tata HL et al. 2014. Will funding to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and (forest) Degradation (REDD+) stop conversion of peat swamps to oil palm in orangutan habitat in Tripa in Aceh, Indonesia? Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 19:693–713. Springer Netherlands. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11027-013-9524-5 (accessed)

August 28, 2018).

- Teichroeb JA, Holmes TD, Sicotte P. 2012. Use of sleeping trees by ursine colobus monkeys (Colobus vellerosus) demonstrates the importance of nearby food. Primates 53:287–296. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-012-0299-1 (accessed October 12, 2018).
- The Government of the Republic of Indonesia (GOI). 2018. State Party Report 2017: State of Conservation Status of the World Heritage in Indonesia World Heritage Property Tropical Rainforest Heirtage of Sumatra (N 1167). Jakarta. Available from http://whc.unesco.org/en/soc/3804.
- Thorpe SKS, Holder R, Crompton RH. 2009. Orangutans employ unique strategies to control branch flexibility. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **106**:12646–12651.
- Tsujino R, Yumoto T, Kitamura S, Djamaluddin I, Darnaedi D. 2016. History of forest loss and degradation in Indonesia. Land Use Policy **57**:335–347. Pergamon. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264837716305348#! (accessed August 21, 2018).
- Tsukahara T. 1993. Lions eat chimpanzees: The first evidence of predation by lions on wild chimpanzees. American Journal of Primatology **29**:1–11. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.1350290102 (accessed June 13, 2018).
- Tutin CEG. 1992. A preliminary analysis of social structure of lowland gorillas in the Lope Reserve Gabon. Topics in Primatology **2**:245–253. University of Tokyo Press. Available from https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10012396964/ (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Tutin CEG, Fernandez M. 1985. Foods consumed by sympatric populations of Gorilla g. gorilla and Pan t. troglodytes in Gabon: Some preliminary data. International Journal of Primatology 6:27–43.
 Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02693695 (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Tutin CEG, Parnell RJ, White LJT, Fernandez M. 1995. Nest building by lowland gorillas in the Lopé Reserve, Gabon: Environmental influences and implications for censusing. International Journal of Primatology 16:53–76. Springer US. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02700153 (accessed February 3, 2018).
- Utami-Atmoko SS, Mitra-Setia T, Goossens B, James SS, Knott CD, Morrogh-Bernard HC, van Schaik CP, van Noordwijk MA. 2009a. Orangutan mating behaviour and strategies. Pages 235–244 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic Variation in Behavioral Ecology and Conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.
- Utami-Atmoko SS, Singleton I, van Noordwijk MA, van Schaik CP, Mitra-Setia T. 2009b. Male-male relationships in orangutans. Pages 225–233 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioural ecology and conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.
- Utami S, Setia TM. 1995. Behavioral Changes in Wild Male and Female Sumatran Orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus abelii) During and Following a Resident Male Take-Over. Pages 183–190 The Neglected Ape. Springer US, Boston, MA. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4899-1091-2_18 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Utami SS, Goossens B, Bruford MW, de Ruiter JR, van Hooff JARAM. 2002. Male bimaturism and reproductive success in Sumatran orang-utans. Behavioral Ecology **13**:643–652. Oxford University Press. Available from https://academic.oup.com/beheco/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/beheco/13.5.643 (accessed September 17, 2018).

- Utami SS, Van Hooff JARAM. 1997. Meat-eating by adult female Sumatran orangutans (Pongo pygmæus abelii). American Journal of Primatology **43**:159–165. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/%28SICI%291098-2345%281997%2943%3A2%3C159%3A%3AAID-AJP5%3E3.0.CO%3B2-W (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Utami SS, Wich SA, Sterck EHM, van Hooff JARAM. 1997. Food Competition Between Wild Orangutans in Large Fig Trees. International Journal of Primatology **18**:909–927. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Plenum Publishers. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1026392012922 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- Vallauri DR, Aronson J, Barbero M. 2002. An Analysis of Forest Restoration 120 Years after Reforestation on Badlands in the Southwestern Alps. Restoration Ecology 10:16–26.
 Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1526-100X.2002.10102.x (accessed June 1, 2018).
- van Casteren A, Sellers WI, Thorpe SKS, Coward S, Crompton RH, Ennos a. R. 2013. Factors Affecting the Compliance and Sway Properties of Tree Branches Used by the Sumatran Orangutan (Pongo abelii). PLoS ONE **8**:1–9. Available from http://www.nerc.ac.uk/ (accessed August 31, 2017).
- van Casteren A, Sellers WI, Thorpe SKS, Coward S, Crompton RH, Myatt JP, Ennos AR. 2012. Nestbuilding orangutans demonstrate engineering know-how to produce safe, comfortable beds. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **109**:6873–6877. Available from http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1200902109.
- Van Lawick-Goodall J. 1968. The Behaviour of Free-living Chimpanzees in the Gombe Stream Reserve. Animal Behaviour Monographs 1:161-IN12. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0066185668800032 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- van Noordwijk MA, Sauren SEB, Nuzuar, Abulani A, Morrogh-Bernard HC, Utami-Atmoko SS, van Schaik CP. 2009. Development of Independence: Sumatran and Bornean orangutans compared. Pages 189–203 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioral ecology and conservation. Oxford Biology, Oxford.
- van Noordwijk MA, van Schaik CP. 2005. Development of ecological competence in Sumatran orangutans. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **127**:79–94.
- van Schaik C., van Hooff JARA. 1996. Towards an understanding of the orangutan social system. Page 328 in W. C. (William C. cGrew, L. F. (Linda F. Marchant, T. Nishida, and 西田利貞(1941-), editors. Great ape societies. Cambridge University Press. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&Ir=&id=iGfjJ4IKb1IC&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&dq=van+Schaik,+ C.P.+and+van+Hooff,+J.A.R.A.M.+1996.+Towards+an+understanding+of+the+orangutan's+social+ system.+In:+Great+Ape+Societies,+W.C.+McGrew,+L.F.+Marchant+and+T.+Nish (accessed January 31, 2018).
- van Schaik CP. 1999. The socioecology of fission-fusion sociality in Orangutans. Primates **40**:69–86. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02557703 (accessed September 14, 2018).
- van Schaik CP, Priatna A, Priatna D. 1995. Population estimates and habitat preferences of orangutans based on line transects of nests. Pages 129–146 in B. M. F. Galdikas, R. D. Nadler, N. Rosen, and L. K. Sheeran, editors. The Neglected Ape. Plenum Press, Boston, MA. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4899-1091-2_15 (accessed July 8, 2017).
- van Schaik CP, van Noordwijk MA, Vogel ER. 2009. Ecological sex differences in wild orangutans. Pages 255–268 in S. A. Wich, S. S. Utami-Atmoko, T. Mitra-Setia, and C. P. van Schaik, editors. Orangutans: Geographic variation in behavioural ecology and conservation. Oxford Biology,

Oxford.

- van Schaik CP, Wich SA, Utami SS, Odom K. 2005. A simple alternative to line transects of nests for estimating orangutan densities. Primates **46**:249–254. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-005-0134-z.
- Varga P, Chen HY, Klinka K. 2005. Tree-size diversity between single- and mixed-species stands in three forest types in western Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **35**:593–601. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada . Available from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/x04-193 (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Venables WN, Ripley BD. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with SFourth Edi. Springer, New York. Available from http://www.stats.ox.ac.uk/pub/MASS4.
- Videan EN. 2006. Bed-building in captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes): the importance of early rearing. American Journal of Primatology **68**:745–751. Wiley-Blackwell. Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajp.20265 (accessed September 18, 2018).
- Vieira S et al. 2004. Forest structure and carbon dynamics in Amazonian tropical rain forests. Oecologia **140**:468–479.
- Vogel ER et al. 2015. Nutritional Differences between Two Orangutan Habitats: Implications for Population Density. PLOS ONE **10**:e0138612. Public Library of Science. Available from https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138612 (accessed October 20, 2018).
- Voigt M et al. 2018. Global Demand for Natural Resources Eliminated More Than 100,000 Bornean Orangutans. Current Biology **28**:761–769.e5. Cell Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960982218300861 (accessed May 30, 2018).
- von Koenigswald GHR. 1982. Distribution and evolution of the orang utan, Pongo pygmaeus (Hoppius). Page 353 in L. E. M. de Boer, editor. The orang utan, its biology and conservation. Dr. W. Junk, The Hague, The Netherlands. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=vBdiQ2o3oRoC&oi=fnd&pg=PA1&dq=VON+KOE NINGSWALD,+G.H.R.+(1982)+Distribution+and+evolution+of+the+orangutan,+Pongo+pygmaeus+(Hoppius).+In+The+orangutan,+its+Biology+and+Conservation+(ed.+L.E.M.+de+Boer),+pp.+1 (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Vu VQ. 2011. ggbiplot: A ggplot2 based biplot.
- Wang B-G, Peng H, Huang H-L, Li X-M, Eck G, Gong X, Proksch P. 2004. Rocaglamide, aglain, and other related derivatives from Aglaia testicularis (Meliaceae). Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 32:1223–1226. Available from https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0305197804001346 (accessed March 16, 2019).
- Warde W, Petranka JW. 1981. A Correction Factor Table for Missing Point-Center Quarter Data. Ecology 62:491–494. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1936723.pdf?refreqid=excelsior:8f95179bd82d106d45175be72 6885c5c (accessed May 9, 2018).
- Warren KS, Verschoor EJ, Langenhuijzen S, Heriyanto, Swan RA, Vigilant L, Heeney JL. 2001. Speciation and Intrasubspecific Variation of Bornean Orangutans, Pongo pygmaeus pygmaeus. Molecular Biology and Evolution 18:472–480. Oxford University Press. Available from https://academic.oup.com/mbe/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a003826 (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Warren RD. 1997. Habitat use and support preference of two free-ranging saltatory lemurs (Lepilemur edwardsi and Avahi occidentalis).

Whitten AJ. 1982a. A Numerical Analysis of Tropical Rain Forest, Using Floristic and Structural Data,

and Its Application to an Analysis of Gibbon Ranging Behaviour Author (s): Anthony J. Whitten Published by : British Ecological Society Stable URL : http://www.jstor.o. Journal of Ecology **70**:249–271.

- Whitten AJ. 1982b. The Role of Ants in Selection of Night Trees by Gibbons. Biotropica **14**:237. Association for Tropical Biology and Conservation. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2388031?origin=crossref (accessed February 2, 2018).
- Wich S, Buij R, Van Schaik C. 2004a. Determinants of orangutan density in the dryland forests of the Leuser Ecosystem. Primates 45:177–182. Available from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs10329-004-0080-1.pdf (accessed August 31, 2017).
- Wich S, Jenson J, Refisch J, Nellemann C. 2011a. Orangutans and the economics of sustainable forest management in Sumatra. Available from www.un-grasp.org (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Wich SA et al. 2008a. Distribution and conservation status of the orang-utan (Pongo spp.) on Borneo and Sumatra: how many remain? Oryx **42**:329–339. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S003060530800197X (accessed May 31, 2018).
- Wich SA et al. 2012a. Understanding the Impacts of Land-Use Policies on a Threatened Species: Is There a Future for the Bornean Orang-utan? PLoS ONE **7**:e49142. Public Library of Science. Available from https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049142 (accessed October 22, 2018).
- Wich SA et al. 2016a. Land-cover changes predict steep declines for the Sumatran orangutan (Pongo abelii). Science Advances **2**:e1500789–e1500789. American Association for the Advancement of Science. Available from http://advances.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/sciadv.1500789 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- Wich SA, Dellatore D, Houghton M, Ardi R, Koh L. 2016b. A preliminary assessment of using conservation drones for Sumatran orang-utan (Pongo abelii) distribution and density. Journal of Unmanned Vehicle Systems 4:45–52. NRC Research Press http://www.nrcresearchpress.com. Available from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/juvs-2015-0015 (accessed February 6, 2018).
- Wich SA, Fredriksson GM, Usher G, Peters HH, Priatna D, Basalamah F, Susanto W, Kühl H. 2012b. Hunting of Sumatran orang-utans and its importance in determining distribution and density. Biological Conservation 146:163–169. Elsevier Ltd. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.12.006.
- Wich SA, Geurts ML, Mitra Setia T, Utami Atmoko SS. 2006. Influence of fruit availability on Sumatran orangutan sociability and reproduction. Pages 337–358 in G. Hohmann, M. M. Robbins, and C. Boesch, editors. Feeding ecology of the apes and other primates. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Available from https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=X1-ih36EbpMC&oi=fnd&pg=PA337&dq=wich+2006+influence+of+fruit&ots=gXMCBdo-3T&sig=G6bdxhn1-w_f7mLmHJrZDCW3kQk#v=onepage&q=wich 2006 influence of fruit&f=false (accessed September 6, 2018).
- Wich SA, IUCN. 2016a. Pongo pygmaeus. Page The IUCN Red List of Threatened SpeciesVersion 20. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org.
- Wich SA, IUCN. 2016b. Pongo abelii. Page The IUCN Red List of Threatened SpeciesVersion 20. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org.
- Wich SA, IUCN. 2016c. Pongo tapanuliensis. Page The IUCN Red List of Threatened SpeciesVersion 20. Available from http://www.icunredlist.org.
- Wich SA, Schel AM, de Vries H. 2008b. Geographic variation in Thomas langur (Presbytis thomasi) loud calls. American Journal of Primatology **70**:566–574.

- Wich SA, Singleton I, Utami-Atmoko SS, Geurts ML, Rijksen HD, van Schaik CP. 2003. The status of the Sumatran orang-utan Pongo abelii: an update. Oryx **37**:49–54. Cambridge University Press. Available from http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0030605303000115 (accessed February 7, 2018).
- Wich SA, Utami-Atmoko SS, Setia TM, Rijksen HD, Schürmann C, van Hooff JARAM, van Schaik CP.
 2004b. Life history of wild Sumatran orangutans (Pongo abelii). Journal of Human Evolution
 47:385–398. Available from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248404001241.
- Wich SA, Van Schaik CP. 2000. The impact of El Niño on mast fruiting in Sumatra and elsewhere in Malesia. Journal of Tropical Ecology 16:563–577. Available from https://www.cambridge.org/core/services/aop-cambridgecore/content/view/75C002364ED7995AFEED7AD6950B9F7D/S0266467400001577a.pdf/impact_ of_el_nino_on_mast_fruiting_in_sumatra_and_elsewhere_in_malesia.pdf (accessed June 30, 2018).
- Wich SA, Vogel ER, Larsen MD, Fredriksson G, Leighton M, Yeager CP, Brearley FQ, van Schaik CP, Marshall AJ. 2011b. Forest Fruit Production Is Higher on Sumatra Than on Borneo. PLoS ONE **6**:e21278. Available from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021278.
- Wickham H. 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York, New York. Available from http://ggplot2.org.
- Wickham H. 2011. The Split-Apply-Combine Strategy for Data Analysis. Journal of Statistical Software **40**:1–29. Available from http://www.jstatsoft.org/v40/i01/.
- Wickham H, Francois R, Henry L, Muller K. 2017. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation. Available from https://cran.r-project.org/package=dplyr.
- Williams-Linera G. 1990. Vegetation Structure and Environmental Conditions of Forest Edges in Panama. The Journal of Ecology **78**:356. British Ecological Society. Available from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2261117?origin=crossref (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Williams RL, Goodenough AE, Hart AG, Stafford R. 2013. Using Long-Term Volunteer Records to Examine Dormouse (Muscardinusavellanarius) Nestbox Selection. PloS one **8**:e67986. Available from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3694881&tool=pmcentrez&renderty pe=abstract.

- Williamson EA. 1988. Behavioural ecology of Western Lowland Gorillas in Gabon. PhD Thesis. Available from https://dspace.stir.ac.uk/handle/1893/1314#.W6lq8OhKg2w (accessed September 19, 2018).
- Willie J, Tagg N, Petre C-A, Pereboom Z, Lens L. 2014. Plant selection for nest building by western lowland gorillas in Cameroon. Primates 55:41–49. Springer Japan. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-013-0363-5 (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Wills J, Herbohn J, Moreno MOM, Avela MS, Firn J. 2017. Next-generation tropical forests: reforestation type affects recruitment of species and functional diversity in a human-dominated landscape. Journal of Applied Ecology 54:772–783. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). Available from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2664.12770 (accessed June 1, 2018).
- Wilting A, Fischer F, Abu Bakar S, Linsenmair KE. 2006. Clouded leopards, the secretive top-carnivore of South-East Asian rainforests: their distribution, status and conservation needs in Sabah, Malaysia.
 BMC Ecology 6:16. BioMed Central. Available from http://bmcecol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6785-6-16 (accessed February 5, 2018).

Windsor DM, Morrison DW, Estribi MA, de Leon B. 1989. Phenology of fruit and leaf production by

'strangler' figs on Barro Colorado Island, Panamá. Experientia **45**:647–653. Birkhäuser-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF01975681 (accessed July 1, 2018).

- Worldometers.info. 2019. Population of South-Eastern Asia (2019) Worldometers. Available from http://www.worldometers.info/world-population/south-eastern-asia-population/ (accessed March 12, 2019).
- Yamagiwa J. 2001. Factors influencing the formation of ground nests by eastern lowland gorillas in Kahuzi-Biega National Park: some evolutionary implications of nesting behavior. Journal of Human Evolution **40**:99–109. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248400904445 (accessed June 20, 2018).
- Yamagiwa J, Kahekwa J, Basabose AK. 2003. Intra-specific variation in social organization of gorillas: implications for their social evolution. Primates **44**:359–369. Springer-Verlag. Available from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10329-003-0049-5 (accessed September 13, 2018).
- Yeomans KA, Golder PA. 1982. The Guttman-Kaiser Criterion as a Predictor of the Number of Common Factors. The Statistician **31**:221. WileyRoyal Statistical Society. Available from https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/2987988?origin=crossref (accessed April 23, 2018).
- Yoda K. 1974. Three-dimensional Distribution of Light Intensity in a Tropical Rain Forest of West Malaysia. Japanese Journal of Ecology 24:247–254. Available from https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/seitai/24/4/24_KJ00001775707/_pdf/-char/en (accessed February 12, 2018).
- Zimmerman DW, Zumbo BD. 1993. Rank transformations and the power of the Student t test and Welch t' test for non-normal populations with unequal variances. Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology/Revue canadienne de psychologie expérimentale **47**:523–539. Available from http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/h0078850 (accessed January 21, 2018).
- Zuberbühler K, Jenny D. 2002. Leopard predation and primate evolution. Journal of Human Evolution **43**:873–886. Academic Press. Available from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047248402906056 (accessed March 4, 2019).



Appendix I Supplementary materials for Chapter 3

Figure S7 Nest height, tree height and first bole heights of nest trees based on crown connectivity



Figure S8 Nest height, tree height and first bole height of nest trees based on crown shape



Figure S9 The proportion of nests built in trees of each crown shape in trees with differing crown connectivity



Figure S11 PCA biplot of the interaction of PC1 and PC2 for nest positions. Crown size and crown volume show considerable overlap as do Tree height, Nest height and Overhead canopy suggesting that in the interaction between these principal components they have similar influence.



Figure S12 PCA biplot for the interaction of PC1 and PC3 for nest position



Figure S13 PCA biplot of the interaction of PC2 and PC3 for nest position

Appendix II Supplementary materials for Chapter 4



Figure S14 PCA plot of PC1 and PC3 for the differences in landunit and field site influencing nest densities



Figure S15PCA plot of PC2 and PC3 for the differences in landunit and field site influencing nest densities



Figure S16 Proportion of occurrence of nest age class distribution in Sikundur across three sampling periods in 2015/2016

Nest age classes: 1- fresh leaves, still green, 2- mix of green and brown leaves, 3- all leaves turned brown, some holes forming, 4- all leaves gone, nest falling apart